
444 Appleyard Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32304-2895 

 850.2016200  www.tcc.fl.edu 

 

June 17, 2024 

M  E  M  O  R  A  N  D  U  M 
TO: Jim Murdaugh, Ph.D. 

President 
FROM: Barbara Wills, Ph.D.                                                                                                                    

Vice President for Administrative Services and Chief Business Officer 
   
SUBJECT: Tallahassee Community College – Master Plan Services 

 
 
Item Description 
This item requests District Board of Trustees approval for the proposal from DAG Architects 
for Master Plan Services for all Tallahassee Community College Sites 1-6. 
 
Overview and Background 
The College is required to update its Master Plan in conjunction with the College’s Five-Year 
Educational Plant Survey. The last Campus Master Plan update was conducted in 
accordance with Educational Plant Survey 2.1 in 2016. Updates to both are required with the 
submission of the next Educational Plant Survey 3.1 due June 30, 2024.  
 
Authorization for the survey is specified in Article IX and Article XII of the Florida Constitution; 
Chapters 1001, 1011 and 1013, Florida Statutes; and State Requirements for Educational 
Facilities (SREF). Each survey and master plan must be reviewed and approved by the 
District Board of Trustees. An electronic copy must be sent to the Department of Education 
for review and validation for compliance with statutes and rules. 
 
Funding/ Financial Implications  
The District Board of Trustees approves the funding for all architectural contracts from Capital 
Improvement Fees and local college funds. 
 
Past Actions by the Board 
The last Master Plan was approved by the Board in August 2016 in accordance with 
Educational Plant Survey. A partial Master Plan for Site 6 was Board approved October 18, 
2021.  
 
Recommended Action 
Approve the attached proposal from DAG Architects for Master Plan Services for all Sites 1-6. 
 

 



Ta l l a h a s s e e
S t a t e

C o l l e g e

Col lege Master  P lanning
2023 -  2028



22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

A C K N O W L E D G E M E N T S

DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Mr.  Jonathan K i lpa t r i ck ,  Cha i r

Ms.  Karen  Moore ,  Vice  Cha i r

Mr.  Eugene Lamb J r.

Mr.  F rank  Messersmi th

Mr.  Monte  S tevens

Mr.  Char l ie  Ward ,  J r.

PRESIDENT

Dr.  J im Murdaugh

STEERING COMMITTEE

Dr.  Barbara  Wi l l s

Ch ie f  Bus iness  Off i ce r

Vice  Pres iden t  fo r  Admin is t ra t i ve  Serv ices

Mr.  Don Her r

Di rec to r  o f  Fac i l i t i es  –  P lann ing  &  Cons t ruc t ion

MASTER PLAN CONSULTANTS

DAG Arch i tec ts ,  Inc .

805  South  Gadsden St ree t ,  Su i te  140

Ta l lahassee,  FL 32301

M A S T E R  I N D E X

G E N E R A L  C O L L E G E  I N F O R M AT I O N . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1  - 2 4

M A I N  C A M P U S . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 5  -  5 5

F P S I . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 6  -  9 3

WA K U L L A  E N V I R O N M E N TA L  I N S T I T U T E . . . . . . . 9 4  -  1 2 0

G H A Z V I N I . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 2 1  -  1 3 9

G A D S D E N  C E N T E R . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 4 0  -  1 5 7

I N N O VAT I O N  C E N T E R . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 5 8  -  1 6 5



32024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

P r e s i d e n t ’ s  M e s s a g e

 The corners tone  o f  every  success fu l  academic  ins t i tu t ion  i s  a  commi tment  to 

academic  exce l lence  and s tudent  success  th rough a  focus  on  teach ing ,  learn ing , 

and  persona l i zed  suppor t .  A t  TSC,  our  s tudent  success  t ra jec to ry,  measured 

by  na t iona l  and  s ta te  s tandards ,  iden t i f ies  our  co l lege  as  a  na t iona l  leader 

in  communi ty  co l leges ,  espec ia l l y  in  p rov id ing  dynamic  improvements  in  key 

per fo rmance ind ica to rs . 

Our  successes  a re  no t  by  happens tance .  Rather,  our  success  i s  d i rec t l y  t ied  to  the 

Co l lege ’s  s t ra teg ic  p lan ,  w i th  inpu t  f rom bo th  in te rna l  and  ex te rna l  cons t i tuen ts . 

The  p lan  has  gu ided  us  th rough ach iev ing  ma jo r  p ro jec ts  such  as  redes ign ing  our 

s tudent  exper ience  resu l t ing  in  the  Cu l tu re  o f  CARE (Connec t ions ,  Academics , 

Resources ,  and  Engagement )  in i t ia t i ve ,  new s tudent  onboard ing ,  teach ing  and 

learn ing  f ramework ,  improv ing  opera t ions ,  and  most  impor tan t l y,  enhanc ing  our 

s tudents ’ success ,  job  p lacement ,  and  comple t ion  ra tes . 

The  s t ra teg ic  p lan  a lso  gu ides  day- to -day  opera t ions  such  as  budget ing  and 

per fo rmance eva lua t ions .  As  a  resu l t ,  the  s t ra teg ic  p lan  i s  now a  l i v ing  document 

embedded in  a l l  aspec ts  o f  Ta l lahassee Communi ty  Co l lege ’s  opera t ions .  

The  Master  P lan  p resented  to  the  Board  o f  Trus tees  i s  an  express ion  o f  the 

Co l lege ’s  S t ra teg ic  P lan .   I t  p rov ides  the  conceptua l  f ramework  to  gu ide  the 

fu tu re  g rowth  and deve lopment  o f  the  Co l lege  on  the  ma in  campus,  and  a t  the 

Ghazv in i  Center  fo r  Hea l thcare  Educat ion ,  The Center  fo r  Innova t ion ,  the  Waku l la 

Env i ronmenta l  Ins t i tu te ,  the  Gadsden Center,  and  the  F lo r ida  Pub l i c  Sa fe ty 

Ins t i tu te .   Th is  p roposed p lan  i s  bu i l t  on  the  ob jec t i ves  and  goa ls  es tab l i shed by 

the  Board  in  the  Co l lege ’s  S t ra teg ic  P lan ,  and  ensures  a l ignment  o f  g rowth  tha t 

p reserves  the  un ique  charac te r  o f  TSC.

S incere ly,

J im Murdaugh,  Ph .D.

Pres iden t



42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

I N D E X

P r e s i d e n t ’ s  M e s s a g e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

I n t r o d u c t o r y  N a r r at i v e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

D a l e  M a b r y  M u s e u m  C o n c e p t u a l  P l a n . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

M i s s i o n  &  V i s i o n . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 0

M a s t e r  P l a n  P u r p o s e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 3

A c a d e m i c  Z o n e  D E V E L O P M E N T  D e n s i t y. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 6

C o m p l i a n c e  S tat u s  R e p o r t. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 7

C u r r e n t  At t e n d a n c e  &  F u t u r e  P r o j e c t i o n s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 9

S tat i s t i c a l  &  E n r o l l m e n t  D ata . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 1     

     •  T S C  Q u i c k  Fa c t s  1

     •  T S C  Q u i c k  Fa c t s  2

     •  D O E  F T E  Y e a r ly  P r o j e c t i o n s

     •  1 8 - 2 4  A g e  P r o j e c t i o n s  L e o n  &  A d j a c e n t  C o u n t i e s  -  B E B R

     •  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 5 0  G r o w t h  P r o j e c t i o n s  L e o n  &  A d j a c e n t  C o u n t i e s  –  B E B R



52024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

I N T R O D U C T O R Y  N A R RA T I V E

Since  1966,  Ta l lahassee Sta te  Co l lege  (TSC)  has  o f fe red  h igh-qua l i t y,  pos t -

secondary  educat ion  to  the  c i t i zens  o f  Leon,  Gadsden and Waku l la  count ies ;  TSC 

has  a lso  served  s tudents  a t  a  s ta te ,  na t iona l ,  and  in te rna t iona l  leve l .  We are 

cons is ten t l y  ranked as  one  o f  the  top  communi ty  co l leges  in  the  na t ion  o f fe r ing 

seamless  t rans fe r  oppor tun i t ies  and  in -demand career  t ra in ing .  F rom the  ma in 

campus in  Ta l lahassee,  F lo r ida ,  to  our  seven ins t i tu tes  and  sa te l l i te  cen te rs ,  we are 

p roud to  serve  our  communi ty.  

TSC is  a  cons t i tuen t  member  o f  the  F lo r ida  Co l lege  Sys tem (FCS) .  The  miss ion  o f 

the  FCS is  “ respond ing  to  communi ty  needs  fo r  pos tsecondary  academic  educat ion 

and  career  degree  educat ion . ”  TSC shares  the  overa l l  m iss ion  o f  the  FSC and 

asp i res  “ to  p rov ide  a  learn ing  env i ronment  tha t  p repares  s tudents  fo r  success  in  a 

g loba l  economy by  o f fe r ing  h igher  educat ion  pa thways ,  work fo rce  oppor tun i t ies ,  and 

c iv ic  engagement . ” 

Ta l lahassee Sta te  Co l lege  i s  accred i ted  by  the  Southern  Assoc ia t ion  o f  Co l leges 

and Schoo ls  Commiss ion  on  Co l leges  (SACSCOC)  to  award  assoc ia te  and 

bacca laurea te  degrees ,  and  o ther  work fo rce  c redent ia ls  cer t i f i ca tes . 

TSC enro l l s  more  than  16 ,000 c red i t  and  noncred i t  s tudents  each  year  and 

ma in ta ins  a  s tudent  to  facu l ty  ra t io  o f  25 :1 .  TSC o f fe rs  70  d i f fe ren t  degree  and 

cer t i f i ca te  p rograms tha t  encompass  a  var ie ty  o f  f ie lds  f rom bus iness  management 

to  eng ineer ing ,  f rom nurs ing  to  law en fo rcement .  S tudents  can  earn  an  Assoc ia te 

o f  Ar ts  degree ,  an  Assoc ia te  o f  Sc ience  Degree ,  and  a  Bache lo rs ’ Degree .   Mos t 

o f  our  s tudents  con t inue  the i r  educa t ion ,  w i th  78  percen t  t rans fe r r ing  to  four -year 

ins t i tu t ions .   S tudents  can  a lso  earn  career  and  techn ica l  educa t ion  cer t i f i ca tes  and 

numerous  p ro fess iona l  cer t i f i ca t ions .   TSC proud ly  serves  as  the  work fo rce  eng ine 

o f  our  communi ty.  We t ra in  the  most  nurses ,  hea l thcare  p ro fess iona ls ,  pub l i c  sa fe ty 

and  cor rec t ions  workers  and  we have  deve loped spec ia l i zed  p rograms tha t  connec t 

our  s tudents  to  h igh-demand,  h igh-wage careers .  Our  p rograms map to  F lo r ida ’s 

top  ten  ho t  jobs  and  we embed cer t i f i ca tes  in to  our  academic  pa thways  tha t  he lp 

s tudents  secure  we l l -pay ing  pos i t ions .  N ine ty -e igh t  percen t  o f  TSC graduates  found 

employment  o r  con t inued the i r  educa t ion  in  the  year  they  g raduated .



62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

Our  s tudent  success  t ra jec to ry,  measured  by  na t iona l  and  s ta te  s tandards ,  iden t i f ies 

TSC as  a  na t iona l  leader  in  communi ty  co l leges ,  espec ia l l y  in  p rov id ing  dynamic 

improvements  in  key  per fo rmance ind ica to rs .  Our  average graduat ion  ra te  i s  39  percen t , 

we l l  above  the  na t iona l  average o f  26  percen t  and  we rank  in  the  99 th  percen t i le  fo r 

s tudent  comple t ions  (33  s tudents  per  100) .  

Our  v is ion  i s  to  be  recogn ized  as  the  co l lege  o f  cho ice  by  focus ing  on  innova t ive 

learn ing ,  academic  exce l lence ,  equ i ty -mindedness ,  and  fos te r ing  a  communi ty  o f  l i fe long 

learners .   The  Master  P lan  i s  a  c r i t i ca l  component  o f  th is  v is ion . 

Ta l lahassee is  a  co l lege  town and the  s ta te ’s  cap i ta l  and  boas ts  many  cu l tu ra l  and 

na tu ra l  amen i t ies .  F rom s ta te  parks  and  ska te  parks  to  f ine  d in ing  and food  t rucks ,  there 

i s  someth ing  here  fo r  everyone.  Be tween c lasses ,  s tudents  can  exp lo re  a reas  such  as 

Ga ines  S t ree t ,  the  hub  o f  a r ts  and  cu l tu re  in  Ta l lahassee,  o r  Co l lege  Town,  Ta l lahassee ’s 

s tudent  d is t r i c t  tha t  fea tu res  a  v ib ran t  n igh t l i fe . 

The  Nat iona l  H igh  Magnet ic  F ie ld  Labora to ry  and  Innovat ion  Park ,  a  co l labora t i ve 

research  fac i l i t y,  a re  a lso  loca ted  in  Ta l lahassee.

TSC is  jus t  two  mi les  f rom FSU and f i ve  mi les  f rom FAMU and less  than  one mi le  f rom 

Leon County  Schoo ls  admin is t ra t ion  fac i l i t y.  TSC is  a lso  minu tes  away f rom the  S ta te  o f 

F lo r ida  Leg is la tu re  and  Cap i ta l  Complex .   Our  loca t ion ,  so  near  our  par tner  un ivers i t ies 

and  o ther  Ta l lahassee a t t rac t ions ,  a l lows  our  s tudents  the  oppor tun i ty  to  exp lo re  and  be 

in  the  hear t  o f  i t  a l l .  

The  miss ion  o f  the  Co l lege  i s  to  p rov ide  a  learn ing  env i ronment  tha t  p repares  s tudents 

fo r  success  in  a  g loba l  economy by  o f fe r ing  h igher  educat ion  pa thways ,  work fo rce 

oppor tun i t ies ,  and  c iv ic  engagement .  

TSC ach ieves  i t s  m iss ion  th rough the  fo l low ing  f i ve  s t ra teg ic  p r io r i t i es :

•  Access .    S t reng then and expand access  by  inc reas ing  awareness  o f  educa t iona l 

oppor tun i t ies  tha t  a re  re f lec t i ve  o f  s tudent ,  bus iness ,  and  communi ty  needs . 

  

•  S tudent  Success .   Promote  a  s tudent -cen te red  env i ronment  tha t  focuses  on  s tudent 

ach ievement ,  engagement  and  educat iona l  exce l lence . 

  



72024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

•  Work fo rce .   Ach ieve  reg iona l  and  s ta tewide  recogn i t ion  as  a  p remier  co l lege  o f 

cho ice  fo r  p rov id ing  work fo rce  t ra in ing  by  de l i ve r ing  h igh  qua l i t y  p rograms and 

ins t ruc t ion  tha t  enab les  s tudents  to  g row,  succeed,  and  s tay  g loba l l y  compet i t i ve . 

  

•  Par tnersh ips .   Nur tu re  co l labora t i ve  re la t ionsh ips  w i th  K-12  schoo ls ,  un ivers i t ies , 

bus inesses ,  and  communi ty  par tners  to  deve lop  a  cohes ive  educat iona l  s t ra tegy  tha t 

ensures  seamless  a l ignment  and  bu i lds  a  sk i l l ed  work fo rce  tha t  leads  to  economic 

mob i l i t y  and  inc reased educat iona l  a t ta inment . 

  

•  Resources  &  Ef f i c iency.  S t ra teg ica l l y  leverage,  g row and u t i l i ze  resources  to 

max imize  s tudent  success  and ins t i tu t iona l  sus ta inab i l i t y  and  e f fec t i veness . 

TSC's  miss ion  i s  founded on  teach ing  and learn ing ,  w i th  a  par t i cu la r  emphas is 

on  s tudent  success .  To  accompl ish  th is ,  TSC's  facu l ty  and  s ta f f  a re  ded ica ted 

to  imp lement ing  bes t  p rac t i ces  in  ins t ruc t ion  and  prov id ing  suppor t  serv ices  and 

techno logy  to  fac i l i ta te  s tudent  learn ing .  TSC is  commi t ted  to  fos te r ing  a  cu l tu re  o f 

teach ing  and learn ing  tha t  p romotes  the  deve lopment  and  success  o f  i t s  s tudents , 

TSC shows th is  commi tment  by  o f fe r ing  the  Academy o f  Teach ing ,  Learn ing  and 

Success  fo r  Fu l l - t ime facu l ty  and  The Ad junc t  Facu l ty  Advancement  Program.  The 

Co l lege 's  s t ra teg ic  p r io r i t i es  p lace  a  s t rong  emphas is  on  teach ing  and learn ing , 

as  ev idenced by  the  o f fe r ings  o f  the  TSC Center  fo r  Pro fess iona l  Enhancement 

(CPE)  Teach ing  Academy on  campus.   For  example ,  there  a re  numerous  in i t ia t i ves , 

inc lud ing  facu l ty  deve lopment  s t ra teg ies ,  to  c lose  the  success  ra te  gap  be tween 

in -person  and on l ine  modes .  The Co l lege  has  a lso  made s ign i f i can t  inves tments  in 

facu l ty  p ro fess iona l  deve lopment  in  o rder  to  improve  teach ing .



82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

FAL
L  20

13
FAL

L  20
14

FAL
L  20

15
FAL

L  20
16

FAL
L  20

17
FAL

L  20
18

FAL
L  20

19
FAL

L  20
20

FAL
L  20

21
FAL

L  20
22

FAL
L  20

23

16,000

14,000

12,000

10,000

8,000

6,000

4,000

2,000

0

135,000

130,000

125,000

120,000

115,000

110,000

105,000

100,000

HEADCOUNT

CREDIT HOURS

TSC ENROLLMENT TRENDS & PROJECTIONS
FALL 2023 ENROLLMENT AND CREDIT HOUR TRENDS



92024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

 

 

 

D A L E  M A B R Y  M U S E U M  C O N C E P T U A L  P L A N

Ta l lahassee Sta te  Co l lege  i s  phys ica l l y  loca ted  on  the  s i te  tha t  was  once  home to 

the  Un i ted  S ta tes  Da le  Mabry  Army A i r f ie ld .   Over  the  course  o f  Wor ld  War  I I  the 

Da le  Mabry  A i r f ie ld  t ra ined  over  8 ,000  p i lo ts  f rom across  the  US,  inc lud ing  the 

Tuskegee A i rmen,  as  we l l  as  those  f rom Europe and Ch ina .   Those p i lo ts  comple ted 

over  160 ,000 take-o f fs  and  land ings  th roughout  the  course  o f  the  war.   A f te r  the  war 

the  a i r f ie ld  re tu rned to  c iv i l i an  use  and la te r  became home to  TSC.

Now,  in  par tnersh ip  w i th  the  Da le  Mabry  Army A i r f ie ld  Museum,  the  Co l lege  looks 

to  add  a  museum to  the  ma in  campus in  commemora t ion  o f  the  A i r f ie ld .   We are 

es tab l i sh ing  a  mutua l l y  benef ic ia l  re la t ionsh ip  focused on  a  shared  des i re  to 

p reserve  h is to ry,  honor  mi l i ta ry  men and women,  insp i re  young peop le  and  fu tu re 

genera t ions  and bu i ld  awareness  and prov ide  c iv ic  oppor tun i t ies .   The  museum wi l l 

be  loca ted  on  3  acres  on  the  sou thwest  edge o f  the  campus and p lans  inc lude  an 

o r ig ina l  bar racks  bu i ld ing ,  a  ga tehouse and a  bu i ld ing  to  house memorab i l ia  and 

educat iona l  seminars .



1 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

                

M I S S I O N  &  V I S I O N

STRATEGIC PLAN

Our  miss ion

The Miss ion  o f  the  Co l lege  i s  to  p rov ide  a  learn ing  env i ronment  tha t  p repares  s tudents 

fo r  success  in  a  g loba l  economy by  o f fe r ing  h igher  educat ion  pa thways ,  work fo rce 

oppor tun i t ies  and  c iv ic  engagement .

Our v is ion

To be  recogn ized  as  the  Co l lege  o f  Cho ice .

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND STRATEGIES

Access 

St rengthen and expand access  by  inc reas ing  awareness  o f  educa t iona l  oppor tun i t ies 

tha t  a re  re f lec t i ve  o f  s tudent ,  bus iness ,  and  communi ty  needs .

S t ra teg ic  Pr io r i t i es :

(1 .1 )  Ensure  c lear  pa thways  fo r  a l l  s tudents  to  pursue  a  pos t  secondary  educat ion  tha t     

l eads  to  economic  mob i l i t y.

(1 .2 )  Crea te  and  imp lement  a  c lear  and  comprehens ive  s t ra teg ic  enro l lment  management 

p lan  tha t  addresses  the  ongo ing  needs  o f  s tudent  rec ru i tment  and  engagement .

(1 .3 )  Inc rease  the  co l lege  go ing  ra te  o f  s tudents  f rom every  d is t r i c t  h igh  schoo l ,  and  the 

percen tage o f  d is t r i c t  h igh  schoo l  g raduates  who app ly  and  enro l l  a t  TSC.

(1 .4 )  Ensure  p rograms are  access ib le  and  a f fo rdab le .

Student  Success

Promote  a  s tudent -cen te red  env i ronment  tha t  focuses  on  s tudent  ach ievement , 

engagement ,  and  educat iona l  exce l lence .

S t ra teg ic  Pr io r i t i es :

(2 .1 )  Deve lop  a  comprehens ive  s tudent  serv ices  mode l  tha t  ensures  ear ly  connec t ions  to 

co l lege ,  academic ,  and  career  pa thways  and persona l i zed  suppor t  fo r  s tudents .

(2 .2 )  Prov ide  in tegra ted  ta rge ted   suppor t  serv ices  tha t  p romotes  s tudent  success .

(2 .3 )  Employ  da ta - in fo rmed teach ing  and learn ing  techn iques  to  p romote  academic 

exce l lence  and s tudent  ach ievement .

(2 .4 )  Assure  equ i ty  in  ou tcomes fo r  a l l  g roups  in  re la t ion  to  pers is tence ,  degree  and 

cer t i f i ca te  comple t ion  and  t rans fe r  ra te . 



112024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

WORKFORCE

Ach ieve  reg iona l  and  s ta tewide  recogn i t ion  as  a  p remier  co l lege  o f  cho ice  fo r 

p rov id ing  work fo rce  t ra in ing  by  de l i ve r ing  h igh-qua l i t y  p rograms and ins t ruc t ion  tha t 

enab le  s tudents  to  g row,  succeed and s tay  g loba l l y  compet i t i ve .

S t ra teg ic  Pr io r i t i es :

   (3 .1 )   Ensure  h igh  qua l i t y  p rograms tha t  a l low s tudents  to  en te r,  remain  and /or      

advance in  the  work fo rce .

   (3 .2 )   A l ign  p rograms to  meet  the  work fo rce  needs  in  h igh  demand,  h igh  wage jobs .

   (3 .3 )   Adopt  a  comprehens ive  approach  to  career  counse l ing  tha t  p rov ides 

in fo rmat ion  and exper iences  s tudents  need to  make in fo rmed career  dec is ions  and 

pursue  h igh-demand pa thways .

   (3 .4 )   In tegra te  c r i t i ca l  employab i l i t y  sk i l l s  and  c redent ia ls  us ing  inc lus ive 

s t ra teg ies  tha t  a re  e f fec t i ve  fo r  F lo r ida ’s  mu l t ie thn ic ,  mu l t i l i ngua l  and 

mu l t igenera t iona l  learners . 

PARTNERSHIPS

Nur tu re  co l labora t i ve  re la t ionsh ips  w i th  K-12 ,  un ivers i t ies ,  bus inesses ,  and 

communi ty  par tners  to  deve lop  a  cohes ive  educat iona l  s t ra tegy  tha t  ensures 

seamless  a l ignment  and  bu i lds  a  sk i l l ed  work fo rce  tha t  leads  to  economic  mob i l i t y 

and  inc reased educat iona l  a t ta inment .

S t ra teg ic  Pr io r i t i es :

   (4 .1 )   A l ign  the  Co l lege ’s  engagement  w i th  communi ty  o rgan iza t ions  and 

bus inesses  to  meet  communi ty  needs  and inc rease  awareness  o f  the  co l lege ’s 

miss ion  and serv ice .

   (4 .2 )   Formal ize  re la t ionsh ips  w i th  K-12  s takeho lders  to  p romote  co l labora t ion 

be tween ins t i tu t ions  and  ensure  s tudent  access  to  pos t -secondary  educat ion .

   (4 .3 )   Coord ina te  s tudent  success  e f fo r ts  w i th  un ivers i t y  par tners  to  ensure 

seamless  a r t i cu la t ion  and  comple t ion .

   (4 .4 )   Lead communi ty  par tners  in  e f fo r ts  to  inc rease  a t ta inment  ra tes  in  the 

co l lege ’s  serv ice  a rea . 



1 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

RESOURCES AND EFFICIENCIES

St ra teg ica l l y  leverage,  g row and u t i l i ze  resources  to  max imize  s tudent  success  and 

ins t i tu t iona l  sus ta inab i l i t y  and  e f fec t i veness .

S t ra teg ic  Pr io r i t i es :

   (5 .1 )   Enhance a  cu l tu re  o f  con t inuous  improvement  by  u t i l i z ing  da ta  to  in fo rm 

dec is ion  mak ing .

   (5 .2 )  Imp lement  a  co l lege  w ide  en te rpr ise  resources  p lann ing  (ERP)  so lu t ion  tha t 

t rans fo rms the  exper ience  o f  s tudents ,  facu l ty  and  s ta f f .

   (5 .3 )   Inves t  in  the  co l lege ’s  human cap i ta l  and  p rov ide  p ro fess iona l  deve lopment 

a l igned w i th  the  Co l lege ’s  goa ls .

   (5 .4 )  Max imize  ins t i tu t iona l  f inanc ia l  capac i ty  by  inc reas ing  pub l i c  and  p r iva te 

inves tments  and  leverag ing  opera t iona l  e f f i c ienc ies . 



132024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

M A S T E R  P L A N  P U R P O S E

The master  p lans  fo r  the  ind iv idua l  campuses  con ta ined  here in  were  d r i ven  no t  by 

s ta t i s t i cs  o r  enro l lment  p ro jec t ions  bu t  by  the  Vis ion  s ta tement  o f  Ta l lahassee Sta te 

Co l lege  to  be  “ the  Co l lege  o f  Cho ice . ”  Th is ,  a long  w i th  The i r  own ind iv idua l  M iss ion 

s ta tements ,  was  the  rudder  by  wh ich  the i r  campus v is ion  was  gu ided .

The co l lege  leadersh ip  and  campus d i rec to rs  know the  d i f fe rences  be tween what 

the i r  campuses  cur ren t l y  can  p rov ide  compared  to  the i r  compet i to rs .  Where  they 

saw shor tcomings ,  we addressed those  in  each  campus master  p lan  where  poss ib le .

Many  o f  the  e lements  w i th in  the  var ious  campus master  p lans  have  been on 

p rev ious  master  p lan  updates .  The  fac t  tha t  many  o f  these  e lements  keep appear ing 

under  d i f fe ren t  campus d i rec to rs  and  fac i l i t y  d i rec to rs  shows unan imi ty  in  the  need 

fo r  those  fac i l i t i es .

The un iversa l  descr ip t ion  o f  a  campus master  p lan  i s  tha t  i t  i s  a  comprehens ive  and 

s t ra teg ic  f ramework  tha t  ou t l ines  the  long- te rm v is ion  fo r  the  phys ica l  deve lopment 

and  growth  o f  a  co l lege  o r  un ivers i t y  campus.  I t  se rves  as  a  gu ide  fo r  fu tu re 

improvements ,  expans ions ,  and  changes  to  the  campus env i ronment .  The  key 

purposes  o f  a  master  p lan  inc lude :

1 .  Gu id ing  Deve lopment :  I t  p rov ides  d i rec t ion  fo r  land  use ,  bu i ld ing  p lacement ,  and 

in f ras t ruc tu re  deve lopment  based on  academic  needs ,  enro l lment  p ro jec t ions ,  and 

communi ty  engagement . 

The  F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Educat ion  requ i res  a  master  p lan  update  every  f i ve 

years .  The  ind iv idua l  campus master  p lans  con ta ined  here in  a re  fo recas ted  ou t 

fo r  25  years  based on  in fo rmat ion  ga thered  f rom the  Co l lege  admin is t ra t ion  and 

fac i l i t i es  team as  we l l  as  the  D i rec to rs  and  the i r  s ta f f  a t  the  ind iv idua l  campuses . 

The Vis ion  fo r  each  campus is  expressed in  the  master  p lan  map tha t  shows 

bo th  ex is t ing  fac i l i t i es  and  fu tu re  fac i l i t i es  in  d i rec t  re la t ionsh ip  to  each  o ther. 

The  campus maps are  re in fo rced  by  the  nar ra t i ves  fo r  each  new fac i l i t y  to  add 

unders tand ing  to  why  these  fac i l i t i es  a re  needed to  suppor t  the  Co l lege ’s  Vis ion 

and Miss ion  s ta tements .



1 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

2.  Preserv ing  Iden t i t y :  A master  p lan  ensures  tha t  the  campus re ta ins  i t s  un ique 

charac te r,  h is to ry,  and  cu l tu ra l  s ign i f i cance  wh i le  accommodat ing  g rowth .

The arch i tec tu re  a t  each  campus is  un ique  bu t  cons is ten t  a t  tha t  s i te . 

   •  Ma in  campus w i th  i t s  a r t i cu la ted  b r i ck  c ladd ing  and meta l  roo f ing  expresses  to  the 

pub l i c  a  subs tan t ia l  base  w i th  a  t ime less  appea l  as  a  repos i to ry  fo r  knowledge and 

educat ion . 

   •  WEI  w i th  i t s  o ld  F lo r ida  c racker  s ty le  a rch i tec tu re  d isp lays  a  na tu ra l  approach  to  the 

a rch i tec tu re  be f i t t i ng  i t s  m iss ion  as  an  env i ronmenta l  ins t i tu te .   Fu tu re  bu i ld ings  shou ld 

re f lec t  th is  a rch i tec tu ra l  s ty le .

   •  Ghazv in i ’s  h igh  tech  a r t i cu la ted  façade o f  s tucco ,  b r i ck ,  g laz ing  and arch i tec tu ra l 

meta l  expresses  h igh  per fo rmance expec ta t ions  in  advanced med ica l  techno logy.  A 

s ign i f i can t  add i t ion  i s  be ing  con templa ted  and the  new arch i tec tu re  i s  p lanned to  match 

the  ex is t ing  bu i ld ing  aes the t i c .

   •  The  arch i tec tu re  a t  the  academic  campus a t  FPSI  comes the  c loses t  to  match ing 

ma in  campus w i th  b r i ck  c ladd ing ,  meta l  roo f ing  bu t  has  a  s imp l i f ied  s ty le  tha t  was 

adopted  to  b lend  w i th  the  ex is t ing  bu i ld ings  on  campus when the  campus was  ob ta ined 

f rom the  L ive ly  Vocat iona l  Center.  The  grounds  and campus layou t  a re  des igned no t 

on ly  fo r  soc ia l  in te rac t ions  and pedes t r ian  movement  bu t  were  des igned fo r  march ing 

be tween c lasses  fo r  the  Pat  Thomas Bas ic  t ra inees  and the  F lo r ida  H ighway Pat ro l 

Academy. 

The bu i ld ings  a t  the  h igh  l iab i l i t y  t ra in ing  a reas  re f lec t  the i r  func t ion  and  where  poss ib le 

were  des igned to  the  FPSI  campus s tandard .  However,  fo r  sa fe ty  and  t ra in ing  reasons 

some do  no t  match  tha t  s tandard .

   •  The  Gadsden Center  i s  the  newest  campus and has  one bu i ld ing  cur ren t l y  on  s i te . 

The  bu i ld ing  has  a  con temporary  a rch i tec tu ra l  s ty le  w i th  meta l  roo f ing  and  s tucco  and 

br ick  wa l l s .  A s ign i f i can t  add i t ion  i s  p lanned pend ing  fund ing  and shou ld  match  the 

ex is t ing  a rch i tec tu re .



152024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

• The Center  fo r  Innova t ion  i s  loca ted  in  downtown Ta l lahassee jus t  s tops  f rom 

the  S ta te  Cap i ta l  and  C i ty  Ha l l .  I t ’s  a rch i tec tu ra l  s ty le  i s  in  con t ras t  w i th  the 

sur round ing  bu i ld ings  and responds  harmonous ly  w i th  i t s  sur round ings  on  i t ’s 

s i te  s i tua ted  a t  K leman P laza .

3 .  F lex ib i l i t y :  I t  a l lows  fo r  adaptab i l i t y  to  chang ing  educat iona l  t rends ,  techno log ica l 

advancements ,  and  un fo reseen c i rcumstances .

Except  fo r  the  Ghazv in i ,  Gadsden Center  and  Innovat ion  Center  campuses  there  i s 

f lex ib i l i t y  in  ad jus t ing  to  fu tu re  changes  in  requ i rements  and  programs tha t  wou ld 

a f fec t  bu i ld ing  loca t ions . 

4 .  Resource  A l loca t ion :  The  p lan  he lps  a l loca te  resources  e f f i c ien t l y  by  p r io r i t i z ing 

p ro jec ts  a l igned w i th  ins t i tu t iona l  goa ls .

The Cap i ta l  Improvement  P lan ,  Pro jec t  Pr io r i t y  L is t ,  P lan t  Survey  and subsequent 

spo t  surveys  a re  the  p r imary  documents  tha t  p rov ide  gu idance in  ach iev ing  th is 

goa l .

5 .  Enhanc ing  S tudent  Exper ience :  Cons idera t ion  o f  s tudent  l i fe ,  hous ing , 

t ranspor ta t ion ,  and  recrea t iona l  spaces  con t r ibu tes  to  a  pos i t i ve  campus 

env i ronment .

Each campus update  map addresses  new prov is ions  w i th in  the  bu i ld ing  types 

p roposed and the i r  s i te  geomet ry  to  c rea te  a  campus env i ronment  to  address  th is 

goa l . 

6 .  Communi ty  Engagement :  S takeho lders ’ inpu t  ensures  d iverse  perspec t i ves  and 

shared  in te res ts  a re  re f lec ted  in  the  p lan .



1 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

 

A C A D E M I C  Z O N E  D E V E L O P M E N T  D E N S I T Y

Land dens i ty  ca lcu la t ions  p rov ide  in fo rmat ion  to  quant i f y  the  u t i l i za t ion  o f  p roper ty. 

H igher  dens i ty  p rov ides  fo r  a  more  e f f i c ien t  use  o f  land .  I t  requ i res  less  land ,  decreased 

leng th  o f  roads ,  decreased leng th  fo r  water  and  sewer  p ipes ,  and  i t  shor tens  runs  fo r 

power  and  u t i l i t y  l i nes  fo r  any  deve lopment .  Th is  can  represent  subs tan t ia l  economic 

sav ings .  I t  a lso  decreases  wa lk ing  d is tances  and the  amount  o f  t ime i t  takes  to  reach  a 

des t ina t ion  wh i le  max imiz ing  the  amount  o f  open space tha t  remains .

The on ly  campus where  dens i ty  i s  cur ren t l y  re levant  i s  the  ma in  campus wh ich  i s  a 

mature  campus w i th  exce l len t  pedes t r ian  pa thways  be tween bu i ld ings  and amen i t ies .  No 

fu tu re  bu i ld ings  a re  p lanned fo r  th is  campus fo r  the  nex t  f i ve  years .

The FPSI  campus w i l l  a lways  have  a  lower  dens i ty  campus layou t  s ince  i t s  para-mi l i ta ry 

t ra in ing  reg imen was  des igned fo r  s tudents  to  march  be tween c lassrooms and to  the 

h igh  l iab i l i t y  zone fo r  t ra in ing .  I t  cu r ren t l y  has  good pedes t r ian  connec t ions  be tween 

c lassrooms and amen i t ies .  The  loca t ion  o f  the  fu tu re  bu i ld ings  fo r  the  Aquat ics  Center 

and  C lassroom B w i l l  ma in ta in  those  connec t ions .

The WEI  campus w i l l  a lso  have  a  lower  dens i ty  campus due to  the  na tu re  o f  i t s  m iss ion . 

The p lanned un i t  deve lopment  requ i rements  d ic ta te  tha t  there  w i l l  be  four  ma in  a reas 

des igna ted  fo r  spec i f i c  ac t i v i t ies .  The  areas  a re  des igna ted  fo r  conserva t ion ,  p rac t i ca l 

t ra in ing ,  c lassroom and admin is t ra t ion  and  con ference  cen ter.  The  la rge  s ize  o f  these 

a reas  fo rces  a  w ide  separa t ion  be tween bu i ld ings .  Th is  w ide  separa t ion  i s  impor tan t 

though because the  campus i t se l f  i s  des igned as  an  exh ib i t ion  a rea  o f  the  na tu ra l 

d ivers i t y  o f  the  campus.  Ex tens ive  wa lkways ,  wa lk ing  t ra i l s ,  over looks  and educat iona l 

d isp lay  po in ts  con t r ibu te  to  the  wa lkab i l i t y  o f  the  campus.

The o ther  th ree  campuses  in  th is  master  p lan  a re  the  Ghazv in i  Center,  the  Gadsden 

Center  and  the  Innovat ion  Center.  A l l  these  campuses  w i l l  have  on ly  one  bu i ld ing  on 

them a t  fu l l  bu i ld  ou t ,  so  campus dens i ty  i s  i r re levan t . 



172024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

C O M P L I A N C E  S TA T U S  R E P O R T

REQUIRED STATE FACILIT IES PLANNING & BUDGETING PROCESSES

The f i ve -year  Campus Master  P lan  fo r  a  s ta te  co l lege  serves  as  the  overa l l  gu ide 

fo r  deve lopment  o f  shor t - te rm fac i l i t i es  p lann ing  and budget ing  p rocesses .  These 

processes  inc lude  the  f i ve -year  Educat iona l  P lan t  Survey  and the  annua l  F ive-

Year  Cap i ta l  Improvement  P lan  as  mandated  by  the  S ta te  o f  F lo r ida ’s  Depar tment 

o f  Educat ion  (DOE) .  I t  i s  the  Co l lege ’s  in ten t  to  submi t  these  th ree  repor ts 

concur ren t l y.

 

THE FIVE-YEAR EDUCATIONAL PLANT SURVEY (EPS)

 

Th is  p rocess  was  des igned to  demonst ra te  and  va l ida te  the  fac i l i t i es  needs  fo r 

each  approved s i te  o f  a  s ta te  co l lege .  I t  uses  s ta te  s tandards  tha t  a re  app l ied 

to  enro l lment  p ro jec t ions  w i th  spec i f i c  a t ten t ion  to  un ique  fac i l i t i es  requ i rements 

fo r  the  academic  p rograms o f fe red  by  the  co l lege .  The EPS recommendat ions  fo r 

renovat ion ,  remode l ing ,  and  new cons t ruc t ion  must  be  cons is ten t  w i th  the  Campus 

Master  P lan ,  wh ich  must  be  updated  a t  leas t  every  f i ve  years .  Add i t iona l l y,  the 

p ro jec ts  inc luded in  the  EPS must  be  coord ina ted  w i th  loca l  government  en t i t ies  fo r 

any  o f f -campus loca l  in f ras t ruc tu re  needs .

Proposed s i tes  fo r  s ta te  co l leges ,  where  the  land  i s  to  be  owned or  where  fac i l i t y 

acqu is i t ion  o r  cons t ruc t ion  i s  p lanned,  must  have  p r io r  approva l  by  the  leg is la tu re . 

These are  subsequent ly  c lass i f ied  and  approved by  the  S ta te  Board  o f  Educat ion .

An EPS is  requ i red  every  f i ve  years .  I t  shou ld  be  submi t ted  th ree  months  p r io r  to 

the  f ina l  due  da te .  The  due da te  fo r  the  EPS is  30  June 2024.

THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN (CIP)

Th is  i s  requ i red  by  F lo r ida  S ta tu tes  as  par t  o f  the  annua l  budget  p rocess  and serves 

two purposes :  i t  represents  the  co l lege ’s  annua l  reques t  fo r  s ta te  cap i ta l  ou t lay 

fund ing  f rom Pub l i c  Educat ion  Cap i ta l  Out lay  funds ,  and  i t  fac i l i ta tes  long- te rm 

p lann ing  fo r  budget ing  purposes .  Each pro jec t  inc luded in  the  co l lege ’s  CIP is  to  be 

suppor ted  by  a  recommendat ion  inc luded in  the  la tes t  EPS.



1 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

Separa te  budget ing  p rocesses  ex is t  fo r  p ro jec ts  funded by  Fac i l i t i es  Enhancement 

Cha l lenge Gran t  (FECG)  funds  and Motor  Veh ic le  L icense  Revenue (MVLR) .  Pro jec ts  to 

be  f inanced by  these  sources  a lso  requ i re  the  suppor t  o f  recommendat ions  w i th in  the 

survey.  FECG pro jec ts  a re  reques ted  each  year  and  MVLR pro jec ts  must  be  inc luded 

in  the  Pro jec t  Pr io r i t y  L is t  (PPL)  approved by  the  Depar tment  o f  Educat ion  as  be ing 

cons is ten t  w i th  the  survey  and w i th  the  l im i ta t ions  on  the  use  o f  MVLR funds .  Cap i ta l 

improvement  fees  pa id  by  s tudents  and  proceeds  f rom bonds  suppor ted  by  th is  revenue 

source  a re  a lso  ava i lab le  fo r  p ro jec ts  recommended in  the  survey.

The CIP is  due  on  Augus t  1s t  o f  each  year.

COMPLIANCE

Master  P lan ,  P lan t  Survey  and Cap i ta l  Improvement  P lan

The Co l lege  i s  cur ren t l y  work ing  on  the  requ i red  updates  fo r  these  repor ts  tha t  mus t  be 

submi t ted  to  comply  w i th  the  ex tens ion  DOE issued in  June o f  2023 to  a l low the  master 

p lan ,  p lan t  survey  and cap i ta l  improvement  p lan  to  be  submi t ted  toge ther.

SITE APPROVAL

Al l  s i tes  where  p ro jec ts  a re  p lanned,  were  approved accord ing  to  the  cur ren t  C IP. 

No new s i tes  were  added s ince  the  las t  updates  except  fo r  two  parce ls  added to  the 

Waku l la  Env i ronmenta l  Ins t i tu te .  E f fo r ts  a re  underway  to  abandon Kent  S t ree t  a t  the 

Gadsden Center  in  p repara t ion  fo r  a  fu tu re  en la rgement  o f  tha t  fac i l i t y.

PROJECT PRIORITY L IST (PPL)

The PPL w i l l  be  updated  in  the  new documents  to  re f lec t  the  co l lege ’s  p re fe rences  in 

hous ing  the i r  educa t iona l  o r  suppor t  fac i l i t i es .



192024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

C U R R E N T  A T T E N D A N C E  &  F U T U R E  P R O J E C T I O N S

The pro jec ted  s tudent  enro l lments  inc luded in  the  Educat iona l  P lan t  Survey 

p rov ides  the  bas is  fo r  fu tu re  space  needs  inc luded in  the  f i ve -year  Master  P lan 

update .  The  educat iona l  p lan t  survey  a ids  in  the  de te rmina t ion  o f  quant i t ies  o f 

space  requ i red  to  house the  educat iona l  ac t i v i t ies  o f  s tudents  and  s ta f f ,  tak ing 

in to  cons idera t ion  the  loca l  comprehens ive  p lan  in  i t s  fo recas t  s t ra teg ies .  Th is 

p lan  represents  a  care fu l  s tudy  o f  a l l  ava i lab le  da ta  regard ing  the  s ta tus  o f 

educa t iona l  and  anc i l la ry  fac i l i t i es  in  re la t ion  to  cap i ta l  ou t lay  fu l l - t ime equ iva lency 

(COFTE or  FTE)  s tudent  membersh ip  and  the  p ro jec ted  changes  in  COFTE s tudent 

membersh ip .

The pro jec ted  fu l l - t ime equ iva lency  (FTE)  becomes the  bas is  fo r  the  requ i rements 

based on  es tab l i shed fo rmu las  s t ipu la t ing  g ross  f loor  a rea  (GSF)  per  FTE 

s tandards .  The resu l t ing  requ i red  bu i ld ing  a reas  can  then  be  used to  de te rmine 

o ther  supp lementary  requ i red  campus e lements  such  as  park ing  and s to rmwater 

re ten t ion .

CWE FTE (Cont inu ing  Work fo rce  Educat ion  Fu l l  Time Equ iva len t )  i s  no t  inc luded 

in  th is  re -  por t  because i t  was  exc luded f rom funded FTE beg inn ing  in  schoo l  year 

2010-11 .  The s ta te  no  longer  p rov ides  p ro jec t ions  fo r  th is  ca tegory. 

The  char t  tha t  fo l lows  g ives  TSC enro l lment  p ro jec t ions  p rov ided  by  the  F lo r ida 

Depar tment  o f  Educat ion  (FDOE)  fo r  the  years  2023-2024 th rough 2028-2029.  I t 

i nd ica tes  a  re la t i ve ly  f la t  g rowth  ra te  across  a l l  campuses  except  fo r  the  Ghazv in i 

Campus wh ich  shows smal l  g rowth .

Employee head count  p ro jec t ions  p resented  here in  a re  based on  cur ren t 

employment  f igures  fo r  the  2023-2024 year.  They  genera l l y  f luc tua te  in  d i rec t 

p ropor t ion  to  the  number  o f  enro l led  s tudents  served .  The cur ren t  employee head 

count  i s  1 ,705  wh ich  cons is ts  o f  806  fu l l - t ime and  899 par t - t ime employees .  Th is 

number  i s  a lso  expec ted  to  remain  f la t  over  the  nex t  f i ve  years  due  to  f la t  FTE 

pro jec t ions .



2 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

FLORIDA COLLEGE SYSTEM

CAPITAL OUTLAY FORMULA BUDGET PROJECTIONS:

FUNDED,  LOWER,  AND UPPER LEVEL

DIVISION PROJECTIONS WITH COLLEGE ADJUSTMENTS

TALLAHASSEE STATE COLLEGE



212024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

S TA T I S T I C A L  &  E N R O L L M E N T  D A TA



2 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



232024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

8,000

8,895

2022
2023

2023
2024

2024
2025

2025
2026

2026
2027

8,839 8,780 8,7148 ,645

7,000
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000

0

2022 - 2023 FTE BREAKDOWN TALLAHASSEE STATE COLLEGE

8,727

MAIN CAMPUS                                                  8,154                                              
GADSDEN CENTER                                          17
FLORIDA SAFETY INSTITUTE                         201
GHAZVINI                                                          350
WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INSTITUTE      5

GADSDEN COUNTY

BEBR PROJECTIONS 18 - 24 AGE POPULATION

90,000

74,180 74,971 74,276 76,151
77,625 78,183

2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

80,000

70,000

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

0

LEON COUNTY WAKULLA COUNTYLIBERTY COUNTYJEFFERSON COUNTY TOTAL



2 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

P O P U L A T I O N  P R O J E C T I O N S  F I V E  C O U N T Y  A R E A  

 

 

 

2 0 25  –  2 0 50  COUNTY GROWTH  P ROJECT IONS  

BUREAU OF  ECONOM IC  & BUSINESS  RESEARC H  

      

POPULATION PROJECTIONS FIVE COUNTY AREA



TS
C 

M
ai

n 
Ca

m
pu

s

1



2 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

I N D E X

O v e r v i e w. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 7

C a m p u s  Fa c i l i t i e s  M at r i x . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 0

E x i s t i n g  C a m p u s  M a p. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 1

F u t u r e  P r o j e c t s  N a r r at i v e s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 2

M a i n  C a m p u s  S t o r m  Wat e r  N a r r at i v e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 3 

M a i n  C a m p u s  S t o r m  Wat e r  B a s i n  M a p. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 4

E n v i r o n m e n ta l  I n i t i at i v e s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 5

M a i n  C a m p u s  P r o p e r t y  H o l d i n g s

•    Pa r c e l  # 2 1 2 8 5 1  K 0 0 0 2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 7

•    Pa r c e l  # 2 1 2 8 5 1  L 0 0 0 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 8

•    Pa r c e l  # 2 1 3 3 1 9 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 9

•    Pa r c e l  # 2 1 2 8 5 1  B 0 4 0 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4 0

•    Pa r c e l  # 2 1 2 8 5 1  H 0 0 3 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4 1

P r o j e c t e d  S pa c e  N e e d s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4 2

D O E  S U M M A R Y  S pa c e  P r o j e c t i o n  2 0 2 7- 2 0 2 8 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4 4

P R O J E C T E D  PA R K I N G  R E Q U I R E M E N T S  &  D ATA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4 5

W e s t s i d e  S t u d e n t  G at e way  C u r r e n t  S tat u s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .47

W e s t s i d e  S t u d e n t  G at e way  C o n c e p t u a l  P l a n . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4 8

L a n d s c a p e  N a r r at i v e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4 9

S u m m a r y. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 4

MAIN CAMPUS



272024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

O V E R V I E W

Ta l lahassee Sta te  Co l lege  commiss ioned DAG Arch i tec ts  to  update  the  master  p lan 

fo r  the  Ma in  Campus o f  the  Co l lege .  The Campus is  loca ted  w i th in  the  c i t y  l im i ts  o f 

Ta l lahassee,  F lo r ida  and  has  an  a rea  o f  208  acres .  The  des ign  team ana lyzed  the 

ex is t ing  campus cond i t ions ,  env i ronmenta l  cons t ra in ts ,  and  expec ted  campus growth 

to  deve lop  a  f ramework  fo r  the  con t inued phys ica l  deve lopment  o f  the  campus.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

Al though Ta l lahassee b i l l s  i t se l f  as  the  c i t y  on  seven h i l l s ,  the  Co l lege  s i te  i s  very 

f la t .  The  s i te  was  par t  o f  the  Da le  Mabry  Army A i r f ie ld  dur ing  Wor ld  War  I I ,  and  a 

good par t  o f  the  campus was  once  runways  and tax iways .  The f la t  topography  has 

led  to  s to rm dra inage issues  on  some par ts  o f  the  campus,  and  a  smal l  por t ion 

o f  the  sou thwest  corner  o f  the  s i te  i s  loca ted  w i th in  the  hundred-year  f loodp la in . 

The  dra inage issues  w i l l  be  addressed la te r  in  th is  update  in  the  S to rmwater  Bas in 

Nar ra t i ve  and  Map.

S i te  access  by  au tomob i le  i s  exce l len t .  The  s i te  i s  bounded by  th ree  p r imary 

roads ;  West  Tennessee Stee t  (US 90)  to  the  nor th ,  App leyard  Dr ive  to  the  eas t , 

and  Pensaco la  S t ree t  (SR 366)  on  the  sou th .  There  a re  mu l t ip le  en t rances  to  the 

campus,  so  the  Co l lege  i s  no t  p lagued by  the  back-ups  o r  t ra f f i c  jams tha t  occur  a t 

some o ther  schoo ls .  Bus / t rans i t  se rv ice  to  the  Co l lege  i s  a lso  exce l len t ,  w i th  bus 

s tops  loca ted  on  each  o f  the  th ree  ma in  roads .  Four  rou tes  serve  TSC and there  i s 

a  t rans fe r  s ta t ion  on  campus on  App leyard  Dr ive .

Pedes t r ian  t ra f f i c  to  the  campus is  fa i r.  There  a re  s idewa lks  and  c rosswa lks  on  bo th 

s ides  o f  Tennessee St ree t  a t  the  nor thern  boundary  o f  TSC,  and  the  wa lks  con t inue 

eas tward  where  most  o f  the  s tudent  hous ing  i s  loca ted .  There  a re  a lso  s idewa lks 

and  c rosswa lks  on  bo th  s ides  o f  App leyard  Dr ive  and  on  Pensaco la  S t ree t  head ing 

eas t  f rom the  in te rsec t ion  o f  Pensaco la  S t ree t  and  App leyard  Dr ive .  There  a re  a lso 

s idewa lks  a t  the  sou th  boundary  o f  TSC tha t  ex tend  f rom App leyard  Dr ive  a long 

Pensaco la  S t ree t  to  Pa t  Thomas Bou levard . 

MAIN CAMPUS



2 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

Bicyc le  access  to  campus is  l i ke  pedes t r ian  access .  There  a re  b icyc le  lanes  assoc ia ted 

w i th  the  s idewa lks  a t  each  o f  the  th ree  roads  l i s ted  above.  B icyc le  and  pedes t r ian 

t ra f f i c  to  the  campus is  no t  as  p reva len t  as  i t  i s  a t  the  two nearby  un ivers i t ies ,  p robab ly 

because TSC does  no t  charge  fo r  park ing  and there  i s  p len ty  o f  park ing  ava i lab le .  The 

po ten t ia l  fo r  inc reased a l te rna t i ve  access  i s  h igh  because a lmost  45% o f  TSC s tudents 

a re  f rom loca t ions  ou ts ide  o f  TSC’s  serv ice  a rea  and l i ve  in  loca l  apar tments .

The charac te r  o f  the  ma in  campus is  very  un i fo rm.  A l l  o f  the  bu i ld ings  in  the  ma in 

academic  core  a re  two s to r ies  ta l l ,  have  red  b r i ck  wa l l s  and  g ray  s tand ing  seam meta l 

roo fs .  L ive ly  Techn ica l  Center,  opera ted  by  Leon County  Schoo ls ,  i s  a  40  acre  in -parce l 

to  the  nor theas t  o f  the  ma in  campus.  L ive ly  f ron ts  App leyard  Dr ive  and  is  bounded by 

TSC on  th ree  s ides .

The charac te r  o f  the  bu i ld ings  in  the  sou thwest  quadran t  o f  the  campus are  no t  as 

un i fo rm or  as  p leas ing  in  charac te r  as  the  ma in  academic  core .  Th is  a rea  was  o r ig ina l l y 

deve loped as  a  l igh t  indus t r ia l  park ,  and  over  the  years  TSC acqu i red  bu i ld ings  and 

parce ls  as  fund ing  a l lowed.  More  recent ly  TSC has  been d ispos ing  o f  some o f  these 

p roper t ies  and  cur ren t l y  has  no  p lans  to  acqu i re  add i t iona l  p roper t ies .  The  ex is t ing 

ne ighborhood cons is ts  o f  bu i ld ings  tha t  a re  s t i l l  p r i va te  and  are  re la t i ve ly  we l l 

ma in ta ined  (Gra inger,  Graybar ) ,  bu i ld ings  tha t  have  been renovated  fo r  new uses 

(baseba l l  and  so f tba l l  f i e ld  houses ,  Un ivers i t y  Center  and  AMTC) ,  and  bu i ld ings  tha t 

have  de te r io ra ted  due to  lack  o f  funds  ( fo rmer  Gorman and Hood bu i ld ings) .  One o f  the 

goa ls  in  the  master  p lan  i s  to  re - inv igora te  th is  a rea  as  a  pub l i c -p r i va te  resource  tha t 

suppor ts  the  qua l i t y  image o f  the  remainder  o f  the  campus.

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSTRAINTS

There  a re  severa l  env i ronmenta l  cons t ra in ts  tha t  impac t  the  long- te rm deve lopment  o f 

the  campus.  The f i r s t  cons t ra in t  i s  the  por t ion  o f  the  s i te  tha t  i s  w i th in  the  hundred-year 

f lood  p la in  wh ich  l im i ts  the  ab i l i t y  to  deve lop  tha t  a rea .  In  add i t ion ,  the  wes te rn  ex ten t 

o f  TSC’s  campus is  bounded by  an  ac t i ve  CSX ra i l road  t rack .  S ince  fue l ,  fe r t i l i ze r  and 

o ther  tox ic  subs tances  a re  o f ten  sh ipped by  ra i l ,  deve lopment  o f  new co l lege  fac i l i t i es 

near  the  t rack  shou ld  be  d iscouraged.

MAIN CAMPUS



292024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

The th i rd  fac to r  tha t  w i l l  a f fec t  campus growth  and deve lopment  i s  the  p lanned 

Westwood Gateway Student  Cor r idor  p ro jec t  tha t  w i l l  w iden  Pensaco la  S t ree t  f rom 

two lanes  to  four  w i th  landscaped med ians  f rom Cap i ta l  C i rc le  to  App leyard  Dr ive . 

The  benef i t s  o f  th is  p ro jec t  w i l l  be  a  more  a t t rac t i ve  roadway,  improved pedes t r ian 

and  b icyc le  access ,  and  d ra inage improvements  a t  the  ex is t ing  ra i lway  overpass 

tha t  shou ld  he lp  address  s to rm dra inage on  campus.  The de t r iment  TSC wi l l  be  the 

loss  o f  ex is t ing  park ing  lo ts  ad jacent  to  Pensaco la  S t ree t .  However,  there  w i l l  s t i l l 

be  ample  park ing  campus-w ide .

MAIN CAMPUS



3 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

M A I N  C A M P U S  E X I S T I N G  
B U I L D I N G  R E Q U I R E M E N T S

ENGLISH BUILDING01-001 EN
01-002 SMA
01-003 AP

01-004 MLH
01-005 CH
01-006 DH

01-008 AC
01-009 CB

01-0011 TPP
01-0012 FPAC

Ac
ed

em
ic

Bu
ild

in
gs

G
SFEF

IS
#

At
hl

et
ic

s
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s

G
SF

Pa
rk

in
g

G
ar

ag
e

G
SF

St
or

ag
e

Le
as

ed
G

SF

NOT USED 
NOT USED 

TECHNICAL & PROFESSIONAL PROGRAMS

CENTRE BUIDING

NOT USED

COMMUNICATIONS / HUMANITIES

ACADEMIC SUPPORT BUILDING
SCIENCE / MATH ANNEX

SCIENCE LECTURE HALL

DENTAL HYGIENE BUILDING

ACADEMIC COMPUTING CENTER

NOT USED

FINE & PERFORMING ARTS CENTER

CATAGORY TOTAL GSF

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 F
A

C
IL

IT
IES

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

LIFETIME SPORTS CENTER 
RAZED 
SUPPORT SERVICES BUILDING 
SCIENCE / MATH BUILDING 
UNIVERSITY CENTER 
BASEBALL FIELD HOUSE 
RICHARDSON BUILDING 
LEASED TO SCOTT BARRETT PLUMBING 

SOLD 

BASEBALL CONCESSIONS

STUDENT UNION 
LEASED TO SHAKESPEAR THEATER 

SOFTBALL FIELD

COMMERCIAL VEHICLE TRAINING
LIBRARY BUILDING

ADMINISTRATION BUILDING

NOT USED
NOT USED

NOT USED

NOT USED
CENTRAL ENERGY PLANT

BASEBALL FIELD

WOMEN’S FIELD HOUSE

22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43

PARKING GARAGE 
WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT 
WETHERELL HSS BUILDING 
NOT USED 
COMPUTER TECHNOLOGY 
LEASED TO INDEPENDANT GREEN TECH 
ADVANCED MANUFACTURING TRAINING CTR 

SOLD

MAILROOM & LOGISTICS TRAINING 
STORAGE 

PAINT SPRAYING

LEASED TO E2P

WINCHESTER PARCEL

RAZED

SOLD
LEASED TO SOUTHERN PIPE

VACANT LAND

LEASED TO I.G.T.

SUPERIOR MECHANICAL

VACANT BUILDING

FUTURE PLANT OPERATIONS

44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58

42,243

18,612

72,374

8,941
14,432

17,427
8,308

2,484

44,013
7,559

106,014
9,014

5,000
4,000
7,067

90,362
4,572

408,792
40,484
40,218

40,526
18,792

25,301

23,794

1,600
16,230

13,900
2,080

15,525
5,060
4,380

2,618

997,183 32,983 408,792 118,056

60,249

68,322

25,871
16,923
10,840
71,542
38,111

81,075

44,530
17,829

01-0015 LS

01-0017 SS
01-0018 SM
01-0019 UC
01-0020 BA
01-0021 RI
01-0022 SB
01-0023 BC

01-0027 AD
01-0028 CUP

01-0030 LB/LF

01-0032 BC
01-0033 SF
01-0034 SO
01-0035 SU
01-0036 HA
01-0037 PG
01-0038 WD
01-0039 HSS

01-0041 CT
01-0042 HUE

01-0043 AMTC

01-0046 GOR

01-0050 OB

01-0052 UCP
01-0053 APB
01-0054 FAC
01-0055 PS
01-0056 PO
01-0057 MR
01-0058 STO



T S C  M A I N  C A M P U S

1

2

8

5

46

9

3

18

18

17

58
57

31

56

15

27

30

35

41

38

52

39

19

50

42

46

34

23 32

33

21

43

49

53

22

3620

12

37

16

28

54

11 11

APPLEYARD DRIVEAPPLEYARD DRIVE

SENATOR PAT THOMAS BLVD

SENATOR PAT THOMAS BLVD

W
EST PENSACO

LA STREET

W
EST PENSACO

LA STREET

PROGRESS DRIVE

PROGRESS DRIVE

CENTURY PARK DRIVE

CENTURY PARK DRIVE

TE
NN

ES
SE

E 
ST

RE
ET

TE
NN

ES
SE

E 
ST

RE
ET

11

5 21

28
18

19

31

35

41

20

27

32

36

42
47 53

37

43
48 54

38

44

45

49 55
50 56

51 57

12

15

166

92

3

4

22

30

34

Communications / Humanities

Technical + Professional Programs

Richardson Building

Central Energy Plant

Science / Math Annex

Academic Support Building

Science Lecture Hall

Dental Hygiene Building

Centre Building

Fine + Performing Arts Center

Lifetime Sports Center

Razed

Science / Math Building

University Center

Commercial Vehicle Training

Student Union

Computer Technology

Baseball Field House

Administration Building

Baseball Field

Leased to Shakespeare Theater

Leased to Independent Green Tech
Sold Lease to E2P

Parking Garage

Adv. Man. Training Ctr.
Vacant Land Vacant Building

Workforce Development

Sold

Sold

Razed Paint Spraying
I.G.T Future Plant Operations

Winchester Parcel Mail Room + Logistics TrainingLeased Scott Barrett Plumbing 

Library Building

Womens Field House

Razed Buildings

Not Owned by TCC

SCALE: 1”=500’-0”

0  50’    250’       500’                    1000’   

T S C  M A I N  C A M P U S  M A P

N

3 12024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



3 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

F U T U R E  P R O J E C T S  N A R RA T I V E 

Pro jec ted  s tudent  enro l lment ,  over  the  nex t  f i ve  years ,  can  be  accomida ted  w i th in  the 

campuses  cur ren t  educat ion  space capac i ty. 

Ma in  campus fac i l i t i es  have  expanded and improved over  the  years  and  are  capab le 

o f  meet ing  cur ren t  and  fu tu re  p ro jec ted  enro l lment .   The  focus  i s  on  improvements  to 

educat iona l  space  to  meet  chang ing  pedagog ica l  methods ,  to  be t te r  embed techno logy 

fo r  s tudent  learn ing ,  and  to  c rea te  an  env i ronment  tha t  i s  ab le  to  be  ag i le  in  meet ing 

work fo rce  demands.  

There  a re  severa l  sma l le r  p ro jec ts  tha t  a re  underway  wh ich  have  been descr ibed  in  the 

Pro jec ted  Space Needs  nar ra t i ve ,

The ex is t ing  Ch i l le r  P lan t  i s  p lanned to  rece ive  a  so la r  roo f  cover  wh ich  w i l l  p ro tec t  th is 

ou tdoor  equ ipment  wh i le  add ing  to  the  energy  e f f i c iency  o f  the  ma in  campus.  I t  w i l l  a lso 

serve  as  a  covered  park ing  a rea  fo r  the  campus go l f  ca r ts .

A ma jo r  remode l ing  o f  the  Denta l  Lab  i s  under  cons t ruc t ion .  Th is  redes ign  incorpora tes 

some o f  the  la tes t  advanced and rea l i s t i c  3D t ra in ing  techno logy  ava i lab le .

MAIN CAMPUS



332024 TSC MASTER PLANNING MAIN CAMPUS

S T O R M WA T E R  B AS I N  N A R R A T I V E 

FUTURE STORMWATER BASIN 1

Th is  fu tu re  s to rmwater  Bas in  as  shown hereon w i l l  co l lec t  s to rmwater  f low v ia 

over land  f low and p ip ing  to  a  b io  in f i l t ra t ion  swa le  to  Pond 1 .  Fu tu re  Bas in  1 ’s 

p r imary  serv ice  a rea  w i l l  be  the  ex is t ing  Mu l t i -purpose  Bu i ld ing ,  fu tu re  C lassroom 

and Lab Bu i ld ings  2 ,  3  and  4  and  o ther  assoc ia ted  imperv ious  a reas .

FUTURE STORMWATER BASIN 2

Th is  fu tu re  s to rmwater  Bas in  as  shown hereon w i l l  co l lec t  s to rmwater  f low v ia 

over land  f low and p ip ing  to  a  b io  in f i l t ra t ion  swa le  to  Pond 2 .  Bas in  2 ’s  p r imary 

serv ice  a rea  w i l l  i nc lude  the  Eco Tra in ing  Center  and  the  Eco Tour ism Hosp i ta l i t y 

Tra in ing  Center  bu i ld ings  5  and  6  respec t i ve ly.

FUTURE STORMWATER BASIN 3

Min ima l  imperv ious  a rea  i s  expec ted  to  be  cons t ruc ted  in  th is  a rea  se t  as ide  fo r 

p rac t i ca l  t ra in ing .  There fo re ,  i t  i s  an t i c ipa ted  the  s to rmwater  management  w i l l  be 

hand led  by  g rasses  swa les  o r  smal l  ponds  ad jacent  to  the  imperv ious  a rea  c rea ted .

NATURAL AREA

Min ima l  o r  no  imperv ious  a reas  w i l l  be  a l lowed in  the  na tu ra l  p reserve  a rea .



T S C  M A I N  C A M P U S  S T O R M WA T E R  B A S I N  M A P T S C  M A I N  C A M P U S  S T O R M WA T E R  B A S I N  M A P

N

3 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



352024 TSC MASTER PLANNING MAIN CAMPUS

E N V I R O N M E N T A L  I N I T I A T I V E S 

Ta l lahassee Sta te  Co l lege  i s  commi t ted  to  env i ronmenta l  sus ta inab i l i t y.   In  2019, 

TSC was a  found ing  member  o f  the  Cap i ta l  Area  Sus ta inab i l i t y  Compact .   In  an 

innova t ive  endeavor,  e igh t  o f  the  la rges t  o rgan iza t ions  in  Leon County  p ledged to 

co l lec t i ve ly  tack le  some o f  the  communi ty ’s  b igges t  sus ta inab i l i t y  top ics  l i ke  was te , 

energy,  and  t ranspor ta t ion .  The  member  o rgan iza t ions  c rea ted  the  Compact  to 

es tab l i sh  a  p la t fo rm where  members  can  share  in fo rmat ion ,  iden t i f y  co l labora t i ve 

oppor tun i t ies ,  and  f ind  so lu t ions  fo r  shared  sus ta inab i l i t y  cha l lenges .  

Compact  members  deve loped a  jo in t  s t ra tegy  to  min imize  the  communi ty  foo tp r in t , 

reduce  communi ty  g reenhouse gas  emiss ions  and dr ive  sus ta inab le  ac t ion  in  the 

Cap i ta l  Area .

In  keep ing  w i th  th is  commi tment ,  the  Co l lege  es tab l i shed a  s t ra teg ic  in i t ia t i ve  to 

max imize  ins t i tu t iona l  f inanc ia l  capac i ty  by  leverag ing  opera t iona l  e f f i c ienc ies  and 

env i ronmenta l  s tewardsh ip .   We mon i to r  energy  consumpt ion ,  water  consumpt ion , 

so la r  energy  p roduc t ion  and  the  use  o f  sus ta inab le  mater ia ls .   Th is  in fo rmat ion 

d r i ves  dec is ion-mak ing .   TCC a lso  has  engaged in  an  energy  sav ings  per fo rmance 

con t rac t  to  iden t i f y  energy  fac i l i t y  and  opera t iona l  p rac t i ces  tha t  w i l l  conserve 

energy.  

The  Co l lege  a lso  regu la r l y  se lec ts  env i ronmenta l l y  consc ience  mater ia ls  and 

p roduc ts .   We use  carpe t ,  p icn ic  tab les ,  benches  and landscape t imbers  made f rom 

recyc led  p las t i c .   Water  foun ta ins  have  been rep laced w i th  hydra t ion  s ta t ions  to 

re f i l l  wa te r  bo t t les .   Landscape equ ipment  and  go l f  ca r ts  a re  e lec t r i c .   The  Co l lege 

has  ins ta l led  two EV charg ing  s ta t ions  on  campus.

S ince  2020,  the  Co l lege  has  p r io r i t i zed  the  sa fe ty  and  we l fa re  o f  our  employees  and 

s tudents  by  imp lement ing  a  $4  mi l l i on  a i r  qua l i t y  p ro jec t .   Th is  inc luded inc reas ing 

the  a i r  f i l te r  MERV ra t ings  across  campus;  ins ta l la t ion  o f  b ipo la r  ion iza t ion  a i r 

pur i f ie rs ,  upgrad ing  HVAC bu i ld ing  au tomat ion  sensors  inc lud ing  CO2 and VOC 

mon i to rs  and  ins ta l la t ion  o f  UV l igh t  sys tems.  



3 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING MAIN CAMPUS

The Co l lege  has  a  fu l l y  deve loped bu i ld ing  au tomat ion  sys tem on  campus fo r 

purposes  o f  mon i to r ing  and  con t ro l l i ng  energy  consumpt ion ,  immed ia te ly  iden-

t i f y ing  water  leaks  o r  o ther  i ssues .   Th is  a lso  a l lows cen t ra l i zed  con t ro l  o f 

thermosta ts  and  the  ab i l i t y  to  p lan  fo r  events  and  spec ia l  cond i t ions .   Th is  has 

c rea ted  a  cu l tu re  o f  conserva t ion  across  campus.

The Co l lege  has  a lso  made so la r  energy  p roduc t ion  an  impor tan t  par t  o f 

cons t ruc t ion  p ro jec ts .   S ta r t ing  in  2017,  the  Co l lege  inc luded so la r  pane ls  a t  the 

Waku l la  Env i ronmenta l  Ins t i tu te ,  a  bu i ld ing  tha t  i s  ne t  zero  energy  consumpt ion .  

Mos t  recent ly,  the  Gahzv in i  Center  fo r  Hea l thcare  Educat ion  inc luded so la r  pane ls 

on  a  recent  covered  pa t io  p ro jec t .   Cur ren t l y  des ign  i s  underway  fo r  a  covered 

wa lkway  on  ma in  campus to  inc lude  so la r  pane ls .  



372024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

TLCGIS, TLCGIS, LCPAO

¯
0 0.45 0.90.225

mi

Date Printed: Mar 24, 2024

DISCLAIMER: This product has been compiled from the most accurate source data from Leon County, the City of Tallahassee, and the Leon County Property
Appraiser 's Office. However, th is product is for reference purposes only and is not to be construed as a legal document or survey instrument. Any re liance on the
information contained herein is a t the user's own r isk. Leon County, the City of Tal lahassee, and the Leon County Property Appraiser's Office assume no 
responsibility for any use of the information contained herein or any loss resu lting therefrom.

315 S. Calhoun St, Third Floor
Tallahassee, Fl. 32301

Phone: (850)  606-6200
Fax: (850) 606-6201

Email: admin@leonpa.org
Website: leonpa.org

Imagery 1/2015

Leon County Property Appraiser
                             Legend

Township 

Section

Subdivisio n 

Tax Parcel

Lot

Access Easement

River

Wa terb ody

Building

Park

City L imit

Akin  Akinyemi, PhD, RA, CFA, CMS
Leon County Property Appraiser

P R O P E R T Y  M A P  /  P A R C E L  2 1 2 8 5 1  K 0 0 0 2

MAIN CAMPUS



3 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

P R O P E R T Y  M A P  /  P A R C E L  2 1 2 8 5 1  L 0 0 0 1

TLCGIS, TLCGIS, LCPAO, TLCGIS,LCPA,LCBCC

¯
0 0.1 0.20.05

mi

Date Printed: Mar 24, 2024

DISCLAIMER: This product has been compiled from the most accurate source data from Leon County, the City of Tallahassee, and the Leon County Property
Appraiser 's Office. However, th is product is for reference purposes only and is not to be construed as a legal document or survey instrument. Any re liance on the
information contained herein is a t the user's own r isk. Leon County, the City of Tal lahassee, and the Leon County Property Appraiser's Office assume no 
responsibility for any use of the information contained herein or any loss resu lting therefrom.

315 S. Calhoun St, Third Floor
Tallahassee, Fl. 32301

Phone: (850)  606-6200
Fax: (850) 606-6201

Email: admin@leonpa.org
Website: leonpa.org

Imagery 1/2015

Leon County Property Appraiser
                             Legend

Township 

Section

Subdivisio n 

Tax Parcel

Lot

Access Easement

River

Wa terb ody

Building

Park

City L imit

Akin  Akinyemi, PhD, RA, CFA, CMS
Leon County Property Appraiser

MAIN CAMPUS



392024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

P R O P E R T Y  M A P  /  P A R C E L  2 1 3 3 1 9 0 0 0 0 2 0 0

TLCGIS, TLCGIS, LCPAO, TLCGIS,LCPA,LCBCC

¯
0 0.055 0.110.0275

mi

Date Printed: Mar 24, 2024

DISCLAIMER: This product has been compiled from the most accurate source data from Leon County, the City of Tallahassee, and the Leon County Property
Appraiser 's Office. However, th is product is for reference purposes only and is not to be construed as a legal document or survey instrument. Any re liance on the
information contained herein is a t the user's own r isk. Leon County, the City of Tal lahassee, and the Leon County Property Appraiser's Office assume no 
responsibility for any use of the information contained herein or any loss resu lting therefrom.

315 S. Calhoun St, Third Floor
Tallahassee, Fl. 32301

Phone: (850)  606-6200
Fax: (850) 606-6201

Email: admin@leonpa.org
Website: leonpa.org

Imagery 1/2015

Leon County Property Appraiser
                             Legend

Township 

Section

Subdivisio n 

Tax Parcel

Lot

Access Easement

River

Wa terb ody

Building

Park

City L imit

Akin  Akinyemi, PhD, RA, CFA, CMS
Leon County Property Appraiser

MAIN CAMPUS



4 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

TLCGIS, TLCGIS, LCPAO, TLCGIS,LCPA,LCBCC

¯
0 0.1 0.20.05

mi

Date Printed: Mar 24, 2024

DISCLAIMER: This product has been compiled from the most accurate source data from Leon County, the City of Tallahassee, and the Leon County Property
Appraiser 's Office. However, th is product is for reference purposes only and is not to be construed as a legal document or survey instrument. Any re liance on the
information contained herein is a t the user's own r isk. Leon County, the City of Tal lahassee, and the Leon County Property Appraiser's Office assume no 
responsibility for any use of the information contained herein or any loss resu lting therefrom.

315 S. Calhoun St, Third Floor
Tallahassee, Fl. 32301

Phone: (850)  606-6200
Fax: (850) 606-6201

Email: admin@leonpa.org
Website: leonpa.org

Imagery 1/2015

Leon County Property Appraiser
                             Legend

Township 

Section

Subdivisio n 

Tax Parcel

Lot

Access Easement

River

Wa terb ody

Building

Park

City L imit

Akin  Akinyemi, PhD, RA, CFA, CMS
Leon County Property Appraiser

P R O P E R T Y  M A P  /  P A R C E L  2 1 2 8 5 1  B 0 4 0

MAIN CAMPUS



412024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

TLCGIS, TLCGIS, LCPAO, TLCGIS,LCPA,LCBCC

¯
0 0.025 0.050.0125

mi

Date Printed: Mar 24, 2024

DISCLAIMER: This product has been compiled from the most accurate source data from Leon County, the City of Tallahassee, and the Leon County Property
Appraiser 's Office. However, th is product is for reference purposes only and is not to be construed as a legal document or survey instrument. Any re liance on the
information contained herein is a t the user's own r isk. Leon County, the City of Tal lahassee, and the Leon County Property Appraiser's Office assume no 
responsibility for any use of the information contained herein or any loss resu lting therefrom.

315 S. Calhoun St, Third Floor
Tallahassee, Fl. 32301

Phone: (850)  606-6200
Fax: (850) 606-6201

Email: admin@leonpa.org
Website: leonpa.org

Imagery 1/2015

Leon County Property Appraiser
                             Legend

Township 

Section

Subdivisio n 

Tax Parcel

Lot

Access Easement

River

Wa terb ody

Building

Park

City L imit

Akin  Akinyemi, PhD, RA, CFA, CMS
Leon County Property Appraiser

P R O P E R T Y  M A P  /  P A R C E L  2 1 2 8 5 1  H 0 0 3

MAIN CAMPUS



4 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

P R O J E C T E D  S P A C E  N E E D S

There  a re  no  new academic  bu i ld ings  o r  ma jo r  add i t ions  p ro jec ted  fo r  cons t ruc t ion 

w i th in  the  nex t  f i ve  years  on  the  ma in  campus.

For  master  p lann ing  purposes ,  ru le -o f - thumb fo rmu las  a re  ava i lab le  tha t  may 

prov ide  a  g ross  es t imate  o f  p ro jec ted  space needs  wh i le  the  P lan t  Survey  i s  in 

p repara t ion .  For  academic  space ,  the  F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Educat ion  recommends 

a  range o f  78  –  100  gross  square  fee t  (GSF)  o f  bu i ld ing  a rea  per  FTE.

The ex is t ing  a rea  o f  the  academic  core  on  Ma in  Campus is  980 ,945 GSF.  The 

pro jec ted  to ta l  FTE fo r  FY 2026-2027 is  8 ,645 ,  p rov id ing  a  ra t io  o f  113  GSF per 

FTE.  Based on  th is  ra t io ,  no  new academic  space  needs  a re  p ro jec ted  w i th in  the 

cur ren t  p lann ing  w indow.

Th is  i s  re in fo rced  by  the  DOE Space Summary  sheet  and  Cap i ta l  Out lay  a t tendance 

pro jec t ions  sheet  tha t  fo l lows  th is  par t .  For  Ma in  Campus,  by  2027-2028 there  w i l l 

be  a  surp lus  o f  ins t ruc t iona l  space  in  the  amount  o f  105 ,285 square  fee t .  I t  a lso 

shows a  surp lus  o f  ins t i tu t iona l  suppor t  space  o f  841 ,294 square  fee t .

Cont ra r i l y,  the  academic  suppor t  spaces  ( l ib ra ry,  aud i to r ium and s tudent  serv ices) 

show a  de f i c i t  o f  48 ,101  square  fee t .   The  Co l lege  p lans  con t inued improvements 

to  ex is t ing  ins t ruc t iona l  spaces  to  meet  the  deve lop ing  needs  o f  our  new academic 

p rograms and the  in fus ion  o f  new techno log ies  such  as  v i r tua l  s imu la t ions  and 

th ree-d imens iona l  mode ls .   The  Co l lege  a lso  recogn izes  inc reased s tudent  menta l 

hea l th ,  adv is ing  and f inanc ia l  serv ices  needs  and p lans  to  fu r ther  conver t  space  to 

meet  these  s tudent  needs .

The Co l lege  w i l l  pursue  a  change in  c lass i f i ca t ion  fo r  Bu i ld ing  8 ,  wh ich  i s  now the 

new Co l leg ia te  H igh  Schoo l .  Bu i ld ing  8  con ta ins  approx imate ly  24 ,542 square  fee t 

o f  educa t iona l  space  tha t  wou ld  s ign i f i can t l y  reduce the  excess  capac i ty  l i s ted 

fo r  the  c lassroom areas .  Th is  bu i ld ing  was  remode led  and is  now occup ied  by  the 

Ta l lahassee Co l leg ia te  Academy.

MAIN CAMPUS



432024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

Al though TSC does  no t  con templa te  new cons t ruc t ion  on  Ma in  Campus soon,  there  i s  a 

c r i t i ca l  need to  rep lace  and re fu rb ish  e lements  o f  the  ex is t ing  phys ica l  p lan t .  In  add i t ion , 

ex is t ing  fac i l i t i es  may be  re -purposed to  accommodate  new programs and in i t ia t i ves .  A 

descr ip t ion  o f  the  p roposed and on-go ing  p ro jec ts  fo l lows  be low.

TSC has  ava i lab le  capac i ty  bu t  needs  to  modern ize  c lassrooms and deve lop  spec ia l i zed 

space to  meet  spec i f i c  h igh  tech  p rogram needs .

The Co l lege  must  remain  ag i le  and  adapt  to  communi ty  needs  immedia te ly  as  they  occur. 

Mos t  recent ly  the  Co l lege  has  added twenty -n ine  new assoc ia te  in  sc ience  degrees  in 

p rograms such  as  Cyber  Secur i t y  and  Bu i ld ing  Automat ion  Sys tems.

The Co l lege  has  expanded to  o f fe r  new Batche lo r  degree  p rograms in  E lementary 

Educat ion ,  Except iona l  S tudent  Educat ion ,  and  Bus iness .

In  2014-15  TCC under took  a  comprehens ive  s tudy  o f  the  Cent ra l  U t i l i t y  P lan t  and 

campus energy  in f ras t ruc tu re  to  improve  energy  e f f i c iency,  p rov ide  fo r  redundancy 

in  case  o f  equ ipment  fa i lu re  and  reduce opera t iona l  cos ts .  TCC comple ted  a  campus 

u t i l i t i es  master  p lan  and is  cur ren t l y  work ing  w i th  S iemens Indus t ry,  Inc .  to  pu t  the  p lan 

in  p lace .  Th is  p ro jec t  i s  in  p rocess .

MAIN CAMPUS



4 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

D O E  S U M M A R Y  S P A C E  P R O J E C T I O N S  2 0 2 7 - 2 0 2 8  Y E A R  

  

      

      

      

      

D O E  S U M M A R Y  S P A C E  P R O J E C T I O N S  2 0 2 7  -  2 0 2 8  Y E A R

MAIN CAMPUS



452024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

P R O J E C T E D  P A R K I N G  R E Q U I R E M E N T S  &  D A TA 

The pro jec ted  park ing  requ i rements  fo r  the  ma in  campus are  de te rmined by  the  S ta te 

Requ i rements  fo r  Educat iona l  Fac i l i t i es ,  Sec t ion  453  o f  the  F lo r ida  Bu i ld ing  Code.  

Loca l  Mun ic ipa l  o r  County  park ing  requ i rements  may app ly  i f  agreed to  in  a  g rowth 

management  reso lu t ion  w i th  those  en t i t ies .  The  min imum park ing  requ i rements  in  the 

F lo r ida  Bu i ld ing  Code are  l i s ted  be low:

•  Facu l ty  and  s ta f f :  One space fo r  each  member.

•  Vis i to rs :  One space fo r  every  100  s tudents .

•  F lo r ida  co l leges :  One space fo r  every  two s tudents .

The des ign  team ad jus ted  the  s tudent  count  to  re f lec t  the  ac tua l  number  o f  s tudents  on 

campus a t  any  one t ime.  The pro jec t ion  cons iders  the  p rac t i ca l  impac t  o f  on l ine  c lasses 

and dua l  enro l lment .

The pro jec ted  the  Fa l l  2025 pro jec ted  enro l lment  o f  11 ,500 s tudents  and  a l low ing  one 

s tudent  s ta t ion  fo r  each  two FTE the  number  o f  requ i red  s tudent  s ta t ions  i s  5 ,750 . 

The ma in  campus present ly  has  4 ,118  s tandard  park ing  spaces  and 82  access ib le 

park ing  spaces  fo r  a  to ta l  o f  4 ,200  spaces .  Th is  inc ludes  the  park ing  garage and the 

nor th  park ing  lo t  bu t  does  no t  inc lude  the  ou t -bu i ld ings  in  the  fo rmer  indus t r ia l  park . 

The  requ i red  number  o f  park ing  spaces  by  the  Bu i ld ing  Code is  ca lcu la ted  in  the  tab le 

be low.

There  i s  no  requ i rement  to  p rov ide  add i t iona l  park ing  spaces  w i th in  the  f i ve -year  master 

p lan  hor izon .

MAIN CAMPUS

CA TA GO RY EXISTING COUNT CRITERIA SP ACE REQUIRED

TOTAL

566

5750
1150

43

1 SP ACE PER ST AFF5 66
575

2,87 5
43

4,05 9
1 SP ACE PER 100 STUDENTS

USE 50% OF FUL L TIME
1 SP ACE PER 2 STUDENTS

FULL  TIME ST AFF

VISI TORS

PART TIME S TAFF
STUDENTS



4 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

There  a re  two cons idera t ions  tha t  may  a f fec t  the  park ing  count  beyond the  f i ve -

year  hor izon .  The f i r s t  cons idera t ion  i s  tha t  the  C i ty -County  B luepr in t  2000 p lan 

ca l l s  fo r  Pensaco la  S t ree t  to  be  expanded f rom two lanes  to  four  lanes ,  wh ich  wou ld 

remove 101 ex is t ing  spaces  now in  p lace  w i th in  the  Pensaco la  S t ree t  r igh t  o f  way. 

The Agency  has  named th is  p ro jec t  the  “Wests ide  S tudent  Gateway” .  Cur ren t l y  i t 

i s  ranked e igh th  on  the  adopted  CRTPA Road Pro jec t  Pr io r i t y  L is t  fo r  f i sca l  year 

2024-2028

The second cons idera t ion  i s  tha t  a  p rev ious  master  p lan  con templa ted  a  second 

park ing  garage loca ted  ad jacent  to  the  ex is t ing  park ing  garage on  the  wes t  s ide 

o f  the  campus.  The second park ing  garage was  jus t i f i ed  by  the  s teady  ra te  o f 

enro l lment  g rowth  tha t  p reva i led  un t i l  2011-2012.  A second park ing  garage is  no t 

now jus t i f i ed  by  cur ren t  enro l lment  p ro jec t ions  bu t  may become necessary  in  the 

per iod  beyond 2028.  The des ign  team recommends tha t  when a  second garage is 

bu i l t ,  i t  shou ld  be  loca ted  on  the  eas t  s ide  o f  campus where  most  o f  the  c lassrooms 

are .  The  f ina l  loca t ion  may a lso  be  in f luenced by  the  Pensaco la  S t ree t  w iden ing  and 

may be  fu r ther  exp lo red  in  the  nex t  master  p lan  update .

MAIN CAMPUS



472024 TSC MASTER PLANNING MAIN CAMPUS

W E S T S I D E  S T U D E N T  G A T E WA Y 



4 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING MAIN CAMPUS

W E S T S I D E  S T U D E N T  G A T E WA Y



492024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

L A N D S C A P E  N A R RA T I V E 

OVERVIEW & SUMMARY

The landscape nar ra t i ve  p rov ides  gu idance fo r  appropr ia te  t ree  spec ies  se lec t ion 

and  loca t iona l  c r i te r ia  fo r  the  ma in  campus,  and  works  in  concer t  w i th  the  Conceptua l 

Landscape Master  P lan  p rov id ing  phys ica l  con tex t  fo r  loca t ion .  The  in ten t  o f  the  master 

p lan  and t ree  pa le t te  i s  to  bu i ld  upon the  ex is t ing  cond i t ions  o f  the  campus.

The spec ies  and  p lacement  o f  t rees  w i l l  bu i ld  upon the  ex is t ing  landscape to  fu r ther 

the  theme o f  a  un i f ied  f ramework  across  the  campus.  The Landscape Master  P lan 

re f lec ts  most ly  ex is t ing  cond i t ions  rang ing  f rom quads ,  g reens ,  and  c i rcu la t ion  pa ths  to 

s to rmwater  fac i l i t i es  and  na tu ra l  a reas .  Based upon th is  f ramework ,  des ign  cons is tency 

and v isua l  cohes ion  w i l l  be  ach ieved th rough prac t i ca l  des ign  so lu t ions  tha t  a re 

ma in tenance f r iend ly.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

The campus,  in  i t s  cur ren t  s ta te ,  i s  mos t ly  deve loped.  The wes tern  boundary  o f  the 

p roper ty  i s  bounded by  an  ex is t ing  ra i l road  t rack .  A long  tha t  boundary  i s  the  on ly 

remain ing  por t ion  o f  campus tha t  has  no t  been deve loped.  I t  i s  a  canop ied  fo res t  w i th 

compr ised  o f  oaks  and p ines .  Bu i ld ings ,  park ing  lo ts ,  s t ree ts ,  quads ,  open space, 

and  spor ts  f ie lds  f i l l  the  remainder  o f  campus.  TSC is  a  commuter  campus and has 

no  on-campus hous ing .  As  a  resu l t ,  a  la rge  amount  o f  the  p roper ty  i s  sur face  park ing . 

Throughout  the  campus,  a  hea l thy  canopy  o f  p lan ted  t rees  ex is ts .  The  canopy  t rees  a re 

p redominant ly  Southern  L ive  Oaks  and the  unders to ry  t rees  most ly  Crape Myr t les .  The 

l i ve  oaks  p rov ide  a  year - round evergreen canopy  wh i le  the  c rape myr t les  a re  dec iduous 

and prov ide  seasona l  co lo r  when b looming .  Other  t rees  on  campus inc lude  spec ies  o f 

oaks  as  we l l  as  e lms,  magno l ias ,  cypress ,  Saba l  pa lms and p ines .

Pensaco la  S t ree t  borders  the  sou th  edge o f  the  campus and App leyard  Dr ive  c rea tes  the 

eas te rn  boundary.  Bo th  s t ree ts  a re  w i th in  F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Transpor ta t ion  (FDOT) 

r igh t -o f -way.  An  ex is t ing  bu f fe r  o f  canopy  t rees  ex is ts  a long  bo th  p roper ty  l i nes  he lp ing 

to  reduce the  immedia te  ad jacency  o f  au tomob i les  pass ing  by.

MAIN CAMPUS



5 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

INVASIVE EXOTIC PLANT REMOVAL

Due to  the  deve loped na tu re  o f  the  campus,  invas ive  exo t i c  p lan ts  a re  no t  as 

p reva len t .  Remova l  o f  invas ive  and  exo t i c  p lan t  spec ies  f rom the  undeve loped 

por t ions  o f  campus shou ld  be  conduc ted  to  a l low the  es tab l i shment  o f  na t i ve 

spec ies  and  reduce spread on to  the  deve loped por t ions .  Iden t i f i ca t ion  and  remova l 

o f  invas ive  spec ies  w i l l  be  conduc ted  in  accordance w i th  the  gu idance pub l i shed by 

the  F lo r ida  Invas ive  Spec ies  Counc i l .

TREE SPECIES SELECTION

A s t rong  emphas is  i s  p laced upon the  use  o f  na t i ve  spec ies .  The  p lan t ing  o f 

monocu l tu re  communi t ies  i s  no t  a l lowed to  ensure  res i l i ence  aga ins t  d isease  or 

in fes ta t ion .  A l i s t  o f  approved t ree  spec ies  i s  inc luded here in  bu t  i s  no t  a l l  i nc lus ive 

and  no t  meant  to  be  the  on ly  spec ies  a l lowed.  Spec ies  p roposed wh ich  a re  no t 

on  the  l i s t  sha l l  be  rev iewed and approved by  TSC.  Cons idera t ion  w i l l  be  g iven 

to  eco log ica l ,  economic ,  and  aes the t i c  des i res  ba lanced w i th  cur ren t l y  ava i lab le 

nursery  s tock  w i th in  the  reg ion .

TREE PLACEMENT

Areas  o f  h igh  v is ib i l i t y  and  impor tance  requ i re  a  fo rma l  and  cons is ten t  layou t  o f 

t rees  whereas  a reas  o f  pass ive  use  p rov ide  space fo r  a  more  na tu ra l  a r rangement 

o f  t rees  to  mimic  compl imentary  a reas  w i th in  and  ad jacent  to  the  campus. 

Eco log ica l l y  sens i t i ve  a reas  may ex is t  in  the  undeve loped por t ion  o f  the  p roper ty 

and  shou ld  be  assessed as  the  campus cons iders  fu tu re  expans ion  in to  th is 

a rea .  A lways  use  the  r igh t  p lan t  fo r  the  r igh t  p lace .  Fo l low ing  a re  descr ip t ions  o f 

t rea tments  to  the  ex is t ing  spaces  on  campus:

MAIN CAMPUS



512024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

1.  S t ree tscapes :  S t ree ts  car ry ing  th rough campus inc lude  Century  Park  Dr ive , 

Progress  Dr ive  and  Senator  Pa t  Thomas Bou levard .  To  c rea te  an  enhanced ar r i va l 

and  depar tu re  exper ience ,  these  cor r idors  shou ld  be  p lan ted  w i th  canopy  t rees 

a t  a  spac ing  in te rva l  o f  25  to  50  fee t  on  cen te r.  Canopy  spec ies  shou ld  be  used 

tha t  na tu ra l l y  l imb up  a t  matur i t y  to  a l low an  open unders to ry  to  a l low passage o f 

veh ic les  w i thou t  con f l i c t  wh i le  p rov id ing  shade a long  the  rou te  and  v iews ou tward 

f rom the  cor r idor  ac ross  the  campus.  Offse t  t rees  f rom edge o f  t rave l  lanes  w i th 

cons idera t ion  o f  what  veh ic les  may need ver t i ca l  and  hor izon ta l  c learance .  The 

campus is  bordered  by  h igh  t ra f f i c  roadways  o f  Pensaco la  S t ree t  to  the  sou th  and 

App leyard  Dr ive  to  the  eas t .  Ex is t ing  t rees  p rov ide  a  good bu f fe r  and  shou ld  be 

ma in ta ined  and supp lemented  to  bo th  beaut i f y  the  edge o f  campus and bu f fe r  i t  f rom 

the  sounds  o f  t ra f f i c .

2 .  Open Space:  These areas  a re  compr ised  o f  expans ive  lawns  tha t  inc lude 

pedes t r ian  pa ths  and  canopy  t rees .  Bu i ld ings  and roadways  fu r ther  de f ine  the  edges 

o f  these  spaces .  C lear  s igh t  l i nes  shou ld  be  c rea ted  in to  and  ou t  o f  these  open 

spaces  th roughout  the  campus.  Loca t ion  o f  t rees  shou ld  cons ider  so la r  o r ien ta t ion 

to  bes t  p rov ide  shade a t  appropr ia te  t imes  o f  day  in  re la t ion  to  sea t ing  a reas .

3 .  Quadrang les :  The  cen ter  o f  campus has  a  s t rong  ex is t ing  co l lec t ion  o f  bu i ld ings 

enve lop ing  quadrang les  w i th  mu l t ip le  wa lk ing  pa ths  th roughout .  Ma in ta in  qua l i t y 

ex is t ing  t ree  inven tory  and  supp lement  in  a reas  where  deemed appropr ia te .

4 .  Bu i ld ings :  Avo id  p lan t ing  too  c lose  to  bu i ld ings  fo r  fu tu re  ma in tenance 

cons idera t ions .  Respec t  s igh t  l i nes  f rom w i th in  and  to  bu i ld ings .

5 .  Park ing  Lo ts :  P lace  t rees  ad jacent  to  and  w i th in  park ing  lo ts  wh ich  p rov ide  shade 

and a id  in  reduc t ion  o f  the  u rban heat  i s land  e f fec t .  Avo id  spec ies  known to  d rop 

leaves  o r  b looms wh ich  may s ta in  cars  o r  cause  ma in tenance issues  to  ad jacent 

pavement .  Ensure  p roper  p lan t ing  space is  p rov ided  fo r  roo ts  o f  t ree  to  a l low 

hea l thy  g rowth  and avo id  damage to  pavement  a reas  f rom roo ts .  Cons ider  use  o f 

roo t  bar r ie rs  where  p lan t ing  a reas  con f in ing .

6 .  S to rmwater  Fac i l i t i es :  P lan t  to  rec rea te  na tu ra l  a r rangements  o f  t rees  to  the 

ex ten t  p roper  ma in tenance and access  can  be  p rov ided .  Loca te  p lan t ings  to  avo id 

fac i l i t i es  be ing  eyesores  to  the  pub l i c .  Rather,  they  can  become an  amen i ty  w i th in 

the  s i te .

MAIN CAMPUS



5 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

7.  L igh t ing :  Trees  sha l l  be  loca ted  to  avo id  con f l i c ts  w i th  pedes t r ian  and  veh icu la r  use 

a rea  l igh t ing  inc lud ing  bu t  no t  l im i ted  to  wa lk ing  pa ths ,  w i th in  park ing  lo ts ,  ad jacent  to 

bu i ld ings ,  e tc .  Cons idera t ion  must  be  g iven  no t  on ly  to  the  t rees  a t  t ime o f  p lan t ing  bu t 

a lso  in  accordance w i th  what  the  mature  s ize  o f  the  t ree  w i l l  be  in  years  to  come.

8 .  U t i l i t i es :  Prov ide  coord ina t ion  w i th  p roposed and ex is t ing  u t i l i t i es  –  above and 

be low ground.  Cons ider  mature  s ize  o f  roo ts  and  canop ies  o f  t rees  to  avo id  fu tu re 

con f l i c t .  Trees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  ten  (10)  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom underground 

u t i l i t i es .  When w i th in  ten  (10)  fee t ,  roo t  bar r ie rs  shou ld  be  p laced d i rec t l y  ad jacent  to 

underground u t i l i t i es  th rough c lose  coord ina t ion  w i th  u t i l i t y  p rov iders .  Canopy  t rees 

shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  a  th i r t y  (30)  fee thor izon ta l l y  f rom overhead u t i l i t i es .  Wi th in 

th i r t y  (30)  fee t ,  unders to ry  t rees  tha t  reach  a  mature  he igh t  o f  no  more  than  f i f teen  (15) 

fee t  shou ld  be  used.

9 .  Pavement :  Trees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  f i ve  (5 )  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom edges 

o f  pavement  where  poss ib le .  When w i th in  f i ve  (5 )  fee t ,  roo t  bar r ie rs  shou ld  be  p laced 

d i rec t l y  ad jacent  to  pavement .

CRIME PREVENTION THROUGH ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN (CPTED)

CPTED pr inc ip les  must  be  met  when cons ider ing  t ree  se lec t ion  and  p lacement .  The  f i ve 

p r inc ip les  inc lude  na tu ra l  surve i l lance ,  na tu ra l  access  con t ro l ,  te r r i to r ia l  re in fo rcement , 

ac t i v i t y  suppor t  and  ma in tenance.  Fo l low ing  a re  descr ip t ions  o f  each  p r inc ip le  to 

cons ider  in  re la t ion  to  t rees :

1 .  NATURAL SURVEILLANCE –  The in tended users  can  observe  the  p roper ty.  E f fec t i ve 

l igh t ing  o f  a  p roper ty  i s  an  example  o f  na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

2 .  NATURAL ACCESS CONTROL –  Cont ro l l i ng  and  reduc ing  the  number  o f  access  po in ts 

to  a  p roper ty.  Gated  communi t ies  a re  an  example  o f  access  con t ro l .

3 .  TERRITORIAL REINFORCEMENT –  Crea t ing  a  c lear  de l inea t ion  o f  space  and 

separa tes  your  space  f rom non- leg i t imate  users .

4 .  ACTIVITY SUPPORT –  P lac ing  ac t i v i t y  where  ind iv idua ls  become par t  o f  the  na tu ra l 

surve i l lance .

5 .  MAINTENANCE –  Regu la r l y  schedu led  ma in tenance rou t ine  w i l l  ensure  the  p roper ty 

demonst ra tes  te r r i to r ia l i t y  and  na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

MAIN CAMPUS



532024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

MAINTENANCE,  OPERATIONS,  & EMERGENCY VEHICLES

Main tenance is  an  in tegra l  cons idera t ion  in  deve lopment  o f  the  campus.  As  p lan t 

mater ia l  i s  se lec ted  and loca ted ,  coord ina t ion  sha l l  occur  w i th  ma in tenance s ta f f 

to  ensure  a  p lan  wh ich  they  can  ma in ta in  in  perpe tu i ty  in  a  way  tha t  meets  the 

des ign  v is ion .  Tree  p lan t ing  loca t ions  must  cons ider  the  spec ia l  needs  o f  serv ice 

opera t ions ,  la rge  t ruck  de l i ve r ies  and  emergency  veh ic les .  Tree  se lec t ion  sha l l  a lso 

cons ider  i r r iga t ion  needs  and s t r i ve  to  ach ieve  xer iscape where  poss ib le  to  he lp 

reduce water  use .

SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

CANOPY TREES CANOPY TREES UNDERSTORY TREES PALMS

NUTTALL OAK

SWAMP CHESTNUT OAK
SHUMARD OAK

WILLOW OAK
MAPLE BLACK
GUM RIVER BIRCH
FLORIDA ELM

REDBAY

WATER HICKORY
LOBLOLLY BAY

AMERICAN BEECH

TULIP POPLAR EASTERN

AMERICAN HOLLY

RED CEDAR SYCAMORE

EASTERN PALATKA HOLLY

POND CYPRESS

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA
BALD CYPRESS

EASTERN REDBUD SABAL PALM

DAHOON HOLLY

YAUPON HOLLY
WAX MYRTLE

SWEETBAY MAGNOLIA
DOWNY SERVICEBERRY
FRINGETREE

LONGLEAF PINE

PIGNUT HICKORY

AMERICAN HORNBEAM
PERSIMMON

N A T I V E  T R E E  S P E C I ES

CANOPY TREES CANOPY TREES UNDERSTORY TREES PALMS

N O N - N A T I V E  T R E E  S P E C I ES

LOBLOLLY PINE
SLASH PINE SAUCER MAGNOLIA

CRAPE MYRTLE [SPP.]

STAR MAGNOLIA

WASHINGTON PALM

MAIN CAMPUS



5 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

S U M M A R Y 

The Miss ion  o f  the  Co l lege  i s  to  p rov ide  a  learn ing  env i ronment  tha t  p repares  s tudents 

fo r  success  in  a  g loba l  economy by  o f fe r ing  h igher  educat ion  pa thways ,  work fo rce 

oppor tun i t ies  and  c iv ic  engagement . 

TSC has  cons is ten t l y  ranked as  one  o f  the  top  communi ty  co l leges  in  the  na t ion .  As  a 

tes t imon ia l  to  the  Co l lege ’s  success ,  i t  has  rece ived  severa l  s ign i f i can t  awards  over 

recent  years .

The Aspen Pr ize  spo t l igh ts  exemplary  communi ty  co l leges  to  d r i ve  a t ten t ion  to  co l leges 

ach iev ing  pos t -g raduate  success  fo r  a l l  s tudents ,  and  i s  a  cen t ra l  way  Aspen researches 

h igh ly  e f fec t i ve  s tudent  success  s t ra teg ies  tha t  a re  shared  w i th  the  f ie ld .  TSC was 

named an  Aspen f ina l i s t  in  2022 iden t i f y ing  i t  as  one  o f  the  top  f i ve  co l leges  in  the 

count ry.  TSC was aga in  recogn ized  in  2023.

 Ach iev ing  the  Dream (ATD)  i s  the  na t iona l ,  nonpro f i t  l eader  in  champion ing  ev idence-

based ins t i tu t iona l  improvement .  ATD leads  a  g rowing  ne twork  o f  more  than  th ree 

hundred  communi ty  co l leges  commi t ted  to  he lp ing  the i r  s tudents ,  par t i cu la r l y  low- income 

s tudents ,  and  s tudents  o f  co lo r,  ach ieve  the i r  goa ls  fo r  academic  success ,  persona l 

g rowth ,  and  economic  oppor tun i ty.  TCC was named an  ATD Leader  Co l lege  in  2009 

and rece ived  the  ATD Leader  Co l lege  o f  D is t inc t ion  des igna t ion  in  2022.  ATD reserves 

the  p res t ig ious  s ta tus  fo r  those  co l leges  tha t  demonst ra te  sus ta ined  and s ign i f i can t 

ou tcomes in  the  advancement  o f  s tudent  success  and nar rowing  the  equ i ty  gaps  a t  the i r 

ins t i tu t ions .

MAIN CAMPUS



552024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

In  add i t ion ,  Ach iev ing  the  Dream (ATD)  awarded Ta l lahassee Communi ty  Co l lege 

(TCC)  the  p res t ig ious  2022 Leah Meyer  Aus t in  Award .  The na t iona l  p r i ze  i s  g iven 

annua l l y  to  a  co l lege  in  the  ATD Network  tha t  demonst ra tes  ins t i tu t iona l  s t reng th , 

a l igned po l i c ies  and  procedures ,  a  s tudent - focused cu l tu re ,  no tab le  inc reases  in 

s tudent  ou tcomes,  and  reduc t ion  o f  equ i ty  gaps .

“The Leah Meyer  Aus t in  Award  recogn izes  except iona l  who le -co l lege  e f fo r ts  to 

cen te r  equ i ty  and  advance s tudent  success , ”  sa id  Dr.  Karen  A .  S tou t ,  Pres iden t ,  and 

CEO o f  ATD.  “Ta l lahassee Communi ty  Co l lege  has  shown a  s t rong  commi tment  to 

suppor t ing  s tudents ,  mak ing  par tnersh ips  in  the  communi ty,  and  c ra f t ing  a  cu l tu re  o f 

care ,  resu l t ing  in  t rans fo rmat iona l  change tha t  has  he lped  i t s  s tudents  th r i ve . ”

In  2024 Trus tee  Eugene Lamb was recogn ized  by  the  Amer ican  Assoc ia t ion  o f 

Communi ty  Co l leges  as  “Trus tee  o f  the  Year. ”

TSC is  p roud o f  ma jo r  accompl ishments  over  the  pas t  years  wh ich  inc luded:

•  Ra ised  the  th ree-year  g raduat ion  ra te  to  42% compared  to  the  na t iona l  average o f 

27%,  a  phenomena l  ach ievement .

•  Enro l led  over  16 ,000 c red i t  and  non-c red i t  s tudents  each  year.

•  Ma in ta ined  a  25 :1  s tudent  to  facu l ty  ra t io .

•  Enab led  80% o f  TSC s tudents  to  t rans fe r  to  a  four -year  ins t i tu t ion  in  F lo r ida  a f te r 

g raduat ion .

•  In t roduced th ree  new Batche lo r ’s  p rograms in  app l ied  sc ience ,  bus iness ,  and 

e lementary  educat ion  in  the  las t  year.

•  Opened a  Co l leg ia te  H igh  Schoo l .

•  Ma in ta ined  and opera ted  f i ve  sa te l l i te  campuses  tha t  ca te r  to  the  ind iv idua l 

educa t iona l  and  work fo rce  needs  o f  Leon and the  sur round ing  count ies .

C lear ly  these  successes  bode we l l  fo r  TSC over  the  nex t  f i ve -year  master  p lan 

update  per iod  and beyond

MAIN CAMPUS



Fl
or

id
a 

P
ub

li
c 

Sa
fe

ty
 I

ns
ti

tu
te

2



572024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

 I N D E X

O v e r v i e w. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 8

C a m p u s  Fa c i l i t i e s  M at r i x . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 0

F P S I  E x i s t i n g  C a m p u s  a n d  F u t u r e  P r o j e c t s  M a p  –  N o r t h  C a m p u s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 1

F P S I  E x i s t i n g  C a m p u s  a n d  F u t u r e  P r o j e c t s  M a p  -  S o u t h  C a m p u s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 3

F u t u r e  P r o j e c t s  N a r r at i v e s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 4

C a m p u s  A c t i v i t y  Z o n e s  N A R R AT I V E . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .7 2

C A M P U S  A C T I V I T Y  M A P. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .7 3

F P S I  S t o r m Wat e r  N a r r at i v e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .74 

F P S I  S t o r m Wat e r  B a s i n  M a p  N O R T H . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .7 6

F P S I  S T O R M WAT E R  B A S I N  M A P  S O U T H . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .7 7

E n v i r o n m e n ta l  I n i t i at i v e s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .7 8

F P S I  P r o p e r t y  H o l d i n g s  M a p. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 0

E X I S T I N G  A C A D E M I C  Z O N E  D E V E L O P M E N T  D E N S I T Y. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 2

T E N  Y E A R  M A S T E R  P L A N  A C A D E M I C  Z O N E  D E V E L O P M E N T  D E N S I T Y. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 3

P r o j e c t e d  S pa c e  N e e d s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 4

C i r c u l at i o n  a n d  Pa r k i n g  P r o j e c t i o n s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 5

L a n d s c a p e  N a r r at i v e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 6

S u m m a r y. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 1

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



5 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

O V E R V I E W

Ta l lahassee Sta te  Co l lege  commiss ioned DAG Arch i tec ts ,  Inc .  to  update  i t s 

comprehens ive  Campus Master  P lan  fo r  the  F lo r ida  Pub l i c  Sa fe ty  Ins t i tu te  (FPSI ) .  The 

Master  P lan  update  addresses  FPSI ’s  to ta l  p roper ty  o f  1 ,441  acres  loca ted  in  Gadsden 

County,  F lo r ida .  The  Master  P lan  team ana lyzed  and eva lua ted  the  campus in  i t s 

en t i re ty,  and  i t s  var ied  uses  and needs ,  to  unders tand  the  ins t i tu te  in  a  comprehens ive 

manner.  The  Campus Master  P lan  examines  the  genera l  o rder  o f  the  campus and i t ’s 

a rch i tec tu ra l  and  des ign  e lements  and  prov ides  a  sys temat ic  unders tand ing  o f  the 

campus to  max imize  oppor tun i t ies  and  iden t i f y  cons t ra in ts .  I t s  purpose  is  to  channe l , 

no t  d ic ta te ,  the  p red ic tab i l i t y  o f  change.  There fo re ,  the  goa l  o f  the  Campus Master 

P lan  i s  to  deve lop  a  conceptua l  f ramework  fo r  the  phys ica l  deve lopment ,  g rowth  and 

enhancement  o f  the  campus tha t  iden t i f ies  shor t  te rm and long-  te rm ob jec t i ves  w i th  an 

imp lementa t ion  ou t l ine .

FPSI  fac i l i t i es  were  cons t ruc ted  on  scen ic  and  heav i l y  fo res ted  g rounds .  The campus 

inc ludes  wa lkab le  a reas ,  g reen spaces ,  two ponds ,  and  p ro l i f i c  w i ld l i fe .  Whi le  there  i s 

s ign i f i can t  land  mass  fo r  fu tu re  deve lopment ,  i t  i s  a lso  a  p r i s t ine  se t t ing  fo r  s tudents 

to  par t i c ipa te  in  campus-w ide  ac t i v i t ies  and  fo r  hos t ing  communi ty  events .  FPSI ’s 

conven ien t  S ta te  Road 90  loca t ion  i s  m inu tes  f rom In te rs ta te  10  mak ing  i t  a  cho ice 

loca t ion  fo r  es tab l i sh ing  emergency  response veh ic le  ra l l y  po in ts .  The  loca t ion  i s 

a lso  d i rec t l y  ac ross  the  s t ree t  f rom the  Gadsden County  H igh  Schoo l  and  FPSI  has 

been iden t i f ied  as  a  reun i f i ca t ion  loca t ion  in  the  event  o f  a  c r i s i s  event  a t  the  schoo l . 

FPSI  has  been u t i l i zed  fo r  a  w ide  a r ray  o f  func t ions  due to  i t s  in f ras t ruc tu re  and  idea l 

loca t ion . 

Through co l labora t i ve  e f fo r ts  and  par tnersh ips ,  FPSI  p repares  p ro fess iona ls  to  p ro tec t 

and  serve  the  pub l i c  in  the  f ie lds  o f  law en fo rcement ,  cor rec t ions ,  and  f i re  sa fe ty.  In 

add i t ion  to  the  t rad i t iona l  communi ty  co l lege  learn ing  env i ronment ,  FPSI  a lso  inc ludes 

t ra in ing  a reas  tha t  a l lows  fo r  the  necessary  hands-on  and pro f i c iency-based app l ied 

law en fo rcement  and  cor rec t iona l  sk i l l s  in  a  sa fe ,  s imu la ted  env i ronment .  FPSI  has  an 

MOU wi th  the  Ta l lahassee F i re  Depar tment  to  conduc t  f i re  serv ices  t ra in ing  a t  S ta t ion 

4  in  Ta l lahassee,  F lo r ida ;  FPSI  does  no t  p resent ly  have  the  in f ras t ruc tu re  requ i red 

on  campus.  The F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Educat ion  (FLDOE)  s tandards  and gu ide l ines 

in f luence  the  in f ras t ruc tu re  o f  the  c lassroom component  o f  FPSI ,  bu t  the  t ra in ing 

cur r i cu lum and mandates  o f  the  c r im ina l  jus t i ce  t ra in ing  fac i l i t i es  a re  spec i f ied  by 

the  F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Law Enforcement ,  Cr im ina l  Jus t i ce  S tandards  and Tra in ing 

Commiss ion . 

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



592024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

Another  un ique  charac te r i s t i c  o f  th is  Ins t i tu t ion  i s  tha t  i t  t ranscends  the  loca l 

communi ty  th rough par t i c ipa t ion  by  s ta tewide  agenc ies  in  educat ion  and  t ra in ing . 

The d iverse  na tu re  o f  the  serv ices  p rov ided  by  s ta te  and  loca l  law en fo rcement 

agenc ies  requ i res  the  deve lopment  o f  un ique  t ra in ing  fac i l i t i es  tha t  p rov ide  a 

sa fe  env i ronment  fo r  learn ing  new sk i l l s .   Th is  aspec t  o f  the  FPSI  p rogram is  an 

on-go ing  and expand ing  par t  o f  i t s  overa l l  m iss ion .  S ince  many o f  the  t ra in ing 

fac i l i t i es  may be  funded in  who le  o r  par t  by  the  agenc ies  be ing  served ,  a long 

w i th  Federa l  g ran ts ,  the  p rocess  and opera t ion  o f  expans ion  i s  more  complex  and 

en t repreneur ia l  than  in  a  t rad i t iona l  communi ty  co l lege  env i ronment .  There fo re ,  i t 

i s  impor tan t  fo r  the  Master  P lan  to  es tab l i sh  a  f ramework  tha t  can  read i l y  adapt  and 

accommodate  these  needs .

The con t inued expans ion  o f  the  du t ies  o f  law en fo rcement  and  cor rec t iona l 

o f f i ce rs  as  we l l  as  sh i f t ing  soc ie ta l  percep t ions  about  c r im ina l  jus t i ce  opera t ions 

re in fo rce  the  impor tance  o f  p rov id ing  rea l i s t i c  and  comprehens ive  law en fo rcement 

t ra in ing  and con t inu ing  educat ion .  Tra in ing  and prepara t ion  o f  law en fo rcement 

and  cor rec t iona l  o f f i ce rs  p ro fess iona l i sm is  rap id ly  ga in ing  impor tance  in  our 

inc reas ing ly  complex  wor ld .  FPSI  must  ma in ta in  the  fo res igh t  and  w isdom to 

g row and d ivers i f y  resources  and meet  the  needs  o f  the  agenc ies  served .  Th is 

w i l l  have  a  d i rec t  impac t  on  how e f fec t i ve ly  these  cha l lenges  a re  met .  For  f i re 

serv ice  p ro fess iona ls  the  p reva lence  o f  ma jo r  f i res ,  the  expans ion  o f  scope o f 

f i re  serv ice  personne l ,  and  the  inc rease  o f  on-scene c r i t i ca l  inc iden ts  demands a 

more  in tegra ted  approach  to  t ra in ing  and a  need fo r  more  in f ras t ruc tu re  on-s i te  to 

suppor t  these  e f fo r ts . 

In  March  2023,  the  F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Law Enforcement  quara te r l y  repor t 

ind ica ted  tha t  there  a re  48 ,892 law en fo rcement  o f f i ce rs ,  28 ,886 cor rec t iona l 

o f f i ce rs ,  2 ,121  cor rec t iona l  p roba t ion  o f f i ce rs ,  and  4 ,612  concur ren t  o f f i ce rs  (bo th 

law en fo rcement  and  cor rec t ions)  cer t i f i ed  in  F lo r ida .  A l though there  i s  a  no ted 

inc rease  in  re loca t ions  to  F lo r ida ,  many  agenc ies  con t inue  to  face  d i f f i cu l t ies 

w i th  a t t rac t ing  qua l i f i ed  app l i can ts .  Recent  changes  in  pay  and benef i t s  fo r  s ta te 

law en fo rcement  o f f i ce rs  have  resu l ted  in  a  s ign i f i can t  inc rease  in  the  number  o f 

app l i can ts .  Th is  inc rease  in  new o f f i ce rs  p rov ides  an  oppor tun i ty  fo r  cor respond ing 

g rowth  in  bas ic  rec ru i t  academy programs a t  FPSI . 

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



6 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

45
46
47
48
49

2,731



33

5

1

3

2

4

36

6

378

7
9

11
10

38

34

35

12

39

13

13

40

16

15

14 17

18

2425

43
26

22
21 20

19

23
28293031

27

32

42

41

45

44

Key Map

F P S I  E X I S T I N G  &  F U T U R E  B U I L D I N G S  N O R T H  C A M P U S  M A P F P S I  E X I S T I N G  &  F U T U R E  B U I L D I N G S
N O R T H  C A M P U S  M A P

N

6 12024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



6 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

45
46
47
48
49

,731



49

48

46 47

F P S I  E X I S T I N G  &  F U T U R E  B U I L D I N G S  S O U T H  C A M P U S  M A P F P S I  E X I S T I N G  &  F U T U R E  B U I L D I N G S
S O U T H  C A M P U S  M A P

N

49

48

46 47

BASIN 6

POND 
"F"

6 32024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



642024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

F U T U R E  P R O J E C T S  N A R RA T I V E S 

AQUATICS FACILITY

An aquat ics  fac i l i t y  o f fe rs  the  oppor tun i ty  fo r  an  e f f i c ien t ,  s ta te -o f - the-ar t  fac i l i t y 

to  use  wh i le  ins t ruc t ing  o f f i ce rs  and  f i re f igh te rs  in  l i fesav ing ,  water  surv iva l , 

underwater  ev idence recovery,  and  water  rescues .  Poo l  des igns  and aquat ic 

techno logy  have  advanced cons iderab ly  in  recent  years .  I t  i s  an t i c ipa ted  tha t  the 

poo l  w i l l  be  des igned to  meet  the  d iverse  needs  o f  those  who u t i l i ze  FPSI  fo r  pub l i c 

sa fe ty  t ra in ing .

The fo l low ing  fea tu res  a re  inc luded:

•  Lap  lanes  to  eva lua te  f i tness  leve ls  and  to  p repare  par t i c ipan ts  fo r  the  demands o f 

rescue sw imming. 

•  Deep water  d iv ing  a reas  to  p rac t i ce  recovery  opera t ions  w i th  an  underwater 

observa t ion  space fo r  ins t ruc to rs .

•  Su f f i c ien t  dep th  and  s ize  to  t ra in  fo r  SCUBA d iv ing ,  n igh t t ime d iv ing ,  and  rescue 

d iv ing .

•  Zero  en t ry  poo l  a reas  to  p rac t i ce  the  most  common method fo r  en te r ing  a  body  o f 

water  by  pub l i c  sa fe ty  personne l .

The  add i t ion  o f  the  aquat ics  fac i l i t y  w i l l  a lso  o f fe r  an  oppor tun i ty  to  educate , 

mot iva te ,  and  suppor t  an  inc reased leve l  o f  e f fec t i veness  and f i tness  leve ls  by 

pub l i c  sa fe ty  personne l .  F lo r ida ’s  p ro l i fe ra t ion  o f  beaches ,  lakes ,  r i ve rs ,  and  ponds 

make i t  c r i t i ca l  tha t  law en fo rcement  and  f i re  serv ice  personne l  t ra in  in  water 

surv iva l  and  rescue techn iques . 

AVIATION HANGAR AND EMERGENCY MEDICAL HELICOPTER LANDING ZONE

Hel icop te rs  a re  an  e f fec t i ve  means  o f  t ranspor t ing  in ju red  persons  f rom the  scene 

o f  an  acc iden t  to  a  hosp i ta l  and  t rans fe r r ing  pa t ien ts  in  c r i t i ca l  need o f  spec ia l i zed 

serv ices .  FPSI  has  a  s i te  fo r  he l i cop te r  land ing ,  s ta f f  hous ing ,  and  fue l ing 

opera t ions  in  need o f  res to ra t ion .  Through a  p r i va te  par tnersh ip ,  FPSI  w i l l  res to re 

the  he l i cop te r  land ing  pads  and prepare  land  fo r  the  deve lopment  o f  a  bunk  house 

fo r  responders ,  and  hangars  fo r  secur ing  he l i cop te rs  dur ing  inc lement  weather. 

The  he l i cop te r  land ing  zone loca t ion  i s  advantageous  fo r  response dur ing  the 

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



652024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

“c r i t i ca l  hour ”  o r  the  “go lden  hour ”  tha t  de te rmines  the  surv ivab i l i t y  o f  a  c r i t i ca l l y  i l l 

pa t ien t .  A l l  par tners  a re  commi t ted  to  respond ing  to  any  c r i t i ca l  inc iden ts  tha t  may 

occur  a t  FPSI .  Th is  par tnersh ip  w i l l  a lso  p rov ide  c r i t i ca l l y  impor tan t  med ica l  t ra in ing 

to  TSC’s  hea l th  care  and  f i r s t  responder  s tudents . 

I t  i s  an t i c ipa ted  tha t  fu r ther  p r i va te  par tnersh ips  w i l l  deve lop  s im i la r  to  the 

he l i cop te r  land ing  p ro jec t . 

LEADERSHIP INSTITUTE

 

The FPSI  Leadersh ip  Ins t i tu te  i s  a  comprehens ive  and s t ra teg ic  p rogram to 

deve lop  leadersh ip  sk i l l s  in  law en fo rcement ,  cor rec t ions ,  and  f i re  personne l .  The 

Ins t i tu te  w i l l  be  loca ted  near  Oppor tun i ty  Lake ,  a  p r i s t ine  loca t ion  tha t  se ts  the 

backdrop  to  encourage learn ing  and lessons  on  the  impor tance  o f  ba lance  in  th is 

inc red ib ly  s t ress fu l  career.  The  Ins t i tu te  w i l l  house  a  p rogram des igned to  inc lude 

comprehens ive  superv isory  and  management  ph i losoph ies  as  we l l  as  p rac t i ca l 

app l i ca t ion . 

The  F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Law Enforcement  cur r i cu lum wi l l  gu ide  the  es tab l i shment 

o f  the  Academy’s  law en fo rcement  and  cor rec t iona l  academic  in f ras t ruc tu re  and 

inaugura l  leadersh ip  cer t i f i ca te  p rogram. 

The program inc ludes  comple t ion  o f  224-c lock  hours  o f  spec i f ied  coursework , 

inc lud ing : 

•  CJ  Leader  E th ics  (24  hours )  –Prov ides  a  c r i t i ca l  examina t ion  o f  conduc t  and 

e th ics  o f  c r im ina l  jus t i ce  superv isors ,  managers ,  and  leaders ,  focus ing  on  top ics 

tha t  may  inc rease  suscept ib i l i t y  to  c iv i l  l i ab i l i t y.  The  course  a lso  p rov ides  a  c r i t i ca l 

examina t ion  o f  dec is ion-mak ing  sk i l l s  and  human re la t ions  w i th in  agenc ies .

•  L ine  Superv is ion  (80  hours )  –  Prov ides  cur ren t  and  fu tu re  leaders  w i th 

ph i losoph ica l  con ten t  and  p rac t i ca l  exerc ises  in  bas ic  superv isory  and  management 

sk i l l s .  I t  uses  “ rea l -wor ld ”  v ideos ,  case  s tud ies ,  s i tua t iona l  ro le -p lay ing ,  and  lec tu re 

p resenta t ions  to  he lp  p repare  s tudents  in  becoming  e f fec t i ve  as  a  new leader  in  an 

agency.

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



6 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

•  M idd le  Management  (40  hours )  –  An advanced leadersh ip  course  p rov id ing 

in t roduc t ion  regard ing  the  typ ica l  du t ies  and  respons ib i l i t i es  o f  a  midd le  manager 

in  a  c r im ina l  jus t i ce  agency.  The cur r i cu lum focuses  on  leadersh ip  p r inc ip les  used 

a t  the  s ta f f  leve l  by  re in fo rc ing  communica t ion  and  in te rpersona l  sk i l l s ;  cu l t i va t ing 

p lann ing  and prob lem-so lv ing  methods ;  exp lo r ing  s t ress  and  c r i s i s  management 

techn iques ;  examin ing  d ivers i t y  and  e th ica l  i ssues ;  d iscuss ing  agency  l iab i l i t y  and 

po l i cy  deve lopment ;  and  exp lo r ing  o rgan iza t iona l  des ign  and budgets .

•  Bui ld ing  &  Ma in ta in ing  a  Sound Behav io ra l  C l imate  (40  hours )  –  Prov ides  leaders 

w i th  the  techn iques  needed to  bu i ld  and  ma in ta in  a  sound behav io ra l  c l imate  in 

an  agency.  S tudents  w i l l  l ea rn  about  human resource  management ,  per fo rmance 

management ,  and  e f fec t i ve  communica t ion . 

•  Deve lop ing  &  Ma in ta in ing  a  Sound Organ iza t ion  (40  hours )  –  An advanced 

leadersh ip  course  p resent ing  the  techn iques  needed to  deve lop  and ma in ta in 

a  sound organ iza t ion .  S tudents  w i l l  l ea rn  about  o rgan iza t iona l  theor ies  and 

s t ruc tu res ,  as  we l l  as  how to  es tab l i sh  o rgan iza t iona l  accountab i l i t y  and  lead 

th rough change. 

The fac i l i t y  w i l l  a lso  hos t  s ta te  leadersh ip  p rograms de l i ve red  by  the  F lo r ida 

Depar tment  o f  Law Enforcement  and  na t iona l  leadersh ip  p rograms l i ke  the  Southern 

Po l i ce  Ins t i tu te  o r  - remote  p rograms de l i ve red  by  the  FBI  Academy. 

In  co l labora t ion  w i th  the  F lo r ida  F i re  Co l lege ,  FPSI  w i l l  deve lop  a  p rogram fo r 

leadersh ip  deve lopment  fo r  those  in  f i re  serv ice .  Cur ren t l y  most  agenc ies  have  an 

in te rna l  p rogram or  par t i c ipa te  a t  the  F i re  Co l lege  in  Oca la ,  F lo r ida .  FPSI  has  an 

oppor tun i ty  to  expand t ra in ing  oppor tun i t ies .  Th is  improves  the  po ten t ia l  fo r  loca l 

agenc ies  to  p rov ide  f i re  serv ice  spec i f i c  leadersh ip  t ra in ing  to  f i sca l l y  cons t ra ined 

c i t ies  and  count ies .

I t  i s  an t i c ipa ted  tha t  th is  fac i l i t y  wou ld  a lso  be  a  s ign i f i can t  benef i t  to  par tner 

agenc ies  tha t  f requent ly  hos t  in -serv ice  leadersh ip  deve lopment  courses  and a 

resource  to  loca l  communi t ies  fo r  pub l i c  meet ing  space. 

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



672024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

OPPORTUNITY LAKE YOUTH ENGAGEMENT CENTER

Adjacent  to  the  Leadersh ip  Ins t i tu te  w i l l  be  the  Youth  Engagement  Center. 

Oppor tun i ty  Lake ,  was  once  s tocked w i th  f i sh  and  w i l l  become par t  o f  the  you th 

ou tdoor  exper ience .  The Ins t i tu te  i s  recommend ing  tha t  the  bes t  use  o f  th is  a rea 

may be  to  deve lop  a  you th  ou tdoor  exper ience .  The proper ty  i s  loca ted  on  a  road 

ap t l y  named,  “Oppor tun i ty  Dr ive . ”  The  v is ion  fo r  th is  space  is  to  c rea te  a  s t rong 

t ie  be tween c r im ina l  jus t i ce  deve lopment  and  communi ty  ou t reach  oppor tun i t ies . 

Through FPSI ’s  commi tment  to  work ing  co l labora t i ve ly  w i th  loca l  law en fo rcement , 

f i re  serv ice ,  and  cor rec t iona l  par tners ,  Oppor tun i ty  Lake  has  the  po ten t ia l  to  be  a 

loca t ion  fo r  loca l  you th  to  in te rac t  w i th  f i r s t  responders  in  a  pos i t i ve  way. 

The deve lopments  a t  Oppor tun i ty  Lake  w i l l  i nc lude  a  secure  dock  s t ruc tu re  fo r 

f i sh ing  dur ing  p lanned events  and  an  ou tdoor  pav i l ion  fo r  encourag ing  ou tdoor 

ac t i v i t ies  fo r  you th  engagement  events ,  leadersh ip  deve lopment  sess ions ,  TSC 

s tudent  d r i ven  events ,  and  w i l l  a l low fo r  pub l i c  use  upon reserva t ion .  Res t room 

fac i l i t i es  wou ld  be  requ i red  to  ensure  ava i lab i l i t y  to  par t i c ipan ts  in  the  Oppor tun i ty 

Lake  a rea . 

Oppor tun i ty  Lake  i s  an  idea l  loca t ion  fo r  a  wa lk ing  t ra i l  a round the  lake  and a  na tu re 

t ra i l  w i th  educat iona l  s ignage ac t i v i t ies  to  fu r ther  encourage you th  in i t ia t i ves . 

The  t ra i l  wou ld  fu r ther  menta l  and  phys ica l  hea l th  in i t ia t i ves .  I t  i s  an t i c ipa ted  tha t 

par tnersh ips  w i th  the  F lo r ida  F ish  and  Wi ld l i fe  Conserva t ion  Commiss ion  and the 

F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Env i ronmenta l  Pro tec t ion  wou ld  con t r ibu te  to  the  t ra i l .  I t  i s 

a lso  an  oppor tun i ty  to  add  another  phys ica l  f i tness  loca t ion  w i th  na tu ra l l y  in tegra ted 

parcourse  fea tu res .

Present ly,  FPSI  i s  eva lua t ing  g ran t  oppor tun i t ies  to  deve lop  th is  s i te .  Mu l t ip le 

oppor tun i t ies  ex is t  a t  bo th  the  s ta te  and  federa l  leve l  to  fund  in f ras t ruc tu re  and 

necessary  sa fe ty  fea tu res  to  es tab l i sh  th is  s i te  as  an  ou ts tand ing  resource  to  the 

communi t ies  FPSI  serves . 

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



6 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

INDOOR FIRING RANGE

Indoor  f i r ing  ranges  a re  popu la r  among law en fo rcement  agenc ies  and  t ra in ing 

fac i l i t i es  because they  o f fe r  p ro tec t ion  f rom inc lement  weather  cond i t ions  and  can 

be  opera ted  24  hours  a  day  under  con t ro l led  env i ronmenta l  cond i t ions .  There  a re 

s ign i f i can t  benef i t s  to  opera t ing  an  indoor  range in  F lo r ida ’s  unpred ic tab le  c l imate ,  bu t 

s ign i f i can t  env i ronmenta l  and  occupat iona l  con t ro ls  must  be  cons idered  to  p ro tec t  the 

hea l th  o f  shooters  and  range personne l  f rom e f fec ts  o f  a i rborne  par t i cu la te ,  no ise ,  and 

o ther  po ten t ia l  exposures .  FPSI  i s  p resent ly  in fo rmat ion  ga ther ing  to  de te rmine  the 

requ i rements  necessary  fo r  es tab l i sh ing  an  indoor  range capab le  o f  t ra in ing  up  to  th i r t y 

s tudents  a t  a  t ime.

Severa l  indoor  ranges  a re  loca ted  on  the  p remises  o f  law en fo rcement  agenc ies  in 

F lo r ida  and  c r im ina l  jus t i ce  t ra in ing  cen te rs .  The  most  common fea tu res  a re  shoot ing 

bays  o f  su f f i c ien t  leng th  to  comple te  bas ic  rec ru i t  handgun t ra in ing ,  HEPA f i l t ra t ion 

sys tems,  bu l le t  t raps ,  and  HVAC sys tems to  coo l  and  heat  the  fac i l i t y  to  comfor tab le 

and  sa fe  leve ls  fo r  t ra in ing .  Dur ing  the  most  recent  t ra in ing  summer  o f  2023,  there  were 

severa l  inc iden ts  invo lv ing  heat  i l l ness  and  some agenc ies  independent ly  ren ted  coo l ing 

and  mis t ing  mach ines  to  he lp  reduce heat  re la ted  i l l ness . 

The indoor  f i r ing  range may be  added to  the  foo tp r in t  o f  the  ex is t ing  f i rearms bu i ld ing 

beg inn ing  near  the  de fens ive  tac t i cs  room and ex tend ing  in to  the  park ing  a rea ,  o r 

ad jacent  to  the  tac t i ca l  en t ry  bu i ld ing  as  a  f ree-s tand ing  s t ruc tu re .  Whi le  the  spec i f i c 

fea tu res  o f  the  fac i l i t y  a re  s t i l l  under  cons idera t ion ,  the  need fo r  mu l t ip le  shoot ing  lanes 

and the  ab i l i t y  to  d r i ve  a  veh ic le  in to  the  space or  add  o ther  p rops  to  inc rease  rea l i sm in 

t ra in ing  a re  inc luded in  the  in i t ia l  cons idera t ion  o f  space  des ign . 

HIGH SPEED PURSUIT COURSE

The F lo r ida  H ighway Pat ro l  (FHP)  b roke  g round on  the  s ta te ’s  f i r s t  Advanced Veh ic le 

Opera t ions  and Tra in ing  Complex  loca ted  a t  the  FPSI  in  Ju ly  2018.  In  2022,  FHP 

rece ived  a  $20 .4  mi l l i on  a l loca t ion  f rom the  F lo r ida  Leg is la tu re  to  comple te  the  p ro jec t . 

An  a rea  o f  one  hundred  acres  has  been c leared  fo r  the  aspha l t  t rack  tha t  w i l l  i nc lude 

a reas  s imu la t ing  open h ighway,  a  d iv ided  h ighway w i th  guard  ra i l s  and  s lower  curves . 

FPSI ’s  ex is t ing  veh ic le  opera t ions  t rack  has  been in  use  fo r  25  years  bu t  can  on ly 

accommodate  a  max imum speed o f  th i r t y - f i ve  mph.  The new t rack  a l lows law en fo rcement 

o f f i ce rs  to  p rac t i ce  in  a  rea l -wor ld  scenar io  and  can  accommodate  speeds  upwards  o f 

120  mph.

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



692024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

Upon comple t ion  o f  the  f i r s t  phase  o f  the  p ro jec t ,  the  1 .4 -mi le  d r i v ing  t rack  w i l l 

a l low o f f i ce rs  to  enhance dr iv ing  sk i l l s  and  exper ience  rea l -wor ld  emergency 

opera t ions  scenar ios  in  a  sa fe ,  con t ro l led  env i ronment  under  the  gu idance o f 

qua l i f i ed  ins t ruc to rs .  The  fac i l i t y  w i l l  o f fe r  advanced t ra in ing  to  inc lude  t ra f f i c 

inc iden t  management ,  h igh  speed dr iv ing  and comprehens ive  veh ic le  opera t ions  to 

improve  the  sa fe ty  o f  o f f i ce rs  and  the  motor ing  pub l i c  a l i ke . 

There  a re  p lans  to  expand the  d r i v ing  complex  in  the  fu tu re  to  inc lude  s imu la ted 

u rban ne ighborhoods  in  the  cen te r  o f  the  t rack  fo r  a  t ru ly  rea l i s t i c  t ra in ing 

exper ience .  Due to  l im i ted  fund ing  resources ,  th is  w i l l  be  in tegra ted  in  a  phased 

approach  over  severa l  years . 

CLASSROOM BUILDING AND COVERED PARKING STRUCTURE

The ex is t ing  c lassroom bu i ld ing  i s  compr ised  o f  the  F lo r ida  H ighway Pat ro l 

Tra in ing  Center,  the  F lo r ida  F ish  and  Wi ld l i fe  Conserva t ion  Center  Tra in ing  Center, 

a  c lassroom ded ica ted  to  law en fo rcement  bas ic  rec ru i t  t ra in ing ,  a  c lassroom 

equ ipped w i th  s tudent  computers  fo r  spec ia l i zed  coursework ,  and  e igh t  c lassrooms 

fo r  genera l  c lasses .  The bu i ld ing  a lso  houses  a  mock  cour t room to  p repare  c r im ina l 

jus t i ce  s tudents  fo r  tes t i f y ing  in  cour t .  One la rge  room tha t  was  p rev ious ly  used as 

a  c lassroom has  been conver ted  in to  a  tes t ing  cen te r  fo r  admin is te r ing  the  F lo r ida 

Depar tment  o f  Law Enforcement  s ta te  examina t ion .  The c lassrooms are  heav i l y  used 

fo r  in -serv ice  t ra in ing  fo r  loca l  agenc ies  as  we l l  as  fo r  conduc t ing  s ta te  t rus t  fund 

sponsored  con t inu ing  educat ion  coursework .

FPSI  i s  a  cer t i f i ed  tes t ing  s i te  fo r  PearsonVue Tes t ing  Centers  and  has  an 

agreement  fo r  admin is te r ing  the  s ta te  examina t ions  w i th  the  F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f 

Law Enforcement ,  Cr im ina l  Jus t i ce  S tandards  and Tra in ing  Center.  In  accordance 

w i th  MOUs,  the  tes t ing  cen te r  i s  p roper ly  equ ipped w i th  computers  and  is  managed 

by  t ra ined  p roc to rs .  Dur ing  f i sca l  year  2023-24 ,  FPSI  re inves ted  funds  co l lec ted  fo r 

the  admin is t ra t ion  o f  the  s ta te  examina t ion  to  update  the  tes t ing  room wi th  cub ic les , 

sound res is tan t  f loor ing ,  and  camera  mon i to r ing  sys tems.  Reta in ing  th is  space  as  a 

tes t ing  cen te r  i s  essent ia l  to  the  en t ry  leve l ,  rec ru i t -based t ra in ing  o f fe red  a t  FPSI . 

Prev ious ly,  s tudents  were  requ i red  to  leave  campus and t rave l  to  a  cer t i f i ed  fac i l i t y. 

Re ta in ing  th is  space ,  l im i ts  the  c lassroom space ava i lab le  in  th is  bu i ld ing ,  bu t  i s 

c r i t i ca l  to  ma in ta in . 

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



7 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

As FPSI  con t inues  to  g row and as  the  needs  o f  the  agenc ies  served  expand,  add i t iona l 

c lassroom space w i l l  be  necessary  to  ensure  a  s ta te -o f - the-ar t  learn ing  exper ience . 

Fur ther  expans ion  in to  the  academic  a reas  o f  non-sworn  c r im ina l  jus t i ce  suppor t 

opera t ions ,  inc lud ing  ev idence techn ic ian ,  c r ime ana lys t ,  and  communica t ions  has  been 

reques ted  by  the  agenc ies  FPSI  serves .  Whi le  s ta te  g ran ts  p resent ly  on ly  suppor t  the 

t ra in ing  o f  sworn ,  law en fo rcement ,  there  a re  many  pr iva te  and  federa l  g ran ts  ava i lab le 

to  fund  the  academic  components  o f  non-sworn  t ra in ing .  Space to  de l i ve r  g ran t -based 

courses  w i l l  be  needed to  fu l l y  imp lement  a  p rogram tha t  no t  on ly  encompasses  sworn 

and f i re  serv ices  t ra in ing ,  bu t  a lso  the  c r i t i ca l  suppor t ing  in f ras t ruc tu re .  As  FPSI 

expands  oppor tun i t ies  fo r  f i re  serv ices  t ra in ing ,  ded ica ted  c lassroom space w i l l  be 

requ i red  to  devo te  to  th is  p rogramming. 

To  p rov ide  needed add i t iona l  park ing  and to  take  advantage o f  the  na tu ra l  s lop ing 

te r ra in  o f  the  p roper ty  where  th is  add i t iona l  c lassroom is  p roposed,  covered  park ing  w i l l 

be  inc luded in  the  bu i ld ing  des ign .  

ADDITIONAL DORMITORY FACILITY 

FPSI  i s  con t rac ted  to  ma in ta in  and  opera te  a  dormi to ry  fac i l i t y  owned by  the  Pub l i c 

Sa fe ty  Academy Hous ing ,  Inc .  The  cur ren t  s t ruc tu re  has  two hundred  rooms,  296 

ava i lab le  beds ,  and  i s  a t  near ly  100% occupancy  fo r  mos t  o f  the  year  w i th  bas ic  rec ru i t 

s tudents .  Dur ing  the i r  2023 annua l  meet ing ,  Pub l i c  Sa fe ty  Academy Hous ing ,  Inc .  Board 

o f  D i rec to rs  re i te ra ted  an  in te res t  in  bu i ld ing  a  second dormi to ry  bu i ld ing  near  the 

ex is t ing  dormi to ry  s t ruc tu re .  S ta te  agenc ies  have  l i kewise  ind ica ted  an  u rgent  need fo r 

a  cos t -e f fec t i ve  op t ion  fo r  lodg ing  ou t -o f -a rea  members  a t tend ing  in -serv ice  t ra in ing . 

An  adv isory  g roup made up  o f  s ta te  agenc ies  who f requent ly  requ i re  lodg ing  has  been 

assembled  and began meet ing  in  the  fa l l  o f  2023. 

In i t ia l l y,  the  adv isory  g roup w i l l  comple te  a  needs  assessment  and  prov ide  feedback  on 

fac i l i t y  needs ,  bu t  i t  i s  an t i c ipa ted  tha t  the  s t ruc tu re  w i l l  be  s im i la r  in  s ize  and  scope to 

the  ex is t ing  fac i l i t y.

OBSTACLE AND AGILITY COURSE

Obstac le  and  ag i l i t y  courses  a re  des igned to  s imu la te  the  da i l y  ac t i v i t ies  o f  a  f i r s t 

responder,  inc lud ing  nav iga t ion  th rough d i f f i cu l t  te r ra in  o r  obs tac le -s t rewn pa thways . 

Courses  a re  a lso  cons t ruc ted  to  bu i ld  and  improve  phys ica l  s t reng th  and  endurance 

or  spec i f i ca l l y  to  enhance a  sk i l l  re la ted  to  spec ia l t y  team opera t ion .  A phys ica l  ag i l i t y 

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



712024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

obs tac le  course  i s  o f ten  compr ised  o f  a  var ie ty  o f  s t ruc tu res  des igned to  tes t  and 

cha l lenge an  ind iv idua l ’s  phys ica l  s t reng th ,  ba lance ,  coord ina t ion ,  and  speed. 

Common s t ruc tu res  inc lude : 

•  h igh  and low wa l l  to  c l imb over

•  m i l i ta ry  c rawl  tunne l

•  ba lance  s t ruc tu res  (beams,  po les )

•  monkey  bars

•  pu l l -up  bars

•  c l imb ing  s t ruc tu res

The obs tac le  and  ag i l i t y  course  w i l l  be  cons t ruc ted  in  co l labora t ion  w i th  phys ica l 

f i tness  exper ts  and  spec ia l t y  un i t  team members  who o f ten  t ra in  w i th  these 

types  o f  courses .  The p lanned loca t ion  i s  on  the  a rea  fo rmer ly  des igna ted  as  the 

Env i ronmenta l  Cr imes  Tra in ing  Center  and  w i l l  be  fu l l y  funded by  coopera t i ve 

agency  con t r ibu t ions .

FIRE SERVICES CONTINUING EDUCATION TRAINING FACILITY

FPSI  cur r i cu lum inc ludes  bas ic  rec ru i t  t ra in ing  fo r  law en fo rcement ,  cor rec t ions , 

and  f i re f igh t ing .  Whi le  the  fac i l i t y  has  been deve loped ex tens ive ly  w i th  c r im ina l 

jus t i ce  t ra in ing  in  mind ,  add i t iona l  fac i l i t i es  a re  requ i red  to  p rov ide  more  focus  on 

f i re  serv ices  t ra in ing  as  we l l  as  co l labora t i ve  t ra in ing  fo r  the  var ious  d isc ip l ines  to 

inc rease  in te roperab i l i t y  dur ing  an  emergency.

THREE STORY DRILL TOWER

A dr i l l  tower  i s  a  t ra in ing  fac i l i t y  fo r  f i re f igh te rs  and  f i re  inves t iga to rs  fo r  rou t ine 

exerc ises  and  t ra in ing .  The tower  i s  o f ten  bu i l t  as  a  mu l t i - leve l  s t ruc tu re  to  s imu la te 

h igh- r i se  bu i ld ings .  Nav iga t ing  the  tower  encourages  par t i c ipan ts  t ra in  in  a  rea l i s t i c 

env i ronment  and  exper ience  mov ing  up  and down s ta i rs  w i th  heavy  equ ipment , 

work ing  in  con f ined  spaces ,  and  us ing  spec ia l t y  equ ipment . 

BURN BUILDING

Burn  bu i ld ings  o f fe r  the  oppor tun i ty  to  t ra in  in  an  env i ronment  tha t  i s  e i ther  ac t i ve ly 

ab laze  o r  fo r  o r ig in  and  cause inves t iga t ion  t ra in ing  pos t  f i re .  The  op t imum burn 

bu i ld ing  wou ld  be  A t  leas t  two  s to r ies  in  he igh t ,  w i th  each  f loor  no t  less  than 

400 square  fee t ,  p rov id ing  the  most  rea l i s t i c  env i ronment  fo r  f i re  serv ice  and  f i re 

inves t iga t i ve  t ra in ing .

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



7 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

C A M P U S  A C T I V I T Y  Z O N E S  N A R RA T I V E

ACADEMIC ZONE

The academic  zone con ta ins  those  bu i ld ings  used fo r  educat iona l  ins t ruc t ion  and  low 

l iab i l i t y  t ra in ing  labs  and areas  a long  w i th  the  hous ing  fac i l i t i es .

The Master  P lan  expands  th is  a rea  by  add ing  to  the  ex is t ing  ma in  campus quadrang le  a 

new C lassroom “B”  and  a  Pub l i c  Sa fe ty  Off i ce r  Memor ia l .  A new Grounds ,  Rece iv ing  and 

Ma in tenance Bu i ld ing ,  an  Aquat ics  Tra in ing  Fac i l i t y  and  a  D in ing  Ha l l  K i tchen expans ion 

a re  p roposed fo r  th is  a rea  a long  w i th  the  add i t ion  o f  ano ther  w ing  to  the  Hous ing 

Fac i l i t y.

HIGH LIABILITY TRAINING

The H igh  L iab i l i t y  Tra in ing  Zone is  se t  as ide  fo r  those  t ra in ing  func t ions  tha t  requ i re 

s t r i c t  con t ro l  and  phys ica l  separa t ion  o f  t ra in ing  ac t i v i t ies  tha t  have  a  h igh  po ten t ia l  fo r 

l i fe  th rea ten ing  in ju r ies .  These ac t i v i t ies  inc lude  f i r ing  ranges ,  exp los ives  de tonat ion 

a reas ,  ammuni t ion  s to rage bu i ld ings ,  h igh  r i sk  d r i vers  t ra in ing  t racks ,  and  tac t i ca l  en t ry 

t ra in ing  house among o thers .

The proposed add i t ions  to  th is  zone are  a  new h igh  speed dr iv ing  t rack ,  a  mock  u rban 

v i l l age ,  a  d r i ver ’s  t ra in ing  c lassroom,  a  f lee t  ma in tenance garage,  and  a  new water 

tower.

The H igh  L iab i l i t y  Tra in ing  Area  a lso  encompasses  a l l  the  sou th  campus proper ty  to 

In te rs ta te  10  r igh t -o f -way  bu t  i s  no t  shown on  th is  g raph ic .

LEADERSHIP INSTITUTE

The F lo r ida  Pub l i c  Sa fe ty  Leadersh ip  Ins t i tu te  w i l l  house  a  p rogram des igned to 

inc lude  comprehens ive  superv isory  and  management  ph i losoph ies  a long  w i th  p rac t i ca l 

app l i ca t ions  fo r  law en fo rcement ,  cor rec t ions  and f i re  depar tment  personne l .

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



C A M P U S  A C T I V I T Y  Z O N E S F P S I  C A M P U S  A C T I V I T Y  Z O N E S  M A P

FPSI Activity Zones Map 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Department of 
Corrections 

Facility 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
HIGH LIABILITY 
TRAINING ZONE 
(Includes all property 
South of this point to 

Interstate 10) 

 

 

   ACADEMIC ZONE 
 
The Academic Zone contains those buildings used for 
educational instruction and low liability training labs and areas 
along with the housing facilities. 

 
The Master Plan expands this area by adding to the existing 
main campus quadrangle a new Classroom Building "B" and 
a Public Safety Officer memorial. A new Grounds, Recieving 
and Maintenance building, an Aquatics Training Facility and a 
Dining Hall Kitchen expansion are proposed for this area 
along with the addition of another wing to the Housing facility. 

 
HIGH LIABILITY TRAINING ZONE 

 
  The High liability training zone is set aside for those trainig 
functions that require strict control and physical separation of 
training activities that have a high potential for life threatening 
injuries. These activities include firing ranges, explosives 
detonation areas, ammunition storage buildings, high risk 
drivers training tracks, and tactical entry training house 
among others. 

 
The proposed additions to this zone are a new high speed 
driving track, a mock urban village, a drivers training 
classroom, a fleet maintenance garage, and a new water 
tower. 
 
The High Liability Training Area also encompasses all the 
south campus property to Interstate 10 right-of-way but is not 
shown on this graphic. 

 
LEADERSHIP INSTITUTE 

 
The Florida Public Safety Leadership Institute will house a 
program designed to include comprehensive supervisory 
and management philosophies along with practical 
applications for law enforcement, corrections and fire 
department personnel. 
 
 
 

                            
 
           CAMPUS ACTIVITY  ZONES                                                                                                        

                               CAMPUS ACTIVITY ZONES  

LEADERSHIP 
INSTITUTE 

ACADEMIC 
ZONE 

HIGH LIABILITY 
TRAINING ZONE 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF 
CORRECTIONS 

FACILITY 

N

7 32024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



742024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

S T O R M WA T E R  B A S I N  N A R RA T I V E

STORMWATER BASIN 1

The ex is t ing  s to rm water  Bas in  1 ,  as  shown hereon,  co l lec ts  s to rm water  v ia 

over land  f low and p ip ing  to  a  b io  in f i l t ra t ion  swa le  to  Pond A.  The F lo r ida  Pub l i c 

Sa fe ty  Ins t i tu te  u t i l i zes  th is  body  o f  water  fo r  t ra in ing .  Underwater  c r ime scene 

t ra in ing  p rops  inc lud ing  a  car,  a  boa t  and  a  p lane  as  we l l  as  an  underwater 

obs tac le  and  con f idence  course .  The lake  i s  a lso  used to  ins t ruc t  personne l  in 

sur face  opera t ions  such  as  boa t  launch ing ,  approach  and board ing  tac t i cs ,  boa t ing 

acc iden t  inves t iga t ion  and  advanced de fens ive  tac t i cs  in  and  around vesse ls .  Bas in 

1 ’s  p r imary  serv ice  a rea  inc ludes  the  Defens ive  Tac t i cs  Fac i l i t y  park ing  a rea  and 

the  o r ig ina l  dormi to ry  complex .

STORMWATER BASIN 2

The ex is t ing  s to rm water  Bas in  2 ,  as  shown hereon,  co l lec ts  s to rm water  v ia 

over land  f low and p ip ing  to  a  b io  in f i l t ra t ion  swa le  to  Pond B.   Bas in  2 ’s  p r imary 

serv ice  a rea  inc ludes  the  D in ing  Fac i l i t y,  De fens ive  Tac t i cs  Bu i ld ing ,  Admin is t ra t ion 

Bu i ld ing ,  C lassroom Bu i ld ing  and the  Conference  Center.

STORMWATER BASIN 3

The ex is t ing  s to rm water  Bas in  3 ,  as  shown hereon,  co l lec ts  s to rm water  v ia 

over land  f low and p ip ing  to  a  b io - in f i l t ra t ion  swa le  to  Pond C.  Bas in  3 ’s  p r imary 

serv ice  a rea  i s  the  Hous ing  Fac i l i t y  and  ad jacent  park ing  a reas .

STORMWATER BASIN 4

The newly  reconf igured  s to rm water  Bas in  4 ,  as  shown hereon,  co l lec ts  s to rm 

water  v ia  over land  f low f rom the  ma in  f i r ing  range and de l i ve rs  i t  to  Pond D.  The 

cur ren t  pond des ign  was  the  resu l t  o f  a  co l labora t i ve  e f fo r t  by  FPSI  and  the  F lo r ida 

Depar tment  o f  Env i ronmenta l  Pro tec t ion .  A g ran t  f rom the  FDEP a l lowed FPSI 

to  cons t ruc t  two  ponds  w i th  d i f fe ren t  vegeta t ion ,  sub-base  and base  mater ia ls 

as  a  tes t  to  see  wh ich  con f igura t ion  resu l ted  in  the  bes t  remed ia t ion  o f  leached 

lead .  Based on  th is  exper iment  the  more  success fu l  pond exper iment  was  used to 

cons t ruc t  the  new ponds  ad jacent  to  the  f i r ing  range.

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



7 52024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

STORMWATER BASIN 5

The ex is t ing  s to rm water  bas in  5 ,  as  shown hereon,  co l lec ts  s to rm water  v ia  over land 

f low and p ip ing  to  a  b io - in f i l t ra t ion  swa le  to  Pond E.  Bas in  5 ’s  p r imary  serv ice  a rea  i s 

the  Depar tment  o f  Cor rec t ions  Re-en t ry  Center.

STORMWATER BASIN 6

Th is  new s to rmwater  bas in  6 ,  as  shown hereon,  co l lec ts  s to rm water  f low v ia  over land 

f low and p ip ing  to  a  b io - in f i l t ra t ion  swa le  to  Pond F.  the  bas in ’s  p r imary  serv ice  a rea  i s 

the  new h igh  speed dr iv ing  t rack  wh ich  i s  cur ren t l y  under  cons t ruc t ion .

A l l  over f lows are  d i rec ted  in to  ex is t ing  wet lands  by  FPSI ’s  na tu ra l  topograph ic  con tours .

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



S T O R M  WA T E R  B A S I N  N O R T H  C A M P U S  M A P F P S I  S T O R M  WA T E R  B A S I N
S O U T H  C A M P U S  M A P

N

7 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



S T O R M  WA T E R  B A S I N  S O U T H  C A M P U S  M A P F P S I  S T O R M  WA T E R  B A S I N
S O U T H  C A M P U S  M A P

49

48

46 47

BASIN 6

POND 
"F"

N

7 72024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



782024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

E N V I R O N M E N TA L  I N I T I A T I V E S

The F lo r ida  Pub l i c  Sa fe ty  Ins t i tu te  s t r i ves  to  be  a  good s teward  o f  the  env i ronment . 

In  add i t ion  to  the  Ins t i tu te ’s  ded ica ted  on-go ing  conserva t ion  and  wet lands 

p ro tec t ion  e f fo r ts  severa l  no tab le  add i t iona l  in i t ia t i ves  have  been imp lemented .

LEAD REMEDIATION

In  2012 FPSI  deve loped a  tes t  p rogram to  de te rmine  the  most  e f fec t i ve  s to rm water 

pond cons t ruc t ion  method to  t rea t  lead  con tamina ted  runo f f  f rom the  f i r ing  ranges . 

Three  ponds  were  cons t ruc ted  beh ind  the  f i r ing  ranges ,  each  w i th  d i f fe ren t  base 

mater ia ls .  One pond was  l ined  w i th  a  non-permeab le  membrane,  ano ther  w i th  a 

g rave l  bo t tom and another  w i th  c rushed l imerock .  Mon i to r ing  we l l s  were  ins ta l led 

and  samples  were  co l lec ted  f rom the  we l l s  and  pond bo t toms over  a  per iod  o f  t ime. 

The tes t  de te rmined tha t  the  l imerock  base  was  the  most  e f fec t i ve  mi t iga t ion  fo r 

lead  con tamina t ion .  Based on  these  resu l ts  FPSI  deve loped a  p rogram to  rebu i ld 

the  th ree  ponds .  In  2015 the  ponds  were  rebu i l t  w i th  c rushed l imerock  base  mater ia l 

as  a  sus ta inab le  des ign  in i t ia t i ve .  Add i t iona l l y,  FPSI  conduc ted  a  lead  rec lamat ion 

p ro jec t  fo r  the  f i r ing  range berms.  Th is  inc luded remova l  and  recyc l ing  o f  the  lead , 

as  we l l  as  t rea t ing  the  berm areas  w i th  so i l  amendments  to  mi t iga te  long  te rm 

e f fec ts .

CLEAN RANGES

As another  sus ta inab le  des ign  in tu i t i ve  FPSI  has  des igna ted  “C lean”  f i r ing  ranges . 

Use o f  ammuni t ion  w i th  lead  i s  p roh ib i ted  a t  these  ranges  and has  never  been used 

on  them.  Add i t iona l l y,  the  use  o f  lead  bu l le ts  i s  be ing  phased ou t  a t  a l l  o ther  ranges .

FORESTRY MANAGEMENT PLAN

FPSI ’s  s tewardsh ip  o f  the  env i ronment  inc ludes  a  Fores t ry  Management  P lan . 

Th is  p lan  deve loped by  p ro fess iona l  fo res t ry  consu l tan ts  de f ines  ob jec t i ves  fo r 

fu tu re  cond i t ion  o f  FPSI  lands .  I t  i nc ludes  a  schedu le  to  re - fo res t  a reas  tha t  were 

p rev ious ly  c lear  cu t ,  remov ing  poor  per fo rming  lob lo l l y  p ines  to  re - fo res t  w i th  long 

lea f  p ines ,  con t ro l  o f  undes i rab le  p lan t  compet i t ion ,  con t ro l led  burns ,  f i re  p ro tec t ion , 

road  ma in tenance and t imber  harves t ing .

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



792024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

SOLAR POWER

FPSI  i s  commi t ted  to  deve lop ing  sus ta inab le  power  such  as  so la r  power  fo r  i t s 

fac i l i t i es .  FPSI  in tends  to  aggress ive ly  seek  ways  to  deve lop  sus ta inab le  so la r 

power  on  campus. 

GREEN HOUSING INIT IATIVE

The Pub l i c  Sa fe ty  Hous ing  a t  FPSI  has  once  aga in  been recogn ized  by  the  F lo r ida 

Depar tment  o f   Env i ronmenta l  Pro tec t ion  (DEP)  as  a  Green Lodg ing  Fac i l i t y.  Pub l i c 

Sa fe ty  Hous ing  has  he ld  th is  des igna t ion  s ince  2011.  The 200- room hous ing  fac i l i t y 

p rov ides  on-s i te  hous ing  fo r  the  Ins t i tu te ’s  var ious  t ra in ing  p rograms.

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



8 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

F P S I  P R O P E R T Y  H O L D I N G  M A P

P A R C E L   A :

OR 642 P 207 OR 159 P 357-W1/2  OF SEC 24 LYING S & W OF HWY #90,  ALSO:  THE NW1/4 

OF SECTION 25-2-3 .  ALSO:  THE NE1/4  OF SECTION 26-2-3  AND THE N 132 FT OF THE 

SE1/4 .  OR 159 P 357,  OR 192 P 596 IN  SECT.  24-2N-3W.

P A R C E L   B .1   &   B .2

OR 677 P 263;  OR 546 P 1819 DB 105 P 283-DB 117 P 26-  W1/2  OF NE1/4  LYING S OF U 

S HWY 90,  LESS TO SRD PER DB GGG,  P 410 IN  SECTION 25-2N-3W.  ALSO:  COMMENCE 

AT THE SWC OF SECT 232N-3W,  THENCE RUN N00*23 ’00”W 1411.50  FT TO A POINT ON 

THE CENTERLINE OF STATE ROAD 10 (U.S.  H IGHWAY 90) ,  THENCE RUN ALONG SAID 

CENTERLINE S 84*49 ’06”  E  3666.40  FT,  THENCE LEAVING SAID CENTERLINE RUN S 

05*10 ’54”  W 100.00  FT TOA POINT ON THE S/LY R/W L INE OF STATE ROAD 10 (U.S. 

H IGHWAY 90 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNINGTHENCE FROM SAID POINT RUN S 11*16 ’02” 

W 358.52  FT,  THENCE RUN S 07*20 ’49”  W 603.26  FT TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH L INE OF 

SECT 23 ,  THENCE RUN ALONG SAID SECTION L INE S 89*58 ’54”  E  1640.02  FT TO THE SEC 

OF SECT 23 ,  THENCE RUNALONG SAID SECT L INE N 00*08 ’25”  W 815.25  FT TO A POINT 

ON THE S/LY R/W L INE ON STATE ROAD 10 (U.S.  H IGHWAY 90)  THENCE RUN ALONG SAID 

R/W N 84*49 ’06”  W 1496.95  FT TO THE POB. 

P A R C E L   C :

OR 567 P 1429,  FURTHER DESCR AS FOLLOWS:  BEGIN AT THE NWC OF SECT 36-2N-3W, 

RUN N88*37 ’ 49”E 2640.94  FT TO NEC OF NW1/4  OF SAID SECT 36 ;  S00*40 ’14”E ALONG 

THE APPROXIMATE EQST L INE OF THE W1/2  OF SAID SECT 36  4902.05  FT TO THE NORTH 

RT/WY OF I -10 ;  N58*42 ’ 35”W 54.07  FT;  N54*39 ’41”W 701.80  FT;  N58*43 ’34”W 2623.06FT; 

N52*47 ’49”W 390.86  FT;  N62*41 ’13”W 309.98  FT;  N78*35 ’02”W 317.33  FT;  N69*24 ’35”W 

920.05  FT;  N66*59 ’00”W 361.71  FT;  N81*29 ’56”W 361.65  FT;  N80*40 ’06”W 716.77  FT; 

N73*23 ’18”W 314.36  FT;  N87*43 ’58”W 619.34  FT;  S80*39 ’13”W 359.25  FT;  S87*25 ’38”W 

654.32  FT;  S82*37 ’04”W 300.76  FT;  S87*22 ’10”W 588.92  FT TO EAST BANK OFLITTLE 

RIVER;  THENCE ALONG SAID EAST BANK N21*55 ’39”E 5001.14  FT TO APPROXIMATE 

NORTH L INE OF SW1/4  OF SECT 26S89*52 ’34”E 1562.10  FT TO NEC OF SW1/4  OF SECT 

26-2N-3W;  S00*04 ’17”E 131.96  FT;  N89*45 ’08”E 2688.14  FT TO EAST L INE OF SECT 26 ; 

S00*23 ’05”E 2509.86  FT TO POB

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS ABOVE WERE TAKEN FROM THE GADSDEN COUNTY,  FLORIDA 

PROPERTY APPRAISERS WEBSITE.

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



F P S I  P R O P E R T Y  H O L D I N G  M A P

P A R C E L   B.1

P A R C E L   B.2

P A R C E L   C

P A R C E L   A

90

3-24-2N-3W-000000333-0100

3-24-2N-3W-000000333-0100

3-24-2N-3W-0000-00333-0100

3-26-2N-3W-0000-00400-0000

P A R C E L   C:

OR 567 P 1429, FURTHER DESCR AS FOLLOWS: BEGIN AT THE NWC OF SECT 36-2N-3W, RUN N88*37' 49"E 2640.94 FT TO NEC OF NW1/4 

OF SAID SECT 36; S00*40'14"E ALONG THE APPROXIMATE EQST LINE OF THE W1/2 OF SAID SECT 36 4902.05 FT TO THE NORTH RT/WY OF I-

10; N58*42' 35"W 54.07 FT; N54*39'41"W 701.80 FT; N58*43'34"W 2623.06FT; N52*47'49"W 390.86 FT; N62*41'13"W 309.98 FT; 

N78*35'02"W 317.33 FT; N69*24'35"W 920.05 FT; N66*59'00"W 361.71 FT; N81*29'56"W 361.65 FT; N80*40'06"W 716.77 FT; 

N73*23'18"W 314.36 FT; N87*43'58"W 619.34 FT; S80*39'13"W 359.25 FT; S87*25'38"W 654.32 FT; S82*37'04"W 300.76 FT; S87*22'10"W 

588.92 FT TO EAST BANK OFLITTLE RIVER; THENCE ALONG SAID EAST BANK N21*55'39"E 5001.14 FT TO APPROXIMATE NORTH LINE OF 

SW1/4 OF SECT 26S89*52'34"E 1562.10 FT TO NEC OF SW1/4 OF SECT 26-2N-3W; S00*04'17"E 131.96 FT; N89*45'08"E 2688.14 FT TO 

EAST LINE OF SECT 26; S00*23'05"E 2509.86 FT TO POB

P A R C E L   B.1  &  B.2

OR 677 P 263; OR 546 P 1819 DB 105 P 283-DB 117 P 26- W1/2 OF NE1/4 LYING S OF U S HWY 90, LESS TO SRD PER DB GGG, P 410 IN 

SECTION 25-2N-3W. ALSO: COMMENCE AT THE SWC OF SECT 232N-3W, THENCE RUN N00*23'00"W 1411.50 FT TO A POINT ON THE 

CENTERLINE OF STATE ROAD 10 (U.S. HIGHWAY 90), THENCE RUN ALONG SAID CENTERLINE S 84*49'06" E 3666.40 FT, THENCE LEAVING 

SAID CENTERLINE RUN S 05*10'54" W 100.00 FT TOA POINT ON THE S/LY R/W LINE OF STATE ROAD 10 (U.S. HIGHWAY 90 AND THE POINT 

OF BEGINNINGTHENCE FROM SAID POINT RUN S 11*16'02" W 358.52 FT, THENCE RUN S 07*20'49" W 603.26 FT TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH 

LINE OF SECT 23, THENCE RUN ALONG SAID SECTION LINE S 89*58'54" E 1640.02 FT TO THE SEC OF SECT 23, THENCE RUNALONG SAID SECT 

LINE N 00*08'25" W 815.25 FT TO A POINT ON THE S/LY R/W LINE ON STATE ROAD 10 (U.S. HIGHWAY 90) THENCE RUN ALONG SAID R/W N 

84*49'06" W 1496.95 FT TO THE POB. 

P A R C E L   A:

OR 642 P 207 OR 159 P 357-W1/2 OF SEC 24 LYING S & W OF HWY #90, ALSO: THE NW1/4 OF SECTION 25-2-3. ALSO: THE NE1/4 OF 

SECTION 26-2-3 AND THE N 132 FT OF THE SE1/4. OR 159 P 357, OR 192 P 596 IN SECT. 24-2N-3W.

P R O P E R T Y   L I N E

P A R C E L   A     =   3 7 5   a c r e s

P A R C E L   B.1  =     5 9   a c r e s

P A R C E L   B.2  =    2 9   a c r e s

T O T A L   =         1, 2 8 8  a c r e s

P A R C E L   C     =   8 2 5  a c r e s

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS ABOVE WERE TAKEN FROM THE GADSDEN COUNTY, FLORIDA PROPERTY APPRAISERS WEBSITE.

2 0 2 4   T C C  M A S T E R   P L A N N I N G   /   F  L O R I D A    P U B L I C   S A F E T Y   I N S T I T U T E

F P S I  P R O P E R T Y  H O L D I N G   M A P

N

8 12024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



822024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

 

E X I S T I N G  A C A D E M I C  Z O N E  D E V E L O P M E N T  D E N S I T Y

Land dens i ty  ca lcu la t ions  p rov ide  in fo rmat ion  to  quant i f y  the  u t i l i za t ion  o f  p roper ty. 

H igher  dens i ty  p rov ides  fo r  a  more  e f f i c ien t  use  o f  land .  I t  requ i res  less  land , 

decreased leng th  o f  roads ,  decreased leng th  fo r  water  and  sewer  p ipes ,  and  i t 

shor tens  runs  fo r  power  and  u t i l i t y  l i nes  fo r  any  deve lopment .  Th is  can  represent  a 

subs tan t ia l  economic  sav ings .  I t  a lso  decreases  wa lk ing  d is tances  and the  amount 

o f  t ime i t  takes  to  reach  a  des t ina t ion  wh i le  max imiz ing  the  amount  o f  open space 

tha t  remains .

EXISTING ACADEMIC ZONE DEVELOPMENT DENSITY DATA

GSF:  Academic  & Non Academic

TOTAL Campus Fac i l i t i es                                      249 ,088 GSF

TOTAL Non-Academic  Fac i l i t i es                             164 ,509 GSF

TOTAL Academic  Fac i l i t i es                                    84 ,579  GSF

Acres:  Upland Area Avai lab le  for  Academic  Faci l i t ies

TOTAL Pub l i c  Land Use                                       385  Acres

TOTAL Wet land  Area                     176  Acres

TOTAL H igh  L iab i l i t y  Zone Up land Area                   91  Acres

TOTAL Academic  Zone Up land Area                   118  Acres

TOTAL Academic  Zone GSF per  Net  Up land  Area     716  GSF/Acre

Note  tha t  a l l  we t land  ca lcu la t ions  inc lude  a  f i f t y - foo t  se tback  f rom a l l  we t land  a reas 

and bod ies  o f  water  per  Gadsden County  F lo r ida  zon ing  regu la t ions .

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



832024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

T E N  Y E A R  M A S T E R  P L A N  A C A D E M I C  Z O N E 
D E V E L O P M E N T  D E N S I T Y

CAMPUS DENSITY GOALS:

Eff i c ien t l y  and  conserva t i ve ly  u t i l i ze  the  land  resource ;

Max imize  and preserve  the  open space and na tu ra l  a reas  o f  the  s i te ;

Max imize  pedes t r ian  l inkages  and access ib i l i t y  th roughout  the  campus;

Min imize  any  wet land  impac t  and  subsequent  m i t iga t ion ;

Opt im ize  the  energy  e f f i c iency  o f  the  overa l l  deve loped s i te  p lan ;

In tens i fy  the  sense o f  communi ty  and  op t im ize  oppor tun i t ies  fo r  the  in te rac t ion 

be tween s tudents  and  facu l ty ;

TEN YEAR ACADEMIC ZONE DEVELOPMENT DENSITY DATA

GSF:  Academic  & Non Academic

TOTAL Campus Fac i l i t i es           494 ,013 GSF

TOTAL Non-Academic  Fac i l i t i es          -  340 ,714 GSF

TOTAL Academic  Fac i l i t i es           153 ,299 GSF

ACRES:  USEABLE FOR ACADEMIC FACILIT IES

TOTAL Pub l i c  Land Use          385  Acres

TOTAL Wet land  Area             -  176  Acres 

TOTAL H igh  L iab i l i t y  Zone Up land Area                     -  91  Acres

TOTAL Academic  Zone Up land Area          118  Acres

TOTAL Academic  Zone GSF per  Net  Up land  Area      1 ,299  GSF/Acre

DATA COMPARISON EXISTING & 10  YEAR CAMPUS DENSITY

Ex is t ing  Campus Dens i ty                                       716  GSF/Acre

0-Year  Campus Dens i ty                                         1 ,299  GSF/Acre

Campus Dens i ty  Inc rease                                       583  GSF/Acre

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



8 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

P R O J E C T E D  S P A C E  N E E D S

From an FTE perspective FPSI’s projected space needs are determined by the existing Academic Building area 

measured in gross square feet (GSF) per student FTE ratio. To have an accurate existing (academic) GSF for the 

campus, several of the Academic Buildings had to be pro-rated due to the shared facility aspect of FPSI. Please 

refer to the Existing Campus Map & Facilities Inventory, to see how the existing Academic Building areas were 

determined.

The FDOE (Florida Department of Education) recommends using a range of 78-100 GSF per student FTE. Using 

the existing academic GSF of 84,579 and the existing student FTE of 201, the resulting ratio is 420 GSF per 

student FTE. The projected student FTE for the balance of the �����master plan update were determined 

using this existing ratio of 420 GSF per student FTE. The campus ratio in the beginning year of the last master 

plan update was reported at 309 GSF/FTE.

The projected average student FTE over the �����master plan update is two hundred. Using the existing 

ratio 420 GSF per student FTE, the projected space needs at the end of the �����master plan update is 

approximately 84,000 GSF, a reduction of 579 GSF. The result of this calculation shows that based on the FTE 

projections from the DOE, no added FTE academic space is required over the next �����period unless FTE 

increases dramatically. 

However, FPSI also has a training curriculum in Career Technical Education which is not accounted for in DOE 

FTE records. Attendance projections would be severely skewed if one relied on FTE projections alone. FPSI’s total 

��������������������������

2018-2019 (291); 2019-2020 (411); 2020-2021 (198); 2021-2022 (390); 2022-2023 (405)

In addition to the above, the FPSI Campus houses the Florida Highway Patrol Training Academy which has 

approximately 100 trainees on campus at one time. It also houses a corrections facility and conducts continuing 

education training for law enforcement personnel. 

Therefore, it is readily evident that FPSI’s reach in educating and training law enforcement personnel far exceeds 

its FTE attendance statistics.

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



852024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

C I R C U L A T I O N  &  P A R K I N G  P R O J E C T I O N S

The pro jec ted  park ing  requ i rements  fo r  the  FPSI  campus are  de te rmined us ing 

the  Gadsden County  Zon ing  Ord inance fo r  park ing .  Gadsden County ’s  park ing 

requ i rements  a re  based on  space types  and employee head count  as  opposed to 

s tudent  FTE,  wh ich  a re  used in  bo th  SREF (S ta te  Requ i rements  fo r  Educat iona l 

Fac i l i t i es )  and  in  the  Ta l lahassee Land Deve lopment  Code.

Wi th  regard  to  Gadsden County  Zon ing  Ord inance park ing  requ i rements ,  each 

space type  i s  a l loca ted  a  spec i f i c  number  o f  park ing  spaces  based on  the  GSF o f 

the  fac i l i t y,  and  each  employee is  a l loca ted  a  park ing  space.  Due to  the  fac t  tha t 

the  requ i rements  a re  based on  ac tua l  bu i ld ing  space added to  the  campus and 

no t  annua l  g rowth ,  the  da ta  i s  p rov ided  fo r  the  f ina l  year  o f  the  cap i ta l  bu i ld  ou t 

p resented  here in .

In fo rmat ion  se t  fo r th  be low ind ica tes  tha t  approx imate ly  465  add i t iona l  park ing 

spaces  w i l l  be  requ i red  a t  bu i ld  ou t .

ADDITIONAL PARKING REQUIREMENTS YEAR 2025

GROUNDS / MAINTENANCE / RECEIVING F ACILITY

FUTURE BUILDING GSF CALCUL AT ION CRITERIA SP ACES
REQUIRED

HIGH SPEED DRIVING  TRACK & MOCK VILLAGE
EMERGENC Y HELICOPTER OPER ATIONS BASE
LEADERSHIP  INSTITUT E
YOUTH ENGAGEMEN T PAVILION
INDOOR FIRING RANGE
3 STORY FIRE TRAINING  TOWER
FIRE TRAINING BURN  TOWER
DRIVER  TRAINING CLASSROOM
FLEET MAINTENANCE BUILDIN G

AQUATIC CENTER

CLASSROOM BUILDING  B & P ARKING GARAGE
KITCHEN ADDITION / RENO VATION

HOUSING F ACILITY  ADDITION

FUTURE BUILDING PARKING SPACE REQUIREMENTS

11,567
57,720

24

1,200
4,000
11,000
2,000
6,000
4,000
3,000
5,000
5,000

66,818
18,000
1,000 10

112

20
205

8
4

48
4

12
0
0

16
2

465

14 CLASSROOMS
EXPAND FOOD PREP  AREA

1 SPACE PER 500 gsf

1 PER UNIT + 5 EMPLOYEES
7 SPACES PER CLASSROOM + 1 EMPLOYEE
1 PER EMPLOYEE
7 SPACES PER CLASSROOM + 1 EMPLOYEE
2 PER ACRE
NO STANDARD
NO STANDARD - INCLUDE IN CR B P ARKING
NO STANDARD - INCLUDE IN CR B P ARKING
7 SPACES PER CLASSROOM + 1 EMPLOYEE
1/3 RE PAIR BAYS + 1/250 sf OFFICE

1 SPACE PER 200 sf OF POO L AREA

7 SPACES PER CLASSROOM + 1 EMPLOYEE
1 SPACE PER 100 gsf

4000 sf OF POO L AREA
200 ROOMS
1 CLASSROOM
2 PILOTS, 2 EMT
6 CLASSROOMS
P0CKET P ARK
10 FIRING LINES

3 INSTRUCTURA L PLATFORMS
4 INSTRUCTURA L PLATFORMS

2 CLASSROOMS
AUTO MAINTENANCE B AYS

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



8 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

L A N D S C A P E  N A R RA T I V E

OVERVIEW & SUMMARY

The landscape nar ra t i ve  p rov ides  gu idance fo r  appropr ia te  t ree  spec ies  se lec t ion  and 

loca t iona l  c r i te r ia  fo r  the  ma in  campus.  I t  w i l l  work  in  concer t  w i th  the  Conceptua l 

Landscape Master  P lan  wh ich  p rov ides  a  phys ica l  con tex t  sugges t ing  where  t rees  may 

be  loca ted  on  campus.  The in ten t  o f  the  master  p lan  and t ree  pa le t te  i s  to  bu i ld  upon the 

ex is t ing  cond i t ions  o f  the  campus.

The spec ies  and  p lacement  o f  t rees  w i l l  bu i ld  upon the  ex is t ing  landscape to  fu r ther  the 

theme o f  a  un i f ied  f ramework  across  the  campus.  The Landscape Master  P lan  re f lec ts 

ex is t ing  cond i t ions  inc lud ing  quads ,  g reens ,  c i rcu la t ion  pa ths  and  s to rmwater  fac i l i t i es . 

Natura l  a reas  cover  most  o f  the  s i te  wh ich  inc lude  la rge  swaths  o f  undeve lopab le  land 

due to  wet lands  and na tu ra l  fea tu res .  Based upon th is  f ramework ,  des ign  cons is tency 

and v isua l  cohes ion  w i l l  be  ach ieved th rough prac t i ca l  des ign  so lu t ions  tha t  a re 

ma in tenance f r iend ly.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

The campus is  loca ted  on  the  la rges t  p roper ty  o f  a l l  TSC campuses .  However,  mos t 

o f  the  p roper ty  i s  undeve loped fo res t .  The  nor thern  boundary  i s  bordered  by  H ighway 

90  and the  sou thern  boundary  i s  bordered  by  In te rs ta te  10 .  Bo th  the  eas t  and  wes t 

boundar ies  a re  bordered  by  undeve loped fo res t .  Bu i ld ings ,  park ing  lo ts ,  s t ree ts ,  quads , 

hous ing ,  and  open space make up  the  campus.  A l im i ted  number  o f  t rees  a re  p lan ted  on 

s i te ,  and  i t  i s  mos t ly  lawn o ther  than  the  park ing  lo ts .

To  the  wes t  o f  the  campus are  a  cor rec t iona l  fac i l i t y,  d r i v ing  range,  exp los ion  range and 

a  f i r ing  range.  These areas  w i l l  no t  rece ive  t rees  due to  the i r  uses .

To  the  fa r  sou th  near  I -10  i s  a  h igh-speed dr iv ing  t rack  under  deve lopment .

INVASIVE EXOTIC PLANT REMOVAL

Invas ive  exo t i c  p lan ts  may be  found th roughout  the  na tu ra l  a reas  on  the  p roper ty 

and  ad jacent  to  i t .  Remova l  o f  invas ive  and  exo t i c  p lan t  spec ies  shou ld  be  conduc ted 

to  a l low the  es tab l i shment  o f  na t i ve  spec ies  and  reduce spread on to  the  deve loped 

por t ions  and  w i th in  na tu ra l  a reas .  Iden t i f i ca t ion  and  remova l  o f  invas ive  spec ies  w i l l  be 

conduc ted  in  accordance w i th  the  gu idance pub l i shed by  the  F lo r ida  Invas ive  Spec ies 

Counc i l .

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



872024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

TREE SPECIES SELECTION

A s t rong  emphas is  i s  p laced upon the  use  o f  na t i ve  spec ies .  The  p lan t ing  o f 

monocu l tu re  communi t ies  i s  no t  a l lowed to  ensure  res i l i ence  aga ins t  d isease  or 

in fes ta t ion .  A l i s t  o f  approved t ree  spec ies  i s  inc luded here in  bu t  i s  no t  a l l  i nc lus ive 

and  no t  meant  to  be  the  on ly  spec ies  a l lowed.  Spec ies  p roposed wh ich  a re  no t 

on  the  l i s t  sha l l  be  rev iewed and approved by  TSC.  Cons idera t ion  w i l l  be  g iven 

to  eco log ica l ,  economic ,  and  aes the t i c  des i res  ba lanced w i th  cur ren t l y  ava i lab le 

nursery  s tock  w i th in  the  reg ion .

TREE PLACEMENT

Areas  o f  h igh  v is ib i l i t y  and  impor tance  requ i re  a  fo rma l  and  cons is ten t  layou t  o f 

t rees  whereas  a reas  o f  pass ive  use  p rov ide  space fo r  a  more  na tu ra l  a r rangement 

o f  t rees  to  mimic  compl imentary  a reas  w i th in  and  ad jacent  to  the  campus. 

Eco log ica l l y  sens i t i ve  a reas  may ex is t  in  the  undeve loped por t ion  o f  the  p roper ty 

and  shou ld  be  assessed as  the  campus cons iders  fu tu re  expans ion  in to  th is 

a rea .  A lways  use  the  r igh t  p lan t  fo r  the  r igh t  p lace .  Fo l low ing  a re  descr ip t ions  o f 

t rea tments  to  the  ex is t ing  spaces  on  campus:

1 .  Streetscapes:  Academy Dr ive  and Co l lege  Dr ive  car ry  in to  campus and are 

s t ree ts  wh ich  cou ld  rece ive  s t ree tscape p lan t ing .  To  c rea te  an  enhanced ar r i va l 

and  depar tu re  exper ience ,  these  cor r idors  shou ld  be  p lan ted  w i th  canopy  t rees 

a t  a  spac ing  in te rva l  o f  25  to  50  fee t  on  cen te r.  Canopy  spec ies  shou ld  be  used 

tha t  na tu ra l l y  l imb up  a t  matur i t y  to  a l low an  open unders to ry  to  a l low passage o f 

veh ic les  w i thou t  con f l i c t  wh i le  p rov id ing  shade a long  the  rou te  and  v iews ou tward 

f rom the  cor r idor  ac ross  the  campus.  Offse t  t rees  f rom the  edge o f  t rave l  lanes  w i th 

cons idera t ion  o f  what  veh ic les  may need ver t i ca l  and  hor izon ta l  c learance .

2 .  Open Space:  These areas  a re  compr ised  o f  expans ive  lawns  tha t  inc lude 

pedes t r ian  pa ths  and  canopy  t rees .  Bu i ld ings  and roadways  fu r ther  de f ine  the 

edges  o f  these  spaces .  C lear  s igh t  l i nes  shou ld  be  c rea ted  in to  and  ou t  o f  these 

open spaces  th roughout  the  campus.  The loca t ion  o f  t rees  shou ld  cons ider  so la r 

o r ien ta t ion  to  bes t  p rov ide  shade a t  appropr ia te  t imes  o f  day  in  re la t ion  to  sea t ing 

a reas .

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



8 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

3.  Quadrangles:  The  F lo r ida  H ighway Pat ro l  Tra in ing  Academy and the  F lo r ida  Pub l i c 

Sa fe ty  Ins t i tu te  a long  w i th  the  fu tu re  Aquat ic  Tra in ing  Fac i l i t y  and c lassroom bu i ld ing 

w i l l  c rea te  a  s t rong  quadrang le  w i th  mu l t ip le  wa lk ing  pa ths  th roughout .  Add ing  t rees 

in  a  fo rma l  pa t te rn  w i l l  s t reng then the  fo rma l i t y  o f  the  space and prov ide  much needed 

shade.

4 .  Bui ld ings:  Avo id  p lan t ing  too  c lose  to  bu i ld ings  fo r  fu tu re  ma in tenance 

cons idera t ions .  Respec t  s igh t  l i nes  f rom w i th in  and  to  bu i ld ings .

5 .  Park ing Lots:  P lace  t rees  ad jacent  to  and  w i th in  park ing  lo ts  wh ich  p rov ide  shade 

and a id  in  reduc t ion  o f  the  u rban heat  i s land  e f fec t .  Avo id  spec ies  known to  d rop  leaves 

o r  b looms wh ich  may s ta in  cars  o r  cause  ma in tenance issues  to  ad jacent  pavement . 

Ensure  p roper  p lan t ing  space is  p rov ided  fo r  roo ts  o f  t rees  to  a l low hea l thy  g rowth  and 

avo id  damage to  pavement  a reas  f rom roo ts .  Cons ider  the  use  o f  roo t  bar r ie rs  where 

p lan t ing  a reas  a re  con f ined .

6 .  Stormwater  Faci l i t ies:  P lan t  to  rec rea te  na tu ra l  a r rangements  o f  t rees  to  the  ex ten t 

p roper  ma in tenance and access  can  be  p rov ided .  Loca te  p lan t ings  to  avo id  fac i l i t i es 

be ing  eyesores  to  the  pub l i c .  Rather,  they  can  become an  amen i ty  w i th in  the  s i te .

7 .  Light ing:  Trees  sha l l  be  loca ted  to  avo id  con f l i c ts  w i th  pedes t r ian  and  veh icu la r  use 

a rea  l igh t ing  inc lud ing  bu t  no t  l im i ted  to  wa lk ing  pa ths ,  w i th in  park ing  lo ts ,  ad jacent  to 

bu i ld ings ,  e tc .  Cons idera t ion  must  be  g iven  no t  on ly  to  the  t rees  a t  the  t ime o f  p lan t ing 

bu t  a lso  in  accordance w i th  what  the  mature  s ize  o f  the  t ree  w i l l  be  in  years  to  come.

8 .  Ut i l i t ies:  P rov ide  coord ina t ion  w i th  p roposed and ex is t ing  u t i l i t i es  –  above and 

be low ground.  Cons ider  the  mature  s ize  o f  roo ts  and  canop ies  o f  t rees  to  avo id  fu tu re 

con f l i c t .  Trees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  ten  (10)  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom underground 

u t i l i t i es .  When w i th in  ten  (10)  fee t ,  roo t  bar r ie rs  shou ld  be  p laced d i rec t l y  ad jacent  to 

underground u t i l i t i es  th rough c lose  coord ina t ion  w i th  u t i l i t y  p rov iders .  Canopy  t rees 

shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  th i r t y  (30)  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom overhead u t i l i t i es .  Wi th in 

th i r t y  (30)  fee t ,  unders to ry  t rees  tha t  reach  a  mature  he igh t  o f  no  more  than  f i f teen  (15) 

fee t  shou ld  be  used.

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



892024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

9.  Pavement :  Trees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  f i ve  (5 )  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom 

edges  o f  pavement  where  poss ib le .  When w i th in  f i ve  (5 )  fee t ,  roo t  bar r ie rs  shou ld 

be  p laced d i rec t l y  ad jacent  to  pavement .

CRIME PREVENTION THROUGH ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN (CPTED)

CPTED pr inc ip les  must  be  met  when cons ider ing  t ree  se lec t ion  and  p lacement . 

The  f i ve  p r inc ip les  inc lude  na tu ra l  surve i l lance ,  na tu ra l  access  con t ro l ,  te r r i to r ia l 

re in fo rcement ,  ac t i v i t y  suppor t  and  ma in tenance.  Fo l low ing  a re  descr ip t ions  o f  each 

p r inc ip le  to  cons ider  in  re la t ion  to  t rees :

1.  NATURAL SURVEILLANCE –  The in tended users  can  observe  the  p roper ty. 

E f fec t i ve  l igh t ing  o f  a  p roper ty  i s  an  example  o f  na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

2.  NATURAL ACCESS CONTROL –  Cont ro l l i ng  and  reduc ing  the  number  o f  access 

po in ts  to  a  p roper ty.  Gated  communi t ies  a re  an  example  o f  access  con t ro l .

3.  TERRITORIAL REINFORCEMENT –  Creat ing  a  c lear  de l inea t ion  o f  space  and 

separa t ing  your  space  f rom non- leg i t imate  users .

4.  ACTIVITY SUPPORT –  Plac ing  ac t i v i t y  where  ind iv idua ls  become par t  o f  the 

na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

5.  MAINTENANCE –  Regu la r l y  schedu led  ma in tenance rou t ine  w i l l  ensure  the 

p roper ty  demonst ra tes  te r r i to r ia l i t y  and  na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

MAINTENANCE,  OPERATIONS,  & EMERGENCY VEHICLES

Maintenance is  an in tegra l  considerat ion in  the  development  of  the  campus. 

As p lant  mater ia l  is  se lected and located,  coordinat ion shal l  occur  wi th 

maintenance staf f  to  ensure  a  p lan which they can mainta in  in  perpetu i ty  in  a 

way that  meets  the  design v is ion.  Tree  p lant ing locat ions must  consider  the 

specia l  needs of  serv ice  operat ions,  large  t ruck de l iver ies  and emergency 

vehic les .  Tree  se lect ion shal l  a lso  consider  i r r igat ion needs and st r ive  to 

achieve xer iscape where  possib le  to  he lp  reduce water  use.

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



9 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

CANOPY TREES CANOPY TREES UNDERSTORY TREES PALMS

NUTTALL OAK

SWAMP CHESTNUT
SHUMARD OAK

WILLOW OAK

RIVER BIRCH

RED MAPLE
BLACK GUM

FLORIDA ELM

REDBAY

WATER HICKORY
LOBLOLLY BAY

AMERICAN BEECH

TULIP POPLAR

AMERICAN HOLLY

EASTERN RED CEDAR
SYCAMORE

EASTERN PALATKA HOLLY

POND CYPRESS

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA
BALD CYPRESS

EASTERN REDBUD SABAL PALM

DAHOON HOLLY

YAUPON HOLLY
WAX MYRTLE

SWEETBAY MAGNOLIA
DOWNY SERVICEBERRY
FRINGETREE

LONGLEAF PINE

PIGNUT HICKORY

AMERICAN HORNBEAM
PERSIMMON

N A T I V E  T R E E  S P E C I ES

CANOPY TREES CANOPY TREES UNDERSTORY TREES PALMS

N O N - N A T I V E  T R E E  S P E C I ES

LOBLOLLY PINE
SLASH PINE SAUCER MAGNOLIA

CRAPE MYRTLE [SPP.]

STAR MAGNOLIA

WASHINGTON PALM

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



912024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

S U M M A R Y

Flor ida ’s  s ign i f i can t  popu la t ion  g rowth  in  recent  years  impac ts  the  number  o f  pub l i c 

serv ice  personne l  necessary  to  ensure  adequate  response to  emergenc ies .  In  2022, 

F lo r ida  was  recogn ized  as  the  fas tes t  g rowing  s ta te  in  Amer ica  w i th  a  popu la t ion 

o f  22 ,247,251,  an  inc rease  o f  1 .9% f rom 2021 to  2022.  Th is  g rowth  equates  to 

955  res iden ts  mov ing  to  F lo r ida  each  day.  Accord ing  to  the  Off i ce  o f  Economic 

and  Demograph ic  Research ,  the  s ta te  w i l l  add  another  317 ,000 res iden ts  in  2023. 

Whi le  F lo r ida ’s  popu la t ion  con t inues  to  g row,  there  con t inues  to  be  a  t rend  toward 

h igh  ra tes  o f  pub l i c  sa fe ty  personne l  re t i r ing  o r  leav ing  the  p ro fess ion  due to 

oppor tun i t ies  deve lop ing  in  the  p r i va te  sec to r. 

Ret i rement  and  h i r ing  t rends  o f  loca l  law en fo rcement  agenc ies  have  an 

exponent ia l  impac t  on  course  par t i c ipa t ion  and  fac i l i t y  usage a t  FPSI .  In  a  recent 

s tudy  compi led  by  the  Po l i ce  Execut ive  Research  Forum,  on  a  na t iona l  leve l , 

c r im ina l  jus t i ce  agenc ies  repor ted  h i r ing  more  sworn  o f f i ce rs  in  2022 than  in  2021, 

2020,  o r  2019.  Whi le  th is  sounds  p romis ing ,  agenc ies  a re  a lso  los ing  o f f i ce rs 

fas te r  than  they  can  h i re  new ones ,  so  s ta f f ing  leve ls  o f  sworn  members  con t inue 

to  dec l ine .  Notab ly,  res igna t ions  a re  s t i l l  i nc reas ing  w i th  50% o f  the  agenc ies 

par t i c ipa t ing  in  the  s tudy  exper ienc ing  50% more  res igna t ions  in  2022 than  2019. 

There  was  a  t rend  tha t  sugges ted  re t i rements  have  inc reased,  however,  in  2022 

there  was  an  equ i l ib r ium in  the  t rend .  Ret i rement  numbers  a re  s t i l l  h igher  than  p re-

pandemic  numbers  in  2019,  bu t  incen t ives  may be  a f fec t ing  th is  s tab i l i za t ion .  Whi le 

res igna t ions  r i se  and  re t i rements  con t inue  to  a f fec t  s ta f f ing ,  agenc ies  a lso  no ted 

s ign i f i can t  a  d rop  in  the  number  o f  app l i ca t ions  rece ived  fo r  open o f f i ce r  pos i t ions 

on  a  na t iona l  leve l . 

Wh i le  these  s ta t i s t i cs  may pa in t  a  b leak  p ic tu re  fo r  po l i c ing  on  a  na t iona l  leve l , 

F lo r ida  has  imp lemented  severa l  s t rong  in i t ia t i ves  to  he lp  inc rease  the  app l i can t 

poo l  o f  bo th  new o f f i ce rs  and  exper ienced o f f i ce rs  f rom o ther  s ta tes .  Notab ly,  in 

2021,  the  F lo r ida  Leg is la tu re  passed,  and  Governor  Ron DeSant is  s igned a  b i l l 

tha t  inc reased the  base  sa la r ies  o f  s ta te  law en fo rcement  to  $52 ,500 to  be  more 

compet i t i ve  w i th  the  r i s ing  sa la r ies  in  loca l  law en fo rcement  agenc ies  and  in  the 

p r i va te  sec to r.  Add i t iona l l y,  w i th  the  Governor ’s  s ign ing  o f  House B i l l  3  fo l low ing 

the  2022 F lo r ida  Leg is la t i ve  Sess ion ,  the  F lo r ida  Law Enforcement  Recru i tment 

Bonus  Payment  Program was c rea ted .  The program a ims to  a id  in  the  rec ru i tment 

o f  law en fo rcement  o f f i ce rs  w i th in  the  s ta te  and  a t t rac t  ou t -o f -s ta te  o f f i ce rs  to 

F lo r ida .  The  program admin is te rs  one- t ime bonus  payments  o f  $5 ,000 a f te r  taxes  to 

each  e l ig ib le  newly  employed o f f i ce r  w i th in  the  s ta te .

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



9 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

•    A person  who ga ins  o r  i s  appo in ted  to  fu l l - t ime employment  as  a  cer t i f i ed  law 

en fo rcement  o f f i ce r  w i th  a  F lo r ida  c r im ina l  jus t i ce  agency  on  o r  a f te r  Ju ly  1 ,  2022 and 

has  never  p rev ious ly  been employed as  a  law en fo rcement  o f f i ce r  in  the  s ta te . 

•    Ma in ta in  con t inuous  fu l l - t ime employment  w i th  a  F lo r ida  law en fo rcement  agency  fo r 

a t  leas t  two  consecut ive  years .  The  requ i red  two-year  employment  per iod  a t  one  o r  more 

F lo r ida  law en fo rcement  agenc ies ,  bu t  such  a  per iod  must  no t  con ta in  any  b reak  longer 

than  15  ca lendar  days .

The bonus  payment  i s  taxab le  income;  there fo re ,  each  bonus  payment  made by  the 

F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Economic  Oppor tun i ty  to  newly  employed o f f i ce rs  was  funded a t 

the  g ross  amount  o f  $6 ,694,  wh ich  inc ludes  $1 ,694 fo r  the  payment  o f  taxes .  In  a  June 

26 ,  2023,  p ress  re lease ,  Governor  DeSant is  announced tha t  F lo r ida  has  i ssued more 

than  2 ,265  bonuses  in  one  year,  and  tha t  s ince  incep t ion ,  the  to ta l  amount  awarded 

is  near ly  $15  mi l l i on .  Th is  p rogram has  p roven success fu l  in  a t t rac t ing  exper ienced 

law en fo rcement  p ro fess iona ls ,  bu t  there  i s  a lso  some ind ica t ion  tha t  F lo r ida ’s  p ro - law 

en fo rcement  c l imate  i s  a lso  in f luenc ing  th is  sh i f t . 

F lo r ida  has  a lso  es tab l i shed the  Hometown Heroes  p rogram to  he lp  law en fo rcement 

o f f i ce rs ,  f i re f igh te rs ,  m i l i ta ry  ve te rans  and ac t i ve -du ty  mi l i ta ry  personne l  to  purchase 

the i r  f i r s t  home in  the  communi t ies  they  serve .  The program prov ides  down payment  and 

c los ing  cos t  ass is tance  to  e l ig ib le  homebuyers  who are  purchas ing  a  home fo r  the  f i r s t 

t ime or  buyers  who have  moved to  F lo r ida  and  are  purchas ing  the i r  f i r s t  home in  the 

s ta te .  A l l  o f  these  p rograms have  the  po ten t ia l  to  in f luence  a  cho ice  to  move to  F lo r ida 

and  to  choose a  f i r s t  responder  career. 

FPSI  o f fe rs  bas ic  rec ru i t  p rograms fo r  law en fo rcement ,  cor rec t ions ,  cor rec t iona l 

p roba t ion ,  and  f i re f igh te r.  In  the  las t  two  f i sca l  years ,  law en fo rcement  academy 

par t i c ipa t ion  has  s ign i f i can t l y  inc reased over  p re -pandemic  numbers  and  due to 

inc reased recru i tment  by  s ta te  and  loca l  agenc ies ,  FPSI  i s  add ing  an  add i t iona l  course 

to  meet  an  inc reas ing  demand fo r  ins t ruc t ion .  On average 75% o f  s tudents  a t tend ing  law 

en fo rcement  bas ic  rec ru i t  a re  sponsored  by  a  law en fo rcement  agency.  Whi le  the  las t 

f i ve  years  has  remained somewhat  s teady  fo r  cor rec t ions  bas ic  rec ru i t ,  a  loca l  sher i f f ’s 

o f f i ce  has  reques ted  an  add i t iona l  th ree  bas ic  cor rec t ions  course  fo r  the  cur ren t  f i sca l 

year,  as  such ,  the  s tudent  ra te  i s  an t i c ipa ted  to  a t  leas t  doub le  in  the  coming  year. 

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



932024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

Nat iona l l y,  c r im ina l  jus t i ce  agenc ies  acknowledge tha t  rec ru i tment  and  re ten t ion 

cha l lenges  a re  impac ted  by  on  ongo ing  concern  w i th  pub l i c  percep t ion  o f  law 

en fo rcement ,  changes  in  po l i ce  ro les  and  respons ib i l i t i es ,  and  a  sh i f t  i n  the  va lues 

and expec ta t ions  o f  a  younger  genera t ion  o f  law en fo rcement  o f f i ce rs .  S tud ies 

a lso  sugges t  tha t  a  s t rong  job  marke t  and  inc reas ing  op t ions  in  remote  work 

oppor tun i t ies  a re  in f luenc ing  the  cho ice  to  leave  po l i c ing .  Notab ly,  Army Secre ta ry 

Chr is t ine  Wormuth  descr ibed  a  shor t fa l l  i n  those  who are  choos ing  the  mi l i ta ry  as 

a  career,  she  s ta ted  “We’ re  compet ing  fo r  ta len t  jus t  l i ke  a l l  the  fo lks  in  indus t ry 

a re ,  and  the  job  marke t  i s  ho t  r igh t  now.  Wages  have  gone up  a  lo t ,  and  tha t ’s  g rea t 

fo r  Amer icans ,  bu t  i t ’s  mak ing  i t  harder  fo r  us  in  the  Army to  compete . ”  Due to  the 

parami l i ta ry  na tu re  o f  c r im ina l  jus t i ce ,  the  compar ison  o f  h i r ing  cha l lenges  to  the 

a rmed fo rces  i s  log ica l . 

FPSI  i s  suppor t ing  s ta te  and  loca l  law en fo rcement  by  work ing  co l labora t i ve ly  w i th 

communi ty  ou t reach  e f fo r ts  to  he lp  gu ide  a  more  pos i t i ve  impress ion  o f  c r im ina l 

jus t i ce  p ro fess iona ls .  The  focus  i s  no t  on ly  on  improv ing  percep t ions  o f  c r im ina l 

jus t i ce ,  bu t  how to  be  a  par t  o f  the  so lu t ion  by  cons ider ing  a  c r im ina l  jus t i ce  career. 

The  Ins t i tu te  i s  l i kewise  work ing  w i th  agency  par tners  to  iden t i f y  courses  and 

sub jec t  mat te r  tha t  may  in f luence  a  cho ice  to  s tay  in  the  p ro fess ion .  Th is  t rend 

emphas izes  the  need fo r  a  more  robus t  approach  to  con t inu ing  educat ion  and 

leadersh ip  deve lopment . 

FLORIDA PUBLIC  SAFETY INST ITUTE



TS
C 

W
ak

ul
la

 E
nv

ir
on

m
en

ta
l 

In
st

it
ut

e

3



952024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

INDEX

O V E R V I E W. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 6

C A M P U S  FA C I L I T I E S  C H A R T. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 8

W E I  E X I S T I N G  C A M P U S  A N D  F U T U R E  P R O J E C T S  M A P. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 9

F U T U R E  P R O J E C T S  N A R R AT I V E S . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 0 0

C A M P U S  A C T I V I T Y  Z O N E S  &  P U D  R E Q U I R E M E N T S . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 0 2

C A M P U S  A C T I V I T Y  Z O N E  M A P. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 0 6

W E I  S T O R M WAT E R  B AS I N  N A R R AT I V E . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 0 7

W E I  S T O R M WAT E R  B AS I N  M A P. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 0 8

E N V I R O N M E N TA L  I N I T I AT I V E S . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 0 9

W E I  P R O P E R T Y H O L D I N G S  M A P. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1 1

P R O J E C T E D  S PA C E  N E E D S . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1 2

P R O J E C T E D  PA R K I N G  R E Q U I R E M E N T S . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1 3

L A N D S C A P E  N A R R AT I V E . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1 4

S U M M A RY. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 2 0

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



9 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

OVERVIEW

Ta l lahassee Sta te  Co l lege  commiss ioned DAG Arch i tec ts ,  Inc .  to  p repare  a  Master  P lan , 

Land Use Amendment  and  PUD documenta t ion  fo r  the i r  new Waku l la  Env i ronmenta l 

Ins t i tu te  (WEI )  Campus loca ted  on  207 acres  jus t  sou th  o f  Crawfordv i l l e ,  F lo r ida .  The 

Master  P lan  team ana lyzed  and eva lua ted  the  p roper ty  fo r  the  p roposed campus in 

i t s  en t i re ty,  and  i t s  var ied  uses ,  needs  and env i ronment  to  unders tand  the  Ins t i tu te 

in  a  comprehens ive  manner.  The  Campus Master  P lan  addresses  the  genera l  o rder 

o f  the  campus and i t ’s  a rch i tec tu ra l  and  des ign  e lements ,  and  p rov ides  a  sys temat ic 

unders tand ing  o f  the  campus to  max imize  oppor tun i t ies  and  iden t i f y  cons t ra in ts .  I t s 

purpose  is  to  channe l ,  no t  d ic ta te ,  the  p red ic tab i l i t y  o f  change.  There fo re ,  the  goa l 

o f  the  Campus Master  P lan  i s  to  deve lop  a  conceptua l  f ramework  fo r  the  phys ica l 

deve lopment ,  g rowth  and enhancement  o f  the  campus tha t  iden t i f ies  shor t  te rm and long 

te rm ob jec t i ves  w i th  an  imp lementa t ion  ou t l ine . 

The  Vis ion  o f  the  Waku l la  Env i ronmenta l  Ins t i tu te  i s  to  make Waku l la  County  a  wor ld 

c lass  des t ina t ion  tha t  b r ings  toge ther  educat ion ,  conserva t ion  and  recrea t ion  in  a 

manner  tha t  s t imu la tes  economic  deve lopment  in  an  env i ronmenta l l y  respons ib le  way. 

(Source :  Waku l la  Env i ronmenta l  Webs i te ) 

The F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Educat ion  (FLDOE)  has  s tandards  and gu ide l ines  app l i cab le 

to  c lassrooms and academic  serv ices .  Work fo rce  deve lopment  and  t ra in ing  fac i l i t i es 

a re  no t  eas i l y  de f ined  by  FLDOE and WEI  cer ta in ly  t ranscends  the  t rad i t iona l  academic 

aspec t  o f  a  s ta te  co l lege ,  by  p rov id ing  exper ien t ia l  learn ing  oppor tun i t ies  fo r  work fo rce 

deve lopment .

Th is  aspec t  o f  WEI  i s  an  on-go ing  and expand ing  par t  o f  i t s  overa l l  m iss ion .  S ince 

many o f  the  t ra in ing  fac i l i t i es  may be  funded in  who le  o r  par t  by  sponsored  p rograms, 

Federa l  g ran ts ,  and  Res to re  Ac t  Fund ing ,  the  p rocess  and opera t ion  o f  expans ion  i s 

more  complex  and  en t repreneur ia l  than  in  a  t rad i t iona l  s ta te  co l lege  env i ronment .  I t 

i s  impor tan t  there fo re ,  tha t  the  Master  P lan  es tab l i shes  a  f ramework  tha t  can  read i l y 

adapt  to  change in  o rder  to  remain  respons ive  to  reg iona l  work fo rce  needs  such  as  the 

Prac t i ca l  Tra in ing  and Conference  Center  Areas . 

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



972024 TSC MASTER PLANNING WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE

The Ins t i tu te  w i l l  con t inue  to  o f fe r  env i ronmenta l l y  focused degrees ,  cer t i f i ca tes 

and  programs in  Env i ronmenta l  Sc ience  Techno logy,  Green Gu ide  Env i ronmenta l 

Educat ion ,  Oys te r  Aquacu l tu re ,  Sus ta inab le  Agr icu l tu re ,  and  Unmanned Techno logy 

(Drone)  App l i ca t ions .  In  add i t ion ,  in  response to  communi ty  need,  the  campus w i l l 

expand i t s  p rogrammat ic  o f fe r ings  to  inc lude  h igh-demand hea l th  sc ience  degrees 

and cer t i f i ca t ions .   Wi th  these  and fu tu re  t ra in ing  p rograms WEI  w i l l  educa te  the 

nex t  genera t ion  o f  Env i ronmenta l  and  Hea l th  Serv ice  Pro fess iona ls . 

The  Ins t i tu te  w i l l  o f fe r  env i ronmenta l l y  focused degrees ,  cer t i f i ca tes  and  programs 

in  Env i ronmenta l  Sc ience  Techno logy,  Green Gu ide  Env i ronmenta l  Educat ion , 

Oys te r  Aquacu l tu re ,  Sus ta inab le  Agr icu l tu re ,  and  Unmanned Techno logy  (Drone) 

App l i ca t ions .  Wi th  these  and fu tu re  t ra in ing  p rograms WEI  w i l l  educa te  the  nex t 

genera t ion  o f  Env i ronmenta l  Pro fess iona ls . 



9 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



W E I  L A N D  M A S S I N G  P L A N WA KU L L A  E N V I R O N M E N TA L  I N S T I T U T E 
L A N D  M A S S I N G  P L A N

N

9 92024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



1 0 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

FUTURE PROJECTS  NARRATIVES 

HEALTHCARE CLASSROOMS & LABS 

Bu i ld ing  number  two w i l l  be  des igned fo r  Ger ia t r i c  Nurs ing  and hea l th  care  acce le ra to r 

p rograms w i th  c lassrooms,  labs  and  suppor t  space  fo r  hea l thcare  educat ion .

AQUACULTURE & OYSTER FARMING LABS

In  bu i ld ing  number  th ree ,  there  w i l l  be  c lassrooms,  o f f i ce  space ,  and  labs  fo r 

aquacu l tu re  t ra in ing .  In  th is  bu i ld ing  we w i l l  have  a  fu l l - sca le  ha tchery  fo r  t ra in ing 

purposes  and a  ver t i ca l  fa rm a t r ium.  The ver t i ca l  fa rm a t r ium w i l l  be  used fo r 

demonst ra t ion  in  hydropon ics  and  she l l f i sh  nursery /ha tchery  t ra in ing ,  wh ich  i s 

despera te ly  needed by  loca l  aquacu l tu re  fa rmers .

AG SCIENCE,  FORESTRY/LAND MANAGEMENT,  UAV (DRONE)  LAB & MARINE ENGINE 

LAB

In  bu i ld ing  number  four,  there  w i l l  be  c lassrooms,  o f f i ce  space ,  an  indus t r ia l  k i t chen, 

an  indoor  d rone f l i gh t  opera t ions  lab ,  a  d rone manufac tu r ing  lab ,  and  a  mar ine  eng ine 

mechan ica l  lab .  The  indus t r ia l  k i t chen w i l l  be  used fo r  our  Agr icu l tu ra l  Sc ience 

p rogram fo r  t ra in ing  in  va lue  added produc ts  ( i .e . ,  cann ing ,  food  p rocess ing ,  pack ing 

and prepara t ion) .  The  indoor  d rone f l i gh t  opera t ions  lab  a l lows us  to  t ra in  s tudents 

in  inc lement  weather  and  a t  n igh t .  The  drone manufac tu r ing  lab  w i l l  a l low us  to  t ra in 

s tudents  on  manufac tu r ing  p rac t i ces ,  sys tems eng ineer ing ,  and  power  sys tems fo r  d rone 

techno log ies .  The  mar ine  eng ine  mechan ica l  lab  w i l l  benef i t  the  communi ty  by  t ra in ing 

s tudents  in  mar ine  eng ine  sys tems and repa i rs .

ECO TRAINING CENTER 

In  bu i ld ing  number  f i ve ,  there  w i l l  be  a  la rge  convent ion  cen te r,  con fe rence  rooms, 

c lassrooms,  and  o f f i ce  space .  Cur ren t l y,  in  Waku l la  County,  there  i s  no  space su i tab le 

fo r  hos t ing  la rge  events ,  so  th is  convent ion  cen te r  w i l l  fu l f i l l  tha t  need. 

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1012024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

FUTURE EDUCATIONAL FACILITY & CONFERENCE CENTER

Bui ld ing  number  s ix  w i l l  house  c lassrooms fo r  bo th  env i ronmenta l  and  hea l th  care 

s tud ies  sur round ing  a  la rge  con fe rence  ha l l .  I t  w i l  i nc lude  c lassrooms,  lec tu re  ha l l s , 

con fe rence  space,  o f f i ce  space ,  and  o ther  suppor t  amen i t ies . 

SMALL PLOT DEMONSTRATION FARM 

Th is  f i ve -acre  p lo t  i s  ded ica ted  to  exper ien t ia l  learn ing  in  sus ta inab le  and 

au tonomous agr icu l tu re  p rac t i ces .  Other  a reas  o f  focus  w i l l  be  so i l  conserva t ion , 

compost ing ,  aquapon ics ,  o rchard  management ,  in tegra ted  pes t  and  d isease 

management ,  and  hor t i cu l tu re .

FUTURE STORAGE BUILDING

Bui ld ing  number  ten  w i l l  be  used to  s to re  agr icu l tu re  equ ipment ,  imp lements ,  and 

supp l ies .

BAT HOUSE 

Bu i ld ing  number  twe lve  w i l l  be  a  ba t  house used to  co l lec t  and  p rov ide  guano, 

a  p remiere  na tu ra l  fe r t i l i ze r,  to  our  demonst ra t ion  fa rm.  A t t rac t ing  ba ts  w i l l  be  a 

na tu ra l  fo rm o f  pes t  management  wh ich  w i l l  reduce  the  need fo r  pes t i c ides .

PRACTICAL ECO TRAINING AREA 

In  th is  a rea  we have  reserved  land  fo r  fu tu re  sus ta inab le  manufac tu r ing  and  o ther 

env i ronmenta l  t ra in ing  app l i ca t ions . 

ECO DISPLAYS,  OVERLOOKS AND GAZEBOS 

In  a rea  s ix teen ,  there  w i l l  be  boardwa lks ,  gazebos ,  and  over looks  to  s tudy  F lo r ida 

ecosys tems.  Th is  a rea  i s  in tended to  have  an  except iona l l y  l i gh t  foo tp r in t  and  used 

fo r  t ra in ing  in  na tu ra l  F lo r ida  hab i ta ts .

SOLAR ARRAYS 

WEI p lans  to  be  a  ne t -zero  campus,  p rov id ing  a l l  our  power  needs  th rough 

sus ta inab le ,  renewab le  energy.

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1 0 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

CAMPUS ACT IV ITY  ZONES & PUD REQUIREMENTS 

The WEI  campus is  d iv ided  in to  four  separa te  ac t i v i t y  zones  in  compl iance  w i th 

the  in i t ia l  County  approved P lanned Un i t  Deve lopment  (PUD)  spec i f i ca t ions .  The 

Conserva t ion  a rea ,  C lassroom and Admin is t ra t ion  a rea ,  the  Conference  Center  a rea ,  and 

the  Prac t i ca l  Tra in ing  a rea .  Recent ly  two add i t iona l  parce ls  o f  land  have  been added 

wh ich  w i l l  ex tend  the  a reas  o f  the  Conserva t ion  and  Prac t i ca l  Tra in ing  a reas .  These 

add i t ions  w i l l  requ i re  an  update  to  the  PUD spec i f i ca t ions  w i th  Waku l la  County.

THE CONSERVATION AREA

The Conserva t ion  Area  i s  loca ted  a t  the  ex t reme nor thern  por t ion  o f  the  WEI  p roper ty. 

I t  i nc ludes  recent ly  purchased proper ty  wh ich  inc reased i t s  a rea  f rom 36 .71  to  69 .5 

acres .  In  add i t ion  to  the  a rea  inc luded above a  twenty - f i ve ’ per imeter  bu f fe r  a round 

the  en t i re  s i te  and  a  seventy - f i ve ’ w ide  bu f fe r  a round a l l  s inks  on  the  s i te  a re  inc luded 

as  conserva t ion  a rea .  The in ten t  fo r  th is  a rea  i s  to  p rov ide  fo r  the  p ro tec t ion  o f  a l l 

we t lands ,  s inkho le  lakes ,  Gum swamps and assoc ia ted  bu f fe rs .  I t  i s  in tended tha t  these 

a reas  be  conserved  w i th  min ima l  d is tu rbance and cons t ruc t ion .

A .  Pr inc ipa l  uses  a l lowed in  th is  a rea  inc lude ,  bu t  a re  no t  necessar i l y  l im i ted  to ,  the 

fo l low ing :

•  Bu f fe r ing  o f  env i ronmenta l l y  sens i t i ve  a reas

•  Pass ive  rec rea t ion  inc lud ing  bu t  no t  l im i ted  to  t ra i l s ,  boardwa lks ,  and  over looks .

•  Outdoor  educat ion  ( inc lud ing  demonst ra t ion  p ro jec ts )

•  Managed hab i ta t  fo r  th rea tened or  endangered  spec ies

•  S to rmwater  ou t fa l l s

 B .  Proh ib i ted  Uses

•  Commerc ia l  opera t ions

•  Commerc ia l  opera t ions

•  Res iden t ia l

•  Indus t r ia l

•  Roadways

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1032024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

C.  Deve lopment  S tandards

•  The Conserva t ion  Area  sha l l  be  kep t  in  i t s  “na tu ra l  s ta te ”  wh ich  means  tha t  there 

w i l l  be  no  d is tu rbances  except  fo r  remova l  o f  na t i ve  vegeta t ion  less  than  2 ”  BDH, 

exo t i c  p lan ts ,  nox ious  p lan ts ,  downed t rees ,  p lan ted  p ines ,  b r ia rs ,  kudzu ,  e tc .

•  Pass ive  rec rea t ion  fac i l i t i es  may be  cons t ruc ted  and sha l l  m in im ize  wet land 

impac ts  by  us ing  bes t  management  p rac t i ces .

•  S to rmwater  ou t fa l l s  a re  a l lowed and sha l l  be  cons t ruc ted  us ing  bes t  management 

p rac t i ces  to  p rec lude  eros ion .

•  Other  pass ive  rec rea t ion  fac i l i t i es  (p icn ic  she l te rs ,  over looks)  may be  cons t ruc ted 

in  in  bu f fe r  (up land)  a reas .

•  In te rp re t i ve  s igns  a re  encouraged to  enhance educat ion .

•  Innova t ive  in f ras t ruc tu re  fac i l i t i es  fo r  env i ronmenta l  research  and educat ion .

THE CLASSROOM AND ADMINISTRATION AREA 

 

The  C lassroom and Admin is t ra t ion  a rea  i s  in  the  sou th -cen t ra l  por t ion  o f  the  s i te 

and  con ta ins  approx imate ly  51 .2  acres .  The  in ten t  i s  fo r  th is  a rea  to  p rov ide  fo r 

c lassrooms,  labora to r ies ,  and  admin is t ra t i ve  space  cons is ten t  w i th  the  educat iona l 

m iss ion  o f  WEI  and  TSC.  

A .  Pr inc ipa l  Uses  in  th is  a rea  inc lude ,  bu t  a re  no t  necessar i l y  l im i ted  to ,  the 

fo l low ing :

•  C lassroom bu i ld ings

•  Admin is t ra t ion  bu i ld ings

•  Cafe te r ia

•  Book /schoo l  supp ly  s to re

•  Computer  labora to ry

•  Research /Tra in ing  labora to ry

•  Copy /p r in t ing  shop

•  Other  suppor ted  re ta i l  ac t i v i t ies

•  Sus ta inab le  l i v ing  labora to ry

•  In f ras t ruc tu re  Suppor t  fac i l i t i es

B  Proh ib i ted  Uses

•  Commerc ia l  (o ther  than  descr ibed  above)

•  Indus t r ia l  (o ther  than  demonst ra t ion  p ro jec ts )

C  Deve lopment  S tandards

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1 0 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

•  M in imum Bu i ld ing  Setbacks  f rom proper ty  l i nes

   F ron t  Se tback  –  100  fee t

   S ide  Setback  –  100  fee t

   Rear  se tback  –  100  fee t

•  Max imum bu i ld ing  Res t r i c t ions

   Coverage –  60%

   He igh t  –  75  fee t

   Dens i ty  –  N/A

THE CONFERENCE CENTER AREA

The Conference  Center  a rea  i s  loca ted . in  the  nor th -cen t ra l  por t ion  o f  the  s i te  and 

con ta ins  approx imate ly  36 .4  acres .  The  in ten t  i s  fo r  th is  a rea  to  p rov ide  fo r  con fe rences 

and seminars  re la t ing  to  the  Ins t i tu tes  rec rea t ion  and  educat iona l  ac t i v i t ies .

A .  Pr inc ipa l  Uses  in  th is  a rea  inc lude ,  bu t  a re  no t  necessar i l y  l im i ted  to ,  the  fo l low ing :

•  Hosp i ta l i t y  t ra in ing

•  Recrea t ion  t ra in ing

•  Hote l

•  Hote l  Opera t ions  t ra in ing

•  Ea t ing  and  Dr ink ing  Es tab l i sh ing

•  Ac t i ve  and  Pass ive  rec rea t ion

•  In f ras t ruc tu re  Suppor t  fac i l i t i es

B  Proh ib i ted  Uses

•  Commerc ia l  (o ther  than  descr ibed  above)

•  Indus t r ia l  (o ther  than  fo r  demonst ra t ion  purposes)

C  Deve lopment  S tandards

•  Min imum Bu i ld ing  Setbacks  f rom proper ty  l i nes

   F ron t  Se tback  –  100  fee t

   S ide  Setback  –  100  fee t

   Rear  se tback  –  100  fee t

•  Max imum bu i ld ing  Res t r i c t ions

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1 0 52024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

   Coverage –  60%

   He igh t  –  75  fee t

   Dens i ty  –  N/A

THE PRACTICAL TRAINING AREA 

The  Prac t i ca l  Tra in ing  a rea  i s  loca ted  a t  the  sou thernmost  par t  o f  the  s i te  and  con ta ins 

approx imate ly  36 .5  acres .  Th is  a rea  w i l l  p rov ide  p rac t i ca l  hands-on  t ra in ing .

A Pr inc ipa l  Uses  in  th is  a rea  inc lude ,  bu t  a re  no t  necessar i l y  l im i ted  to ,  the  fo l low ing :

•  F ixed  Equ ipment  t ra in ing

•  Mob i le  Equ ipment  t ra in ing

•  Equ ipment  S to rage and Stag ing

•  Research  and/or  Tra in ing  labora to r ies .

•  Var ious  hands-on  t ra in ing  fac i l i t i es

•  In f ras t ruc tu re  Suppor t  fac i l i t i es

B  Proh ib i ted  Uses

•  Commerc ia l  (o ther  than  descr ibed  above)

•  Indus t r ia l  (o ther  than  fo r  demonst ra t ion  purposes)

C Deve lopment  S tandards

•  Min imum Bu i ld ing  Setbacks  f rom proper ty  l i nes

   F ron t  Se tback  –  100  fee t

   S ide  Setback  –  100  fee t

   Rear  se tback  –  100  fee t

•  Max imum bu i ld ing  Res t r i c t ions

   Coverage –  60%

   He igh t  –  75  fee t

   Dens i ty  –  N/A

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



PRACTICAL
TRAINING

AREA
36.5 AC +/-

CLASSROOM &
ADMINISTRATION AREA

51.2 AC +/-

CONFERENCE AREA
36.4 AC +/-

CONSERVATION AREA
84.3 AC +/-

NEW PARCEL
ADDED

N
EW

 P
A

R
C

EL A
D

D
ED

RILEY DRIVE

W E I  C A M P U S  A C T I V I T Y  Z O N E  M A P WA KU L L A  E N V I R O N M E N TA L  I N S T I T U T E 
C A M P U S  A C T I V I T Y  Z O N E  M A P

N

1 0 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



1072024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

WEI  STORMWATER BASIN  NARRATIVE

 FUTURE STORMWATER BASIN 1

Th is  fu tu re  s to rmwater  Bas in  as  shown hereon w i l l  co l lec t  s to rmwater  f low v ia 

over land  f low and p ip ing  to  a  b io  in f i l t ra t ion  swa le  to  Pond 1 .  Fu tu re  Bas in  1 ’s 

p r imary  serv ice  a rea  w i l l  be  the  ex is t ing  Mu l t i -purpose  Bu i ld ing ,  fu tu re  C lassroom 

and Lab Bu i ld ings  2 ,  3  and  4  and  o ther  assoc ia ted  imperv ious  a reas .

FUTURE STORMWATER BASIN 2

Th is  fu tu re  s to rmwater  Bas in  as  shown hereon w i l l  co l lec t  s to rmwater  f low v ia 

over land  f low and p ip ing  to  a  b io  in f i l t ra t ion  swa le  to  Pond 2 .  Bas in  2 ’s  p r imary 

serv ice  a rea  w i l l  i nc lude  the  Eco Tra in ing  Center  and  the  Eco Tour ism Hosp i ta l i t y 

Tra in ing  Center  bu i ld ings  5  and  6  respec t i ve ly.

FUTURE STORMWATER BASIN 3

Min ima l  imperv ious  a rea  i s  expec ted  to  be  cons t ruc ted  in  th is  a rea  se t  as ide  fo r 

p rac t i ca l  t ra in ing .  There fo re ,  i t  i s  an t i c ipa ted  the  s to rmwater  management  w i l l  be 

hand led  by  g rasses  swa les  o r  smal l  ponds  ad jacent  to  the  imperv ious  a rea  c rea ted .

NATURAL AREA

Min ima l  o r  no  imperv ious  a reas  w i l l  be  a l lowed in  the  na tu ra l  p reserve  a rea .

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



RILEY DRIVE

FUTURE STORMWATER BASIN 1
This future storm water Basin as shown hereon will collect storm water flow via overland flow and piping to a 
bio infiltration swale to Pond 1. Future Basin 1's primary service area will be the existing Multi-purpose 
Building, future Classroom and Lab Buildings 2, 3 and 4 and other associated impervious areas.

FUTURE STORMWATER BASIN 2
This future storm water Basin as shown hereon will collect storm water flow via overland flow and piping to a 
bio infiltration swale to Pond 2. Basin 2's primary service area will include the Eco Training Center and the 
ECO Tourism Hospitality Training Center buildings five and six respectively.

FUTURE STORMWATER BASIN 3
Minimal impervious area is expected to be constructed in this area set aside for practical training. Therefore 
it is anticipated that stormwater management will be handled by grassed swales or small ponds adjacent to 
the impervious area created.

NATURAL AREA
Minimal or no impervious areas will be allowed in the natural preserve area.

NATURAL AREA

BASIN 3
 

BASIN 1

POND 1

BASIN 2
 

STORMWATER THIS AREA
TO BE HANDLED BY
GRASSED SWALES

POND
    2

W E I  C A M P U S  S T O R M WA T E R  B A S I N S  &  P O N D S WA KU L L A  E N V I R O N M E N TA L  I N S T I T U T E 
C A M P U S  S T O R M WA T E R  B A S I N S  &  P O N D S

N

1 0 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



1092024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

ENVIRONMENTAL  IN IT IAT IVES 

SUSTAINABLE CAMPUS DESIGN

With  our  land  management  t ra in ing ,  the  WEI  campus is  des igned to  have  annua l 

p rescr ibed  burns  run  th rough i t .  We are  no t  aware  o f  any  o ther  Co l lege  campus w i th 

th is  des ign  as  par t  o f  the i r  p rogram o f fe r ings .  Our  land  management  p rac t i ces  a re 

se t  up  to  encourage na t i ve  w i ld l i fe  to  make th is  campus the i r  home as  demonst ra ted 

by  gopher  to r to ises ,  deer,  tu rkey,  assoc ia ted  rep t i les  commonly  seen by  our 

s tudents .   The  mater ia ls  tha t  each  bu i ld ing  w i l l  be  made o f  a re  f i re  re ta rdant  and 

w i l l  a l low fo r  these  p rac t i ces  to  con t inue  as  par t  o f  our  zero  energy  foo tp r in t  under 

our  sus ta inab le  p rac t i ces  p rogram. 

KARST SINKS STEWARDSHIP 

Thorough inves t iga t ion  o f  the  s ink  ho les  on  th is  campus th rough our  d iv ing 

vo lun teers  revea led  an  ex tens ive  cave  sys tem beneath  our  campus.  Th is 

underground r i ve r  sys tem,  i s  be l ieved  to  empty  in to  Spr ing  Creek  wh ich  i s  the 

la rges t  known f resh  water  spr ing  in  the  Wor ld .  Waku l la  Env i ronmenta l  Ins t i tu te  i s 

commi t ted  to  us ing  bes t  land  management  p rac t i ces  tha t  p reserve  the  s ink  ho les 

and  underground r i ve r  sys tem.

SUSTAINABLE FARMING DEMONSTRATION PROJECT AND ELEMENTS 

The  Ins t i tu te  has  5  acres  ded ica ted  to  sus ta inab le  agr icu l tu re  demonst ra t ion  and 

t ra in ing .  1  ac re  i s  cur ren t l y  equ ipped w i th  over  100  f ru i t  t rees ,  v ines ,  and  bushes ,  2 

hoop houses ,  a  rec i rcu la t ing  aquapon ics  ca t f i sh  pond sys tem run  by  a  c losed  so la r 

pane l  sys tem,  seasona l  vegetab le  garden beds ,  and  a  ch icken  coop.  We have  p lans 

to  add  a  beeh ive ,  ba t  house,  and  ex tend  the  f ru i t  t ree  o rchard  in  the  add i t iona l  4 

ac res .

SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE TRAINING PROGRAM

a.  Urban /  Smal l  P lo t  Farming

b.  Prec is ion  Agr icu l tu re 

c .  Hor t i cu l tu re

d .  Hydropon ics

e .  Agronomy

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1 1 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

AQUACULTURE TRAINING PROGRAM 

a .    Oys te r  Aquacu l tu re  Tra in ing  Program

b.    Oys te r  Nursery  Tra in ing  Program

c.    Oys te r  Hatchery  Tra in ing  Program

OYSTER FILTRATION PROJECTS AND INIT IATIVES 

WEI ’s  Oys te r  Reef  Res to ra t ion  Deve lopment  In i t ia t i ve  was  the  f i r s t  Oys te r  Aquacu l tu re 

Tra in ing  p rogram in  the  s ta te  o f  F lo r ida .  Respons ib le  fo r  over  150  new bus inesses  and 

over  1000 peop le  employed s ta tewide . 

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



W E I  P R O P E R T Y  H O L D I N G S  M A P WA KU L L A  E N V I R O N M E N TA L  I N S T I T U T E 
P R O P E R T Y  H O L D I N G  M A P  3

N

1 1 12024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



1122024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

PROJECTED SPACE NEEDS
 

Curren t l y  WEI  genera tes  FTE o f  approx imate ly  s ix ty - f i ve  s tudents .  WEI  requ i res 

la rge  ou tdoor  a reas  fo r  t ra in ing  s tudents .  There fo re  i t s  10 ,000 square  foo t  mu l t i -

purpose  bu i ld ing  appears  adequate  fo r  the i r  cur ren t  needs  fo r  env i ronmenta l 

educa t ion  over  the  f i ve -year  master  p lan  update  per iod .

The Co l lege  in tends  to  p rov ide  hea l thcare  educat ion  on  th is  campus so  there  i s  an 

immedia te  need fo r  a  new fac i l i t y  to  house severa l  hea l thcare  re la ted  p rograms on 

s i te .  I t  i s  an t i c ipa ted  th is  w i l l  requ i re  a  bu i ld ing  o f  approx imate ly  12 ,000 square  fee t .

The fu tu re  p ro jec ts  shown fo r  th is  campus are  sca lab le ,  mean ing  tha t  they  can  be 

bu i l t  i n  phases  as  fund ing  becomes ava i lab le .

Most  o f  the  p roposed pro jec ts  on  th is  campus w i l l  p robab ly  need to  be  funded by 

donat ions ,  g ran ts ,  o r  p r i va te -pub l i c  par tnersh ips .

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1132024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

PROJECTED PARKING REQUIREMENTS 

The pro jec ted  park ing  requ i rements  fo r  the  WEI  campus are  de te rmined us ing 

the  Waku l la  County  Zon ing  Ord inance fo r  park ing .  Waku l la  County ’s  park ing 

requ i rements  a re  based on  space types  and employee head count  as  opposed to 

s tudent  FTE,  wh ich  a re  used in  bo th  SREF (S ta te  Requ i rements  fo r  Educat iona l 

Fac i l i t i es )  and  in  the  Ta l lahassee Land Deve lopment  Code.

Wi th  regard  to  Waku l la  Count ies  Zon ing  Ord inance regard ing  park ing  requ i rements , 

each  space type  i s  a l loca ted  a  spec i f i c  number  o f  park ing  spaces  based on  the 

GSF o f  the  fac i l i t y,  and  each  employee is  a l loca ted  a  park ing  space.  S ince  the 

requ i rements  a re  based on  ac tua l  bu i ld ing  space added to  the  campus and no t 

annua l  g rowth ,  the  da ta  i s  p rov ided  fo r  the  f ina l  year  o f  cap i ta l  bu i ld  ou t  p resented 

here in .

In fo rmat ion  se t  fo r th  be low ind ica tes  tha t  approx imate ly  332  add i t iona l  park ing 

spaces  w i l l  be  requ i red  a t  f ina l  bu i ld  ou t .

ACADEMIC OFFICES & LABS

FUTURE BUILDING GSF CALCUL AT ION CRITERIA SP ACES
REQUIRED

STORAGE BUILDIN G

ECO TRAINING CENTER

AGRICU LTURAL & OYSTER F ARNING LABS
FOREST RY, LAND PLANNING & DRONE LAB

LECTURE HAL L & CLASSROOMS

ADDITIONAL PARKING REQUIREMENTS AT BUILD OUT

10,000
50,000

36

8,000
90,000
68,252
50,000 58.5

58.5

63
108

8

332

13 CLASSROOMS & LABS
13 CLASSROOMS & LABS
18 CLASSROOMS & LABS
24 CLASSROOMS & LABS

8 CLASSROOMS

3.5 SPACES / CLASSROOM + 1 INSTRUC TOR = 4.5

3.5 SPACES / CLASSROOM + 1 INSTRUC TOR = 4.5
3.5 SPACES / CLASSROOM + 1 INSTRUC TOR = 4.5
3.5 SPACES / CLASSROOM + 1 INSTRUC TOR = 4.5

3.5 SPACES / CLASSROOM + 1 INSTRUC TOR = 4.5
1 SPACE PER 1,000 GS FSTORAGE

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1 1 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

LANDSCAPE NARRATIVE 

OVERVIEW & SUMMARY

The landscape nar ra t i ve  i s  meant  to  p rov ide  gu idance fo r  appropr ia te  t ree  spec ies 

se lec t ion  and  loca t iona l  c r i te r ia  as  the  Waku l la  Env i ronmenta l  Ins t i tu te  (WEI )  campus 

deve lops .  I t  w i l l  work  in  concer t  w i th  the  Conceptua l  Landscape Master  P lan  wh ich 

p rov ides  a  phys ica l  con tex t  sugges t ing  where  t rees  may be  loca ted  on  campus.  The 

in ten t  o f  the  master  p lan  and t ree  pa le t te  i s  to  rec rea te  an  env i ronment  tha t  b lends  as 

seamless ly  as  poss ib le  in to  the  sur round ings .

The campus is  p roposed to  g row th rough phased imp lementa t ion  o f  p ro jec ts .  As  p ro jec ts 

and  suppor t ing  in f ras t ruc tu re  a re  imp lemented ,  t rees  w i l l  be  employed to  p rov ide  shade, 

reduce heat  i s land  a f fec t ,  s tab i l i ze  so i l s ,  manage water  runo f f ,  and  recrea te  d iverse 

hab i ta ts .

The spec ies  and  p lacement  o f  t rees  w i l l  c rea te  a  un i f ied  f ramework  us ing  landscape 

across  the  campus.  The Landscape Master  P lan  es tab l i shes  a  des ign  vocabu la ry 

fo r  ou tdoor  spaces  rang ing  f rom quads ,  g reens ,  and  c i rcu la t ion  pa ths  to  s to rmwater 

fac i l i t i es  and  na tu ra l  a reas .  Based upon th is  f ramework ,  des ign  cons is tency  and v isua l 

cohes ion  w i l l  be  ach ieved th rough prac t i ca l  des igns  so lu t ions  tha t  a re  ma in tenance 

f r iend ly.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

The campus,  in  i t s  cur ren t  s ta te ,  has  a  mu l t i -purpose  bu i ld ing  and two s to rage bu i ld ings 

on  s i te .  Mos t  o f  the  remain ing  ba lance  o f  the  campus is  und is tu rbed,  compr ised  o f 

na tu ra l l y  occur r ing  p lan t  communi t ies .  P lan t  communi t ies  w i th in  Waku l la  County,  as  per 

the  F lo r ida  Assoc ia t ion  o f  Nat ive  Nurser ies  (FANN) ,  inc lude  Hydr ic  Hammocks ,  P ine 

F la twoods ,  Sa l twater  Marshes ,  Sandh i l l s ,  Up land  Mes ic  Hardwood Fores ts  and  Wet land 

Swamp Fores ts .  A l l  bu t  the  Sa l twater  Marshes  communi ty  may be  p resent  on  the  s i te . 

Examples  o f  t ree  spec ies  found w i th in  each  p lan t  communi ty  a re  as  fo l lows :

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1152024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

1.  Hydr ic  Hammocks

a.  Canopy  Trees :  Sugarber ry,  B lack  Walnu t ,  Laure l  Oak ,  Winged E lm,  Amer ican  E lm, 

Southern  Magno l ia ,  Mockernu t  H ickory,  Tu l ip  Pop la r,  Wi l low Oak,  Southern  Cata lpa ,

R iver  B i rch ,  Sweetgum,  Water  H ickory,  Sycamore ,  Lob lo l l y  P ine ,  Lob lo l l y  Bay

b.  Unders to ry  Trees :  Possumhaw,  Swamp Dogwood,  Swamp Bay,  Red Buckeye

2.  P ine  F la twoods

a.  Canopy  Trees :  Whi te  Cedar,  S lash  P ine ,  Swamp Bay,  Long lea f  P ine ,  Water  Oak , 

Southern  L ive  Oak ,  Pop Ash,  Lob lo l l y  Bay,  Sweetgum

b.  Unders to ry  Trees :  F r inge t ree ,  Wi tch  Haze l ,  Dahoon Ho l l y,  Spark leber ry, 

Snowbe l l ,  Haze l  A lder

3 .  Sandh i l l s

a .  Canopy  Trees :  Long lea f  P ine ,  Southern  L ive  Oak ,  Turkey  Oak,  Pos t  Oak , 

Common Pers immon

b.  Unders to ry  Trees :  Sassa f ras ,  Spark leber ry

4 .  Up land  Mes ic  Hardwood Fores ts

a .  Canopy  Trees :  B lack  Walnu t ,  Shumard  Oak,  Whi te  Oak ,  Southern  L ive  Oak , 

Winged E lm,  Amer ican  E lm,  Southern  Magno l ia ,  P ignu t  H ickory,  Mockernu t  H ickory, 

Ch inquap in  Oak ,  Laure l  Oak ,  Swamp Ches tnu t  Oak ,  Water  Oak ,  F lo r ida  Sugar 

Map le ,  Amer ican  Beech,

Sweetgum,  Box  E lder

b .  Unders to ry  Trees :  F r inge t ree ,  F lower ing  Dogwood,  Wi tch  Haze l ,  Red Mu lber ry, 

Southern  Crabapp le ,  F la twoods  P lum,  Eas te rn  Redbud,  Red Buckeye

5.  Wet land  Swamp Fores ts

a .  Canopy  Trees :  Whi te  Cedar,  Water  Tupe lo ,  Red Map le ,  Ba ld  Cypress ,  S lash  P ine , 

Swamp Bay,  Sweet  Bay,  Mockernu t  H ickory,  Overcup  Oak,  Pop Ash,  Water  H ickory, 

Box  E lder

b .  Unders to ry  Trees :  Honey  Locus t ,  Swamp Bay,  Possumhaw,  Haze l  A lder

INVASIVE EXOTIC PLANT REMOVAL

Remova l  o f  invas ive  and  exo t i c  p lan t  spec ies  f rom the  eco log ica l l y  sens i t i ve  a reas 

o f  campus are  o f  h igh  impor tance  to  a l low the  es tab l i shment  o f  na t i ve  spec ies . 

Iden t i f i ca t ion  and  remova l  o f  invas ive  and  exo t i c  spec ies  w i l l  be  conduc ted  in 

accordance w i th  the  gu idance pub l i shed by  the  F lo r ida  Invas ive  Spec ies  Counc i l .

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1 1 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

TREE SPECIES SELECTION

A s t rong  emphas is  i s  p laced upon the  use  o f  na t i ve  spec ies .  The  p lan t ing  o f  monocu l tu re 

communi t ies  i s  no t  a l lowed to  ensure  res i l i ence  aga ins t  d isease  or  in fes ta t ion .  A l i s t  o f 

approved t ree  spec ies  i s  inc luded here in  bu t  i s  no t  a l l  i nc lus ive  and  no t  meant  to  be  the 

on ly  spec ies  a l lowed.  Spec ies  p roposed wh ich  a re  no t  on  the  l i s t  sha l l  be  rev iewed and 

approved by  TSC leadersh ip .  Cons idera t ion  w i l l  be  g iven  to  eco log ica l ,  economic ,  and 

aes the t i c  des i res  ba lanced w i th  cur ren t l y  ava i lab le  nursery  s tock  w i th in  the  reg ion .

TREE PLACEMENT

Areas  o f  h igh  v is ib i l i t y  and  impor tance  requ i re  a  fo rma l  and  cons is ten t  layou t  o f  t rees 

whereas  a reas  o f  pass ive  use  p rov ide  space fo r  a  more  na tu ra l  a r rangement  o f  t rees  to 

mimic  the  na tu ra l  a reas  w i th in  and  ad jacent  to  the  campus.  Success iona l  p lan t ings  a re 

env is ioned to  g row over  t ime f rom smal l  to  la rge  p lan ts .  These wou ld  be  a reas  o f  low 

v is ib i l i t y  and  expec ted  to  have  a  l im i ted  ma in tenance requ i rement . 

Eco log ica l l y  sens i t i ve  a reas ,  such  as  the  na tu ra l  p reserve ,  conserva t ion  a rea ,  and 

kars t  s inks  a re  p ro tec ted  f rom fu tu re  deve lopment  impac ts .  Landscape improvements 

in  these  a reas  w i l l  occur  on ly  when env i ronmenta l  benef i t s  a re  iden t i f ied .  Fo l low ing  a re 

descr ip t ions  o f  spaces  tha t  may  ex is t  as  the  campus deve lops :

1 .  S t ree tscapes :  These cor r idors  w i l l  have  t rees  a t  a  spac ing  in te rva l  o f  25  to  50  fee t 

on  cen te r.  Canopy  spec ies  shou ld  be  used tha t  na tu ra l l y  l imb up  a t  matur i t y  to  a l low 

an  open unders to ry  to  a l low passage o f  veh ic les  w i thou t  con f l i c t  wh i le  p rov id ing  shade 

a long  the  rou te  and  v iews ou tward  f rom the  cor r idor  ac ross  the  campus.  Of fse t  t rees 

f rom edge o f  t rave l  lanes  w i th  cons idera t ion  o f  what  veh ic les  may need ver t i ca l  and 

hor izon ta l  c learance .

2 .  Open Space:  These areas  shou ld  be  compr ised  o f  lawns ,  pedes t r ian  pa ths  and  canopy 

t rees .  Bu i ld ings  and roadways  w i l l  he lp  to  fo rm the  edges  o f  these .  C lear  s igh t  l i nes 

shou ld  be  c rea ted  in to  and  ou t  o f  these  open spaces  th roughout  the  campus.  Loca t ion  o f 

t rees  shou ld  cons ider  so la r  o r ien ta t ion  to  bes t  p rov ide  shade a t  appropr ia te  t imes  o f  day 

in  re la t ion  to  sea t ing  a reas .

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1172024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

3.  Quadrang les :  These may no t  be  as  p reva len t  on  the  WEI  campus as  the 

ma in  campus,  bu t  in  a reas  where  an  ou tdoor  space  may be  c rea ted  by  ad jacent 

bu i ld ings ,  f ind  oppor tun i t ies  fo r  lawn areas  and wa lk ing  pa ths  to  have  shade f rom 

proposed t rees .  Much o f  the  quadrang les  i s  bes t  kep t  as  open fo r  w ide  and long 

v iews th rough the  space.

4 .  Bu i ld ings :  Avo id  p lan t ing  too  c lose  to  bu i ld ings  fo r  fu tu re  ma in tenance 

cons idera t ions .  Respec t  s igh t  l i nes  f rom w i th in  and  to  bu i ld ings .

5 .  Park ing  Lo ts :  P lace  t rees  ad jacent  to  and  w i th in  park ing  lo ts  wh ich  p rov ide 

shade and a id  in  reduc t ion  o f  the  u rban heat  i s land  e f fec t .  Avo id  spec ies  known 

to  d rop  leaves  o r  b looms wh ich  may s ta in  cars  o r  cause  ma in tenance issues  to 

ad jacent  pavement .  Ensure  p roper  p lan t ing  space is  p rov ided  fo r  roo ts  o f  t ree  to 

a l low hea l thy  g rowth  and avo id  damage to  pavement  a reas  f rom roo ts .  Cons ider  use 

o f  roo t  bar r ie rs  where  p lan t ing  a reas  con f in ing .

6 .  S to rmwater  Fac i l i t i es :  P lan t  to  rec rea te  na tu ra l  a r rangements  o f  t rees  to  the 

ex ten t  p roper  ma in tenance and access  can  be  p rov ided .  Loca te  p lan t ings  to  avo id 

fac i l i t i es  be ing  eyesores  to  the  pub l i c .  Rather,  they  can  become an  amen i ty  w i th in 

the  s i te .

7 .  L igh t ing :  Trees  sha l l  be  loca ted  to  avo id  con f l i c ts  w i th  pedes t r ian  and  veh icu la r 

use  a rea  l igh t ing  inc lud ing  bu t  no t  l im i ted  to  wa lk ing  pa ths ,  w i th in  park ing  lo ts , 

ad jacent  to  bu i ld ings ,  e tc .  Cons idera t ion  must  be  g iven  no t  on ly  to  the  t rees  a t  t ime 

o f  p lan t ing  bu t  a lso  in  accordance w i th  what  the  mature  s ize  o f  the  t ree  w i l l  be  in 

years  to  come.

8 .  U t i l i t i es :  Prov ide  coord ina t ion  w i th  p roposed and ex is t ing  u t i l i t i es  –  above 

and be low ground.  Cons ider  mature  s ize  o f  roo ts  and  canop ies  o f  t rees  to  avo id 

fu tu re  con f l i c t .  Trees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  ten  (10)  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom 

underground u t i l i t i es .  When w i th in  ten  (10)  fee t ,  roo t  bar r ie rs  shou ld  be  p laced 

d i rec t l y  ad jacent  to  underground u t i l i t i es  th rough c lose  coord ina t ion  w i th  u t i l i t y 

p rov iders .  Canopy  t rees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  a  th i r t y  (30)  fee t  hor izon ta l l y 

f rom overhead u t i l i t i es .  Wi th in  th i r t y  (30)  fee t ,  unders to ry  t rees  tha t  reach  a  mature 

he igh t  o f  no  more  than  f i f teen  (15)  fee t  shou ld  be  used.

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1 1 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

9.  Pavement :  Trees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  f i ve  (5 )  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom edges 

o f  pavement  where  poss ib le .  When w i th in  f i ve  (5 )  fee t ,  roo t  bar r ie rs  shou ld  be  p laced 

d i rec t l y  ad jacent  to  pavement .

CRIME PREVENTION THROUGH ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN (CPTED)

CPTED pr inc ip les  must  be  met  when cons ider ing  t ree  se lec t ion  and  p lacement .  The  f i ve 

p r inc ip les  inc lude  na tu ra l  surve i l lance ,  na tu ra l  access  con t ro l ,  te r r i to r ia l  re in fo rcement , 

ac t i v i t y  suppor t  and  ma in tenance.  Fo l low ing  a re  descr ip t ions  o f  each  p r inc ip le  to 

cons ider  in  re la t ion  to  t rees :

1 .  NATURAL SURVEILLANCE –  The in tended users  can  observe  the  p roper ty.  E f fec t i ve 

l igh t ing  o f  a  p roper ty  i s  an  example  o f  na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

2 .  NATURAL ACCESS CONTROL –  Cont ro l l i ng  and  reduc ing  the  number  o f  access  po in ts 

to  a  p roper ty.  Gated  communi t ies  a re  an  example  o f  access  con t ro l .

3 .  TERRITORIAL REINFORCEMENT –  Crea t ing  a  c lear  de l inea t ion  o f  space  and 

separa tes  your  space  f rom non- leg i t imate  users .

4 .  ACTIVITY SUPPORT –  P lac ing  ac t i v i t y  where  ind iv idua ls  become par t  o f  the  na tu ra l 

surve i l lance .

5 .  MAINTENANCE –  Regu la r l y  schedu led  ma in tenance rou t ine  w i l l  ensure  the  p roper ty 

demonst ra tes  te r r i to r ia l i t y  and  na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

MAINTENANCE,  OPERATIONS,  & EMERGENCY VEHICLES

Main tenance is  an  in tegra l  cons idera t ion  in  deve lopment  o f  the  campus.  As  p lan t 

mater ia l  i s  se lec ted  and loca ted ,  coord ina t ion  sha l l  occur  w i th  ma in tenance s ta f f  to 

ensure  a  p lan  wh ich  they  can  ma in ta in  in  perpe tu i ty  in  a  way  tha t  meets  the  des ign 

v is ion .  Tree  loca t ions  sha l l  take  in to  account  the  spec ia l  needs  o f  serv ice  opera t ions , 

la rge  t ruck  de l i ve r ies  and  emergency  veh ic les .

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1192024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

CANOPY TREES CANOPY TREES UNDERSTORY TREES PALMS

NUTTALL OAK

SWAMP CHESTNUT OAK
SHUMARD OAK

WILLOW OAK

RIVER BIRCH

RED MAPLE
BLACK GUM

FLORIDA ELM

REDBAY

WATER HICKORY
LOBLOLLY BAY

AMERICAN BEECH

TULIP POPLAR

AMERICAN HOLLY

EASTERN RED CEDAR
SYCAMORE

EASTERN PALATKA HOLLY

POND CYPRESS

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA
BALD CYPRESS

EASTERN REDBUD SABAL PALM

DAHOON HOLLY

YAUPON HOLLY
WAX MYRTLE

SWEETBAY MAGNOLIA
DOWNY SERVICEBERRY
FRINGETREE

LONGLEAF PINE

PIGNUT HICKORY

AMERICAN HORNBEAM
PERSIMMON

N A T I V E  T R E E  S P E C I ES

CANOPY TREES CANOPY TREES UNDERSTORY TREES PALMS

N O N - N A T I V E  T R E E  S P E C I ES

LOBLOLLY PINE
SLASH PINE SAUCER MAGNOLIA

CRAPE MYRTLE [SPP.]

STAR MAGNOLIA

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



1 2 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

SUMMARY

E.O.  Wi lson ,  the  wor ld ’s  most  p rominent  env i ronmenta l i s t ,  has  ca l led  th is  un ique  area 

o f  Nor th  F lo r ida  the  f i f th  ho t tes t  spo t  fo r  b iod ivers i t y.  Because o f  i t s  geograph ica l 

loca t ion  be tween the  Gu l f  and  A t lan t i c ,  mounta ins  and  sea ,  there  i s  an  ex t remely  h igh 

concent ra t ion  o f  p lan t  and  an ima l  spec ies ,  some found nowhere  e lse  in  the  wor ld .

Th is  i s  the  ca ta lys t  tha t  sparked  the  v is ion  fo r  the  WEI  wh ich  i s  sur rounded by  a  mi l l i on 

acres  o f  conserva t ion  lands  w i th  r i ch  and  d iverse  ecosys tems.  Brea th tak ing  na tu ra l 

spo ts  w i th  wet lands  and two connec ted  s inkho les  do t  the  expans ive  212-acre  p roper ty 

tha t  w i l l  be  shared  w i th  fu tu re  eco- tour ism v is i to rs .  Nearby  Waku l la  Spr ings  S ta te  Park , 

the  Gu l f  Spec imen Mar ine  labora to ry,  S t .  Marks  Wi ld l i fe  Refuge,  the  Och locknee R iver 

S ta te  Park ,  Cap i ta l  C i ty  to  the  Sea Tra i l s  and  San Marcos  de  Apa lache H is to r i c  S ta te 

Park  b roaden the  appea l  o f  the  campus to  po ten t ia l  eco- tour is t .

Every th ing  a t  WEI  i s  des igned w i th  the  env i ronment  in  mind  inc lud ing  i t s  f i r s t  bu i ld ing 

wh ich  in  add i t ion  to  be ing  des igned fo r  ne t  zero  energy  consumpt ion  boas ts  10 ,000 

square  fee t  o f  c lassrooms,  meet ing  spaces ,  a  s ta te -o f - the  a r t  wet  lab  and  p len ty  o f 

covered  porch  a rea  fo r  tak ing  in  the  beaut i fu l  campus scenery.  Other  fea tu res  inc lude 

a  so la r  pane l  covered  park ing  a rea  and ra in  co l lec t ion  tanks  fo r  use  in  coo l ing  the  a i r 

cond i t ion ing  and f lush ing  to i le ts .

The Waku l la  Env i ronmenta l  Ins t i tu te ,  “A one s top  shop fo r  a l l  th ings  env i ronmenta l ” 

has  a  s imp le  miss ion  o f  sus ta inab i l i t y  — to  p reserve  the  a rea  her i tage  and deep 

env i ronmenta l  asse ts  wh i le  s tay ing  in  tune  w i th  the  chang ing  t imes .  Indeed,  850 

Magaz ine  in  a  recent  a r t i c le  re fe r red  to  the  Ins t i tu te  as  an  “Env i ronmenta l l y  and 

Economica l l y  Savvy  Game Changer. ”

WAKULLA ENVIRONMENTAL INST ITUTE



4

TS
C 

Gh
az

vi
ni

 C
en

te
r



1222024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

I N D E X

O v e r v i e w. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 2 3

E x i s t i n g  C a m p u s  a n d  F u t u r e  P r o j e c t s  M a p. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 2 5

F u t u r e  P r o j e c t s  N a r r at i v e s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 2 6

S t o r m Wat e r  B A S I N  N a r r at i v e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 2 7 

S t o r m Wat e r  B a s i n  M a p. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 2 8

E n v i r o n m e n ta l  I n i t i at i v e s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 2 9

P r o p e r t y  H o l d i n g s  M a p. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 3 0

P r o j e c t e d  S pa c e  N e e d s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 3 1

C i r c u l at i o n  a n d  Pa r k i n g  P r o j e c t i o n s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 3 2

L a n d s c a p e  N a r r at i v e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 3 4

S u m m a r y. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 3 9

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1232024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

OVERVIEW
 

TSC’s  Ghazv in i  Center  fo r  Hea l thcare  Educat ion  fea tu res  more  than  85 ,000 square 

fee t  o f  learn ing  space devo ted  to  emergency  med ica l  serv ices ,  nurs ing ,  rad io log ic 

techno logy,  resp i ra to ry  care ,  pharmacy  techno logy,  and  surg ica l  techno log ies .   The 

Center  i s  loca ted  in  the  hear t  o f  Ta l lahassee ’s  med ica l  cor r idor  and  i s  equ ipped w i th 

cu t t ing-edge techno logy,  a l low ing  s tudents  to  s t reng then and app ly  the i r  sk i l l s  in 

s imu la ted  rea l - t ime se t t ings .  The  fac i l i t y  houses  c lassrooms,  con fe rence  rooms,  a 

one-o f -a -k ind  ons i te  l i b ra ry  and  learn ing  commons,  labora to ry  space ,  two accred i ted 

s imu la t ion  cen te rs ,  a  computer  lab ,  and  admin is t ra t i ve  o f f i ces .   TSC is  commi t ted  to 

p rov id ing  we l l - t ra ined  p ro fess iona ls  to  the  loca l  hea l thcare  communi ty.

TSC o f fe rs  a  Bache lo r  o f  Sc ience  in  Nurs ing ,  an  Assoc ia te  o f  Sc ience  in  Nurs ing 

wh ich  inc ludes  the  Hea l thcare  Pro fess iona l - to -RN,  and  a  Nurse  Ass is tan t  Long 

Term Care  cer t i f i ca te .  Hea l thcare  p rograms a lso  inc lude  A.S.  degrees  in  Denta l 

Hyg iene ,  Emergency  Med ica l  Serv ices  (EMS)  Techno logy,  Surg ica l  Serv ices , 

Rad io log ic  Techno logy,  and  Resp i ra to ry  Care .  Cer t i f i ca te  p rograms inc lude  Cent ra l 

S te r i le  Process ing  Techno log is t ,  Denta l  Ass is t ing ,  Emergency  Med ica l  Techn ic ian , 

Endoscopy  Techn ic ian ,  Paramed ic ,  and  Surg ica l  Techno logy  Spec ia l i s t .

TSC was named one o f  the  Top 10  Bes t  Assoc ia te  Degree  in  Nurs ing  (ADN) 

Programs in  the  Southeas t  fo r  2022 by  Nurs ingProcess .o rg ,  a  nurs ing  educat iona l 

resource ,  based on  NCLEX-RN pass  ra tes ,  academic  qua l i t y,  the  nurs ing  schoo l ’s 

repu ta t ion ,  and  a f fo rdab i l i t y.  In  2021,  TSC was ranked Most  A f fo rdab le  On l ine 

Nurs ing  Degree  by  Educat ion  Reference  Desk ,  a  na t iona l l y  recogn ized  p rov ider  o f 

co l lege  p lann ing  resources .

Hea l thcare  i s  one  o f  the  la rges t  economic  sec to rs  in  the  Un i ted  S ta tes ,  employ ing 

one ou t  o f  every  e igh t  Amer ican  workers . 

In  2023 the  Co l lege  expanded the  success fu l  Bache lo rs  o f  Sc ience  in  Nurs ing  (BSN) 

and  Assoc ia te  o f  Sc ience  in  Nurs ing /Reg is te red  Nurse  degree  (ADN)  p rograms.   The 

BSN program is  des igned fo r  reg is te red  nurses  who have  comple ted  an  ADN and 

are  employed as  nurses  to  be  ab le  to  pursues  the  BSN.   The  f i r s t  bacca laurea te 

c lass  o f  17  s tudents  enro l led  in  the  2016 summer  te rm,  and  the  p rogram now enro l l s 

approx imate ly  60  new s tudents  annua l l y.   The  ADN program produces  approx imate ly 

70  s tudents  each  year.  

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1 2 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

TSC expanded the  BSN program in  d i rec t  response to  hea l thcare  p rov iders  in  our 

communi ty.   A BSN Employer  In te res t  Survey  was  sen t  to  hea l thcare  admin is t ra to rs 

a t  s ix  fac i l i t i es  in  the  Co l lege ’s  serv ice  d is t r i c t .  100% o f  respondents  s ta ted  there  i s 

a  need fo r  more  educat iona l  p rograms in  Gadsden,  Leon,  and  Waku l la  count ies  tha t 

p repare  nurses  a t  the  BSN leve l .  100% a lso  ind ica ted  tha t  they  suppor t  TSC’s  BSN 

program expans ion .   Data  fo r  the  TSC serv ice  d is t r i c t  ind ica te  a  work fo rce  o f  3 ,248 

reg is te red  nurses ;  o f  these ,  on ly  about  one- th i rd  a re  BSN credent ia led .   Representa t i ves 

f rom bo th  a rea  hosp i ta ls ,  Ta l lahassee Memor ia l  Hosp i ta l  (TMH) ,  and  Cap i ta l  Reg iona l 

Med ica l  Center  (CRMC)  have  a t tended TSC Dis t r i c t  Board  o f  Trus tees  (DBOT)  meet ings 

to  d iscuss  the i r  need fo r  more  BSN prepared  nurses  and the i r  p re fe rence  fo r  TSC 

graduates  who remain  loca l .

One ma jor  employer  o f  nurses  in  the  reg ion ,  TMH,  adver t i ses  na t iona l l y  fo r  BSN 

credent ia led  app l i can ts  to  f i l l  i t s  250  annua l  vacanc ies ,  bu t  desp i te  these  e f fo r ts ,  the 

hosp i ta l  i s  ab le  to  h i re  on ly  58% o f  i t s  nurses  w i th  the  bacca laurea te  degree .  Leav ing 

a  s izab le  BSN h i r ing  gap  each  year.   The  F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Economic  Oppor tun i ty 

(FDEO)  da ta  p ro jec ts  114  annua l  job  open ings  in  TSC’s  d is t r i c t .  

The  Co l lege  doub led  the  number  o f  nurs ing  s tudents ,  doub led  the  s ize  o f  the  s imu la t ion 

cen te r  in  the  same foo tp r in t  and  now needs  to  expand add i t iona l  c lassroom and 

labora to ry  space  and add add i t iona l  park ing .  

GHAZVINI  CENTER



T S C  G H A Z V I N I  C E N T E R

Legend
Existing Buildings

Proposed Buildings

1

2

Health Care Training Facility

Addition with Parking Garage

                SURGEONS DRIVESURGEONS DRIVE

1

2

SCALE: 1”=100’-0”

0  25’   100’        200’                      400’   T S C  G H A Z V I N I  C E N T E R

[  05-001 GCHE ]

EXISTING 
MULTI -STORY

CLASSROOM & 
LABORATORY

BUILDING

FUTURE
ADDITION

N

1 2 52024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



1262024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

FUTURE PROJECTS  NARRATIVE

MEDICAL TRAINING LABS & FACULTY OFFICES

The Ghaz in i  s i te  i s  a lmos t  fu l l y  bu i l t  ou t ,  bu t  a  conceptua l  s tudy  has  shown tha t 

a  two-s to ry  add i t ion  o f  approx imate ly  33 ,000 square  fee t  i s  feas ib le .  The  add i t ion 

wou ld  have  a  park ing  garage and facu l ty  o f f i ces  on  the  f i r s t  f loor  and  seven 

labora to ry  c lassrooms on  the  second f loor.  A t  a  min imum these  labs  cou ld  suppor t 

147  add i t iona l  med ica l  s tudents .  G iven  the  cur ren t  h igh  demand and po ten t ia l 

inc reased demand in  the  coming  years  TSC may cons ider  a  th ree-s to ry  add i t ion  w i th 

the  top  f loor  bu i l t  ou t  a t  a  la te r  da te .

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1272024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

STORMWATER BASIN  NARRATIVE

The Ghazv in i  Center ’s  s to rmwater  cur ren t l y  d ischarges  i t s  5 .65  acres  o f  imperv ious  a rea 

to  the  Goodwood Reg iona l  s to rmwater  management  a rea  wh ich  i s  loca ted  nor th  o f  the 

campus.  Tab les  1  and  2  be low show tha t  the  SWMA cur ren t l y  has  capac i ty  to  rece ive 

add i t iona l  s to rmwater  runo f f  f rom approx imate ly  twenty - f i ve  acres  o f  imperv ious  a rea . 

Th is  capac i ty  i s  more  than  su f f i c ien t  to  rece ive  add i t iona l  run-o f f  f rom the  Ghazv in i 

campus a t  fu l l  bu i ld  ou t .

GHAZVINI  CENTER



GOODWOOD STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT AREA (SWMA)

T S C  G H A Z V I N I  C E N T E R  S T O R M WA T E R  B A S I N  M A P T S C  G H A Z V I N I  C E N T E R
S T O R M WA T E R  B A S I N  M A P

N

1 2 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



1292024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

ENVIRONMENTAL  IN IT IAT IVES

SOLAR CANOPY ARRAYS

Dur ing  recent  remode l ing  a t  the  Ghazv in i  Center,  so la r  canopy  a r rays  were  added to 

the  p laza  to  p rov ide  shad ing  wh i le  genera t ing  e lec t r i c i t y  fo r  the  campus. 

In  add i t ion ,  the  remode l ing  compl ied  w i th  a l l  g reen  bu i ld ing  in i t ia t i ves  requ i red  by 

s ta te  s ta tu te  and  TSC energy  e f f i c iency  s tandards .

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1 3 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

����&0;�����&0;���P[�;�����&0;��P[;�����

�
	 	
	�� 	
��	
	��

��

�����P��������[���	�;�	�

�� !"#�$%'(�)*+,�-./1234�*5,�6778�3/9-+:71�<./9�4*7�9/,4�5332.547�,/2.37�1545�<./9�"7/8�!/284=>�4*7�!+4=�/<�)5::5*5,,77>�581�4*7�"7/8�!/284=�?./-7.4=
#--.5+,7.@,�A<<+37B�C/D7E7.>�4*+,�-./1234�+,�</.�.7<7.7837�-2.-/,7,�/8:=�581�+,�8/4�4/�67�3/8,4.271�5,�5�:7F5:�1/329784�/.�,2.E7=�+8,4.29784B�#8=�.7:+5837�/8�4*7
+8</.954+/8�3/845+871�*7.7+8�+,�54�4*7�2,7.@,�/D8�.+,GB�"7/8�!/284=>�4*7�!+4=�/<�)5::5*5,,77>�581�4*7�"7/8�!/284=�?./-7.4=�#--.5+,7.@,�A<<+37�5,,297�8/�
.7,-/8,+6+:+4=�</.�58=�2,7�/<�4*7�+8</.954+/8�3/845+871�*7.7+8�/.�58=�:/,,�.7,2:4+8F�4*7.7<./9B

H���0
���IJKL��0�;��J����MIKK�
��II�J�NN��;�MI
�HH	�

PJK����OQ�	R��	�S�		
M�T��OQ�	R��	�S�	�

U���I�������VI�K���
K�W
X�YN�����I�K���
K�W

&��W��Z��\	��

��K���KL��Z�P�K����Z�[�����N��
�����������������������������]̂ _̂ à

�Kb�NJ���

0�c��K�

0LY��d�N�K��

��T�P��c�I

�K�

[cc�NN�U�N�����

��d��

X����YK�Z

�L�I���W

P���

���Z������

[����[���Z���;�PJ�;��[;��M[;���0
��K���KL��Z�P�K����Z�[�����N��

TSC  GHAZVIN I  CENTER PROPERTY  HOLDINGS MAP

PROPERTY OWNED 

BY THE CITY OF 

TALLAHASSEE

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1312024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

PROJECTED SPACE NEEDS
 

As s ta ted  in  the  Overv iew sec t ion  o f  th is  repor t  there  i s  t remendous  in te res t  f rom 

the  loca l  med ica l  communi ty  fo r  TSC and the  Ghazv in i  Hea l thcare  Center  to  t ra in 

more  BSN credent ia led  hea l thcare  nurses .  The F lo r ida  Depar tment  o f  Economic 

Oppor tun i ty  (FDEO)  da ta  p ro jec ts  114  annua l  job  open ings  in  TSC’s  d is t r i c t .

A l though the  Ghazv in i  Campus is  c lose  to  bu i ld -ou t  a t  the  ex is t ing  campus 

conceptua l  s tud ies  show tha t  a  33 ,000 square  foo t  two-s to ry  bu i ld ing  add i t ion  i s 

feas ib le .

The Co l lege ,  the  loca l  Hosp i ta ls ,  the  S ta te ,  Leon County,  and  the  C i ty  o f 

Ta l lahassee a l l  suppor t  th is  expans ion  and w i th  tha t  un iversa l  suppor t  one  wou ld 

expec t  a  fund ing  source  to  become ava i lab le  fo r  the  p ro jec t .

The  conceptua l  add i t ion  to  the  campus is  d iscussed in  more  de ta i l  i n  the  Fu tu re 

Pro jec ts  Nar ra t i ve  sec t ion .

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1 3 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

CIRCULATION & PARKING PROJECT IONS
 

The cur ren t  park ing  counts  a re  su f f i c ien t  fo r  the  ex is t ing  fac i l i t y  based on  square 

foo tage and a t tendance ca lcu la t ions .

The proposed fu tu re  two-s to ry  add i t ion  w i l l  requ i re  add i t iona l  park ing  spaces .  The 

park ing  p ro jec t ions  were  ca lcu la ted  us ing  c r i te r ia  f rom the  F lo r ida  Bu i ld ing  Code 

Chapter  453  wh ich  l i s ts  one  park ing  space fo r  every  two s tudents .

The s tudent  count  fo r  a  labora to ry  c lassroom is  de te rmined by  a l low ing  f i f t y  square  fee t 

per  s tudent  and  one space fo r  each  facu l ty  member  and  employee: 

 Seven Labs  @ 1 ,028 NSF =  7 ,196  NSF

 7 ,196 NSF/50  s f /s tudent  =  144  Students /2  =  72

 Add i t iona l  Facu l ty  &  S ta f f  =  10  + / -

           Approx imate ly  82  add i t iona l  park ing  spaces  requ i red .

A th ree-s to ry  add i t ion  wou ld  requ i re  an  add i t iona l  164  park ing  spaces  i f  tha t  op t ion  i s 

se lec ted .

Any  add i t iona l  park ing  spaces  w i l l  need to  be  negot ia ted  w i th  the  C i ty  o f  Ta l lahassee fo r 

a l loca t ion  w i th in  the  shared  park ing  lo ts . 

GHAZVINI  CENTER



T S C  G H A Z V I N I  C E N T E R  C A M P U S  S H A R E D  P A R K I N G T S C  G H A Z V I N I  C E N T E R
C A M P U S  S H A R E D  P A R K I N G

N

1 3 32024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



1 3 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

LANDSCAPE NARRATIVE

OVERVIEW & SUMMARY

The landscape nar ra t i ve  p rov ides  gu idance fo r  appropr ia te  t ree  spec ies  se lec t ion  and 

loca t iona l  c r i te r ia  fo r  the  Ghazv in i  Center  campus.  I t  w i l l  work  in  concer t  w i th  the 

Conceptua l  Landscape Master  P lan  wh ich  p rov ides  a  phys ica l  con tex t  sugges t ing  where 

t rees  may be  loca ted  on  campus.  The campus is  jus t  over  6  acres  and  most ly  deve loped. 

The in ten t  o f  the  master  p lan  and t ree  pa le t te  i s  to  bu i ld  upon the  ex is t ing  cond i t ions  o f 

the  campus.

The spec ies  and  p lacement  o f  t rees  w i l l  c rea te  a  un i f ied  f ramework  across  the  campus. 

The Landscape Master  P lan  re f lec ts  most ly  ex is t ing  cond i t ions  .  A l though l im i ted 

in  improvements ,  des ign  cons is tency  and v isua l  cohes ion  w i l l  be  ach ieved th rough 

prac t i ca l  des ign  so lu t ions  tha t  a re  ma in tenance f r iend ly.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

The campus is  bordered  by  Surgeons  Dr ive  to  the  sou th ,  a  park ing  access  road  to  the 

wes t ,  park ing  to  the  nor th  and  na tu ra l  vegeta t ion  to  the  eas t .  The  Ghazv in i  Center  and 

park ing  lo ts  cover  the  ma jo r i t y  o f  the  s i te .  Trees  have  been p lan ted  th roughout  the  s i te 

per  C i ty  o f  Ta l lahassee Land Deve lopment  Code requ i rements .  The  s i te  i s  on  a  h i l l s ide 

and  has  a  fa i r  amount  o f  s lope  d ropp ing  f rom south  to  nor th .  No s to rm ponds  ex is t  on 

s i te  as  i t  i s  served  by  an  o f fs i te  s to rm fac i l i t y.  The  canopy  t rees  a re  p redominant ly 

Southern  L ive  Oaks  and the  unders to ry  t rees  most ly  Crape Myr t les .  The  l i ve  oaks 

p rov ide  a  year - round evergreen canopy  wh i le  the  c rape myr t les  a re  dec iduous  and 

prov ide  seasona l  co lo r  when b looming .

Other  t rees  on  campus inc lude  magno l ias  and  ho l l ies .

INVASIVE EXOTIC PLANT REMOVAL

Due to  the  deve loped na tu re  o f  the  campus,  invas ive  exo t i c  p lan ts  a re  no t  as  p reva len t . 

When observed ,  remova l  o f  invas ive  and  exo t i c  p lan t  spec ies  f rom the  p roper ty  shou ld 

be  conduc ted .  Iden t i f i ca t ion  and  remova l  o f  invas ive  spec ies  w i l l  be  conduc ted  in 

accordance w i th  the  gu idance pub l i shed by  the  F lo r ida  Invas ive  Spec ies  Counc i l .

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1352024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

TREE SPECIES SELECTION

A s t rong  emphas is  i s  p laced upon the  use  o f  na t i ve  spec ies .  A l though a  smal l 

campus,  the  p lan t ing  o f  monocu l tu re  communi t ies  i s  no t  a l lowed to  ensure 

res i l i ence  aga ins t  d isease  or  in fes ta t ion .  A l i s t  o f  approved t ree  spec ies  i s  inc luded 

here in  bu t  i s  no t  a l l  i nc lus ive  and  no t  meant  to  be  the  on ly  spec ies  a l lowed. 

Spec ies  p roposed wh ich  a re  no t  on  the  l i s t  sha l l  be  rev iewed and approved by  TSC. 

Cons idera t ion  w i l l  be  g iven  to  eco log ica l ,  economic ,  and  aes the t i c  des i res  ba lanced 

w i th  cur ren t l y  ava i lab le  nursery  s tock  w i th in  the  reg ion .

TREE PLACEMENT

Areas  o f  h igh  v is ib i l i t y  and  impor tance  requ i re  a  fo rma l  and  cons is ten t  layou t  o f 

t rees  whereas  a reas  o f  pass ive  use  p rov ide  space fo r  a  more  na tu ra l  a r rangement 

o f  t rees  to  mimic  compl imentary  a reas  w i th in  and  ad jacent  to  the  campus.  There 

do  no t  appear  to  be  eco log ica l l y  sens i t i ve  a reas  on  the  p roper ty  bu t  assessment 

shou ld  be  cons idered  fo r  fu tu re  expans ion .  A lways  use  the  r igh t  p lan t  fo r  the  r igh t 

p lace .

Fo l low ing  a re  descr ip t ions  o f  t rea tments  to  the  ex is t ing  spaces  on  campus:

1 .  S t ree tscapes :  Th is  app l ies  to  the  p roper ty  edges  a long  Surgeons  Dr ive  and 

the  park ing  access  road .  These cor r idors  shou ld  be  p lan ted  w i th  canopy  t rees 

a t  a  spac ing  in te rva l  o f  25  to  50  fee t  on  cen te r.  Canopy  spec ies  shou ld  be  used 

tha t  na tu ra l l y  l imb up  a t  matur i t y  to  a l low an  open unders to ry  to  a l low passage o f 

veh ic les  w i thou t  con f l i c t  wh i le  p rov id ing  shade a long  the  rou te  and  v iews ou tward 

f rom the  cor r idor  ac ross  the  campus.  Offse t  t rees  f rom edge o f  t rave l  lanes  w i th 

cons idera t ion  o f  what  veh ic les  may need ver t i ca l  and  hor izon ta l  c learance .  A la rge 

amount  o f  the  campus edge a l ready  has  some leve l  o f  s t ree tscape t ree  p lan t ing . 

Add i t iona l  p lan t ing  can  supp lement  th is  where  feas ib le .

2 .  Open Space:  Open space is  fa i r l y  l im i ted  on  s i te .  Where  i t  does  ex is t ,  c lear 

s igh t  l i nes  shou ld  be  c rea ted  in to  and  ou t  o f  these  open spaces  th roughout  the 

campus.  Loca t ion  o f  t rees  shou ld  cons ider  so la r  o r ien ta t ion  to  bes t  p rov ide  shade 

a t  appropr ia te  t imes  o f  day  in  re la t ion  to  sea t ing  a reas .

3 .  Quadrang les :  There  i s  no  space fo r  quadrang les  on  th is  campus.

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1 3 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

4.  Bu i ld ings :  Avo id  p lan t ing  too  c lose  to  bu i ld ings  fo r  fu tu re  ma in tenance cons idera t ions . 

Respec t  s igh t  l i nes  f rom w i th in  and  to  bu i ld ings .

5 .  Park ing  Lo ts :  P lace  t rees  ad jacent  to  and  w i th in  park ing  lo ts  wh ich  p rov ide  shade and 

a id  in  reduc t ion  o f  the  u rban heat  i s land  e f fec t .  Avo id  spec ies  known to  d rop  leaves  o r 

b looms wh ich  may s ta in  cars  o r  cause  ma in tenance issues  to  ad jacent  pavement .  Ensure 

p roper  p lan t ing  space is  p rov ided  fo r  roo ts  o f  t ree  to  a l low hea l thy  g rowth  and avo id 

damage to  pavement  a reas  f rom roo ts .  Cons ider  use  o f  roo t  bar r ie rs  where  p lan t ing 

a reas  con f in ing .

6 .  S to rmwater  Fac i l i t i es :  There  a re  no  s to rmwater  fac i l i t i es  on  s i te .

7 .  L igh t ing :  Trees  sha l l  be  loca ted  to  avo id  con f l i c ts  w i th  pedes t r ian  and  veh icu la r  use 

a rea  l igh t ing  inc lud ing  bu t  no t  l im i ted  to  wa lk ing  pa ths ,  w i th in  park ing  lo ts ,  ad jacent  to 

bu i ld ings ,  e tc .  Cons idera t ion  must  be  g iven  no t  on ly  to  the  t rees  a t  t ime o f  p lan t ing  bu t 

a lso  in  accordance w i th  what  the  mature  s ize  o f  the  t ree  w i l l  be  in  years  to  come.

8 .  U t i l i t i es :  Prov ide  coord ina t ion  w i th  p roposed and ex is t ing  u t i l i t i es  –  above and 

be low ground.  Cons ider  mature  s ize  o f  roo ts  and  canop ies  o f  t rees  to  avo id  fu tu re 

con f l i c t .  Trees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  ten  (10)  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom underground 

u t i l i t i es .  When w i th in  ten  (10)  fee t ,  roo t  bar r ie rs  shou ld  be  p laced d i rec t l y  ad jacent  to 

underground u t i l i t i es  th rough c lose  coord ina t ion  w i th  u t i l i t y  p rov iders .  Canopy  t rees 

shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  th i r t y  (30)  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom overhead u t i l i t i es .  Wi th in 

th i r t y  (30)  fee t ,  unders to ry  t rees  tha t  reach  a  mature  he igh t  o f  no  more  than  f i f teen  (15) 

fee t  shou ld  be  used.

9 .  Pavement :  Trees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  f i ve  (5 )  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom edges 

o f  pavement  where  poss ib le .  When w i th in  f i ve  (5 )  fee t ,  roo t  bar r ie rs  shou ld  be  p laced 

d i rec t l y  ad jacent  to  pavement .

CRIME PREVENTION THROUGH ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN (CPTED)

CPTED pr inc ip les  must  be  met  when cons ider ing  t ree  se lec t ion  and  p lacement .  The  f i ve 

p r inc ip les  inc lude  na tu ra l  surve i l lance ,  na tu ra l  access  con t ro l ,  te r r i to r ia l  re in fo rcement , 

ac t i v i t y  suppor t  and  ma in tenance.  Fo l low ing  a re  descr ip t ions  o f  each  p r inc ip le  to 

cons ider  in  re la t ion  to  t rees :

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1372024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

1.  NATURAL SURVEILLANCE –  The in tended users  can  observe  the  p roper ty. 

E f fec t i ve  l igh t ing  o f  a  p roper ty  i s  an  example  o f  na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

2 .  NATURAL ACCESS CONTROL –  Cont ro l l i ng  and  reduc ing  the  number  o f  access 

po in ts  to  a  p roper ty.  Gated  communi t ies  a re  an  example  o f  access  con t ro l .

3 .  TERRITORIAL REINFORCEMENT –  Crea t ing  a  c lear  de l inea t ion  o f  space  and 

separa tes  your  space  f rom non- leg i t imate  users .

4 .  ACTIVITY SUPPORT –  P lac ing  ac t i v i t y  where  ind iv idua ls  become par t  o f  the 

na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

5 .  MAINTENANCE –  Regu la r l y  schedu led  ma in tenance rou t ine  w i l l  ensure  the 

p roper ty  demonst ra tes  te r r i to r ia l i t y  and  na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

MAINTENANCE,  OPERATIONS,  & EMERGENCY VEHICLES

Main tenance is  an  in tegra l  cons idera t ion  in  deve lopment  o f  the  campus.  As  p lan t 

mater ia l  i s  se lec ted  and loca ted ,  coord ina t ion  sha l l  occur  w i th  ma in tenance s ta f f 

to  ensure  a  p lan  wh ich  they  can  ma in ta in  in  perpe tu i ty  in  a  way  tha t  meets  the 

des ign  v is ion .  Tree  p lan t ing  loca t ions  must  cons ider  the  spec ia l  needs  o f  serv ice 

opera t ions ,  la rge  t ruck  de l i ve r ies  and  emergency  veh ic les .  Tree  se lec t ion  sha l l  a lso 

cons ider  i r r iga t ion  needs  and s t r i ve  to  ach ieve  xer iscape where  poss ib le  to  he lp 

reduce water  use .

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1 3 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

CANOPY TREES CANOPY TREES UNDERSTORY TREES PALMS

NUTTALL OAK

SWAMP CHESTNUT OAK
SHUMARD OAK

WILLOW OAK
MAPLE BLACK
GUM RIVER BIRCH
FLORIDA ELM

REDBAY

WATER HICKORY
LOBLOLLY BAY

AMERICAN BEECH

TULIP POPLAR EASTERN

AMERICAN HOLLY

RED CEDAR SYCAMORE

EASTERN PALATKA HOLLY

POND CYPRESS

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA
BALD CYPRESS

EASTERN REDBUD SABAL PALM

DAHOON HOLLY

YAUPON HOLLY
WAX MYRTLE

SWEETBAY MAGNOLIA
DOWNY SERVICEBERRY
FRINGETREE

LONGLEAF PINE

PIGNUT HICKORY

AMERICAN HORNBEAM
PERSIMMON

N A T I V E  T R E E  S P E C I ES

CANOPY TREES CANOPY TREES UNDERSTORY TREES PALMS

N O N - N A T I V E  T R E E  S P E C I ES

LOBLOLLY PINE
SLASH PINE SAUCER MAGNOLIA

CRAPE MYRTLE [SPP.]

STAR MAGNOLIA

WASHINGTON PALM

GHAZVINI  CENTER



1392024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

SUMMARY

Tra ined  hea l th  care  p ro fess iona ls  a re  in  h igh  demand across  the  na t ion  w i th  one 

in  every  e igh t  Amer icans  employed by  th is  indus t ry.  The  grea te r  Ta l lahassee area 

i s  no  except ion  w i th  loca l  and  sur round ing  count ies  hea l thcare  p rov iders  and 

hosp i ta ls  in  despera te  need o f  add i t iona l  hea l thcare  workers .

TSC and the  Ghazv in i  Center  s t r i ve  to  meet  the  needs  o f  the  sur round ing 

hea l thcare  agenc ies  by  de l i ve r ing  hea l thcare  g raduates  in  a  var ie ty  o f  d isc ip l ines . 

They  a re  commi t ted  to  p rov id ing  we l l  t ra ined  hea l th  care  personne l  to  the  loca l 

hea l thcare  communi ty.  I t s  h igh  ca l iber  leve l  o f  t ra in ing  has  been recogn ized 

by  severa l  na t iona l  o rgan iza t ions  fo r  the i r  g raduat ion  success  ra tes  and  the i r 

economica l  on- l ine  t ra in ing  cur r i cu lum.

Due to  the  h igh  leve l  o f  demand fo r  add i t iona l  accred i ted  hea l thcare  personne l , 

loca l  hosp i ta ls  and  o ther  hea l thcare  agenc ies  have  pressed TSC to  inc rease  the 

number  o f  accred i ted  hea l thcare  g raduates .  The  Center  has  recent ly  doub led  the 

number  o f  nurs ing  s tudents  and  doub led  the  s ize  o f  i t s  s imu la t ion  cen te r  w i th in  i t s 

ex is t ing  foo tp r in t .  To  meet  th is  add i t iona l  demand TSC has  per fo rmed conceptua l 

s tud ies  fo r  a  s ign i f i can t  add i t ion  to  th is  campus.  The concept  p roposes  a  two 

s to ry  33 ,000 square  foo t  add i t ion  to  the  campus.  G iven  the  cur ren t  h igh  demand 

and poss ib le  inc rease  in  demand in  the  coming  years  TSC may need to  cons ider  a 

th ree-s to ry  add i t ion  w i th  the  top  f loor  bu i l t  ou t  la te r.

When th is  Arch i tec t  f i r s t  con tac ted  the  leadersh ip  a t  the  F lo r ida  Depar tment 

o f  Educat ion  about  th is  Master  P lan  update ,  they  sa id  the  expec ta t ion  was  fo r 

S ta te  Co l leges  to  “be  ab le  to  tu rn  on  a  d ime to  suppor t  and  meet  the  needs  o f 

the i r  communi ty ” .  I  be l ieve  tha t  TSC and the  Ghazv in i  Centers  response to  the 

hea l thcare  communi t ies  needs  a re  a  per fec t  example  o f  th is  approach .

GHAZVINI  CENTER



TS
C 

Ga
ds

de
n 

Ce
nt

er

5



1412024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

I N D E X

O v e r v i e w. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 4 2

E x i s t i n g  C a m p u s  a n d  F u t u r e  P r o j e c t s  M a p. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 4 5

F u t u r e  P r o j e c t s  N a r r at i v e s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 4 6

S t o r m Wat e r  N a r r at i v e  &  B a s i n  M a p. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 47

E n v i r o n m e n ta l  I n i t i at i v e s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 4 8

P r o p e r t y  H o l d i n g s  M a p. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 4 9

P r o j e c t e d  S pa c e  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 5 0

C i r c u l at i o n  a n d  Pa r k i n g  P r o j e c t i o n s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 5 1

L a n d s c a p e  N a r r at i v e . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 5 2

S u m m a r y. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 5 7

GADSDEN CENTER



1 4 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

OVERVIEW 

Gadsden County  i s  a  smal l ,  l a rge ly  ru ra l ,  ma jo r i t y -minor i t y  communi ty  w i th  t remendous 

po ten t ia l ,  bu t  a lso  many  cha l lenges .  More  than  25% o f  the  popu la t ion  l i ve  be low 

the  federa l  pover ty  th resho ld  and  more  than  80% o f  s tudents  a re  e l ig ib le  fo r  f ree 

o r  reduced-pr ice  lunch ,  mak ing  i t  one  o f  the  most  impover ished count ies  in  F lo r ida .  

Wi th  more  than  20% o f  the  popu la t ion  over  the  age o f  25  w i th  less  than  a  h igh  schoo l 

d ip loma,  educat ion  represents  a  t remendous  oppor tun i ty  fo r  economic  mob i l i t y  fo r 

res iden ts  o f  Gadsden. 

TSC’s  Gadsden Center  was  es tab l i shed in  2016 to  he lp  p rov ide  comprehens ive 

educat iona l  suppor t  serv ices  and  anchor  work fo rce  t ra in ing  oppor tun i t ies .  Thanks  to  our 

successes ,  the  Co l lege  seeks  to  g row in  severa l  c r i t i ca l  a reas  w i th  demonst ra ted  need: 

•  Expand our  work fo rce  t ra in ing  p rogramming in  Heat ing ,  Vent i la t ion ,  A i r  Cond i t ion ing , 

Ref r igera t ion  (HVAC) ,  wh ich  cur ren t l y  has  a  100% job  p lacement  ra te .

•  Add new hea l thcare  p rogramming in  Pa t ien t  Care  Techn ic ian  cer t i f i ca t ion ,  and  expand 

our  nurs ing  ass is tan t ,  ph lebo tomy,  and  home hea l th  a ide  p rograms.

•  Expand our  Eag le  Connec t ions  p rogram fo r  s tudents  w i th  in te l lec tua l  d isab i l i t i es .

•  Expand our  in -demand Genera l  Educat ion  Deve lopment  (GED®)  p repara t ion  and 

Eng l i sh  as  a  Second Language (ESOL)  p rograms.

•  Add add i t iona l  admiss ions  and adv is ing  suppor t  personne l  fo r  s tudents  who w ish  to 

con t inue  the i r  educa t ion  a t  TSC.

HEALTHCARE PROGRAMS

TSC wi l l  expand the  cur ren t  hea l thcare  educat ion  p rograms a t  the  Gadsden Center 

to  inc lude  Pat ien t  Care  Techn ic ian  (PCT) ,  a  600-hour  p rogram des igned to  p repare 

s tudents  fo r  employment  as  advanced c ross  t ra ined  nurs ing  ass is tan ts ,  inc lud ing  Hea l th 

Care  Techn ic ians ,  Pa t ien t  Care  Ass is tan ts ,  Nurs ing  A ides  and Order l ies ,  Home Hea l th 

A ides ,  o r  A l l i ed  Hea l th  Ass is tan ts .   Th is  PCT program o f fe rs  a  b road foundat ion  o f 

knowledge and sk i l l s ,  expand ing  the  t rad i t iona l  ro le  o f  the  nurs ing  ass is tan t ,  fo r  bo th 

acu te  and  long- te rm care  se t t ings . 

GADSDEN CENTER



1432024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

Along w i th  the  PCT program,  the  new space wou ld  p rov ide  fo r  add i t iona l  s tudents 

in  the  ex is t ing  a reas  o f  Home Hea l th  A ide ,  Cer t i f i ed  Med ica l  Ass is tan t ,  Nurs ing 

Ass is tan t  and  Cer t i f i ed  Ph lebo tomy Techn ic ian .  

•  Accord ing  to  the  Bureau o f  Labor  S ta t i s t i cs ,  employment  in  the  hea l thcare  f ie ld  i s 

p ro jec ted  to  g row 16% over  the  nex t  decade.  

•  Hea l thcare  w i l l  add  about  2 .6  mi l l i on  jobs  to  the  economy,  more  than  any  o ther 

sec to r. 

•  There  a re  over  20 ,000 vacant  nurse  open ings  across  F lo r ida . 

•  Cur ren t l y  on  Indeed,  there  a re  1 ,447  hea l thcare  jobs  in  the  Ta l lahassee 

Met ropo l i tan  S ta t i s t i ca l  Area  wh ich  inc ludes  Gadsden County

EAGLE CONNECTIONS

TSC wi l l  expand i t s  ce lebra ted  Eag le  Connec t ions  p rogram to  the  Gadsden Center. 

Eag le  Connec t ions  inc reases  independent  l i v ing  and  employment  oppor tun i t ies 

fo r  s tudents  w i th  in te l lec tua l  d isab i l i t i es  by  he lp ing  them earn  an  employment 

c redent ia l ,  employab i l i t y  sk i l l s  and  p rov ides  fo r  in te rnsh ip  oppor tun i t ies .  The 

program is  cur ren t l y  o f fe red  on  ma in  campus,  and  opera tes  in  par tnersh ip  w i th 

F lo r ida  Pos tsecondary  Comprehens ive  Trans i t ion  Program,  the  Leon County  Schoo ls 

Trans i t ion  Program,  the  F lo r ida  Agency  fo r  Persons  w i th  D isab i l i t i es  and  Vocat iona l 

Rehab i l i ta t ion .  

•  I t  i s  es t imated  tha t  12% o f  F lo r ida  res iden ts  have  a  cogn i t i ve  d isab i l i t y.

•  S tudents  w i th  cogn i t i ve  d isab i l i t i es  have  a  h igh  schoo l  g raduat ion  ra te  o f  67% is 

near ly  20% lower  than  o ther  s tudents .  

•  US News & Wor ld  Repor ts  s ta tes  tha t  on ly  25% o f  s tudents  w i th  an  in te l lec tua l 

d isab i l i t y  go  on  to  a t tend  co l lege .  

•  For  peop le  w i th  in te l lec tua l  d isab i l i t i es  the  employment  ra te  i s  on ly  19%.

GADSDEN CENTER



1 4 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

GED® AND ESOL

TSC wi l l  expand the  ex is t ing ,  in -demand GED® prepara t ion  p rogramming to  p rov ide  in -

c lass  ins t ruc t ion ,  books  and mater ia ls  and  p repara t ion  so f tware ,  as  we l l  as  counse l ing 

and  gu idance fo r  the  admiss ion  p rocess  to  TSC’s  many  degree  p rograms. 

•  An  es t imated  4 ,000  Gadsden County  res iden ts  aged 25  years  o r  o lder  do  no t  have  a 

h igh  schoo l  d ip loma.  Another  1 ,900  have  less  than  a  9 th  g rade educat ion .

•  Accord ing  to  the  Bureau o f  Labor  S ta t i s t i cs ,  ind iv idua ls  who d id  no t  comple te  h igh 

schoo l  had  an  8% unemployment  ra te  compared  to  6% fo r  h igh  schoo l  g raduates  and  3% 

fo r  co l lege  g raduates .

GADSDEN CENTER



T S C  G A D S D E N  C E N T E R  E X I S T I N G  &  F U T U R E  P R O J E C T S  M A P T S C  G A D S D E N  C E N T E R  E X I S T I N G  & 
F U T U R E  P R O J E C T S  M A P

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7 
 

LEGEND 

1 EXISTING MULTI-PURPOSE BLDG 
 

2 EXISTING PARKING LOT 
 

3 FUTURE TWO STORY CLASSROOM BLDG 
 

4 FUTURE TWO STORY PARKING DECK 
 

3 5 VEHICLE RAMP 
5 

1 6 EXISTING RETENTION POND 

4 7 SUBMITTAL PENDING TO VACATE KENT STREET 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

[  02-0003 GSC ]

N

1 4 52024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



1462024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

FUTURE PROJECTS  NARRATIVE 

CLASSROOM AND LABORATORY BUILDING ADDITION

Due to  the  inc reased educat iona l  and  work fo rce  deve lopment  needs  o f  Gadsden 

County  TSC has  en la rged i t s  p rogram o f fe r ings  and prepared  conceptua l  s tud ies 

fo r  add i t iona l  c lassroom space on  the i r  Gadsden Campus to  address  tha t  need.  A 

leg is la t i ve  budget  reques t  was  sen t  to  the  s ta te  leg is la tu re  th is  pas t  sess ion  bu t 

fa i led  to  make i t  i n to  the  f ina l  budget .

The proposed bu i ld ing  add i t ion  wou ld  cons is t  o f  a  two-s to ry  c lassroom and 

labora to ry  bu i ld ing  o f  approx imate ly  15 ,000 square  fee t  and  a  25 ,000 two leve l 

park ing  deck  and veh ic le  ramp to  p rov ide  the  add i t iona l  park ing  spaces  requ i red  fo r 

the  add i t ion . 

The  c lassroom bu i ld ing  wou ld  have  so la r  pane ls  on  the  roo f  and  the  upper  park ing 

deck  leve l  w i l l  be  covered  by  a  so la r  canopy.

The new bu i ld ing  add i t ion  wou ld  a l low space fo r  approx imate ly  200  add i t iona l 

s tudents  i f  se t  up  fo r  lab  space  a lone . 

Cur ren t l y  underway  is  a  reques t  to  the  C i ty  o f  Qu incy  to  vaca te  Kent  S t ree t  tha t 

runs  a long  the  eas te rn  p roper ty  l i ne .  I f  approved th is  wou ld  ex tend  the  eas te rn 

p roper ty  l i ne  approx imate ly  twenty - f i ve  fee t  to  the  eas t .

The ex is t ing  s to rmwater  management  a rea  was  o r ig ina l l y  s ized  fo r  fu l l  bu i ld  ou t 

o f  the  p roper ty  so  no  expans ion  o f  th is  sys tem is  an t i c ipa ted  w i th  the  add i t iona l 

bu i ld ing  and park ing  deck  add i t ion .

GADSDEN CENTER



1472024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

STORMWATER NARRATIVE

The Gadsden Center ’s  s to rmwater  i s  cur ren t l y  d ischarged to  an  on-s i te  re ten t ion 

pond.  The pond was  or ig ina l l y  des igned and s ized  to  accommodate  a l l  the 

s to rmwater  run-o f f  f rom the  s i te  a t  fu l l  bu i ld  ou t .  There fo re ,  i f  deve lopment  o f  the 

s i te  s tays  w i th in  the  parameters  o f  the  o r ig ina l  p ro jec t  permi ts  no  add i t iona l  a rea 

w i l l  be  requ i red  fo r  th is  func t ion .

GADSDEN CENTER

N



1 4 82024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

ENVIRONMENTAL  IN IT IAT IVES

The ex is t ing  mu l t i -purpose  bu i ld ing  p resent ly  on  s i te  was  des igned as  a  “ne t  zero” 

energy  e f f i c ien t  bu i ld ing .  I t  was  des igned w i th  a  we l l - insu la ted  therma l  enve lope ,  energy 

e f f i c ien t  HVAC equ ipment  and  l igh t ing  sys tems a long  w i th  roo f  mounted  so la r  pane ls . 

Any  energy  tha t  had  to  be  d rawn f rom the  e lec t r i ca l  g r id  wou ld  be  fed  back  to  the  g r id  so 

tha t  annua l l y  the  ne t  energy  usage f rom the  g r id  was  zero .

To  da te  the  so la r  pane ls  have  no t  been ins ta l led  so  th is  c r i t i ca l  component  w i l l  need to 

be  added in  the  fu tu re .

GADSDEN CENTER



1492024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

PROPERTY  HOLDINGS MAP

The Gadsden Centers  p roper ty  s i te  cons is ts  o f  f i ve  separa te  parce ls .  The  proper ty  i s 

bounded by  Pat  Thomas Parkway,  Kent  S t ree t ,  Laura  S t ree t  and  West  C la rk  S t ree t  on  the 

West ,  Eas t ,  South  and  Nor th  respec t i ve ly.

PARCEL #3-12-2N-4W-0000-
00244-10001.033 Acres

PARCEL #3-12-2N-
4W-0000-00244-
10001.033 Acres

PARCEL #3-12-2N-
4W-0000-00244-
0900.172 Acres PARCEL #3-12-2N-

4W-0000-00244-
0700.329 Acres

PA
RC

EL
 #

3-
12

-2
N-

4W
-0

00
0-

00
24

4-
08

00
.1

43
 A

cr
es

GADSDEN CENTER

N



1 5 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

PROJECTED SPACE NEEDS 

Sta t i s t i cs  l i s ted  in  the  Overv iew par t  o f  th is  repor t  show tha t  Gadsden County  has  a 

s ign i f i can t  percen tage o f  i t s  popu la t ion  tha t  have  no t  comple ted  h igh  schoo l  resu l t ing  in 

low income and low employment  p rospec ts .

In  2023 the  S ta te  Senator  fo r  Gadsden County  asked the  Co l lege  to  expand the  capac i ty 

o f  the  Gadsden Center  to  ra ise  the  educat ion  leve l  o f  the  popu lace  and prov ide  t ra in ing 

fo r  be t te r  employment  and  income prospec ts .

Subsequent ly  the  co l lege  s ta r ted  an  a rch i tec tu ra l  conceptua l  s tudy  to  de te rmine  the 

feas ib i l i t y  o f  en la rg ing  the  campus bu i ld ings  to  f ind  ou t  how many add i t iona l  s tudents 

cou ld  be  accommodated  on  the  campus.  The resu l t ing  s tudy  showed tha t  approx imate ly 

two-hundred  s tudents  cou ld  be  added in  a  work fo rce  deve lopment  lab  type  des ign .  A 

leg is la t i ve  budget  reques t  was  submi t ted  in  the  2024 leg is la tu re  sess ion  bu t  d id  no t 

make the  f ina l  budget .

Cur ren t l y  a  reques t  to  vaca te  an  ad jacent  s t ree t  i s  be ing  p repared  fo r  submi t ta l  to  the 

C i ty  o f  Qu incy.  I f  approved,  i t  w i l l  add  more  p roper ty  to  the  campus.

When approved and the  p ro jec t  i s  comple ted  the  campus w i l l  have  max imized  i t s  bu i ld -

ou t  capac i ty  and  more  p roper ty  w i l l  need to  be  ob ta ined  fo r  fu tu re  g rowth .

GADSDEN CENTER



1512024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

CIRCULATION & PARKING PROJECT IONS 

The cur ren t  park ing  accommodat ion  i s  su f f i c ien t  fo r  the  ex is t ing  fac i l i t y  based on 

square  foo tage and a t tendance ca lcu la t ions .

The proposed fu tu re  add i t ion  descr ibed  here in  w i l l  requ i re  add i t iona l  park ing 

spaces .  One hundred  add i t iona l  park ing  spaces  wou ld  be  needed to  comply  w i th 

app l i cab le  park ing  o rd inances .  To  th is  number  a  d ivers i t y  fac to r  o f  twenty  percen t 

was  app l ied  s ince  a l l  l abs  and  c lassrooms are  no t  a lways  fu l l y  occup ied .  Th is 

resu l ted  in  a  requ i rement  fo r  e igh ty  add i t iona l  spaces .  To  meet  th is  requ i rement  an 

e leva ted  park ing  deck  was  requ i red .

A reques t  to  the  C i ty  o f  Qu incy  i s  be ing  p repared  to  ask  fo r  Kent  S t ree t  to  the  eas t 

o f  the  p roper ty  to  be  vaca ted .  I f  success fu l  add i t iona l  park ing  cou ld  be  ins ta l led .

GADSDEN CENTER



1 5 22024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

LANDSCAPE NARRATIVE

OVERVIEW & SUMMARY

The landscape nar ra t i ve  p rov ides  gu idance fo r  appropr ia te  t ree  spec ies  se lec t ion 

and  loca t iona l  c r i te r ia  fo r  the  Gadsden Center  campus.  I t  w i l l  work  in  concer t  w i th 

the  Conceptua l  Landscape Master  P lan  wh ich  p rov ides  a  phys ica l  con tex t  sugges t ing 

where  t rees  may be  loca ted  on  campus.  The campus is  qu i te  smal l  w i th  l im i ted  g rowth 

p roposed.  The in ten t  o f  the  master  p lan  and t ree  pa le t te  i s  to  p rov ide  t rees  to  the 

campus wh ich  cur ren t l y  has  on ly  a  few t rees  on  campus.

The spec ies  and  p lacement  o f  t rees  w i l l  c rea te  a  un i f ied  f ramework  across  the  campus. 

The Landscape Master  P lan  re f lec ts  the  add i t ion  o f  one  bu i ld ing  and expanded park ing . 

A l though l im i ted  in  improvements ,  des ign  cons is tency  and v isua l  cohes ion  w i l l  be 

ach ieved th rough prac t i ca l  des ign  so lu t ions  tha t  a re  ma in tenance f r iend ly.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

The campus is  one  c i t y  b lock  in  s ize ,  bordered  by  s t ree ts  on  a l l  four  s ides .  One 

bu i ld ing ,  the  TSC Gadsden Center,  a  park ing  lo t ,  s idewa lks  and  a  s to rm pond are 

the  on ly  bu i l t  e lements  on  s i te .  A few Southern  L ive  Oaks  a re  a long  the  edges  o f  the 

p roper ty.  Where  poss ib le ,  these  shou ld  be  p reserved .  Otherw ise ,  the  p roper ty  i s  most ly 

lawn.

INVASIVE EXOTIC PLANT REMOVAL

Due to  the  deve loped na tu re  o f  the  campus,  invas ive  exo t i c  p lan ts  a re  no t  as  p reva len t . 

Remova l  o f  invas ive  and  exo t i c  p lan t  spec ies  f rom the  s to rm pond shou ld  be  conduc ted 

to  a l low the  es tab l i shment  o f  na t i ve  spec ies  and  reduce spread on to  the  deve loped 

por t ions .  Iden t i f i ca t ion  and  remova l  o f  invas ive  spec ies  w i l l  be  conduc ted  in  accordance 

w i th  the  gu idance pub l i shed by  the  F lo r ida  Invas ive  Spec ies  Counc i l .

GADSDEN CENTER



1532024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

TREE SPECIES SELECTION

A s t rong  emphas is  i s  p laced upon the  use  o f  na t i ve  spec ies .  A l though a  smal l 

campus,  the  p lan t ing  o f  monocu l tu re  communi t ies  i s  no t  a l lowed to  ensure  res i l i ence 

aga ins t  d isease  or  in fes ta t ion .  A l i s t  o f  approved t ree  spec ies  i s  inc luded here in  bu t 

i s  no t  a l l  i nc lus ive  and  no t  meant  to  be  the  on ly  spec ies  a l lowed.  Spec ies  p roposed 

wh ich  a re  no t  on  the  l i s t  sha l l  be  rev iewed and approved by  TSC.  Cons idera t ion 

w i l l  be  g iven  to  eco log ica l ,  economic ,  and  aes the t i c  des i res  ba lanced w i th  cur ren t l y 

ava i lab le  nursery  s tock  w i th in  the  reg ion .

TREE PLACEMENT

Areas  o f  h igh  v is ib i l i t y  and  impor tance  requ i re  a  fo rma l  and  cons is ten t  layou t  o f 

t rees  whereas  a reas  o f  pass ive  use  p rov ide  space fo r  a  more  na tu ra l  a r rangement 

o f  t rees  to  mimic  compl imentary  a reas  w i th in  and  ad jacent  to  the  campus.  There  do 

no t  appear  to  be  eco log ica l l y  sens i t i ve  a reas  on  the  p roper ty  bu t  assessment  shou ld 

be  cons idered  fo r  fu tu re  expans ion .  A lways  use  the  r igh t  p lan t  fo r  the  r igh t  p lace .

Fo l low ing  a re  descr ip t ions  o f  t rea tments  to  the  ex is t ing  spaces  on  campus:

1 .  S t ree tscapes :  S t ree ts  border ing  a l l  s ides  o f  campus.  To  c rea te  an  enhanced 

ar r i va l  and  depar tu re  exper ience ,  these  cor r idors  shou ld  be  p lan ted  w i th  canopy 

t rees  a t  a  spac ing  in te rva l  o f  25  to  50  fee t  on  cen te r.  Canopy  spec ies  shou ld  be 

used tha t  na tu ra l l y  l imb up  a t  matur i t y  to  a l low an  open unders to ry  to  a l low passage 

o f  veh ic les  w i thou t  con f l i c t  wh i le  p rov id ing  shade a long  the  rou te  and  v iews ou tward 

f rom the  cor r idor  ac ross  the  campus.  Offse t  t rees  f rom edge o f  t rave l  lanes  w i th 

cons idera t ion  o f  what  veh ic les  may need ver t i ca l  and  hor izon ta l  c learance .  The 

campus is  bordered  on  the  wes t  by  the  h igh  t ra f f i c  roadway o f  Pa t  Thomas Parkway 

and a  la rge  warehouse across  the  parkway.  Trees  can  be  used to  bu f fe r  the  sounds 

o f  h igh  t ra f f i c  and  v iews o f  the  warehouse.

2 .  Open Space:  These areas  a re  compr ised  o f  expans ive  lawns  tha t  inc lude 

pedes t r ian  pa ths  and  canopy  t rees .  C lear  s igh t  l i nes  shou ld  be  c rea ted  in to  and 

ou t  o f  these  open spaces  th roughout  the  campus.  Loca t ion  o f  t rees  shou ld  cons ider 

so la r  o r ien ta t ion  to  bes t  p rov ide  shade a t  appropr ia te  t imes  o f  day  in  re la t ion  to 

sea t ing  a reas .

GADSDEN CENTER



1 5 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

3.  Quadrang les :  I t  i s  no t  env is ioned there  w i l l  be  any  t rue  quadrang les  on  th is  campus.

4 .  Bu i ld ings :  Avo id  p lan t ing  too  c lose  to  bu i ld ings  fo r  fu tu re  ma in tenance cons idera t ions . 

Respec t  s igh t  l i nes  f rom w i th in  and  to  bu i ld ings .

5 .  Park ing  Lo ts :  P lace  t rees  ad jacent  to  and  w i th in  park ing  lo ts  wh ich  p rov ide  shade and 

a id  in  reduc t ion  o f  the  u rban heat  i s land  e f fec t .  Avo id  spec ies  known to  d rop  leaves  o r 

b looms wh ich  may s ta in  cars  o r  cause  ma in tenance issues  to  ad jacent  pavement .  Ensure 

p roper  p lan t ing  space is  p rov ided  fo r  roo ts  o f  t ree  to  a l low hea l thy  g rowth  and avo id 

damage to  pavement  a reas  f rom roo ts .  Cons ider  use  o f  roo t  bar r ie rs  where  p lan t ing 

a reas  con f in ing .

6 .  S to rmwater  Fac i l i t i es :  P lan t  to  rec rea te  na tu ra l  a r rangements  o f  t rees  to  the  ex ten t 

p roper  ma in tenance and access  can  be  p rov ided .  Loca te  p lan t ings  to  avo id  fac i l i t i es 

be ing  eyesores  to  the  pub l i c  and  sc reen fenc ing  where  poss ib le .  Rather,  they  can 

become an  amen i ty  w i th in  the  s i te .

7 .  L igh t ing :  Trees  sha l l  be  loca ted  to  avo id  con f l i c ts  w i th  pedes t r ian  and  veh icu la r  use 

a rea  l igh t ing  inc lud ing  bu t  no t  l im i ted  to  wa lk ing  pa ths ,  w i th in  park ing  lo ts ,  ad jacent  to 

bu i ld ings ,  e tc .  Cons idera t ion  must  be  g iven  no t  on ly  to  the  t rees  a t  t ime o f  p lan t ing  bu t 

a lso  in  accordance w i th  what  the  mature  s ize  o f  the  t ree  w i l l  be  in  years  to  come.

8 .  U t i l i t i es :  Prov ide  coord ina t ion  w i th  p roposed and ex is t ing  u t i l i t i es  –  above and 

be low ground.  Cons ider  mature  s ize  o f  roo ts  and  canop ies  o f  t rees  to  avo id  fu tu re 

con f l i c t .  Trees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  ten  (10)  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom underground 

u t i l i t i es .  When w i th in  ten  (10)  fee t ,  roo t  bar r ie rs  shou ld  be  p laced d i rec t l y  ad jacent  to 

underground u t i l i t i es  th rough c lose  coord ina t ion  w i th  u t i l i t y  p rov iders .  Canopy  t rees 

shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  th i r t y  (30)  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom overhead u t i l i t i es .  Wi th in 

th i r t y  (30)  fee t ,  unders to ry  t rees  tha t  reach  a  mature  he igh t  o f  no  more  than  f i f teen  (15) 

fee t  shou ld  be  used.

9 .  Pavement :  Trees  shou ld  be  kep t  a  min imum o f  f i ve  (5 )  fee t  hor izon ta l l y  f rom edges 

o f  pavement  where  poss ib le .  When w i th in  f i ve  (5 )  fee t ,  roo t  bar r ie rs  shou ld  be  p laced 

d i rec t l y  ad jacent  to  pavement .

GADSDEN CENTER



1552024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

CRIME PREVENTION THROUGH ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN (CPTED)

CPTED pr inc ip les  must  be  met  when cons ider ing  t ree  se lec t ion  and  p lacement . 

The  f i ve  p r inc ip les  inc lude  na tu ra l  surve i l lance ,  na tu ra l  access  con t ro l ,  te r r i to r ia l 

re in fo rcement ,  ac t i v i t y  suppor t  and  ma in tenance.  Fo l low ing  a re  descr ip t ions  o f  each 

p r inc ip le  to  cons ider  in  re la t ion  to  t rees :

1 .  NATURAL SURVEILLANCE –  The in tended users  can  observe  the  p roper ty. 

E f fec t i ve  l igh t ing  o f  a  p roper ty  i s  an  example  o f  na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

2 .  NATURAL ACCESS CONTROL –  Cont ro l l i ng  and  reduc ing  the  number  o f  access 

po in ts  to  a  p roper ty.  Gated  communi t ies  a re  an  example  o f  access  con t ro l .

3 .  TERRITORIAL REINFORCEMENT –  Crea t ing  a  c lear  de l inea t ion  o f  space  and 

separa tes  your  space  f rom non- leg i t imate  users .

4 .  ACTIVITY SUPPORT –  P lac ing  ac t i v i t y  where  ind iv idua ls  become par t  o f  the 

na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

5 .  MAINTENANCE –  Regu la r l y  schedu led  ma in tenance rou t ine  w i l l  ensure  the 

p roper ty  demonst ra tes  te r r i to r ia l i t y  and  na tu ra l  surve i l lance .

MAINTENANCE,  OPERATIONS,  & EMERGENCY VEHICLES

Main tenance is  an  in tegra l  cons idera t ion  in  deve lopment  o f  the  campus.  As  p lan t 

mater ia l  i s  se lec ted  and loca ted ,  coord ina t ion  sha l l  occur  w i th  ma in tenance s ta f f 

to  ensure  a  p lan  wh ich  they  can  ma in ta in  in  perpe tu i ty  in  a  way  tha t  meets  the 

des ign  v is ion .  Tree  p lan t ing  loca t ions  must  cons ider  the  spec ia l  needs  o f  serv ice 

opera t ions ,  la rge  t ruck  de l i ve r ies  and  emergency  veh ic les .  Tree  se lec t ion  sha l l  a lso 

cons ider  i r r iga t ion  needs  and s t r i ve  to  ach ieve  xer iscape where  poss ib le  to  he lp 

reduce water  use .

GADSDEN CENTER



1 5 62024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

CANOPY TREES CANOPY TREES UNDERSTORY TREES PALMS

NUTTALL OAK

SWAMP CHESTNUT OAK
SHUMARD OAK

WILLOW OAK
MAPLE BLACK
GUM RIVER BIRCH
FLORIDA ELM

REDBAY

WATER HICKORY
LOBLOLLY BAY

AMERICAN BEECH

TULIP POPLAR EASTERN

AMERICAN HOLLY

RED CEDAR SYCAMORE

EASTERN PALATKA HOLLY

POND CYPRESS

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA
BALD CYPRESS

EASTERN REDBUD SABAL PALM

DAHOON HOLLY

YAUPON HOLLY
WAX MYRTLE

SWEETBAY MAGNOLIA
DOWNY SERVICEBERRY
FRINGETREE

LONGLEAF PINE

PIGNUT HICKORY

AMERICAN HORNBEAM
PERSIMMON

N A T I V E  T R E E  S P E C I ES

CANOPY TREES CANOPY TREES UNDERSTORY TREES PALMS

N O N - N A T I V E  T R E E  S P E C I ES

LOBLOLLY PINE
SLASH PINE SAUCER MAGNOLIA

CRAPE MYRTLE [SPP.]

STAR MAGNOLIA

WASHINGTON PALM

GADSDEN CENTER



1572024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

SUMMARY

The Gadsden Campus w i l l  reach  i t s  fu l l  bu i ld -ou t  po ten t ia l  once  the  p roposed 

add i t ion  i s  comple ted .  I t  has  the  po ten t ia l  to  p rov ide  labora to ry  space  fo r  343 

fu l l - t ime s tudents  o r  648  fu l l  t ime s tudents  i f  a l l  spaces  a re  used as  t rad i t iona l 

c lassroom space.  I f  bo th  lab  space and t rad i t iona l  c lassroom space is  con templa ted 

the  approx imate  average capac i ty  wou ld  be  490 s tudents .  To  reach  the  t rad i t iona l 

c lassroom or  average capac i ty  wou ld  requ i re  add i t iona l  p roper ty  to  accommodate 

the  requ i red  park ing  and add i t iona l  s to rmwater  re ten t ion  a reas .

Assuming  the  fund ing  becomes ava i lab le  dur ing  the  2025 leg is la t i ve  sess ion  i t 

seems feas ib le  tha t  the  p ro jec t  cou ld  be  des igned and cons t ruc ted  to  meet  a 

December  2026 open ing  da te .  I t  i s  an t i c ipa ted  tha t  the  cons t ruc t ion  p rocess  wou ld 

have  min imum impac t  on  the  con t inued opera t ion  o f  the  ex is t ing  campus fac i l i t i es .

I t  i s  recommended tha t  the  so la r  a r rays  tha t  were  p lanned fo r  the  o r ig ina l  bu i ld ing 

des ign  be  ins ta l led  when poss ib le .  Th is  wou ld  reduce energy  consumpt ion  and 

comply  w i th  TSC’s  commi tment  to  ma in ta in ing  a  sus ta inab le  env i ronment . 

GADSDEN CENTER



TS
C 

In
no

va
ti

on
 C

en
te

r

6



1592024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

I N D E X

O v e r v i e w. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 6 0

E x i s t i n g  C a m p u s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 6 1

F u t u r e  P r o j e c t s  N a r r at i v e s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 6 2

P r o p e r t y  H o l d i n g s  M a p. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 6 3

P r o j e c t e d  S pa c e  N e e d s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 6 4

S u m m a r y. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 6 5

INNOVATION CENTER



1 6 02024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

OVERVIEW 

TSC’s  Center  fo r  Innova t ion  (CFI )  b r ings  toge ther  the  pub l i c  sec to r,  p r i va te  bus inesses 

and nonpro f i t  o rgan iza t ions  in  one  space.   Recogn iz ing  tha t  we can  prov ide  more 

oppor tun i t ies  to  our  s tudents  and  our  communi ty  by  b reak ing  down s i los ,  CFI  p rov ides 

a  idea l  loca t ion .  Wi th in  the  34 ,000 square  foo t  fac i l i t y,  we  prov ide  techno logy  in fused 

t ra in ing  rooms,  c lassrooms,  and  o f f i ces . 

 

The  Center  i s  home to  The Ins t i tu te  fo r  Nonpro f i t  Innova t ion  and  Exce l lence  ( IN IE)  wh ich 

he lps  loca l  agenc ies  access  the  resources  and t ra in ing  necessary  to  be t te r  fu l f i l l  the i r 

m iss ions .  Through a  focus  on  capac i ty -bu i ld ing ,  co l labora t ion ,  and  c rea t i v i t y,  IN IE  works 

to  enhance the  nonpro f i t  sec to r  and  ensure  tha t  i t  con t inues  to  serve  as  a  d r i v ing  fo rce 

fo r  th is  reg ion ’s  economy and qua l i t y  o f  l i fe .   Soon to  be  co- loca ted  w i th  IN IE ,  i s  the 

Assoc ia t ion  o f  F lo r ida  Co l leges  and the  F lo r ida  Co l lege  Sys tem Ath le t i cs  Assoc ia t ion .  

Bo th  o rgan iza t ions  a re  respons ib le  fo r  p rov id ing  s ta tewide  leadersh ip  to  the  co l leges 

w i th in  the  FCS.  

The  Center  i s  a lso  home to  o rgan iza t ions  tha t  a re  focused on  in fo rmat ion  techno logy 

so lu t ions  and  imp lementa t ion  a t  the  s ta te  leve l .   The  co l lege  has  upgraded and 

expanded ava i lab i l i t y  fo r  bus inesses  and s ta te -w ide  o rgan iza t ions  to  coord ina te  and 

co l labora te  on  techno logy- re la ted  i ssues .   The  F lo r ida  Techno logy  Counc i l  i s  one 

such  par tner.   TSC is  now bu i ld ing  on  these  re la t ionsh ips  to  u t i l i ze  the i r  exper t i se  by 

p rov id ing  in te rnsh ips  and  shadowing  oppor tun i t ies  fo r  our  s tudents  in  cyber -secur i t y  and 

techno logy  f ie lds .  

Our  goa l  i s  to  c rea te  oppor tun i t ies  fo r  our  s tudents  as  we l l  as  rea l  learn ing  exper iences 

as  they  a re  work ing  on  the i r  A .S .  degrees  in  STEM f ie lds .

INNOVATION CENTER



T S C  I N N O V A T I O N  C E N T E R T S C  I N N O V A T I O N  C E N T E R

[  04-0001 CFI  ]

N

1 6 12024 TSC MASTER PLANNING



1622024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

FUTURE PROJECTS  NARRATIVE

The Center  fo r  Innova t ion  Bu i ld ing  i s  under  Co l lege  ownersh ip  as  par t  o f  a  long-

te rm lease  agreement  be tween the  C i ty  o f  Ta l lahassee,  Leon County  Schoo ls ,  and 

the  TSC Dis t r i c t  Board  o f  Trus tees . 

 

S i ted  on  K leman P laza  a t  the  in te rsec t ion  o f  West  Pensaco la  S t ree t  and  South 

Duva l  S t ree t  there  i s  no  room fo r  expand ing  the  bu i ld ing  foo tp r in t .

INNOVATION CENTER



1632024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

PROPERTY  HOLDINGS MAP
P r o p e r t y  H o l d i n g s  M a p  

 

 

LAND OWNED BY THE CITY 

OF TALLAHASSEE,  BUILDING 

BELONGS TO LEON COUNTY 

SCHOOLS.  TALLAHASSEE 

STATE COLLEGE OPERATES IT 

UNDER A LONG TERM LEASE.

INNOVATION CENTER



1 6 42024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

PROJECTED SPACE NEEDS 

No add i t iona l  a rea  can  be  added to  the  ex is t ing  bu i ld ing  foo tp r in t  due  to  i t s  loca t ion  on 

K leman P laza  in  downtown Ta l lahassee.  However  the  in te r io r  o f  the  bu i ld ing  i s  be ing 

remode led  to  accommodate  two tenants  and  the  ex te r io r  o f  the  bu i ld ing  i s  undergo ing 

needed ma in tenance and repa i r.

Cur ren t l y  the  ex te r io r  o f  the  bu i ld ing  i s  be ing  renovated  and waterproo fed  w i th  the 

ex te r io r  wa l l  f i n ish ,  doors ,  w indows,  and  ex te r io r  s ta i rwe l l  be ing  rep laced.

In te r io r  remode l ing  and  renovat ions  a re  under  way  to  a l low the  Assoc ia t ion  o f  F lo r ida 

Co l leges  to  be  loca ted  on  the  th i rd  f loor  and  the  Ins t i tu te  fo r  Non-Pro f i t  Innova t ion  and 

Exce l lence  ( INNIE)  to  be  moved to  the  second f loor.

INNOVATION CENTER



1652024 TSC MASTER PLANNING

SUMMARY 

The Center  fo r  Innova t ion  Bu i ld ing  i s  under  Co l lege  ownersh ip  as  par t  o f  a  long-

te rm lease  agreement  be tween the  C i ty  o f  Ta l lahassee,  Leon County  Schoo ls ,  and 

the  TSC Dis t r i c t  Board  o f  Trus tees .  

S i ted  on  K leman P laza  a t  the  in te rsec t ion  o f  West  Pensaco la  S t ree t  and  South  Duva l 

S t ree t  there  i s  no  room fo r  expand ing  the  bu i ld ing  foo tp r in t .

The  ex te r io r  per imeter  o f  the  two-s to ry  bu i ld ing  serves  as  i t s  lo t  l i nes  separa t ing 

i t  f rom K leman P laza  and es tab l i sh ing  the  l im i ts  o f  TSC’s  respons ib i l i t y  fo r 

ma in tenance and opera t ions .  The P laza  l igh t ing ,  hardscape,  and  landscap ing  a re 

the  respons ib i l i t y  o f  the  c i t y.  Park ing  i s  p rov ided  by  a  connec ted  underground 

park ing  garage.

The bu i ld ing  has  been remode led  severa l  t imes  s ince  TSC took  over  the  bu i ld ing 

c rea t ing  in te r io r  spaces  conduc t i ve  to  co l labora t ion  and  c rea t i v i t y. 

Purpor ted ly  the  bu i ld ing  was  des igned to  rece ive  an  add i t iona l  f loor.  I f  cons idered 

the  bu i ld ing  wou ld  have  to  be  shu t  down dur ing  the  cons t ruc t ion  per iod  wh i le 

add i t iona l  supers t ruc tu re  work  and  the  re loca t ion  o f  roo f top  equ ipment  occur red .

INNOVATION CENTER



444 Appleyard Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32304-2895 

 850.2016200  www.tcc.fl.edu 

 

June 17, 2024 

M  E  M  O  R  A  N  D  U  M 
TO: Jim Murdaugh, Ph.D. 

President 
FROM: Barbara Wills, Ph.D.                                                                                                                    

Vice President for Administrative Services and Chief Business Officer 
   
SUBJECT: College Operating Budget for FY 2024-2025 

 
 
Item Description 
This item is presented for Board approval of the College’s FY 2024-2025 Operating Budget. 
 
Overview and Background 
Pursuant to state Rule 6A-14.0716, the College must prepare and submit a budget for the 
Current Unrestricted Fund to the Chancellor as designee of the Commissioner of Education. 
In accordance with Florida Statutes (section 1011.30), this operating budget must be 
approved by the College’s District Board of Trustees prior to submission to the Department of 
Education (DOE). 
 
Funding/ Financial Implications  
The College’s projected revenues and expense requirements of this budget are reflected in 
the attached DOE budget forms (Exhibit A and Exhibit B). The College developed the 
proposed budget with no increase to tuition and non-course related student fees.  
 
Additionally, this budget includes a reduced nonresident tuition fee for the state’s newly 
created program designed for out-of-state, distance learning students.  This nonresident fee 
will be reserved for only eligible students in specific programs and is authorized for TCC in 
accordance with F.S. 1009.23 (22).   
 
Past Actions by the Board 
There were no previous Board actions required for this item. 
 
Recommended Action 
Approve the College’s FY 2024-2025 Operating Budget. 

 
 



EXHIBIT A
THE FLORIDA COLLEGE SYSTEM
COLLEGE OPERATING BUDGET
ANNUAL BUDGET SUMMARY

 FISCAL YEAR 2024-25

COLLEGE: Tallahassee State College

CURRENT FUNDS - 
UNRESTRICTED

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE - JULY 1, 2024:

ESTIMATED AFR FUND BALANCE - JUNE 30, 2024 (IF DEBIT BALANCE USE "MINUS SIGN" ) $8,245,737
ADD AMOUNT EXPECTED TO BE FINANCED IN FUTURE YEARS (USE PLUS SIGN ) 0

TOTAL RESERVE AND UNENCUMBERED FUND BALANCE - JULY 1, 2024 $8,245,737

ADD:              REVENUES $77,418,701
                       TRANSFERS IN $0

TOTAL RECEIPTS $77,418,701

TOTAL ESTIMATED AVAILABLE $85,664,438

DEDUCT:      EXPENDITURES $77,418,701
                       TRANSFERS OUT $0

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS $77,418,701

ESTIMATED FUND BALANCE - JUNE 30, 2024:

TOTAL AVAILABLE LESS DISBURSEMENTS $8,245,737
ADD ACCRUED LEAVE EXPENSE (GLC 59300) $0

TOTAL ESTIMATED RESERVE AND UNENCUMBERED FUND BALANCE - JUNE 30, 2025 $8,245,737
LESS ESTIMATED AMOUNT EXPECTED TO BE FINANCED IN FUTURE YEARS (GLC 30800) - JUNE 30, 2025 $0

TOTAL ESTIMATED FUND BALANCE - JUNE 30, 2025 $8,245,737

ESTIMATED UNENCUMBERED FUND BALANCE - JUNE 30, 2025 $8,245,737
       (Includes GL's: 30200, 30300, 30400, 30500, 30600, 30700, 30900, and 31100)

PERCENT OF ESTIMATED UNENCUMBERED FUND BALANCE 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2025, TO ESTIMATED FUNDS AVAILABLE 9.63%

CERTIFY BOARD OF TRUSTEES APPROVAL:

COLLEGE PRESIDENT DATE

https://mymailtccfl-my.sharepoint.com/personal/bobby_jones_tcc_fl_edu/Documents/Bobby's Documents/Documents/Documents/Budget/FY 24-25 Budget/2024-25 Annual College Operating Budget - 
Draft 6/3/2024



EXHIBIT B
THE FLORIDA COLLEGE SYSTEM
COLLEGE OPERATING BUDGET

FALL 2024‐25 STUDENT TUITION AND FEE RATES AND BLOCK TUITION 

COLLEGE: Tallahassee State College

RESIDENT STUDENTS
TUITION AND FEES PER CREDIT HOUR & BLOCK TUITION

PROGRAMS TUITION

STUDENT 
FINANCIAL AID 

FEE (1)
STUDENT 

ACTIVITY FEE (1)

CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT 

FEE (1)
TECHNOLOGY 

FEE (1) TOTAL

TUITION AND 
FEES FOR 

ACADEMIC YEAR 
(30 HOURS)

UPPER LEVEL ‐ BACCALAUREATE 91.79 4.59 9.18 18.36 4.59 128.51 3,855.30

LOWER LEVEL ‐ CREDIT (A & P, PSV, DEV ED AND EPI) 76.80 3.84 5.35 11.00 3.84 100.83 3,024.90
CAREER CERTIFICATE AND APPLIED TECHNOLOGY DIPLOMA 69.90 3.39 3.39 3.39 80.07 2,402.10

PROGRAMS BLOCK TUITION TOTAL

BLOCK TUITION 
PER TERM OR 
PER HALF YEAR

VOCATIONAL PREPARATORY (PER TERM) 30.00 30.00 90.00
ADULT GENERAL EDUCATION AND SECONDARY (PER TERM) 30.00 30.00 90.00

VOCATIONAL PREPARATORY (PER HALF YEAR) 0.00 0.00 0.00
ADULT GENERAL EDUCATION AND SECONDARY (PER 1/2 YEAR) 0.00 0.00 0.00

NONRESIDENT STUDENTS    
TUITION AND FEES PER CREDIT HOUR & BLOCK TUITION

PROGRAMS TUITION
OUT‐OF‐STATE 

FEES

STUDENT 
FINANCIAL AID 

FEE (1)
STUDENT 

ACTIVITY FEE (1)

CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT 

FEE (1)
TECHNOLOGY 

FEE (1) TOTAL

TUITION AND 
FEES FOR 

ACADEMIC YEAR 
(30 HOURS)

UPPER LEVEL ‐ BACCALAUREATE 91.79 275.37 18.36 9.18 73.43 18.36 486.49 14,594.70

LOWER LEVEL ‐ CREDIT (A & P, PSV, DEV ED AND EPI) 76.80 230.40 15.36 5.35 44.00 15.36 387.27 11,618.10

CAREER CERTIFICATE AND APPLIED TECHNOLOGY DIPLOMA 69.90 209.70 13.56 13.56 13.56 320.28 9,608.40
DISTANCE LEARNING (2) 76.80 138.48 15.36 44.00 15.36 290.00 8,700.00

PROGRAMS BLOCK TUITION TOTAL

BLOCK TUITION 
PER TERM OR 
PER HALF YEAR

VOCATIONAL PREPARATORY (PER TERM) 30.00 30.00 90.00
ADULT GENERAL EDUCATION AND SECONDARY (PER TERM) 30.00 30.00 90.00

VOCATIONAL PREPARATORY (PER HALF YEAR) 0.00 0.00 0.00
ADULT GENERAL EDUCATION AND SECONDARY (PER 1/2 YEAR) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Note:  

(1) These Fees Are Not Required. The 2024‐25 Fee Audit and Discretionary Fee calculations are provided at the end of the Workbook, to assist the college in verifying that the tuition and fee

 rates are in compliance with sections 1009.22 and 1009.23, Florida Statutes.

(2)HB 1285‐ Beginning with the 2024‐25 academic year, Miami Dade College, Polk State College, and Tallahassee State College are authorized to charge an amount not to exceed $290 per 

credit hour for nonresident tuition and fees for distance learning. Such institutions may phase in this nonresident tuition rate by degree program.



444 Appleyard Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32304-2895 

 850.2016200  www.tcc.fl.edu 

 

June 17, 2024 

M  E  M  O  R  A  N  D  U  M 
TO: Jim Murdaugh, Ph.D. 

President 
FROM: Barbara Wills, Ph.D.                                                                                                                    

Vice President for Administrative Services and Chief Business Officer 
   
SUBJECT: RFQ 2024-02 Award - Pre-Qualification of Construction Manager Services 

 
 
Item Description 
This item requests approval by the District Board of Trustees for the list of Construction 
Managers Pre-Qualified to bid on TCC construction projects estimated to cost up to 
$4,000,000 for the period of June 18, 2024 to June 30, 2025. 
 
Overview and Background 
The District Board of Trustees approved a process that requires contractors to meet specific 
criteria before being invited to bid on TCC renovation, remodeling or new construction 
projects within the threshold amounts. These criteria are outlined in Section 
4.1 of the State Requirements for Educational Facilities and related Florida Statutes. 
 
This RFQ 2024-02 Prequalification’s for Construction Manager Services was released to the 
public on April 12, 2024 via the TCC Purchasing Website and MyFloridaMarketPlace. The 
College received complete and acceptable submittals from the below eight companies on 
May 17, 2024, as a result of this Request for Qualifications (RFQ). 
 

• Allstate Construction, Inc. 
• Childers Construction Company 
• Cook Brothers, Inc. 
• CSI Contracting, Inc. 
• Mad Dog Construction 
• Ram Construction & Development, LLC 
• Rycon Construction 
• Southern Standard Construction LLC 

 
Based on the evaluation criteria outlined in the RFQ, the submittals were evaluated by a 
committee and scored. Part One consisted of an initial review of submittals. The companies 
who met the minimum score of 90 were shortlisted and were to provide formal presentations 
in Part Two.   



The committee unanimously agreed to forego Part Two and solely award based on Part One 
evaluation.   
 
Based upon the qualifications submitted and the results of the evaluation process, the 
following companies are recommended for the award.  
 

• Allstate Construction, Inc. 
• Childers Construction Company 
• Cook Brothers, Inc. 
• CSI Contracting, Inc. 
• Mad Dog Construction 
• Ram Construction & Development, LLC 
• Southern Standard Construction LLC 

 
Funding/ Financial Implications  
Construction projects will be funded by PECO funds (when available), local College funds, or 
other funds as approved by the Board of Trustees. 
 
Past Actions by the Board 
The District Board of Trustees approved the last list of recommended Construction Managers 
on February 19, 2018 and pre-qualified general contractors on January 28, 2019. 
 
Recommended Action 
Approve the recommended list of Pre-Qualified Construction Managers for the period of June 
18, 2024 to June 30, 2025. 

 



444 Appleyard Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32304-2895 

 850.2016200  www.tcc.fl.edu 

 

June 17, 2024 

M  E  M  O  R  A  N  D  U  M 
TO: Jim Murdaugh, Ph.D. 

President 
FROM: Barbara Wills, Ph.D.                                                                                                                    

Vice President for Administrative Services and Chief Business Officer 
  
SUBJECT: Disposition of Surplus Property Assets 

 
 
Item Description 
This item requests Board approval to dispose of property assets designated as surplus. 
 
Overview and Background 
The College has the responsibility to record the College's property assets and conduct an 
annual inventory for the designated items and to periodically dispose of accumulated 
surplus property, assets which are obsolete and serve no useful function or their continued 
use is not economically feasible. These assets may include IT equipment, furniture and 
vehicles, but not facilities or land.  
 
Florida Statutes (section 274.05) allows a government unit discretion to classify as surplus 
any of the property assets that meet the description listed above. The College has deemed 
the items on the following list as surplus in accordance with this statute. 
 
Florida Statutes (section 274.06) allows property assets to be disposed of in the most efficient 
and cost-effective manner as determined by the government unit. The College may offer 
these items for sale according to the provisions of the statute, or the items may be donated or 
destroyed if they are without value. 
 
 
Funding/ Financial Implications  
There are no funding or financial implications. 
 
Past Actions by the Board 
During previous years, the Board has authorized the College to dispose of surplus property 
items in accordance with the procedures defined in Florida statutes. 
 
Recommended Action 
Authorize the College to dispose of the items designated as surplus. 



 
Assets for Surplus / Disposal 

Asset # Description Date 
Acquired 

Purchase 
Amount 

Depreciated 
Value 

Code 

BA-000017351 EMERGENCY CARE SIMULATOR 9/1/2006  37,674.00  0.00 1 

BA-000017352 BABY SIMULATOR 10/1/2006  37,800.00  0.00 1 

BA-000017353 PEDIATRIC CARE SIMULATOR 10/1/2006  37,800.00  0.00 1 

BA-000017373 PEDIATRIC CARE SIMULATOR 7/1/2007  40,999.50  0.00 1 

BA-000017374 BABY SIMULATOR 7/1/2007  40,999.50  0.00 1 

BA-000017496 HAPTICS TRAINING SIMULATOR 2/2/2011  10,230.00  0.00 1 

BA-000017497 HAPTICS TRAINING SIMULATOR 2/2/2011  10,230.00  0.00 1 

BA-000017498 HAPTICS TRAINING SIMULATOR 2/2/2011  10,230.00  0.00 1 

BA-000017509 PEDIATRIC CARE SIMULATOR 11/30/2010  48,316.07  0.00 1 

BA-000017510 METI SIMULATOR 11/30/2010  42,257.10  0.00 1 

BA-000017511 METI SIMULATOR 11/30/2010  42,257.10  0.00 1 

      

 
Asset Codes: 

1 Obsolete - To Be Disposed 
2 Salvaged – To be Used for Parts 
3 Surplus - To Be Sold or Donated 
4 Trade - Asset To Be Used for Trade-In Value  
5 Lost/Stolen (Police report filed) 

 



444 Appleyard Drive 

Tallahassee, Florida 32304-2895 

 850.2016200  www.tcc.fl.edu 

 

June 17, 2024 

M  E  M  O  R  A  N  D  U  M 
TO: Jim Murdaugh, Ph.D. 

President 
FROM: Barbara Wills, Ph.D.                                                                                                                    

Vice President for Administrative Services and Chief Business Officer 
   
SUBJECT: Changes to Salary Schedule 

 
 
Item Description 
This item requests Board approval of changes to the Salary Schedule. 
 
Overview and Background 
The College brings forth a request to update the Annual Salary Schedule, 2024 - 2025.  
 

 Throughout the document changed any references to Tallahassee Community College 
to Tallahassee State College.  
 

 Page 4: Revised effective date of updates to Salary Schedule. 
 

 Page 5: Revised Exempt and Non-Exempt Status. Federal law changes the FLSA 
exemption threshold to $43,888 effective July 1, 2024. 
 

 Page 10: Corrected rates for Clinical and Substitutes. 
 

 Page 14: Corrected rates for Continuing Education Instructors. 
 

 Page 16: Clarified Professional Services Contract language for Assistant Coaches.  
 

 Pages 19 – 20: Appendix A, added and deleted Managerial/Professional Positions. 
 

 Page 21: Added FLSA to pay grades.  
 

 Pages 22 – 31: Appendix C, added and deleted Classified Staff positions and 
paygrades. Positions no longer used were deleted. Classified Staff positions 
reclassified or retitled were added to the table. Updated FLSA exemptions for all 
positions. 



 
 Pages 37 – 42: Appendix D, added and deleted Classified Staff positions and 

paygrades. Positions no longer used were deleted. Classified Staff positions 
reclassified or retitled were added to the table.  

 
 Pages 43 – 44: Updated Position Titles used by Grant Programs. 

 
 Page 45: Updated Pay dates and payroll schedule. 

 
Past Actions by the Board 
The Board previously approved the revised Salary Schedule effective December 1, 2023. 
 
Funding/ Financial Implications  
This item is funded by the 2024 -2025 Operating Budget. 
 
Recommended Action 
Approve updates to the 2024 – 2025 Salary Schedule as presented. 

 



 

  

 

 

        

 

 

 

     

  TALLAHASSEE STATE COMMUNITY 
COLLEGE 

 

ANNUAL SALARY SCHEDULE 

2023 2024 - 20242025 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by Human Resources 
  



2 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Table of Contents 
INTRODUCTION 3 

PURPOSE 3 

ACCREDITATION 3 

WEBSITE 3 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 4 

SALARY STATEMENT 5 

EMPLOYEE CLASSIFICATIONS 6 

ORIGINAL APPOINTMENTS AND STARTING SALARY DETERMINATIONS 7 

EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT/DEGREE CHANGE 8 

RECLASSIFICATION/ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGES 9 

FULL-TIME FACULTY 9 

ADJUNCTS (Credit/Contract Hours) 9 

ADJUNCTS (Clock Hours) 12 

CLASSIFIED STAFF/PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS 14 

Service Credit 14 

RETIREES 16 

APPENDIX A 19 

APPENDIX B 21 

APPENDIX C 22 

APPENDIX D 32 

APPENDIX E 43 

APPENDIX F 45 

 

  



3 
 

INTRODUCTION  
 
The Tallahassee StateCommunity College’s Salary Schedule is established annually pursuant to 
s.1001.64(18), F.S. The President recommends the Salary Schedule to the College’s District Board of 
Trustees (“Board”) at the June Board Meeting and, once adopted, it becomes the sole instrument used to 
determine employee compensation and supersedes all rules, handbooks and other policies. The Salary 
Schedule is not intended to create and/or be interpreted as a contract of employment nor does the Salary 
Schedule give employees the right to or an expectancy of continued employment.  
 
PURPOSE  
 
This Salary Schedule is designed to meet the following objectives:  

 Ensure compensation actions are administered in a manner to comply with state and federal legal 
requirements;  

 Enhance the College’s ability to attract and retain qualified faculty and staff;  
 Ensure fair treatment of employees through internal consistency; 
 Provide a clear and concise reference for fair compensation decisions;  
 Serve as a guide regarding employee salaries so that the compensation structure remains 

responsive to changes in the marketplace, the organization and funding availability.  
 

ACCREDITATION 
 
Tallahassee Community CollegeTallahassee State College is accredited by the Southern Association of 
Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges (SACSCOC) to award the Associate Degree.  The Bachelor 
of Science in Nursing (BSN) degree program is accredited by SACSCOC and the Accreditation Commission 
for Education in Nursing (ACEN).   
 

WEBSITE 

This Salary Schedule may be viewed online at:   

https://www.tcc.fl.edu/about/college/administrative-services/human-resources/current-employees/ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



4 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS  
 
Effective Date  
December 1, 2023July 1, 2024 
 
Budgeted Personnel Costs 
The budget for salaries and benefits is approved annually by the Board as a major component of the 
College’s Operating Budget.  The budgeted costs are based on the annual amount required for each 
authorized position filled or to be filled.  Throughout the year, the President and the Vice President of 
Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer are responsible for maintaining the salary budget.  Funding 
provisions within this Salary Schedule are subject to the maximum identified by the President.  Budgeted 
compensation for those individuals identified in s.1012.885 and 1012.886, F.S. are considered budgeted 
from appropriated state funds up to the allowable statutory limit, and any budgeted compensation in excess 
of said statutory limit considered budgeted proportionally from other college operating revenues sources, 
such as tuition and fees and other available funds.  
 
Salaries  
Salaries established for positions are based on 1.0 full time equivalent (FTE) unless otherwise noted. 
Salaries are adjusted for .50 or .75 FTE and eligible benefits are prorated as indicated in the College’s policy 
manual.  
 
Salary Increases/Changes In Salary 
Salary increases will be determined as part of the annual planning and budgeting process. The President 
will recommend a salary increase proposal to the Board for approval and will subsequently notify employees 
of the Board’s decision. Salary increases are contingent on availability of funding and are largely dependent 
upon the allocation of state funds and the College’s budget priorities.  
 
Eligible employees must be in good standing and not on a performance improvement plan. Additionally, 
employees must be in a regularly established position not grant funded, OPS, PSAV or PSC.  
 
Probationary employees are not eligible for salary increases until the first of the following month after non-
probationary status is obtained.  
 
Maximum of Salary Range 
When an employee reaches the maximum in salary range, a one-time non-recurring pay adjustment 
(equivalent to the pay increase) may be authorized when a salary increase is approved by the Board. The 
employee’s base rate of pay will remain unchanged. Supplemental payments and payments for instruction, 
when not part of regular duties, are in addition to regular earnings, and may allow an employee to exceed 
assigned salary range.  
 
Pay Dates  
All College employees shall be paid on a monthly basis. Pay dates for all employees shall be the last College 
business day (Monday - Friday) of each month, unless otherwise established by the Vice President of 
Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer. 
 
If an error has been noted in regards to wages, compensation, initial or promotional placement and is 
discovered, the wages of that employee will be adjusted accordingly. In the case of underpayment, the 
employee’s pay rate will be adjusted in the present year. In the event of an overpayment, the College will 
collect all monies owed via payroll deduction or through the College’s collection process if for a former 
employee. If necessary, the College may utilize a third-party collection agency to collect funds from former 
employees and any applicable collection fees would be assessed to the former employee’s outstanding 
balance.   
 
Addition of Positions and Job Classifications 
Additional job titles, job descriptions and classifications may be developed as needed based upon the 
recommendation of the appropriate Vice President and Human Resources, with approval from the President.  
It is not necessary for the Board to approve new job titles, job descriptions and classifications.    
 
Contracts and Grants Personnel 
The College shall adhere to the established classification plan, salary schedules, and appointment 
procedures when appointing grant personnel. Exceptions to the College’s standard practices must be 



5 
 

recommended by the Director of Financial Services, Vice President of Administrative Services & Chief 
Business Officer, Human Resources Director and approved by the President, and documented fully in the 
personnel files of the concerned employees.  
 
When a new position is grant-funded, a job description is developed by the supervisor and Human 
Resources.  Based on the duties, Human Resources places the position at the appropriate classification on 
the Salary Schedule; the salary may be specified by the grant. College funding beyond the grant period is 
determined by business necessity and other factors.  Employees holding a grant-funded position are 
required to record grant-funded hours separately from College-funded hours.    
 
The President may designate specific college closure periods that may/may not coincide with the terms of a 
specific grant. College funding outside of days identified as regular scheduled holidays or regular workdays 
identified by the grant-funded position is determined by the terms/conditions of the grant, business necessity 
and/or other controlling factors.  
 
Board approved salary increases for personnel employed under federal/state grants will be granted only if 
the increases are budgeted in the grants.  
 
Wireless Allowance Plans 
Approved requests for wireless allowance plans may be made at any time during the fiscal year in Workday.  
Plans are determined on a year-to-year basis and may be rescinded and/or modified by College 
management. This allowance does not constitute an increase to base pay and will not be included in the 
calculation of percentage increases to base pay.  It also is not reportable wages for College paid retirement 
plans.  It will be counted as earned income for W-2 purposes. 
 
Terminal Pay 
Shall be calculated and determined in accordance with College Policy or the controlling terms and conditions 
of a contract and/or grant. 
 
Other Provisions  
Under special circumstances, the Board reserves the right to employ individuals in established positions not 
covered by the salary schedule. Any or all provisions of this schedule may be waived upon appropriate action 
by the Board. Changes to the approved Salary Schedule may only be made by the Human Resources 
Director with approval from the President or Vice President of Administrative Services & Chief Business 
Officer. 
 
To attract and/or retain faculty and staff, the College is authorized to make salary adjustments beyond the 
normal salary schedules when specifically authorized by the President.  During the contract year, the 
President is authorized to offer special contract terms to qualified faculty and staff as additional incentive for 
recruitment and/or retention of these employees.  In instances where the marketplace salary or promotional 
placement for certain positions is beyond the maximum of the approved salary range or initial placement on 
the Salary Schedule, the President may recommend appropriate salary figure. Documentation must be 
provided to Human Resources by the requesting department that supports the adjustment.   
 

SALARY STATEMENT 
 
The Board determines the President’s salary.  The President, in turn, determines the salaries of his direct 
reports. As shown by Appendix B, all Classified Staff positions are assigned to a specific salary range based 
upon a fully documented assessment and approval from the President and Board. 
 
Exempt and Non-Exempt Status  
The federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) provides guidelines on employment status, child labor, 
minimum wage, overtime pay and record-keeping requirements. FLSA establishes wage and time 
requirements, sets federal minimum wage that must be paid and mandates when overtime must be paid. 
Employees not covered by the overtime provisions of FLSA are considered "exempt" (E), those covered by 
FLSA overtime provisions are "non-exempt" (NE). Effective January 1, 2020July 1, 2024, federal guidelines 
require exempt positions earn a minimum of $35,56843,888 annually and meet additional federal 
requirements.  
 



6 
 

Exempt (E) employees are those individuals who are exempt from the overtime provisions of the FLSA 
because they meet the requirements of the executive, professional, administrative or computer exemption.  
 
Non-exempt (NE) employees are not exempt from overtime provisions of the FLSA. Such employees are 
entitled to receive overtime for all hours worked beyond 40 in a workweek. Alternatively, provisions for public 
employers allow for hours in excess of 40 hours per week to be paid in the form of compensatory leave.  
 
Essential Personnel  
In the event of extraordinary situations, the college may suspend normal operations and classes in whole or 
in part.  In such instances, staff designated as essential personnel must fulfill duties to: (1) ensure the 
continuation of critical College operations; (2) attend to the needs of students and other members of the 
College community; and (3) protect the College’s assets.  Essential personnel may be exempt or non-exempt 
under FLSA standards and are designated by the appropriate executive team member.  
 
EMPLOYEE CLASSIFICATIONS  
 
Executive, Administrative and Managerial/Professional  
These are high-level strategic planning, policymaking and management positions. The duties of these 
positions include planning, directing, developing, organizing and utilizing College resources (human, 
material, financial and facility resources). These positions are considered exempt positions under FLSA 
standards.  

 Executive Positions/Senior Management 
The following positions are designated as Senior Management as outlined in the College’s Policy 
and defined by the Florida Retirement System: President (GL Code 51000), Provost and Vice 
President of Academic Affairs (GL Code 51000), Vice President (GL Code 51000), Associate Vice 
President (GL Code 51200), Assistant Vice President (GL Codes 51201 and 51202) and Executive 
Director (GL Code 51000).  
 
Administrative Positions 
The following positions are designated as Administrative: Dean (GL Code 51100) and Associate 
Dean (GL Code 51100).  Administrators are designated as Select Exempt for leave purposes as 
outlined by the College’s Policy.  
 
Managerial/Professional Positions 
Positions designated as Managerial/Professional (GL Code 53000) are listed by Appendix A. 
Managerial/Professional positions are designated as Select Exempt for leave purposes as outlined 
by the College’s Policy.  

 
Faculty  
These positions are officially designated by the Board as instructional. The primary and predominant 
activities of such positions involve direct instruction. These positions are considered exempt positions under 
FLSA standards. These positions are governed under the College’s collective bargaining agreement. 
 
Non-Teaching Faculty  
The primary duties of such positions involve library or learning resources support services, counseling, 
academic advisement, career advisement and student support services. These positions are considered 
exempt positions under FLSA standards. These positions are governed under the College’s collective 
bargaining agreement. 
 
Classified Staff/Professional  
The primary duties of such positions may provide oversight of specific operations of the College or provide 
services of a highly technical nature. Employees in these positions generally have specialized training and 
experience or certifications that relate directly to the functions of the positions. Employees in these positions 
often supervise other employees. Positions assigned to this classification are in the 200 series as referenced 
in Appendix B. These positions may be designated as exempt or non-exempt under FLSA standards.  
 
Classified Staff  
The primary duties of these positions involve performance of support functions essential for the effective 
operation of the College and other than those designated as Faculty, Non-Teaching Faculty, Executive, 



7 
 

Administrative or Managerial/Professional. Some Classified Staff employees may supervise other 
employees. Positions assigned to this classification are in the 100 series as referenced in Appendix B. These 
positions may be designated as exempt or non-exempt under FLSA standards. 
 
Time Limited  
This class of positions is created to cover the College’s employment need in any classification.  Time Limited 
positions are restricted to serve no more than ten (10) months during the College’s fiscal year and benefit 
restrictions are also associated with this class.  These positions may be designated as exempt or non-
exempt under FLSA standards and must be approved by the President. 
 

 Other Personal Services (OPS) 
 Professional Service Contracts (PSC) 
 Adjuncts  
 Post-Secondary Adult Vocational (PSAV) 
 Work-study Students 
 Adult Education 
 Continuing Education Instructors 

 

ORIGINAL APPOINTMENTS AND STARTING SALARY DETERMINATIONS 
  
Recommendations for original appointments and starting salaries are made to Human Resources.  Formal 
offers of employment are made by Human Resources, subject to the approval from the President and Board, 
and in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, and policies.  
 
When the desired effective date of an appointment predates the next regularly scheduled Board meeting, 
the President or his designee is authorized to tentatively approve the appointment. Final authorization is 
subject to approval from the Board.  
 
President – The starting salary of the President is determined by the Board.  
 
Executive/Senior Management - The starting salary for persons in a Vice President, Assistant Vice 
President or Associate Vice President shall be determined by the President.  
 
Administrative - The starting salary for persons selected for an Administrative Position shall be determined 
by the President on the recommendation of the appropriate Vice President and Human Resources. 
Consideration shall be given to the applicant’s academic credentials, number of years of qualifying 
professional work experience, professional licensure/certification or other factors that may be pertinent to 
the position.  

Managerial/Professional - The starting salary for persons in a Managerial/Professional Position shall be 
determined by the President on the recommendation of the Human Resources Director and appropriate Vice 
President or Executive Director.  

Classified Staff - The starting salary for persons in a Classified Staff Position will be at the minimum of the 
salary range. The appointment salary may increase by up to ten percent (10%) of the market rate by the 
appropriate Vice President upon the recommendation of the Director of Human Resources if an applicant’s 
qualifications exceed the minimum training and experience requirements. Appointment salaries beyond ten 
percent (10%) of the market rate must be approved by the President.  

Faculty and Non-Teaching Faculty – Matters related to full time Faculty compensation are covered in the 
Collective Bargaining Agreement. The Collective Bargaining Agreement can be accessed by: TSCTCC - 
UFF Contract. 

Verification of Experience and Education  
Previous work-related experience considered in the starting salary determination must be verified by the 
previous employer(s) on letterhead or on a form provided by the College. Proper verification shall be 
submitted to Human Resources prior to the employee’s appointment and shall include the dates of 
employment, job title, hours worked weekly, and an authorizing signature. 
 



8 
 

If verification of previous work-related experience or education is not received by Human Resources prior to 
hiring, the employment offer may be rescinded.   
 
Starting salary will be determined by employment verifications received at the time of hire.   
 
Transcripts/Certificates/Licensures 
For all positions, copies of transcripts, certificates or licenses are required prior to hiring approval and official 
transcripts are required within thirty (30) days of hire date. If an individual fails to provide an official transcript 
to Human Resources within 30 days of their original appointment, the employee may cease to receive 
compensation and necessary action may be taken to terminate the employee.   
 
EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT/DEGREE CHANGE 
 
A non-probationary employee who obtains a higher-level degree after being employed beyond the minimum 
degree required for their position from a regionally accredited institution, shall be eligible to receive a 2% 
salary increase to their base pay. Provided funds are available in the departmental budget, the salary 
increase shall be effective the first month following receipt of the official transcript by Human Resources.  It 
is the employee’s responsibility to obtain and submit the official transcript to Human Resources.  

Credit for educational attainment shall be granted only when an official transcript reflecting the degree is 
received in Human Resources. Original transcripts shall be placed in the employee’s personnel file in Human 
Resources. Processing of the increase will begin upon receipt of the required documentation and will be 
effective with the next available pay period.  

TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS 
 
Upon recommendation by the appropriate Vice President or Executive Director and Human Resources, 
employees may be given a temporary work assignment which encompasses duties and responsibilities of a 
different and advanced nature for a specified, limited period of time. After working 2 weeks (10 consecutive 
business days), an employee may be given a pay supplement of up to ten percent (10%) with the approval 
from the appropriate Vice President or Executive Director and Human Resources. Temporary assignments 
may be rescinded at any time and do not constitute a promotion.  During this limited period of assignment, 
this pay supplement will not be added to the employee’s base pay and will not be included in the calculation 
of percentage increases to base pay.  It also is not reportable wages for College paid retirement plans.  It 
will be counted as earned income for W-2 purposes. 
 
Interim Positions 
An employee may be appointed to an interim position by the President.  Interim appointments shall not 
exceed two (2) years.   
 
Acting Assignment as Executive or Administrator 
An employee may be designated as "acting" by the President. The acting appointment shall not exceed six 
(6) months unless authorized by the President. 
 
Additional Duties  
An employee may be assigned additional duties due to hard to fill or challenging recruiting efforts 
(documented by unsuccessful advertisements); or the current incumbent who is responsible for the work is 
absent due to a serious health condition; or some other situation creates an undue hardship on the 
operations of the College. The additional duties stipends shall not exceed two (2) years. 
 
Extraordinary Task or Project 
An employee may be assigned a task or project that is beyond the scope of the employee’s regular duties.   
 
Overlap in Position  
Up to a two (2) month overlap in any position may be allowed in order to facilitate the transition and to provide 
training for a new employee. Both employees shall receive full benefits during the overlap period. 
 
 



9 
 

RECLASSIFICATION/ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGES  
 
When a position is reclassified to a higher or lower salary level or grade, adjustments to salary may be 
handled in the same manner as a promotion or demotion.  Departmental or institutional reorganizations may 
be recommended and submitted for consideration during the budget process each year.  Exceptions to this 
rule will be determined by the Director of Human Resources and Vice President of Administrative Services 
& Chief Business Officer, and approved by the President. Requests for reclassifications shall be made using 
the Request for Reclassification form as provided by Human Resources. 
 
Promotion:  Occurs when an employee is appointed to a position in a job classification that has a higher 
pay grade or level.  Upon promotion, the employee will receive either an increase in salary to the minimum 
of the new pay grade/level or the amount an employee would have been eligible for as a new hire; whichever 
is greater.  In any occurrence whereby, an employee is assigned to a higher pay grade or level, the 
promotional increase should be up to ten (10%) percent.  
 
Demotion:  Occurs when an employee is transferred to a position in a job classification that has a lower pay 
grade or level.  A demotion may be voluntary or involuntary. For voluntary and involuntary demotions, the 
employee’s salary will be reduced by at least ten (10%) unless otherwise determined by the Director of 
Human Resources and Vice President of Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer and approved by 
the President. There shall be no salary increase as a result of a demotion. For Classified Staff, the new 
demoted salary will not exceed the maximum amount of the demoted position’s pay grade. When positions 
are reclassified into a lower pay grade or level and employees are involuntarily moved for non-performance 
related issues, the employee’s salary may remain the same unless otherwise determined by the Director of 
Human Resources and Vice President of Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer and approved by 
the President. 
 
If an employee is demoted back to a class or pay grade in which they previously served, the employee’s 
salary will be reduced by the aggregate amount of all promotional increases received since holding the class 
or pay grade.  
 
Reassignment/Lateral/Transfer: Occurs when an employee is reassigned to an established position in a 
job classification with the same pay grade or level. If the reassignment results in a different job 
location/department, it shall be deemed a transfer.  In either action, there shall be no salary increase or 
decrease as a result of a lateral or transfer. Reassignments may occur at the discretion of College 
management. 

  
Retitle: Occurs when the title of an established position is changed. There shall be no salary increase or 
decrease resulting from the retitling of a position.  

 
 
WORK SCHEDULE 
 
For full-time Executive, Administrative, Managerial/Professional and Classified employees, the work 
schedule is generally detailed as 40 hours per week.  All employees, unless absent for approved purposes, 
are required to perform their assigned duties during the designated workdays of the College.  The President 
shall establish a standard work week for all personnel predicated on the needs of the College and may 
authorize departures from the standard workday/work week.   
 
FULL-TIME FACULTY 
 

Matters related to full-time faculty (teaching and non-teaching) compensation are covered in the Collective 
Bargaining Agreement. The Collective Bargaining Agreement can be accessed by: TSCTCC - UFF 
Contract. 
 
ADJUNCTS (Credit/Contract Hours) 

1. Credit and Contact Hours: Adjuncts teaching on a credit/contact hour basis as defined in the District 
Board of Trustees Policy Manual are hired according to degree and appropriate subject matter credentials.  



10 
 

Adjuncts are paid for classroom instruction, office hours, grading and preparation time based on a time 
formula consistent with full time teaching faculty weekly commitments for the same work. 

Adjuncts teaching on a credit/contact hour basis as defined in the District Board of Trustees Policy Manual 
shall be paid according to the following credit hour rates:  

Academic Credentials  Credit Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $884 

Master’s  $821 

Bachelor’s  $745 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $657 

Substitutes: Substitute instructors shall be paid per class hour for lecture as follows: 

Academic Credentials  Class Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $53$31 

Master’s  $45$29 

Bachelor’s $37$26 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $33$24 

If a substitute is needed for more than one day of instruction, the Provost may authorize a supplemental 
contract paid at the semester credit hour rate for the degree of the substitute calculated on a ratio of days 
taught by the substitute.   

2. Clinical Hours**: Adjuncts teaching clinicals, clinically related labs or dental assisting on an hourly basis 
in credit hour programs, shall be paid according to the following clinical hourly rates. This instruction includes 
student assessment and feedback as part of the time scheduled.  Separate office hours or preparation time 
are not required. 

Academic Credentials  Clinical Hour 
Rates 

Doctorate  $5331 

Master’s  $4529 

Bachelor’s $37 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $3324 

 
 
 
Substitutes: Substitutes for clinicals and clinically related labs shall be paid according to approved clinical 
hours as follows:  



11 
 

 

Academic Credentials  Clinical Hour 
Rates 

Doctorate  $46 

Master’s  $41 

Bachelor’s $32 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $29 

3. Adjunct Advancement Program: Adjuncts who have completed the Adjunct Advancement Program, 
received a Certificate of Completion, and have a current Renewal of Certification on file in Human 
Resources, shall be designated Adjunct Professors. To maintain status as an Adjunct Professor, renewal 
certification is required each year after initial certification.  

Credit/Contact Hours: Adjunct Professors teaching on a credit/contact hour basis as defined in the 
College’s Policy Manual, shall be paid according to the following credit hour rates:  

Academic Credentials  Credit Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $1007 

Master’s  $934 

Bachelor’s  $849 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $752 

 
Clinical Hours**: Adjunct Professors teaching clinicals and clinically related labs and dental assisting on an 
hourly basis, shall be paid according to the following clinical hourly rates:  
 

Academic Credentials  Clinical Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $59 

Master’s  $52 

Bachelor’s $44 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $40 

 

4.   Retirees:  Returning retirees working as Adjunct Professors teaching on a credit/contact hourly basis 
as defined in the Policy Manual, shall be paid according to the following credit hour rates: 

Academic Credentials  Credit Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $973 

Master’s  $904 



12 
 

Bachelor’s  $820 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $725 

5.  Pay Adjustments for Absences: Compensation shall be adjusted for any classes or final exams missed 
by Adjuncts or Adjunct Professors.  

Adjuncts who miss scheduled work hours will have pay reduced for class lectures and office hours as follows: 

Academic Credentials  Class and Office Hour 
Rates  

Doctorate  $31 

Master’s  $29 

Bachelor’s $26 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $24 

Note: Adjustments are made based on accepted practice for a credit hour 50-minute class equaling 60 clock 
minutes.  Other class times (75 minutes equaling 90 clock minutes) are similarly adjusted. 

If a substitute is needed for more than one day of instruction, the /Provost may authorize a supplemental 
contract paid at the semester credit hour rate for the degree of the substitute calculated on a ratio of days 
taught by the substitute.   

Clinical hour faculty salary will be reduced for the hours missed according to the table in (2) Clinical Hour 
above. 

**The College may offer additional compensation for positions where specialized credentials or 
experience are required. Such compensation may be a one-time payment or a temporary increase 
up to twenty percent (20%) of the hourly rates listed in the table above at the College’s discretion. 

ADJUNCTS (Clock Hours) 

1. Florida Public Safety Institute: Adjuncts teaching on a clock hourly basis in non-credit hour program 
shall be paid according to the following clock hourly rates. This instruction includes student assessment 
and feedback as part of the time scheduled.  This includes Post-Secondary Adult Vocational (PSAV) 
assignments. Separate office hours or preparation time are not required.   

Academic Credentials  Clock Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $53 

Master’s  $45 

Bachelor’s $37 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $33 

Professional certification or licensure  $35 



13 
 

 
Substitutes: Substitutes for clock hours shall be paid according to approved clock hours as follows:  
 

Academic Credentials  Clock Hour Rates 

Doctorate  $46 

Master’s  $41 

Bachelor’s $32 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $29 

2.   Adult Education: The maximum permissible rate for adjunct instructors teaching adult education 
courses on a clock hour basis shall be the following:  

Academic Credentials  Clock Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $32 

Master’s  $30 

Bachelor’s $26 

3.   Workforce Development: The permissible rate for adjunct instructors teaching on a clock hour basis 
shall be the following:  

Credentials  Clock Hour Rates  

Professional certification or licensure  $40 - $47 

 

Upon the recommendation from the appropriate Vice President or Executive Director and Human 
Resources, the President may authorize a higher rate of pay for courses where special expertise is 
required or the market for available instructors dictates. 

DIS COURSES 

Instructors teaching courses through directed individual study (DIS) methods shall be compensated per 
student according to the following rates: 

Academic Credentials  1 credit hr 3 credit hrs 4 credit hrs 5 credit hrs 

Doctorate  $27 $81 $108 $135 

Masters  $26 $78 $104 $130 

Bachelors $25 $75 $100 $125 

Less than Bachelors with 
program specific 

$24 $72 $96 $120 



14 
 

credentials and Associate 
degree 

DIS sections are limited to an enrollment of no more than fifty (50) students per semester.  

CONTINUING EDUCATION INSTRUCTORS  

The following categories have been determined for the Continuing Education program with a maximum 
hourly rate determined for each category. The individual qualifications of each employee shall be used to 
determine the actual salary for the course taught within the guidelines established. These rates of pay may 
be adjusted for extenuating circumstances or market rates, with appropriate Vice President approval. 

Maximum Hourly Rates by Academic Degrees (when appropriate to course taught):  

Academic Credentials  Maximum Hourly Rates 

Doctorate  $51.42 

Masters  $36 

Bachelors  $32 

Associate $31.09 

Professional certification or licensure  $30 

 

CLASSIFIED STAFF/PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS  
 
Positions assigned to these classifications are designated by their paygrade (in either 100 or 200 series) as 
referenced in Appendix B. These positions may be designated as exempt or non-exempt under FLSA 
standards.  
 
Shift Differential 
Environmental Service Technicians that have the majority of their work hours assigned to shifts outside of 
the College’s regular business hours shall receive an additional $2.00 hourly increment to their base pay as 
a shift differential.  The hourly increment will be based on a 2,080-hour work year for full-time employees.  
 
Service Credit 
Employees classified as Environmental Service Technicians shall receive an 5% salary increase and be 
retitled Senior Environmental Service Technician on the first day of the month following achievement of ten 
(10) years of service in that classification.  
 
Trainee Status 
A Classified Staff employee may be appointed as a trainee in an established position with a higher pay grade 
due to the following:  

 Recruitment/Retention  
o The hiring authority has experienced recruitment difficulty in filling the position or in 

retaining personnel as evidenced by either a lack of qualified applicants or frequent 
turnover of staff within the last 24 months.  

o The Classified Staff employee is within one year of meeting the minimum training and 
experience requirements for the position and has demonstrated that he/she is able to 
perform most of the assigned duties through the assumption of job responsibilities when 
the position was vacant, as well as by the receipt of consistent performance appraisal 
ratings of satisfactory and above.  

 Loss of position 



15 
 

o The Classified Staff position is being deleted due to a change in business process, 
technology or reorganization.  

o The Classified Staff employee is within one year of meeting the minimum training and 
experience requirements for the position and has demonstrated that he/she is able to 
perform most of the assigned duties through consistent performance appraisal ratings of 
satisfactory and above.  

o The trainee period would be limited to one year. Compensation during this period will be 
ten percent (10%) below the minimum of the pay grade for the higher classification. The 
training plan will be developed by the employee’s supervisor in consultation with the 
Director of Human Resources and the proper member of the Executive Team. After 
finalization, the trainee recommendation should be submitted to the Vice President of 
Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer.  

Upon completion of the one-year trainee period, the Classified Staff employee will be required to serve a six 
(6) month probationary period.  

 
Sworn Law Enforcement  
The original appointment salary for sworn law enforcement positions shall be determined by the Vice 
President of Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer based on the recommendation of the Chief of 
Campus Police.  

The following classifications are designated as sworn law enforcement:  

 Campus Police Officer 
 Campus Police Sergeant  
 Campus Police Lieutenant 
 Chief of Police 

Special Risk Membership: In accordance with s.121.0515, F.S., college employees designated as sworn 
law enforcement personnel are eligible for membership in the Special Risk Class of the Florida Retirement 
System.  

Salary Incentives: An employee in a full-time sworn law enforcement classification shall be given an ongoing 
monthly supplement for educational attainment in accordance with s.943.22, F.S. and the Criminal Justice 
Standards and Training Commission as follows:  

 Education (maximum of $80 per month)  
o $80 per month for Bachelors  
o $30 per month for Associates  

 Training  
o $20 per month for every eighty (80) hours completed in courses approved for salary 

incentives for police officers when not utilized to satisfy mandatory retraining requirements.  
 Combination Education and Training  

o Maximum $130 per month  

Reserve Officers: Reserve officers are certified sworn law enforcement officers who volunteer law 
enforcement services to the College in accordance with TCCPD TSCPD General Orders and may be hired 
on an Other Personal Services (OPS) basis to fill in when regular officers are unavailable or to provide 
additional coverage at special events. Compensation for OPS law enforcement services beyond the 
volunteer hours required by TCCPD TSCPD General Orders shall be at the rate of at least $15.45 per hour. 
 
Athletics  
The original appointment salary for the Head Coach and Athletic Director positions shall be determined by 
the President pursuant to a recommendation from the Vice President of Student Affairs.  

If the Athletic Director position is filled in a part-time capacity, the part-time Athletic Director will be 
compensated by salary supplement at a minimum of $5,000 to a maximum of $10,000.  



16 
 

Contract Provisions: Employees hired in Head Coach and Athletic Director positions shall be on annual 
contract. Assistant Coaches are hired in a 10-month professional services contract. 

Athletic employees shall be available for College business at all times throughout the standard work week, 
as well as outside regular work hours, unless performing authorized travel or other approved absence.  

Other Classified Staff Provisions  
1. Timesheet Reporting Period: The reporting period for some Classified staff that hold a non-exempt 

role is outlined by Appendix E. 
2. Timesheet Submission: Non-exempt Classified staff are to submit timesheets on a weekly basis 

to their supervisor in order to meet payroll deadlines.  

If the timesheet is not turned in to the supervisor by the designated Time and Attendance lockout dates, the 
employee may be required to wait until the next payroll cycle to receive compensation for that reporting 
period.  

RETIREES  
 
For the purpose of extending College retirement benefits other than the Retirement Incentive Plan, a retiree 
shall be defined as either:  

1. An employee who meets the retirement criteria under the Florida Retirement System (FRS) Pension 
Plans and draws a retirement benefit from FRS; or  

2. An employee who is under an ORP retirement plan or FRS Investment Plan and draws a benefit 
from the TCCTSC-paid ORP or FRS Investment Plan and who has at least eight years of creditable 
service as defined by FRS.  

 
Special Retiree Pay 401a Plan  
Effective November 1, 2000, all employees at time of retirement from the College shall participate in the 
Special Retiree Pay plan by transferring an IRS-defined amount into a 401a defined contribution account.  

The amount transferred into the account is exempt from FICA taxes, and payment of federal withholding 
taxes is deferred until funds are withdrawn from the plan by the retiree at a later date. If an employee has 
not reached age 55 or older at the time of separation of service, any funds withdrawn from the 401a account 
may be subject to a ten (10) percent penalty for early withdrawal in accordance with IRS regulations. 

The 401a contribution shall be calculated not to exceed one hundred (100) percent of the total of the 
employee’s salary plus terminal pay up to the maximum allowed by IRS; however, the contribution cannot 
exceed the amount of the employee’s terminal pay. The salary period for calculation will be based on the 
College’s fiscal year (July 1 through June 30).  

Complete information about the Special Retiree Pay plan is available in Human Resources.  

Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) - 121.091(13) FS  
The Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) is an alternative method for payout of retirement benefits. 
Any employee who is a vested member of the Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS) and who 
reaches normal retirement, either by service years or age shall be eligible to participate in DROP.  

An employee wishing to elect DROP must provide written notification of intent to their immediate supervisor 
and Human Resources not less than sixty (60) calendar days prior to the date of DROP retirement.  

An employee participating in DROP may elect to be paid for unused annual leave at the employee’s current 
rate of pay, to the extent that the payment does not exceed the maximum payout for annual leave in 
accordance with District Board of Trustees Policy Manual. This payment can either be made upon entering 
DROP or at the conclusion of DROP, but will only be counted in the retirement calculation one time.  

Annual leave shall be earned during the DROP period, and unpaid annual leave shall be carried forward 
until used or paid at termination. Annual leave paid at termination shall not be counted in the retirement 
calculation if the annual leave was paid upon entering DROP.  



17 
 

Sick leave shall be earned during the DROP period, and unpaid sick leave shall be carried forward until used 
or paid at termination. All sick leave allowable per 121.091, F.S. up to a maximum of 480 hours shall be paid 
at termination at the current hourly rate of the employee. Sick Leave is paid out on a percentage scale as 
follows: 

 0-3 Years 35% 
 4-6 Years 40% 
 7-9 Years 45%  
 10 Years or more 50%, with a max of 480 hours. 

When an employee retires and enters the DROP program, the contribution amount into the 401a will be 
calculated based on fiscal year salary and terminal pay in increments. Contributions are made to the Plan 
at the end of each fiscal year of the DROP period leading up to your actual retirement date. The contribution 
amounts are based on salary and percentage of eligible sick leave.  In accordance with College policy, 
employees terminating prior to the end date of their DROP will be paid 100% of their eligible sick leave 
balance. If an employee is participating in the DROP and the retirement incentive, the retirement incentive 
payout shall occur as outlined in the retirement incentive sections of the Board-approved Salary Schedule.  

Complete information about DROP is available in Human Resources. 

Retirement Incentive  
If an employee who was hired prior to July 1, 1995, elects to retire within thirty-six (36) months from 
achievement of normal retirement as defined in 121.091(1), F.S. or 238.07, F.S., the College shall pay up to 
a maximum of one thousand four hundred forty (1,440) hours of sick leave as allowed by 1012.865(2) (d)(5), 
F.S. This compensation shall be calculated at the hourly rate of pay at termination.  

Any employee not choosing to exercise the above option shall not be eligible for the retirement incentive 
plan and shall follow the procedures in accordance to the District Board of Trustees Sick Leave Policy 
Manual.   

Retirees exercising the retirement incentive shall receive compensation as follows:  
 First payment: at the time of retirement, a ten percent (10%) incentive shall be paid based on the 

salary at retirement for those using the retirement incentive option. This incentive will be deposited 
into the Special Retiree Pay 401a/403(b) plan in accordance with IRS regulations.  

 Second payment: that portion of the accumulated sick leave hours which represents zero to four 
hundred eighty (0 - 480) hours with payment made into the Special Retiree Pay 401a plan five (5) 
months from termination.  

 Third payment: that portion of the accumulated sick leave hours which represents four hundred 
eighty-one to nine hundred sixty (481 - 960) hours with payment made into the Special Retiree Pay 
401a/403(b) plan twenty-six (26) months from termination.  

 Fourth payment: that portion of the accumulated sick leave hours which represents nine-hundred 
and sixty-one to one thousand four hundred forty hours (961 - 1,440) with payment made into the 
Special Retiree Pay 401a/403(b) plan thirty-nine (39) months from termination.  

Anyone wishing to retire must provide written notification of intent to their immediate supervisor and Human 
Resource Director not less than sixty (60) calendar days prior to the date of retirement in order to participate 
in the retirement incentive.  

Reemployment Provisions for Retirees  
Retirees shall have retired per 121.091(1) FS or 238.07, FS. Retirees must follow reemployment rules as 
outlined by FRS prior to returning to employment with an FRS participating employer. Retirees include 
anyone retiring from the Pension Plan, Investment Plan, DROP Program, or Optional Retirement Plan. 
Human Resources must be contacted prior to reemployment to confirm eligibility. 
 
TIME LIMITED EMPLOYEES   

Other Personal Services (OPS)  



18 
 

Hourly employees are hired to fill temporary positions created to accomplish a specific task within a specific 
time. These employees work on an "as needed" or "available funds" basis and are compensated on an 
"hours worked" basis only. An hourly employee does not serve on a contractual basis nor does the 
authorization form for hire constitute a contract. Hourly employees are classified as Other Personal Services 
(OPS), including Tutors and Work-Study Students. These employees are non-exempt and covered under 
the overtime provisions of the FLSA and may work no more than 25 hours a week. 

Non-TCC TSC students employed in this category will be subject to the Federal Medicare tax and will be 
required to contribute to the Alternate FICA Plan. After employees work a minimum of 2,080 hours, they are 
subject to combined FICA and Medicare taxes, as mandated by state and federal law, and are eligible for 
employer contributions in the Florida Retirement System (FRS).  

Work-study Students  
Student personnel may qualify to work under the Federal College Work-Study (FCWS) program for a 
specified number of hours as determined by the Financial Aid Office. Work-study students are not eligible to 
receive employee benefits and are exempt from Social Security and Medicare taxes.  

The hourly rate for work-study student employees is $1.25 above the minimum hourly rate set by the Florida 
Minimum Wage Act.  

Other Time Limited Provisions  
1. Timesheet Reporting Period: The reporting period for OPS and Work-study Student 

employees is the same as the reporting period for non-exempt staff as outlined by Appendix D. 
2. Timesheet Submission: OPS and Work-study Student employee are to submit timesheets on 

a weekly basis to their supervisor in order to meet payroll deadlines.  

If the timesheet is not turned in to the supervisor by the designated Time and Attendance lockout dates, 
employee may be required to wait until the next payroll cycle to receive compensation for that reporting 
period.  

Professional Services Contract (PSC) 
Providers working as Professional Service Contractors serve the College in a temporary capacity to 
complete a specific task within a determined period of time, which may be as little as one day to no more 
than six (6) months.  Professional Services Contracts shall not extend beyond six (6) months without 
approval by the Director of Human Resources and Vice President of Administrative Services & Chief 
Business Officer. Payments may be one time only or multiple payments as determined by the contract.  
 
Contracts & Grants 
Employees working on a contract or grant are considered time limited employees (year-to-year) or as the 
contract/grant budget allows.  Positions in this category are funded by an agency other than the College. 
The College’s grant funded positions are listed in Appendix C. 
  



19 
 

APPENDIX A 
MANAGERIAL/PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS 

The following positions are designated as Managerial/Professional (GL Code 53000).  The starting salary 
of this class is determined by the President, on the recommendation of the appropriate Vice President or 
Executive Director and Human Resources.  

Position Title 

Associate Director of Wakulla Environmental Institute 

Chief of Campus Police  

Chief Engagement Officer 

Chief of Staff 

College Registrar 

Dean, Career and Academic Planning 

Dean, Enrollment Services 

Dean, Student Affairs 

Director of Academic Advising 

Director of Assessment and Accreditation  

Director of Athletics 

Director of Business & Workforce Development 

Director of Business Process Improvement 

Director of Call Center 

Director of Certificate Programs  

Director of Continuing Workforce Education 

Director of Development, TCC TSC Foundation 

Director of Enterprise Applications 

Director of Facilities, Planning and Construction 

 

Director of Finance 

Director of Financial Services 

Director of Grants and Special Projects 

Director of Hospitality 



20 
 

Director of Human Resources 

Director of Information Technology Infrastructure 

Director of Information Technology Consulting Services 

Director of Institutional Research and Planning 

Director of Integrated Marketing 

Director of Learning Commons 

Director of Library Services 

Director of Public Safety Continuing Education  

Director of Procurement and Auxiliary Services 

Director of Recruiting and Admissions 

Director of Simulation Programs 

Director of Special Projects and Innovation 

Director of Strategic Communications  

Director of STEM Programs 

Director of Student Life 

Director of Student Records 

Director of Student Financial Services 

Director of TCC TSC Online 

Director of Teaching, Learning and Engagement 

Director of Transfer Services 

Director of User Services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



21 
 

APPENDIX B 
Classified Staff and Classified Staff Professional Pay Grades 

Classified Staff Pay Grades 

Pay Grade 
 

FLSA Minimum Market Maximum 
119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 
126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

127 E $45,342.28 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 
 

  

Classified Staff Professional Pay Grades 

Pay Grade 
 

FLSA Minimum Market Maximum 
219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

221 NE $35,834.21 $42,642.44 $57,555.83 

222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

232 E $55,164.99 $65,646.14 $88,604,35 

233 E $57,371.72 $68,272.37 $92,148.40 

235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

237 
E 

$67,115.49 $79,867.44 $107,796.72 
 
  



22 
 

APPENDIX C 
Classified Staff Positions & Paygrades by Alpha 

(matrix does not include FLSA adjustments) 

 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Academic Advisor – 
TSCCC Online CS Professional 224 ENE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Academic Coordinator  CS Professional 224 ENE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Academy Program 
Coordinator  CS Professional 226 ENE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Accounting 
Coordinator CS Professional 225 NEE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Accounting Manager CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 
Accounting 
Scholarship Assistant CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Accounting Specialist  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $39,425.96 $55,341.38 
Achieving the Dream 
(ATD) Coordinator CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Admissions Navigator Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Adult Education 
Specialist  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Advanced and 
Specialized 
Instructional 
Coordinator  

CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Advising and New 
Student Orientation 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 226 E $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Advising Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Advising Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Advising Team Lead CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Alumni and Friends 
Association 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Alumni Relations 
Coordinator/Develop- 
ment Coordinator 

CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

AMTC Program 
Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Applications Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Assessment Analyst CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 
Assistant Coach Classified Staff 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Assistant Director IT 
Consulting CS Professional 231 NE $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Assistant Director, 
Applications 
Architecture & Support 

CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Assistant Director, 
Enterprise Applications CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Assistant Director, 
Financial Aid CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 



23 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Assistant Director, 
Recruiting & K-12 
Outreach 

CS Professional 224 E $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Assistant Director, 
Student Services  CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Assistant Director, 
User Services for 
Instructional 
Technologies 

CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Assistant Production 
Coordinator Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Assistant to the Dean  CS Professional 221 NE $35,834.21 $42,642.44 $57,555.83 
Assistant to the 
Director of Library 
Services 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Athletic Trainer   CS Professional 225 E $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Athletics and Campus 
Recreation Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Auxiliary Service 
Manager CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Business Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Business Operations 
Manager CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Business Services and 
Corporate Training 
Manager  

CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Call Center 
Representative Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Campus Police 
Dispatcher Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Campus Police Lead 
Dispatcher Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Campus Police 
Lieutenant  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Campus Police Officer  Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 
Campus Police 
Sergeant  CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Career and Academic 
Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Career Pathways 
Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Career Service and 
Internship Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Career Services 
Counseling Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Cashier  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Cashiering Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Center Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
CIT Support 
Technician  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 



24 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Classroom 
Technologies 
Coordinator  

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Client Support 
Specialist CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

College Admissions 
Recruiter CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

College Readiness 
Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Commercial Vehicle 
Driving Lead Instructor CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Communications Skills 
Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Communications 
Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Communications 
Technology Manager CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Computer Specialist  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Computer Systems 
Analyst  CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Computer Technology 
Lab Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Advanced 
and Specialized  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Coordinator, 
Conference and 
Events 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Contracts 
and Grants  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Coordinator, 
Counseling Center CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, Dental 
Clinic Office CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Coordinator, 
Emergency 
Management and 
Safety  

CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Coordinator, Graphic 
Design and Brand  CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Coordinator, High 
Liability Training  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Coordinator, Institute 
for Nonprofit 
Innovation and 
Excellence  

CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Coordinator, 
Instructional Network  CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Coordinator, 
International Student 
Services  

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, Special 
Projects CS Professional 232 E $55,164.99 $65,646.14 $88,604.35 

Coordinator, State 
Report CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 



25 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Coordinator, Student 
Engagement, Diversity 
& Inclusion 

CS Professional 224 E $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Student 
Life and Leadership CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Student 
Loans CS Professional  219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Coordinator, Student 
Technology Support  CS Professional 222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

Coordinator, TCC TSC 
Internship Program CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Transfer 
Programs & 
Experiences  

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Transfer 
Services Outreach CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Veterans 
Success Center CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, Work 
Based Learning  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Database 
Administrator  CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Developer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Digital 
Communications 
Specialist 

CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Digital Media 
Technician CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Dining Services Shift 
Supervisor  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Disability Services 
Coordinator  CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Documentation 
Specialist Classified Staff 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Donor Stewardship 
Officer CS Professional 224 E $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Dual Enrollment 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Engineering 
Technician  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Enrollment Clerk  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Emergency 
Management and 
Safety Coordinator 

CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Engagement Officer CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Environmental 
Health/Safety 
Specialist  

CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Environmental Safety 
Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Environmental Service 
Superintendent Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

Environmental 
Services Supervisor Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 



26 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Environmental 
Services Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Equipment Mechanic  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Event/Help Desk 
Consultant Classified Staff 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Events A/V Specialist Classified Staff 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Event Specialist CS Professional 222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 
Executive Assistant  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Executive Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Facilities Administrator Classified Staff 127 NE $45,342.28 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 
Facilities Maintenance 
Superintendent  Classified Staff 127 NE $45,342.28 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Facilities Manager CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Facilities Office 
Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Facilities 
Superintendent Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Finance and 
Accounting 
Administrator 

CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

First Year Experience 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Food Service Assistant  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Gift Processing and 
Scholarship Officer Classified Staff 225 NE    
Graphic Designer Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Head Coach  CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 
Head of Access 
Services CS Professional 226 E $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Help Desk Consultant Classified Staff 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Housing Service 
Specialist Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Human Resources 
Specialist I  CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Human Resources 
Specialist II  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

HVAC Curriculum 
Specialist CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

HVAC Program 
Specialist CS Professional 224 E $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

HVAC/Building 
Automation Specialist  Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

Information Specialist CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 
Information 
Technology Support 
Specialist  

Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Information 
Technology Trainer CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Instructional Designer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 



27 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Instructional 
Technologist  CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Instructional 
Technology Specialist  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

International 
Recruitment Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Intramurals 
Coordinator  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Intramurals 
Coordinator and 
Assistant Coach 

CS Professional 219 E $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Landscaper  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Lead Computer 
Specialist  CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Lead Contracts and 
Grants Coordinator CS Professional 225 E $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Leadership 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Learning Commons 
Program Coordinator CS Professional 226 E $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Learning Commons 
Specialist CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Learning Commons 
Success Coach CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Library Circulation 
Services Supervisor  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Library Technical 
Assistant I  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Library Technical 
Assistant II  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Library Technical 
Service Supervisor CS Professional 226 E $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Maintenance 
Computer Operations 
Specialist 

Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance Support 
Worker  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance 
Technician I  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance 
Technician II  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $39,425.96 $55,341.38 

Manager, Application 
Development CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Auxiliary 
Service CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Budget and 
Cost Analysis  CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Client 
Support CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Manager, 
Communications 
Technology 

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Construction 
Service  CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 



28 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Manager, Contracts 
and Grants  CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Manager, Counseling 
Center CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Data 
Warehouse and Web 
Technology 

CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Dining 
Facilities Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Manager, Facilities CS Professional 226 NE $41,130.48  $48,944.70  $66,061.15  
Manager, Healthcare 
Education CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Manager, Human 
Resources CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Information 
Technology (Project) CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Information 
Technology Event 
Support 

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Corporate 
Solutions CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Manager, Student 
Financial Services CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Student Life CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Student 
Success and Retention CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Systems 
Support CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Teaching 
and Learning Academy CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Technology 
Consulting CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Web 
Development CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Media Production 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Media Production 
Specialist (Position 
Reclassed)  

CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Mental Health 
Counselor CS Professional 225 E $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Network Administrator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 
Network and Computer 
Systems Specialist  CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Network Technician CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 
Non-Profit Resource 
Center Coordinator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Office Manager  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 



29 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Practicum Coordinator 
for Teacher Programs CS Professional 232 E $55,164.99 $65,646.14 $88,604,35 

Production Coordinator  CS Professional 221 NE $35,834.21 $42,642.44 $57,555.83 
Production Media 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Professional Counselor CS Professional 225 E $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Program Coordinator, 
Adult Education  CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program Coordinator, 
for IT, Online & 
Professional 
Development  

CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program Coordinator, 
Transportation 
Logistics and 
Information 
Technology 

CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program Manager, 
Advance 
Manufacturing Training 
Center 

CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Program Specialist, 
HVAC Manufacturing  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Project Coordinator CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 
Project Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Property Records 
Specialist  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Public Safety Officer  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Purchasing Specialist CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Receiving Clerk  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Recruitment & 
Marketing Operations 
Specialist 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Regional Service 
Center Manager CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Research Analyst CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Research and 
Business Analyst  CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Scholarship 
Coordinator CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Science Lab Manager  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Security Administrator CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Senior Accountant CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Senior Accounting 
Specialist  CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Senior Engineering 
Technician  Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Senior Environmental 
Services Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 



30 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Senior Financial Aid 
Assistant Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Senior Lab Assistant Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Senior Research 
Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Senior Science Lab 
Assistant CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Senior Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Shipping, Receiving, 
and Mail Supervisor Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Simulation & 
Information Tech 
Specialist 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Simulation Lab 
Technician CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Simulation Program 
Manager CS Professional 229 E $46,266.18 $55,056.54 $74,310.45 

Simulator Lab 
Coordinator  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Social Media & Digital 
Content Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Software Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Sponsored Programs 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Staff Assistant  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Store Clerk  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Store Manager CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Strategic 
Communications 
Specialist 

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Accounts 
Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Student Accounts 
Specialist CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Activities 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Conduct 
Coordinator CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Student Development 
Specialist  CS Professional 222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

Student Financial 
Advisor CS Professional 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Student Financials 
Operations Officer CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Student Involvement 
Coordinator  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Life, 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Recruiter CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Student Services Case 
Manager CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 



31 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Student Success 
Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Student Support 
Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Supervisor Landscape 
Services  Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

Sustainability 
Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

System Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
System Operations 
Specialist Classified Staff 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Systems Administrator CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 
Systems Support 
Specialist Classified Staff 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Systems Training 
Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

TCC TSC 2 Career 
and Academic Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

TCC TSC Online 
Support Technician CS Professional  225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Technology Consultant CS Professional  225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Testing and Retention 
Coordinator  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Testing Specialist  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Transfer Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Video/Multimedia 
Producer CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Virtual Learning 
Commons Manager CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Web Developer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Web Developer 
Manager CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Web Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Welding Technologies 
Lead Instructor CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Workday Completion 
Specialist CS Professional 222 E $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

Workforce 
Development Program 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



32 
 

APPENDIX D 
Classified Staff Positions & Pay Grades by Pay Grades 

(matrix does not include FLSA adjustments) 

 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Applications 
Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Call Center 
Representative Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Campus Police 
Dispatcher Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Campus Police Lead 
Dispatcher Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Cashier Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
CIT Support 
Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Engineering 
Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Enrollment Clerk Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Environment Safety 
Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Environmental 
Services Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Equipment Mechanic Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Facilities 
Superintendent Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Food Service 
Assistant  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Housing Service 
Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Information 
Technology Support 
Specialist  

Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Intramurals 
Coordinator  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Landscaper  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Library Technical 
Assistant I  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance 
Support Worker  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance 
Computer 
Operations 
Specialist 

Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance 
Technician I  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Property Records 
Specialist  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Public Safety Officer  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Receiving Clerk  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Senior 
Environmental 
Services Technician 

Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 



33 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Senior Financial Aid 
Assistant Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Senior Lab Assistant Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Staff Assistant  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Store Clerk  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Student Financial 
Advisor CS Professional 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Student Support 
Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Testing Specialist  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Transfer Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Dining Services Shift 
Supervisor  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Environmental 
Services Supervisor Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Graphic Designer Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Library Technical 
Assistant II  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Maintenance 
Technician II  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Office Manager  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Environmental 
Service 
Superintendent 

Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

HVAC/Building 
Automation 
Specialist  

Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

Supervisor 
Landscape Services  Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

Campus Police 
Officer  Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Dining Facilities 
Manager  Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Senior Engineering 
Technician  Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Shipping, Receiving, 
and Mail Supervisor Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Facilities 
Maintenance 
Superintendent  

Classified Staff 127 E $45,342.28 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Media Relations 
Specialist (Position 
Reclassed) 

CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Senior Accounting 
Specialist  CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Student Conduct 
Coordinator CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Communications 
Skills Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 



34 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Communications 
Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Coordinator, Student 
Loans CS Professional  219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Documentation 
Specialist Classified Staff 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Graphic Design and 
Brand Coordinator CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Intramurals 
Coordinator and 
Assistant Coach 

CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Scholarship 
Coordinator CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Social Media & 
Digital Content 
Specialist 

CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Student Services 
Case Manager CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Digital 
Communications 
Specialist 

CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Sustainability 
Specialist Classified Staff 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Systems Training 
Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Web Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Client Support 
Specialist CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Purchasing 
Specialist CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Environmental 
Health/Safety 
Specialist  

CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Event/Help Desk 
Consultant Classified Staff 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Help Desk 
Consultant Classified Staff 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Human Resources 
Specialist I  CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Senior Science Lab 
Assistant CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Simulation Lab 
Technician CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Assistant to the 
Dean  CS Professional 221 NE $35,834.21 $42,642.44 $57,555.83 
Production 
Coordinator  CS Professional 221 NE $35,834.21 $42,642.44 $57,555.83 
Coordinator, Student 
Technology Support  CS Professional 222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

Student 
Development 
Specialist  

CS Professional 222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 



35 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Workday Completion 
Specialist CS Professional 222 E $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

Career Pathways 
Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Classroom 
Technologies 
Coordinator  

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Commercial Vehicle 
Driving Lead 
Instructor 

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Contracts and 
Grants Coordinator  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Custodial 
Superintendent  Classified Staff 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Executive Assistant  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Events Specialist Classified Staff 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Human Resources 
Specialist II  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Instructional 
Technology 
Specialist  

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Leadership 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Learning Commons 
Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Learning Commons 
Success Coach CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Library Circulation 
Services Supervisor  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Media Production 
Specialist  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Project Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Research Analyst CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Store Manager CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Sponsored 
Programs 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Strategic 
Communications 
Specialist 

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Accounts 
Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Activities 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Involvement 
Coordinator  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Life, 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Testing and 
Retention 
Coordinator  

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 



36 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Assistant to the 
Director of Library 
Services 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Athletics and 
Campus Recreation 
Manager 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Career and 
Academic Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Career Services 
Counseling 
Specialist 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Center Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
College Admissions 
Recruiter CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

College Readiness 
Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Computer Specialist  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Computer 
Technology Lab 
Manager 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, 
Conference and 
Events 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Student 
Engagement, 
Diversity & Inclusion 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Student 
Life and Leadership CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, TCC 
TSC Internship 
Program 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, 
Transfer Programs & 
Experiences  

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Work 
Based Learning CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, 
Veterans Affairs CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Donor Stewardship 
Officer CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Dual Enrollment 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Engagement Officer CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Facilities Office 
Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

First Year 
Experience 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

HVAC Program 
Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 



37 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

International 
Recruitment 
Specialist 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Manager, Gadsden 
Center CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Manager, Wakulla 
Center CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Media Production 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Production Media 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Program Specialist, 
HVAC Manufacturing  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Science Lab 
Manager  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Simulation & 
Information Tech 
Specialist 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Simulator Lab 
Coordinator  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Student Recruiter CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Student Success 
Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

System Operations 
Specialist Classified Staff 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

TCC TSC 2 Career 
and Academic 
Advisor 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Video/Multimedia 
Producer CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Athletic Trainer   CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Career Service and 
Internship 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Cashiering 
Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, 
Counseling Center CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, 
International Student 
Services  

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, 
Veterans Success 
Center 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Digital Media 
Technician CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Disability Services 
Coordinator  CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Executive 
Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Gift Processing and 
Scholarship Officer Classified Staff 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 



38 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Lead Computer 
Specialist  CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Lead Contracts and 
Grants Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Manager, Client 
Support CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Manager, Help Desk CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Mental Health 
Counselor CS Professional 225 E $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Network and 
Computer Systems 
Specialist  

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Professional 
Counselor CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Recruitment & 
Marketing 
Operations 
Specialist 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Student Accounts 
Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

TCC TSC Online 
Support Technician CS Professional  225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Technology 
Consultant CS Professional  225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, 
Veterans Affairs CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Virtual Learning 
Commons Manager CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Workforce 
Development 
Program Coordinator 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Assessment Analyst CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Emergency 
Management and 
Safety Coordinator 

CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Emergency 
Management and 
Safety Coordinator 

CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Head of Access 
Services CS Professional 226 E $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Learning Commons 
Program Coordinator CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Library Technical 
Service Supervisor CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Manager, Facilities CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Network Technician CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 
Research and 
Business Analyst  CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 



39 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Welding 
Technologies Lead 
Instructor 

CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Auxiliary Service 
Manager CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Budget and Cost 
Analysis Manager CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Campus Police 
Sergeant  CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Construction Service 
Manager CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Coordinator, Dental 
Clinic Office CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Head Coach  CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 
Information 
Technology Trainer CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Instructional Network 
Coordinator  CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Auxiliary 
Service CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, 
Counseling Center CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, 
Information 
Technology Event 
Support 

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program 
Coordinator, Adult 
Education  

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program 
Coordinator, for IT, 
Online & 
Professional 
Development  

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program 
Coordinator, 
Transportation 
Logistics and 
Information 
Technology 

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Software Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Systems Support 
Specialist Classified Staff 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Business Services 
and Corporate 
Training Manager  

CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Contracts and 
Grants Manager CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Information 
Specialist CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Manager, Corporate 
Solutions  CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 



40 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Project Coordinator CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 
Business Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Business Operations 
Manager CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Developer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Coordinator, State 
Report CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Facilities Manager CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Finance and 
Accounting 
Administrator 

CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Help Desk CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Instructional 
Designer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Instructional 
Technologist  CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Systems 
Support CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Student 
Financial Services CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, 
Technology 
Consulting 

CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Security 
Administrator CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Senior Accountant CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Senior Research 
Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Simulation Program 
Manager CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

System Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Web Developer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Campus Police 
Lieutenant  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Coordinator, 
Advanced and 
Specialized  

CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

High Liability 
Training Coordinator  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

HVAC Curriculum 
Specialist CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Human 
Resources  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Regional Service 
Center Manager CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 



41 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Manager, Student 
Life CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Student 
Success and 
Retention 

CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Teaching 
and Learning 
Academy 

CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Assistant Director, 
Enterprise 
Applications 

CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Assistant Director IT 
Consulting CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Computer Systems 
Analyst  CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Information 
Technology Project 
Manager  

CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Application 
Development CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Data 
Warehouse and Web 
Technology 

CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Web 
Development CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Web Developer 
Manager CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Coordinator, Special 
Projects CS Professional 232 E $55,164.99 $65,646.14 $88,604,35 

Database 
Administrator  CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Institute for Nonprofit 
Innovation and 
Excellence 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Manager, Healthcare 
Education CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Network 
Administrator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Non-Profit Resource 
Center Coordinator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Program Manager, 
Advance 
Manufacturing 
Training Center 

CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Senior Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Senior Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Student Financials 
Operations Officer CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 



42 
 

  



43 
 

 
APPENDIX E 

Contract/Grant Position Titles 
 

Grant Management Positions 
Associate Director 
Director of CTE Outreach & Recruitment  
Executive Director 
Other Grant Positions 
Administrative Assistant 
Administrative Assistant II 
Advising Specialist 
Apprenticeship and Training Representative (ATR) Region 4 
Apprenticeship and Training Representative (ATR) Region 6 
Assessment Coordinator 
Assessment Coordinator - Scoring 
Assessment Coordinator - Supervisor 
Assistant Director of CTE Outreach & Recruitment 
Business Office Manager 
Career & Technical Education & GED Prep Specialist 
Career Development Specialist 
Career Navigator, Project Anchor 
Carpentry/Technical Educator Instructor 
Case Management Specialist 
College Success Coach 
Coordinator, Development 
Coordinator, English Language Arts Test Development  
Coordinator, Mathematics Test Development 
Coordinator, Mining 
Coordinator, Professional Development 
Coordinator, Program Logistics 
Coordinator, Science Test Development – Grades 5&8, Science Content Specialist 
Coordinator, Senior Assessment 
Coordinator, Social Studies Test Development – Civics & US History Content Specialist 
Coordinator, Statewide Academy & Senior Learning Consultant 
Coordinator, Talent Search  
Course Developer 
CTE Innovation Program Manager 
Culinary Arts Technical Educator Instructor 
Deputy Director 
Direct Inmate Service Manager 
Eagle Connections Program Coordinator 
Electrical/Technical Educator Instructor  
Employee Navigator 
English Language Arts Content Specialist Gr 8-9 Read Gr 4-5 Write 
English Language Arts Content Specialist Gr 3-5 Read Gr 8 Writing 
English Language Arts Content Specialist Gr 10 Read Gr 9-10 Writing, FSA Retake 
English Language Arts Editor 
English Language Arts Test Development Specialist 
Executive Secretary 
Human Resources Specialist II 
HVAC Technical Educator Instructor 
Information Technology Specialist 
Instructional Systems Designer 
Lead Career Navigator 
Lead Instructor 
Learning Consultant 
Learning Management Specialist 



44 
 

Masonry Technical Educator Instructor 
Mathematics Content Specialist 
Mathematics Content Specialist, Gr 6-8 
Mathematics Editor 
Mathematics Test Development Coordinator 
Mining Coordinator 
Plumbing Technical Educator Instructor 
Pre-Release Employment Navigator 
Production Editor 
Professional Development Coordinator 
Program Administrator 
Program Director, Troops 2 Teachers 
Program Lead 
Postsecondary Assessment Specialist 
Production Editor 
Program Administrator 
Program Director 
Program Lead 
Program Manager 
Program Specialist, Eagle Connections 
Program Specialist  
Program Specialist I 
Program Specialist II 
Program Specialist IV 
Project Manager 
Psychometrician  
Regional Workforce Education Coordinator – North Region 
Regional Workforce Education Coordinator – South Region 
Science Test Development Coordinator/Grades 5&8 Science Content Specialist 
Senior Assessment Coordinator 
Senior Learning Specialist 
Social Studies Editor 
Social Studies Test Development Coordinator/Civics & US History Content Specialist 
Special Education Assistant 
Staff Assistant 
Statewide Academy Coordinator Senior Learning Consultant 
Statewide Regional Coordinator 
Supervisor of Curriculum and Evaluation 
Teen Traffic Safety Program Specialist I 
Traffic Safety Fiscal Assistant 
Traffic Safety Resource Prosecutor 
Training Specialist II 
Veterans Pathways Program Coordinator 
Victim Advocate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



45 
 

APPENDIX F 
TIMESHEET REPORTING PERIODS FOR  

NON-EXEMPT CLASSIFIED STAFF, OPS AND WORK-STUDY STUDENTS 
 
 
 

Start Date End Date Time & 

Attendance  

Lock Out 

Dates 

Pay Date 

May 57, 20243 June 810, 20243 June 146, 

20243 

Friday, June 2830, 20243 

June 911, 20243 July 68, 20243 July 124, 

20243 

WednesdayMonday, July 31, 20243 

July 79, 20243 August 35, 20243 August 154, 

20243 

FridayThursday, August 301, 20243 

August 46, 20243 September 72, 20243 September 

165, 20243 

Friday, September 3029, 20243 

September 83, 20243 October 57, 20243 October 153, 

20243 

Thursayuesday, October 31, 20243 

October 68, 20243 November 24, 20243 November 

156, 20243 

FridayThursday, November 2930, 20243 

November 35, 20243 December 72, 20243 December 

121, 20243 

TuesdayFriday, December 3129, 20243 

December 83, 20243 January 46, 20254 January 172, 

20254 

FridayWednesday, January 31, 20254 

January 57, 20254 February 13, 20254 February 109, 

20254 

FridayThursday, February 289, 20254 

February 24, 20254 March 89, 20254 March 18, 

20254 

MondayFriday, March 3129, 20254 

March 910, 20254 April 56, 20254 April 112, 

2024 

WednesdayTuesday, April 30, 20254 

April 67, 20254 May 34, 20254 May 910, 

20254 

Friday, May 301, 20254 



46 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

May 45, 20254 June 78, 20254 June 134, 

20254 

Monday Friday, June 3028, 20254 



 

  

 

 

        

 

 

 

     

  TALLAHASSEE STATE COLLEGE 
 

ANNUAL SALARY SCHEDULE 

2024 - 2025 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by Human Resources 
  

 



2 
 

Table of Contents 
INTRODUCTION 3 

PURPOSE 3 

ACCREDITATION 3 

WEBSITE 3 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 4 

SALARY STATEMENT 5 

EMPLOYEE CLASSIFICATIONS 6 

ORIGINAL APPOINTMENTS AND STARTING SALARY DETERMINATIONS 7 

EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT/DEGREE CHANGE 8 

RECLASSIFICATION/ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGES 9 

FULL-TIME FACULTY 9 

ADJUNCTS (Credit/Contract Hours) 9 

ADJUNCTS (Clock Hours) 12 

CLASSIFIED STAFF/PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS 14 

Service Credit 14 

RETIREES 16 

APPENDIX A 19 

APPENDIX B 21 

APPENDIX C 22 

APPENDIX D 32 

APPENDIX E 43 

APPENDIX F 45 

 

  



3 
 

INTRODUCTION  
 
The Tallahassee State College’s Salary Schedule is established annually pursuant to s.1001.64(18), F.S. 
The President recommends the Salary Schedule to the College’s District Board of Trustees (“Board”) at the 
June Board Meeting and, once adopted, it becomes the sole instrument used to determine employee 
compensation and supersedes all rules, handbooks and other policies. The Salary Schedule is not intended 
to create and/or be interpreted as a contract of employment nor does the Salary Schedule give employees 
the right to or an expectancy of continued employment.  
 
PURPOSE  
 
This Salary Schedule is designed to meet the following objectives:  

 Ensure compensation actions are administered in a manner to comply with state and federal legal 
requirements;  

 Enhance the College’s ability to attract and retain qualified faculty and staff;  
 Ensure fair treatment of employees through internal consistency; 
 Provide a clear and concise reference for fair compensation decisions;  
 Serve as a guide regarding employee salaries so that the compensation structure remains 

responsive to changes in the marketplace, the organization and funding availability.  
 

ACCREDITATION 
 
Tallahassee State College is accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission 
on Colleges (SACSCOC) to award the Associate Degree.  The Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) degree 
program is accredited by SACSCOC and the Accreditation Commission for Education in Nursing (ACEN).   
 

WEBSITE 

This Salary Schedule may be viewed online at:   

https://www.tcc.fl.edu/about/college/administrative-services/human-resources/current-employees/ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



4 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS  
 
Effective Date  
July 1, 2024 
 
Budgeted Personnel Costs 
The budget for salaries and benefits is approved annually by the Board as a major component of the 
College’s Operating Budget.  The budgeted costs are based on the annual amount required for each 
authorized position filled or to be filled.  Throughout the year, the President and the Vice President of 
Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer are responsible for maintaining the salary budget.  Funding 
provisions within this Salary Schedule are subject to the maximum identified by the President.  Budgeted 
compensation for those individuals identified in s.1012.885 and 1012.886, F.S. are considered budgeted 
from appropriated state funds up to the allowable statutory limit, and any budgeted compensation in excess 
of said statutory limit considered budgeted proportionally from other college operating revenues sources, 
such as tuition and fees and other available funds.  
 
Salaries  
Salaries established for positions are based on 1.0 full time equivalent (FTE) unless otherwise noted. 
Salaries are adjusted for .50 or .75 FTE and eligible benefits are prorated as indicated in the College’s policy 
manual.  
 
Salary Increases/Changes In Salary 
Salary increases will be determined as part of the annual planning and budgeting process. The President 
will recommend a salary increase proposal to the Board for approval and will subsequently notify employees 
of the Board’s decision. Salary increases are contingent on availability of funding and are largely dependent 
upon the allocation of state funds and the College’s budget priorities.  
 
Eligible employees must be in good standing and not on a performance improvement plan. Additionally, 
employees must be in a regularly established position not grant funded, OPS, PSAV or PSC.  
 
Probationary employees are not eligible for salary increases until the first of the following month after non-
probationary status is obtained.  
 
Maximum of Salary Range 
When an employee reaches the maximum in salary range, a one-time non-recurring pay adjustment 
(equivalent to the pay increase) may be authorized when a salary increase is approved by the Board. The 
employee’s base rate of pay will remain unchanged. Supplemental payments and payments for instruction, 
when not part of regular duties, are in addition to regular earnings, and may allow an employee to exceed 
assigned salary range.  
 
Pay Dates  
All College employees shall be paid on a monthly basis. Pay dates for all employees shall be the last College 
business day (Monday - Friday) of each month, unless otherwise established by the Vice President of 
Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer. 
 
If an error has been noted in regards to wages, compensation, initial or promotional placement and is 
discovered, the wages of that employee will be adjusted accordingly. In the case of underpayment, the 
employee’s pay rate will be adjusted in the present year. In the event of an overpayment, the College will 
collect all monies owed via payroll deduction or through the College’s collection process if for a former 
employee. If necessary, the College may utilize a third-party collection agency to collect funds from former 
employees and any applicable collection fees would be assessed to the former employee’s outstanding 
balance.   
 
Addition of Positions and Job Classifications 
Additional job titles, job descriptions and classifications may be developed as needed based upon the 
recommendation of the appropriate Vice President and Human Resources, with approval from the President.  
It is not necessary for the Board to approve new job titles, job descriptions and classifications.    
 
Contracts and Grants Personnel 
The College shall adhere to the established classification plan, salary schedules, and appointment 
procedures when appointing grant personnel. Exceptions to the College’s standard practices must be 



5 
 

recommended by the Director of Financial Services, Vice President of Administrative Services & Chief 
Business Officer, Human Resources Director and approved by the President, and documented fully in the 
personnel files of the concerned employees.  
 
When a new position is grant-funded, a job description is developed by the supervisor and Human 
Resources.  Based on the duties, Human Resources places the position at the appropriate classification on 
the Salary Schedule; the salary may be specified by the grant. College funding beyond the grant period is 
determined by business necessity and other factors.  Employees holding a grant-funded position are 
required to record grant-funded hours separately from College-funded hours.    
 
The President may designate specific college closure periods that may/may not coincide with the terms of a 
specific grant. College funding outside of days identified as regular scheduled holidays or regular workdays 
identified by the grant-funded position is determined by the terms/conditions of the grant, business necessity 
and/or other controlling factors.  
 
Board approved salary increases for personnel employed under federal/state grants will be granted only if 
the increases are budgeted in the grants.  
 
Wireless Allowance Plans 
Approved requests for wireless allowance plans may be made at any time during the fiscal year in Workday.  
Plans are determined on a year-to-year basis and may be rescinded and/or modified by College 
management. This allowance does not constitute an increase to base pay and will not be included in the 
calculation of percentage increases to base pay.  It also is not reportable wages for College paid retirement 
plans.  It will be counted as earned income for W-2 purposes. 
 
Terminal Pay 
Shall be calculated and determined in accordance with College Policy or the controlling terms and conditions 
of a contract and/or grant. 
 
Other Provisions  
Under special circumstances, the Board reserves the right to employ individuals in established positions not 
covered by the salary schedule. Any or all provisions of this schedule may be waived upon appropriate action 
by the Board. Changes to the approved Salary Schedule may only be made by the Human Resources 
Director with approval from the President or Vice President of Administrative Services & Chief Business 
Officer. 
 
To attract and/or retain faculty and staff, the College is authorized to make salary adjustments beyond the 
normal salary schedules when specifically authorized by the President.  During the contract year, the 
President is authorized to offer special contract terms to qualified faculty and staff as additional incentive for 
recruitment and/or retention of these employees.  In instances where the marketplace salary or promotional 
placement for certain positions is beyond the maximum of the approved salary range or initial placement on 
the Salary Schedule, the President may recommend appropriate salary figure. Documentation must be 
provided to Human Resources by the requesting department that supports the adjustment.   
 

SALARY STATEMENT 
 
The Board determines the President’s salary.  The President, in turn, determines the salaries of his direct 
reports. As shown by Appendix B, all Classified Staff positions are assigned to a specific salary range based 
upon a fully documented assessment and approval from the President and Board. 
 
Exempt and Non-Exempt Status  
The federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) provides guidelines on employment status, child labor, 
minimum wage, overtime pay and record-keeping requirements. FLSA establishes wage and time 
requirements, sets federal minimum wage that must be paid and mandates when overtime must be paid. 
Employees not covered by the overtime provisions of FLSA are considered "exempt" (E), those covered by 
FLSA overtime provisions are "non-exempt" (NE). Effective July 1, 2024, federal guidelines require exempt 
positions earn a minimum of $43,888 annually and meet additional federal requirements.  
 
Exempt (E) employees are those individuals who are exempt from the overtime provisions of the FLSA 
because they meet the requirements of the executive, professional, administrative or computer exemption.  



6 
 

 
Non-exempt (NE) employees are not exempt from overtime provisions of the FLSA. Such employees are 
entitled to receive overtime for all hours worked beyond 40 in a workweek. Alternatively, provisions for public 
employers allow for hours in excess of 40 hours per week to be paid in the form of compensatory leave.  
 
Essential Personnel  
In the event of extraordinary situations, the college may suspend normal operations and classes in whole or 
in part.  In such instances, staff designated as essential personnel must fulfill duties to: (1) ensure the 
continuation of critical College operations; (2) attend to the needs of students and other members of the 
College community; and (3) protect the College’s assets.  Essential personnel may be exempt or non-exempt 
under FLSA standards and are designated by the appropriate executive team member.  
 
EMPLOYEE CLASSIFICATIONS  
 
Executive, Administrative and Managerial/Professional  
These are high-level strategic planning, policymaking and management positions. The duties of these 
positions include planning, directing, developing, organizing and utilizing College resources (human, 
material, financial and facility resources). These positions are considered exempt positions under FLSA 
standards.  

 Executive Positions/Senior Management 
The following positions are designated as Senior Management as outlined in the College’s Policy 
and defined by the Florida Retirement System: President (GL Code 51000), Provost and Vice 
President of Academic Affairs (GL Code 51000), Vice President (GL Code 51000), Associate Vice 
President (GL Code 51200), Assistant Vice President (GL Codes 51201 and 51202) and Executive 
Director (GL Code 51000).  
 
Administrative Positions 
The following positions are designated as Administrative: Dean (GL Code 51100) and Associate 
Dean (GL Code 51100).  Administrators are designated as Select Exempt for leave purposes as 
outlined by the College’s Policy.  
 
Managerial/Professional Positions 
Positions designated as Managerial/Professional (GL Code 53000) are listed by Appendix A. 
Managerial/Professional positions are designated as Select Exempt for leave purposes as outlined 
by the College’s Policy.  

 
Faculty  
These positions are officially designated by the Board as instructional. The primary and predominant 
activities of such positions involve direct instruction. These positions are considered exempt positions under 
FLSA standards. These positions are governed under the College’s collective bargaining agreement. 
 
Non-Teaching Faculty  
The primary duties of such positions involve library or learning resources support services, counseling, 
academic advisement, career advisement and student support services. These positions are considered 
exempt positions under FLSA standards. These positions are governed under the College’s collective 
bargaining agreement. 
 
Classified Staff/Professional  
The primary duties of such positions may provide oversight of specific operations of the College or provide 
services of a highly technical nature. Employees in these positions generally have specialized training and 
experience or certifications that relate directly to the functions of the positions. Employees in these positions 
often supervise other employees. Positions assigned to this classification are in the 200 series as referenced 
in Appendix B. These positions may be designated as exempt or non-exempt under FLSA standards.  
 
Classified Staff  
The primary duties of these positions involve performance of support functions essential for the effective 
operation of the College and other than those designated as Faculty, Non-Teaching Faculty, Executive, 
Administrative or Managerial/Professional. Some Classified Staff employees may supervise other 



7 
 

employees. Positions assigned to this classification are in the 100 series as referenced in Appendix B. These 
positions may be designated as exempt or non-exempt under FLSA standards. 
 
Time Limited  
This class of positions is created to cover the College’s employment need in any classification.  Time Limited 
positions are restricted to serve no more than ten (10) months during the College’s fiscal year and benefit 
restrictions are also associated with this class.  These positions may be designated as exempt or non-
exempt under FLSA standards and must be approved by the President. 
 

 Other Personal Services (OPS) 
 Professional Service Contracts (PSC) 
 Adjuncts  
 Post-Secondary Adult Vocational (PSAV) 
 Work-study Students 
 Adult Education 
 Continuing Education Instructors 

 

ORIGINAL APPOINTMENTS AND STARTING SALARY DETERMINATIONS 
  
Recommendations for original appointments and starting salaries are made to Human Resources.  Formal 
offers of employment are made by Human Resources, subject to the approval from the President and Board, 
and in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, and policies.  
 
When the desired effective date of an appointment predates the next regularly scheduled Board meeting, 
the President or his designee is authorized to tentatively approve the appointment. Final authorization is 
subject to approval from the Board.  
 
President – The starting salary of the President is determined by the Board.  
 
Executive/Senior Management - The starting salary for persons in a Vice President, Assistant Vice 
President or Associate Vice President shall be determined by the President.  
 
Administrative - The starting salary for persons selected for an Administrative Position shall be determined 
by the President on the recommendation of the appropriate Vice President and Human Resources. 
Consideration shall be given to the applicant’s academic credentials, number of years of qualifying 
professional work experience, professional licensure/certification or other factors that may be pertinent to 
the position.  

Managerial/Professional - The starting salary for persons in a Managerial/Professional Position shall be 
determined by the President on the recommendation of the Human Resources Director and appropriate Vice 
President or Executive Director.  

Classified Staff - The starting salary for persons in a Classified Staff Position will be at the minimum of the 
salary range. The appointment salary may increase by up to ten percent (10%) of the market rate by the 
appropriate Vice President upon the recommendation of the Director of Human Resources if an applicant’s 
qualifications exceed the minimum training and experience requirements. Appointment salaries beyond ten 
percent (10%) of the market rate must be approved by the President.  

Faculty and Non-Teaching Faculty – Matters related to full time Faculty compensation are covered in the 
Collective Bargaining Agreement. The Collective Bargaining Agreement can be accessed by: TSC - UFF 
Contract. 

Verification of Experience and Education  
Previous work-related experience considered in the starting salary determination must be verified by the 
previous employer(s) on letterhead or on a form provided by the College. Proper verification shall be 
submitted to Human Resources prior to the employee’s appointment and shall include the dates of 
employment, job title, hours worked weekly, and an authorizing signature. 
 



8 
 

If verification of previous work-related experience or education is not received by Human Resources prior to 
hiring, the employment offer may be rescinded.   
 
Starting salary will be determined by employment verifications received at the time of hire.   
 
Transcripts/Certificates/Licensures 
For all positions, copies of transcripts, certificates or licenses are required prior to hiring approval and official 
transcripts are required within thirty (30) days of hire date. If an individual fails to provide an official transcript 
to Human Resources within 30 days of their original appointment, the employee may cease to receive 
compensation and necessary action may be taken to terminate the employee.   
 
EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT/DEGREE CHANGE 
 
A non-probationary employee who obtains a higher-level degree after being employed beyond the minimum 
degree required for their position from a regionally accredited institution, shall be eligible to receive a 2% 
salary increase to their base pay. Provided funds are available in the departmental budget, the salary 
increase shall be effective the first month following receipt of the official transcript by Human Resources.  It 
is the employee’s responsibility to obtain and submit the official transcript to Human Resources.  

Credit for educational attainment shall be granted only when an official transcript reflecting the degree is 
received in Human Resources. Original transcripts shall be placed in the employee’s personnel file in Human 
Resources. Processing of the increase will begin upon receipt of the required documentation and will be 
effective with the next available pay period.  

TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS 
 
Upon recommendation by the appropriate Vice President or Executive Director and Human Resources, 
employees may be given a temporary work assignment which encompasses duties and responsibilities of a 
different and advanced nature for a specified, limited period of time. After working 2 weeks (10 consecutive 
business days), an employee may be given a pay supplement of up to ten percent (10%) with the approval 
from the appropriate Vice President or Executive Director and Human Resources. Temporary assignments 
may be rescinded at any time and do not constitute a promotion.  During this limited period of assignment, 
this pay supplement will not be added to the employee’s base pay and will not be included in the calculation 
of percentage increases to base pay.  It also is not reportable wages for College paid retirement plans.  It 
will be counted as earned income for W-2 purposes. 
 
Interim Positions 
An employee may be appointed to an interim position by the President.  Interim appointments shall not 
exceed two (2) years.   
 
Acting Assignment as Executive or Administrator 
An employee may be designated as "acting" by the President. The acting appointment shall not exceed six 
(6) months unless authorized by the President. 
 
Additional Duties  
An employee may be assigned additional duties due to hard to fill or challenging recruiting efforts 
(documented by unsuccessful advertisements); or the current incumbent who is responsible for the work is 
absent due to a serious health condition; or some other situation creates an undue hardship on the 
operations of the College. The additional duties stipends shall not exceed two (2) years. 
 
Extraordinary Task or Project 
An employee may be assigned a task or project that is beyond the scope of the employee’s regular duties.   
 
Overlap in Position  
Up to a two (2) month overlap in any position may be allowed in order to facilitate the transition and to provide 
training for a new employee. Both employees shall receive full benefits during the overlap period. 
 
 



9 
 

RECLASSIFICATION/ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGES  
 
When a position is reclassified to a higher or lower salary level or grade, adjustments to salary may be 
handled in the same manner as a promotion or demotion.  Departmental or institutional reorganizations may 
be recommended and submitted for consideration during the budget process each year.  Exceptions to this 
rule will be determined by the Director of Human Resources and Vice President of Administrative Services 
& Chief Business Officer, and approved by the President. Requests for reclassifications shall be made using 
the Request for Reclassification form as provided by Human Resources. 
 
Promotion:  Occurs when an employee is appointed to a position in a job classification that has a higher 
pay grade or level.  Upon promotion, the employee will receive either an increase in salary to the minimum 
of the new pay grade/level or the amount an employee would have been eligible for as a new hire; whichever 
is greater.  In any occurrence whereby, an employee is assigned to a higher pay grade or level, the 
promotional increase should be up to ten (10%) percent.  
 
Demotion:  Occurs when an employee is transferred to a position in a job classification that has a lower pay 
grade or level.  A demotion may be voluntary or involuntary. For voluntary and involuntary demotions, the 
employee’s salary will be reduced by at least ten (10%) unless otherwise determined by the Director of 
Human Resources and Vice President of Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer and approved by 
the President. There shall be no salary increase as a result of a demotion. For Classified Staff, the new 
demoted salary will not exceed the maximum amount of the demoted position’s pay grade. When positions 
are reclassified into a lower pay grade or level and employees are involuntarily moved for non-performance 
related issues, the employee’s salary may remain the same unless otherwise determined by the Director of 
Human Resources and Vice President of Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer and approved by 
the President. 
 
If an employee is demoted back to a class or pay grade in which they previously served, the employee’s 
salary will be reduced by the aggregate amount of all promotional increases received since holding the class 
or pay grade.  
 
Reassignment/Lateral/Transfer: Occurs when an employee is reassigned to an established position in a 
job classification with the same pay grade or level. If the reassignment results in a different job 
location/department, it shall be deemed a transfer.  In either action, there shall be no salary increase or 
decrease as a result of a lateral or transfer. Reassignments may occur at the discretion of College 
management. 

  
Retitle: Occurs when the title of an established position is changed. There shall be no salary increase or 
decrease resulting from the retitling of a position.  

 
 
WORK SCHEDULE 
 
For full-time Executive, Administrative, Managerial/Professional and Classified employees, the work 
schedule is generally detailed as 40 hours per week.  All employees, unless absent for approved purposes, 
are required to perform their assigned duties during the designated workdays of the College.  The President 
shall establish a standard work week for all personnel predicated on the needs of the College and may 
authorize departures from the standard workday/work week.   
 
FULL-TIME FACULTY 
 

Matters related to full-time faculty (teaching and non-teaching) compensation are covered in the Collective 
Bargaining Agreement. The Collective Bargaining Agreement can be accessed by: TSC - UFF Contract. 
 
ADJUNCTS (Credit/Contract Hours) 

1. Credit and Contact Hours: Adjuncts teaching on a credit/contact hour basis as defined in the District 
Board of Trustees Policy Manual are hired according to degree and appropriate subject matter credentials.  
Adjuncts are paid for classroom instruction, office hours, grading and preparation time based on a time 
formula consistent with full time teaching faculty weekly commitments for the same work. 



10 
 

Adjuncts teaching on a credit/contact hour basis as defined in the District Board of Trustees Policy Manual 
shall be paid according to the following credit hour rates:  

Academic Credentials  Credit Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $884 

Master’s  $821 

Bachelor’s  $745 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $657 

Substitutes: Substitute instructors shall be paid per class hour for lecture as follows: 

Academic Credentials  Class Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $31 

Master’s  $29 

Bachelor’s $26 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $24 

If a substitute is needed for more than one day of instruction, the Provost may authorize a supplemental 
contract paid at the semester credit hour rate for the degree of the substitute calculated on a ratio of days 
taught by the substitute.   

2. Clinical Hours**: Adjuncts teaching clinicals, clinically related labs or dental assisting on an hourly basis 
in credit hour programs, shall be paid according to the following clinical hourly rates. This instruction includes 
student assessment and feedback as part of the time scheduled.  Separate office hours or preparation time 
are not required. 

Academic Credentials  Clinical Hour 
Rates 

Doctorate  $53 

Master’s  $45 

Bachelor’s $37 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $33 

 
 
 
Substitutes: Substitutes for clinicals and clinically related labs shall be paid according to approved clinical 
hours as follows:  
 



11 
 

Academic Credentials  Clinical Hour 
Rates 

Doctorate  $46 

Master’s  $41 

Bachelor’s $32 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $29 

3. Adjunct Advancement Program: Adjuncts who have completed the Adjunct Advancement Program, 
received a Certificate of Completion, and have a current Renewal of Certification on file in Human 
Resources, shall be designated Adjunct Professors. To maintain status as an Adjunct Professor, renewal 
certification is required each year after initial certification.  

Credit/Contact Hours: Adjunct Professors teaching on a credit/contact hour basis as defined in the 
College’s Policy Manual, shall be paid according to the following credit hour rates:  

Academic Credentials  Credit Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $1007 

Master’s  $934 

Bachelor’s  $849 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $752 

 
Clinical Hours**: Adjunct Professors teaching clinicals and clinically related labs and dental assisting on an 
hourly basis, shall be paid according to the following clinical hourly rates:  
 

Academic Credentials  Clinical Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $59 

Master’s  $52 

Bachelor’s $44 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $40 

 

4.   Retirees:  Returning retirees working as Adjunct Professors teaching on a credit/contact hourly basis 
as defined in the Policy Manual, shall be paid according to the following credit hour rates: 

Academic Credentials  Credit Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $973 

Master’s  $904 



12 
 

Bachelor’s  $820 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $725 

5.  Pay Adjustments for Absences: Compensation shall be adjusted for any classes or final exams missed 
by Adjuncts or Adjunct Professors.  

Adjuncts who miss scheduled work hours will have pay reduced for class lectures and office hours as follows: 

Academic Credentials  Class and Office Hour 
Rates  

Doctorate  $31 

Master’s  $29 

Bachelor’s $26 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $24 

Note: Adjustments are made based on accepted practice for a credit hour 50-minute class equaling 60 clock 
minutes.  Other class times (75 minutes equaling 90 clock minutes) are similarly adjusted. 

If a substitute is needed for more than one day of instruction, the /Provost may authorize a supplemental 
contract paid at the semester credit hour rate for the degree of the substitute calculated on a ratio of days 
taught by the substitute.   

Clinical hour faculty salary will be reduced for the hours missed according to the table in (2) Clinical Hour 
above. 

**The College may offer additional compensation for positions where specialized credentials or 
experience are required. Such compensation may be a one-time payment or a temporary increase 
up to twenty percent (20%) of the hourly rates listed in the table above at the College’s discretion. 

ADJUNCTS (Clock Hours) 

1. Florida Public Safety Institute: Adjuncts teaching on a clock hourly basis in non-credit hour program 
shall be paid according to the following clock hourly rates. This instruction includes student assessment 
and feedback as part of the time scheduled.  This includes Post-Secondary Adult Vocational (PSAV) 
assignments. Separate office hours or preparation time are not required.   

Academic Credentials  Clock Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $53 

Master’s  $45 

Bachelor’s $37 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $33 

Professional certification or licensure  $35 



13 
 

 
Substitutes: Substitutes for clock hours shall be paid according to approved clock hours as follows:  
 

Academic Credentials  Clock Hour Rates 

Doctorate  $46 

Master’s  $41 

Bachelor’s $32 

Less than Bachelor’s with program specific credentials and Associate degree $29 

2.   Adult Education: The maximum permissible rate for adjunct instructors teaching adult education 
courses on a clock hour basis shall be the following:  

Academic Credentials  Clock Hour Rates  

Doctorate  $32 

Master’s  $30 

Bachelor’s $26 

3.   Workforce Development: The permissible rate for adjunct instructors teaching on a clock hour basis 
shall be the following:  

Credentials  Clock Hour Rates  

Professional certification or licensure  $40 - $47 

 

Upon the recommendation from the appropriate Vice President or Executive Director and Human 
Resources, the President may authorize a higher rate of pay for courses where special expertise is 
required or the market for available instructors dictates. 

DIS COURSES 

Instructors teaching courses through directed individual study (DIS) methods shall be compensated per 
student according to the following rates: 

Academic Credentials  1 credit hr 3 credit hrs 4 credit hrs 5 credit hrs 

Doctorate  $27 $81 $108 $135 

Masters  $26 $78 $104 $130 

Bachelors $25 $75 $100 $125 

Less than Bachelors with 
program specific 

$24 $72 $96 $120 



14 
 

credentials and Associate 
degree 

DIS sections are limited to an enrollment of no more than fifty (50) students per semester.  

CONTINUING EDUCATION INSTRUCTORS  

The following categories have been determined for the Continuing Education program with a maximum 
hourly rate determined for each category. The individual qualifications of each employee shall be used to 
determine the actual salary for the course taught within the guidelines established. These rates of pay may 
be adjusted for extenuating circumstances or market rates, with appropriate Vice President approval. 

Maximum Hourly Rates by Academic Degrees (when appropriate to course taught):  

Academic Credentials  Maximum Hourly Rates 

Doctorate  $51 

Masters  $36 

Bachelors  $32 

Associate $31 

Professional certification or licensure  $30 

 

CLASSIFIED STAFF/PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS  
 
Positions assigned to these classifications are designated by their paygrade (in either 100 or 200 series) as 
referenced in Appendix B. These positions may be designated as exempt or non-exempt under FLSA 
standards.  
 
Shift Differential 
Environmental Service Technicians that have the majority of their work hours assigned to shifts outside of 
the College’s regular business hours shall receive an additional $2.00 hourly increment to their base pay as 
a shift differential.  The hourly increment will be based on a 2,080-hour work year for full-time employees.  
 
Service Credit 
Employees classified as Environmental Service Technicians shall receive an 5% salary increase and be 
retitled Senior Environmental Service Technician on the first day of the month following achievement of ten 
(10) years of service in that classification.  
 
Trainee Status 
A Classified Staff employee may be appointed as a trainee in an established position with a higher pay grade 
due to the following:  

 Recruitment/Retention  
o The hiring authority has experienced recruitment difficulty in filling the position or in 

retaining personnel as evidenced by either a lack of qualified applicants or frequent 
turnover of staff within the last 24 months.  

o The Classified Staff employee is within one year of meeting the minimum training and 
experience requirements for the position and has demonstrated that he/she is able to 
perform most of the assigned duties through the assumption of job responsibilities when 
the position was vacant, as well as by the receipt of consistent performance appraisal 
ratings of satisfactory and above.  

 Loss of position 



15 
 

o The Classified Staff position is being deleted due to a change in business process, 
technology or reorganization.  

o The Classified Staff employee is within one year of meeting the minimum training and 
experience requirements for the position and has demonstrated that he/she is able to 
perform most of the assigned duties through consistent performance appraisal ratings of 
satisfactory and above.  

o The trainee period would be limited to one year. Compensation during this period will be 
ten percent (10%) below the minimum of the pay grade for the higher classification. The 
training plan will be developed by the employee’s supervisor in consultation with the 
Director of Human Resources and the proper member of the Executive Team. After 
finalization, the trainee recommendation should be submitted to the Vice President of 
Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer.  

Upon completion of the one-year trainee period, the Classified Staff employee will be required to serve a six 
(6) month probationary period.  

 
Sworn Law Enforcement  
The original appointment salary for sworn law enforcement positions shall be determined by the Vice 
President of Administrative Services & Chief Business Officer based on the recommendation of the Chief of 
Campus Police.  

The following classifications are designated as sworn law enforcement:  

 Campus Police Officer 
 Campus Police Sergeant  
 Campus Police Lieutenant 
 Chief of Police 

Special Risk Membership: In accordance with s.121.0515, F.S., college employees designated as sworn 
law enforcement personnel are eligible for membership in the Special Risk Class of the Florida Retirement 
System.  

Salary Incentives: An employee in a full-time sworn law enforcement classification shall be given an ongoing 
monthly supplement for educational attainment in accordance with s.943.22, F.S. and the Criminal Justice 
Standards and Training Commission as follows:  

 Education (maximum of $80 per month)  
o $80 per month for Bachelors  
o $30 per month for Associates  

 Training  
o $20 per month for every eighty (80) hours completed in courses approved for salary 

incentives for police officers when not utilized to satisfy mandatory retraining requirements.  
 Combination Education and Training  

o Maximum $130 per month  

Reserve Officers: Reserve officers are certified sworn law enforcement officers who volunteer law 
enforcement services to the College in accordance with TSCPD General Orders and may be hired on an 
Other Personal Services (OPS) basis to fill in when regular officers are unavailable or to provide additional 
coverage at special events. Compensation for OPS law enforcement services beyond the volunteer hours 
required by TSCPD General Orders shall be at the rate of at least $15.45 per hour. 
 
Athletics  
The original appointment salary for the Head Coach and Athletic Director positions shall be determined by 
the President pursuant to a recommendation from the Vice President of Student Affairs.  

If the Athletic Director position is filled in a part-time capacity, the part-time Athletic Director will be 
compensated by salary supplement at a minimum of $5,000 to a maximum of $10,000.  



16 
 

Contract Provisions: Employees hired in Head Coach and Athletic Director positions shall be on annual 
contract. Assistant Coaches may be hired in a 10-month professional services contract. 

Athletic employees shall be available for College business at all times throughout the standard work week, 
as well as outside regular work hours, unless performing authorized travel or other approved absence.  

Other Classified Staff Provisions  
1. Timesheet Reporting Period: The reporting period for some Classified staff that hold a non-exempt 

role is outlined by Appendix E. 
2. Timesheet Submission: Non-exempt Classified staff are to submit timesheets on a weekly basis 

to their supervisor in order to meet payroll deadlines.  

If the timesheet is not turned in to the supervisor by the designated Time and Attendance lockout dates, the 
employee may be required to wait until the next payroll cycle to receive compensation for that reporting 
period.  

RETIREES  
 
For the purpose of extending College retirement benefits other than the Retirement Incentive Plan, a retiree 
shall be defined as either:  

1. An employee who meets the retirement criteria under the Florida Retirement System (FRS) Pension 
Plans and draws a retirement benefit from FRS; or  

2. An employee who is under an ORP retirement plan or FRS Investment Plan and draws a benefit 
from the TSC-paid ORP or FRS Investment Plan and who has at least eight years of creditable 
service as defined by FRS.  

 
Special Retiree Pay 401a Plan  
Effective November 1, 2000, all employees at time of retirement from the College shall participate in the 
Special Retiree Pay plan by transferring an IRS-defined amount into a 401a defined contribution account.  

The amount transferred into the account is exempt from FICA taxes, and payment of federal withholding 
taxes is deferred until funds are withdrawn from the plan by the retiree at a later date. If an employee has 
not reached age 55 or older at the time of separation of service, any funds withdrawn from the 401a account 
may be subject to a ten (10) percent penalty for early withdrawal in accordance with IRS regulations. 

The 401a contribution shall be calculated not to exceed one hundred (100) percent of the total of the 
employee’s salary plus terminal pay up to the maximum allowed by IRS; however, the contribution cannot 
exceed the amount of the employee’s terminal pay. The salary period for calculation will be based on the 
College’s fiscal year (July 1 through June 30).  

Complete information about the Special Retiree Pay plan is available in Human Resources.  

Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) - 121.091(13) FS  
The Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) is an alternative method for payout of retirement benefits. 
Any employee who is a vested member of the Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS) and who 
reaches normal retirement, either by service years or age shall be eligible to participate in DROP.  

An employee wishing to elect DROP must provide written notification of intent to their immediate supervisor 
and Human Resources not less than sixty (60) calendar days prior to the date of DROP retirement.  

An employee participating in DROP may elect to be paid for unused annual leave at the employee’s current 
rate of pay, to the extent that the payment does not exceed the maximum payout for annual leave in 
accordance with District Board of Trustees Policy Manual. This payment can either be made upon entering 
DROP or at the conclusion of DROP, but will only be counted in the retirement calculation one time.  

Annual leave shall be earned during the DROP period, and unpaid annual leave shall be carried forward 
until used or paid at termination. Annual leave paid at termination shall not be counted in the retirement 
calculation if the annual leave was paid upon entering DROP.  



17 
 

Sick leave shall be earned during the DROP period, and unpaid sick leave shall be carried forward until used 
or paid at termination. All sick leave allowable per 121.091, F.S. up to a maximum of 480 hours shall be paid 
at termination at the current hourly rate of the employee. Sick Leave is paid out on a percentage scale as 
follows: 

 0-3 Years 35% 
 4-6 Years 40% 
 7-9 Years 45%  
 10 Years or more 50%, with a max of 480 hours. 

When an employee retires and enters the DROP program, the contribution amount into the 401a will be 
calculated based on fiscal year salary and terminal pay in increments. Contributions are made to the Plan 
at the end of each fiscal year of the DROP period leading up to your actual retirement date. The contribution 
amounts are based on salary and percentage of eligible sick leave.  In accordance with College policy, 
employees terminating prior to the end date of their DROP will be paid 100% of their eligible sick leave 
balance. If an employee is participating in the DROP and the retirement incentive, the retirement incentive 
payout shall occur as outlined in the retirement incentive sections of the Board-approved Salary Schedule.  

Complete information about DROP is available in Human Resources. 

Retirement Incentive  
If an employee who was hired prior to July 1, 1995, elects to retire within thirty-six (36) months from 
achievement of normal retirement as defined in 121.091(1), F.S. or 238.07, F.S., the College shall pay up to 
a maximum of one thousand four hundred forty (1,440) hours of sick leave as allowed by 1012.865(2) (d)(5), 
F.S. This compensation shall be calculated at the hourly rate of pay at termination.  

Any employee not choosing to exercise the above option shall not be eligible for the retirement incentive 
plan and shall follow the procedures in accordance to the District Board of Trustees Sick Leave Policy 
Manual.   

Retirees exercising the retirement incentive shall receive compensation as follows:  
 First payment: at the time of retirement, a ten percent (10%) incentive shall be paid based on the 

salary at retirement for those using the retirement incentive option. This incentive will be deposited 
into the Special Retiree Pay 401a/403(b) plan in accordance with IRS regulations.  

 Second payment: that portion of the accumulated sick leave hours which represents zero to four 
hundred eighty (0 - 480) hours with payment made into the Special Retiree Pay 401a plan five (5) 
months from termination.  

 Third payment: that portion of the accumulated sick leave hours which represents four hundred 
eighty-one to nine hundred sixty (481 - 960) hours with payment made into the Special Retiree Pay 
401a/403(b) plan twenty-six (26) months from termination.  

 Fourth payment: that portion of the accumulated sick leave hours which represents nine-hundred 
and sixty-one to one thousand four hundred forty hours (961 - 1,440) with payment made into the 
Special Retiree Pay 401a/403(b) plan thirty-nine (39) months from termination.  

Anyone wishing to retire must provide written notification of intent to their immediate supervisor and Human 
Resource Director not less than sixty (60) calendar days prior to the date of retirement in order to participate 
in the retirement incentive.  

Reemployment Provisions for Retirees  
Retirees shall have retired per 121.091(1) FS or 238.07, FS. Retirees must follow reemployment rules as 
outlined by FRS prior to returning to employment with an FRS participating employer. Retirees include 
anyone retiring from the Pension Plan, Investment Plan, DROP Program, or Optional Retirement Plan. 
Human Resources must be contacted prior to reemployment to confirm eligibility. 
 
TIME LIMITED EMPLOYEES   

Other Personal Services (OPS)  



18 
 

Hourly employees are hired to fill temporary positions created to accomplish a specific task within a specific 
time. These employees work on an "as needed" or "available funds" basis and are compensated on an 
"hours worked" basis only. An hourly employee does not serve on a contractual basis nor does the 
authorization form for hire constitute a contract. Hourly employees are classified as Other Personal Services 
(OPS), including Tutors and Work-Study Students. These employees are non-exempt and covered under 
the overtime provisions of the FLSA and may work no more than 25 hours a week. 

Non-TSC students employed in this category will be subject to the Federal Medicare tax and will be required 
to contribute to the Alternate FICA Plan. After employees work a minimum of 2,080 hours, they are subject 
to combined FICA and Medicare taxes, as mandated by state and federal law, and are eligible for employer 
contributions in the Florida Retirement System (FRS).  

Work-study Students  
Student personnel may qualify to work under the Federal College Work-Study (FCWS) program for a 
specified number of hours as determined by the Financial Aid Office. Work-study students are not eligible to 
receive employee benefits and are exempt from Social Security and Medicare taxes.  

The hourly rate for work-study student employees is $1.25 above the minimum hourly rate set by the Florida 
Minimum Wage Act.  

Other Time Limited Provisions  
1. Timesheet Reporting Period: The reporting period for OPS and Work-study Student 

employees is the same as the reporting period for non-exempt staff as outlined by Appendix D. 
2. Timesheet Submission: OPS and Work-study Student employee are to submit timesheets on 

a weekly basis to their supervisor in order to meet payroll deadlines.  

If the timesheet is not turned in to the supervisor by the designated Time and Attendance lockout dates, 
employee may be required to wait until the next payroll cycle to receive compensation for that reporting 
period.  

Professional Services Contract (PSC) 
Providers working as Professional Service Contractors serve the College in a temporary capacity to 
complete a specific task within a determined period of time, which may be as little as one day to no more 
than six (6) months.  Professional Services Contracts shall not extend beyond six (6) months without 
approval by the Director of Human Resources and Vice President of Administrative Services & Chief 
Business Officer. Payments may be one time only or multiple payments as determined by the contract.  
 
Contracts & Grants 
Employees working on a contract or grant are considered time limited employees (year-to-year) or as the 
contract/grant budget allows.  Positions in this category are funded by an agency other than the College. 
The College’s grant funded positions are listed in Appendix C. 
  



19 
 

APPENDIX A 
MANAGERIAL/PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS 

The following positions are designated as Managerial/Professional (GL Code 53000).  The starting salary 
of this class is determined by the President, on the recommendation of the appropriate Vice President or 
Executive Director and Human Resources.  

Position Title 

Associate Director of Wakulla Environmental Institute 

Chief of Campus Police  

Chief Engagement Officer 

Chief of Staff 

College Registrar 

Dean, Career and Academic Planning 

Dean, Enrollment Services 

Dean, Student Affairs 

Director of Academic Advising 

Director of Assessment and Accreditation  

Director of Athletics 

Director of Business & Workforce Development 

Director of Business Process Improvement 

Director of Call Center 

Director of Certificate Programs  

Director of Continuing Workforce Education 

Director of Development, TSC Foundation 

Director of Enterprise Applications 

Director of Facilities, Planning and Construction 

Director of Finance 

Director of Financial Services 

Director of Grants and Special Projects 

Director of Hospitality 

Director of Human Resources 



20 
 

Director of Information Technology Infrastructure 

Director of Information Technology Consulting Services 

Director of Institutional Research and Planning 

Director of Integrated Marketing 

Director of Learning Commons 

Director of Library Services 

Director of Public Safety Continuing Education  

Director of Procurement and Auxiliary Services 

Director of Recruiting and Admissions 

Director of Simulation Programs 

Director of Special Projects and Innovation 

Director of Strategic Communications  

Director of STEM Programs 

Director of Student Life 

Director of Student Records 

Director of Student Financial Services 

Director of TSC Online 

Director of Teaching, Learning and Engagement 

Director of Transfer Services 

Director of User Services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



21 
 

APPENDIX B 
Classified Staff and Classified Staff Professional Pay Grades 

Classified Staff Pay Grades 

Pay Grade 
 

FLSA Minimum Market Maximum 
119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 
126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

127 E $45,342.28 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 
 

  

Classified Staff Professional Pay Grades 

Pay Grade 
 

FLSA Minimum Market Maximum 
219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

221 NE $35,834.21 $42,642.44 $57,555.83 

222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

232 E $55,164.99 $65,646.14 $88,604,35 

233 E $57,371.72 $68,272.37 $92,148.40 

235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

237 
E 

$67,115.49 $79,867.44 $107,796.72 
 
  



22 
 

APPENDIX C 
Classified Staff Positions & Paygrades by Alpha 

(matrix does not include FLSA adjustments) 

 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Academic Advisor – 
TSC Online CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Academic Coordinator  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Academy Program 
Coordinator  CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Accounting 
Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Accounting Manager CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 
Accounting 
Scholarship Assistant CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Accounting Specialist  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $39,425.96 $55,341.38 
       
Admissions Navigator Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Adult Education 
Specialist  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Advanced and 
Specialized 
Instructional 
Coordinator  

CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Advising Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Advising Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Advising Team Lead CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
AMTC Program 
Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Applications Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Assessment Analyst CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 
Assistant Coach Classified Staff 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Assistant Director IT 
Consulting CS Professional 231 NE $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Assistant Director, 
Applications 
Architecture & Support 

CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Assistant Director, 
Enterprise Applications CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Assistant Director, 
Financial Aid CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Assistant Director, 
Student Services  CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Assistant Production 
Coordinator Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Assistant to the Dean  CS Professional 221 NE $35,834.21 $42,642.44 $57,555.83 
Assistant to the 
Director of Library 
Services 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Athletic Trainer   CS Professional 225 E $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 



23 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Athletics and Campus 
Recreation Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Business Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Business Operations 
Manager CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Business Services and 
Corporate Training 
Manager  

CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Call Center 
Representative Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Campus Police 
Dispatcher Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Campus Police Lead 
Dispatcher Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Campus Police 
Lieutenant  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Campus Police Officer  Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 
Campus Police 
Sergeant  CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Career and Academic 
Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Career Pathways 
Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Career Service and 
Internship Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Career Services 
Counseling Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Cashier  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Cashiering Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Center Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
CIT Support 
Technician  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Classroom 
Technologies 
Coordinator  

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Client Support 
Specialist CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

College Admissions 
Recruiter CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

College Readiness 
Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Commercial Vehicle 
Driving Lead Instructor CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Communications Skills 
Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Communications 
Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Communications 
Technology Manager CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Computer Specialist  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Computer Systems 
Analyst  CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 



24 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Computer Technology 
Lab Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Advanced 
and Specialized  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Coordinator, 
Conference and 
Events 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Contracts 
and Grants  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Coordinator, 
Counseling Center CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, Dental 
Clinic Office CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Coordinator, 
Emergency 
Management and 
Safety  

CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Coordinator, Graphic 
Design and Brand  CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Coordinator, High 
Liability Training  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Coordinator, Institute 
for Nonprofit 
Innovation and 
Excellence  

CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Coordinator, 
Instructional Network  CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Coordinator, 
International Student 
Services  

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, Special 
Projects CS Professional 232 E $55,164.99 $65,646.14 $88,604.35 

Coordinator, State 
Report CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Coordinator, Student 
Life and Leadership CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Student 
Loans CS Professional  219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Coordinator, Student 
Technology Support  CS Professional 222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

Coordinator, TSC 
Internship Program CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Transfer 
Programs & 
Experiences  

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Transfer 
Services Outreach CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Veterans 
Success Center CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, Work 
Based Learning  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Database 
Administrator  CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Developer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 



25 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Digital 
Communications 
Specialist 

CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Digital Media 
Technician CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Dining Services Shift 
Supervisor  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Disability Services 
Coordinator  CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Documentation 
Specialist Classified Staff 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Dual Enrollment 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Engineering 
Technician  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Enrollment Clerk  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Emergency 
Management and 
Safety Coordinator 

CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Engagement Officer CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Environmental 
Health/Safety 
Specialist  

CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Environmental Safety 
Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Environmental Service 
Superintendent Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

Environmental 
Services Supervisor Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Environmental 
Services Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Equipment Mechanic  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Event/Help Desk 
Consultant Classified Staff 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Events A/V Specialist Classified Staff 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Event Specialist CS Professional 222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 
Executive Assistant  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Executive Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Facilities Administrator Classified Staff 127 NE $45,342.28 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 
Facilities Maintenance 
Superintendent  Classified Staff 127 NE $45,342.28 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Facilities Manager CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Facilities Office 
Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Facilities 
Superintendent Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Finance and 
Accounting 
Administrator 

CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

First Year Experience 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Food Service Assistant  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 



26 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Gift Processing and 
Scholarship Officer Classified Staff 225 NE    
Graphic Designer Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Head Coach  CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 
Help Desk Consultant Classified Staff 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Housing Service 
Specialist Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Human Resources 
Specialist I  CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Human Resources 
Specialist II  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

HVAC Curriculum 
Specialist CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

HVAC/Building 
Automation Specialist  Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

Information Specialist CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 
Information 
Technology Support 
Specialist  

Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Instructional Designer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Instructional 
Technologist  CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Instructional 
Technology Specialist  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

International 
Recruitment Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Intramurals 
Coordinator  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Intramurals 
Coordinator and 
Assistant Coach 

CS Professional 219 E $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Landscaper  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Lead Computer 
Specialist  CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Leadership 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Learning Commons 
Program Coordinator CS Professional 226 E $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Learning Commons 
Specialist CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Learning Commons 
Success Coach CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Library Circulation 
Services Supervisor  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Library Technical 
Assistant I  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Library Technical 
Assistant II  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Library Technical 
Service Supervisor CS Professional 226 E $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Maintenance 
Computer Operations 
Specialist 

Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 



27 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Maintenance Support 
Worker  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance 
Technician I  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance 
Technician II  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $39,425.96 $55,341.38 

Manager, Application 
Development CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Budget and 
Cost Analysis  CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Client 
Support CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Manager, 
Communications 
Technology 

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Construction 
Service  CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Contracts 
and Grants  CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Manager, Counseling 
Center CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Data 
Warehouse and Web 
Technology 

CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Dining 
Facilities Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Manager, Facilities CS Professional 226 NE $41,130.48  $48,944.70  $66,061.15  
Manager, Healthcare 
Education CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Manager, Human 
Resources CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Information 
Technology (Project) CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Information 
Technology Event 
Support 

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Corporate 
Solutions CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Manager, Student 
Financial Services CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Student Life CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Student 
Success and Retention CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Systems 
Support CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Teaching 
and Learning Academy CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Technology 
Consulting CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 



28 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Manager, Web 
Development CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Media Production 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Mental Health 
Counselor CS Professional 225 E $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Network Administrator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 
Network and Computer 
Systems Specialist  CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Network Technician CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 
Non-Profit Resource 
Center Coordinator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Office Manager  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Practicum Coordinator 
for Teacher Programs CS Professional 232 E $55,164.99 $65,646.14 $88,604,35 

Production Coordinator  CS Professional 221 NE $35,834.21 $42,642.44 $57,555.83 
Production Media 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Professional Counselor CS Professional 225 E $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Program Coordinator, 
Adult Education  CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program Coordinator, 
for IT, Online & 
Professional 
Development  

CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program Coordinator, 
Transportation 
Logistics and 
Information 
Technology 

CS Professional 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program Manager, 
Advance 
Manufacturing Training 
Center 

CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Program Specialist, 
HVAC Manufacturing  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Project Coordinator CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 
Project Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Property Records 
Specialist  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Public Safety Officer  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Purchasing Specialist CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Receiving Clerk  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Recruitment & 
Marketing Operations 
Specialist 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Regional Service 
Center Manager CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Research Analyst CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 



29 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Research and 
Business Analyst  CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Scholarship 
Coordinator CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Science Lab Manager  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Security Administrator CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Senior Accountant CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Senior Accounting 
Specialist  CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Senior Engineering 
Technician  Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Senior Environmental 
Services Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Senior Financial Aid 
Assistant Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Senior Lab Assistant Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Senior Research 
Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Senior Science Lab 
Assistant CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Senior Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Shipping, Receiving, 
and Mail Supervisor Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Simulation & 
Information Tech 
Specialist 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Simulation Lab 
Technician CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Simulation Program 
Manager CS Professional 229 E $46,266.18 $55,056.54 $74,310.45 

Simulator Lab 
Coordinator  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Social Media & Digital 
Content Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Software Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Sponsored Programs 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Staff Assistant  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Store Clerk  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Store Manager CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Strategic 
Communications 
Specialist 

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Accounts 
Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Student Accounts 
Specialist CS Professional 223 E $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Activities 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 



30 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Student Conduct 
Coordinator CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Student Development 
Specialist  CS Professional 222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

Student Financial 
Advisor CS Professional 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Student Financials 
Operations Officer CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Student Involvement 
Coordinator  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Life, 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Recruiter CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Student Services Case 
Manager CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Student Success 
Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Student Support 
Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Supervisor Landscape 
Services  Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

Sustainability 
Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

System Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
System Operations 
Specialist Classified Staff 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Systems Administrator CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 
Systems Support 
Specialist Classified Staff 227 NE $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Systems Training 
Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

TSC 2 Career and 
Academic Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

TSC Online Support 
Technician CS Professional  225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Technology Consultant CS Professional  225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Testing and Retention 
Coordinator  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Testing Specialist  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Transfer Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Video/Multimedia 
Producer CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Virtual Learning 
Commons Manager CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Web Developer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Web Developer 
Manager CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Web Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Welding Technologies 
Lead Instructor CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 



31 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Workforce 
Development Program 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



32 
 

APPENDIX D 
Classified Staff Positions & Pay Grades by Pay Grades 

(matrix does not include FLSA adjustments) 

 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Applications 
Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Call Center 
Representative Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Campus Police 
Dispatcher Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Campus Police Lead 
Dispatcher Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Cashier Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
CIT Support 
Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Engineering 
Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Enrollment Clerk Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Environment Safety 
Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Environmental 
Services Technician Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Equipment Mechanic Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Facilities 
Superintendent Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Food Service 
Assistant  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Housing Service 
Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Information 
Technology Support 
Specialist  

Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Intramurals 
Coordinator  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Landscaper  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Library Technical 
Assistant I  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance 
Support Worker  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance 
Computer 
Operations 
Specialist 

Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Maintenance 
Technician I  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Property Records 
Specialist  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Public Safety Officer  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Receiving Clerk  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Senior 
Environmental 
Services Technician 

Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 



33 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Senior Financial Aid 
Assistant Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Senior Lab Assistant Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Staff Assistant  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Store Clerk  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Student Financial 
Advisor CS Professional 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Student Support 
Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Testing Specialist  Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Transfer Specialist Classified Staff 119 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Dining Services Shift 
Supervisor  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Environmental 
Services Supervisor Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Graphic Designer Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Library Technical 
Assistant II  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Maintenance 
Technician II  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Office Manager  Classified Staff 120 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 
Environmental 
Service 
Superintendent 

Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

HVAC/Building 
Automation 
Specialist  

Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

Supervisor 
Landscape Services  Classified Staff 122 NE $38,456.12 $45,762.79 $59,829.39 

Campus Police 
Officer  Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Dining Facilities 
Manager  Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Senior Engineering 
Technician  Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Shipping, Receiving, 
and Mail Supervisor Classified Staff 126 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.81 

Facilities 
Maintenance 
Superintendent  

Classified Staff 127 E $45,342.28 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Media Relations 
Specialist  CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Senior Accounting 
Specialist  CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Student Conduct 
Coordinator CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Communications 
Skills Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Communications 
Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 



34 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Coordinator, Student 
Loans CS Professional  219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Documentation 
Specialist Classified Staff 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Graphic Design and 
Brand Coordinator CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Intramurals 
Coordinator and 
Assistant Coach 

CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Scholarship 
Coordinator CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Social Media & 
Digital Content 
Specialist 

CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Student Services 
Case Manager CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Digital 
Communications 
Specialist 

CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Sustainability 
Specialist Classified Staff 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Systems Training 
Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 

Web Specialist CS Professional 219 NE $31,255.86 $39,425.96 $53,213.81 
Client Support 
Specialist CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Purchasing 
Specialist CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Environmental 
Health/Safety 
Specialist  

CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Event/Help Desk 
Consultant Classified Staff 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Help Desk 
Consultant Classified Staff 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Human Resources 
Specialist I  CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Senior Science Lab 
Assistant CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Simulation Lab 
Technician CS Professional 220 NE $34,455.68 $41,002.35 $55,341.38 

Assistant to the 
Dean  CS Professional 221 NE $35,834.21 $42,642.44 $57,555.83 
Production 
Coordinator  CS Professional 221 NE $35,834.21 $42,642.44 $57,555.83 
Coordinator, Student 
Technology Support  CS Professional 222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

Student 
Development 
Specialist  

CS Professional 222 NE $37,267.88 $44,348.66 $59,857.14 

       



35 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Career Pathways 
Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Classroom 
Technologies 
Coordinator  

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Commercial Vehicle 
Driving Lead 
Instructor 

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Contracts and 
Grants Coordinator  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Custodial 
Superintendent  Classified Staff 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Executive Assistant  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Events Specialist Classified Staff 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Human Resources 
Specialist II  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Instructional 
Technology 
Specialist  

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Leadership 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Learning Commons 
Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Learning Commons 
Success Coach CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Library Circulation 
Services Supervisor  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Media Production 
Specialist  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Project Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Research Analyst CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Store Manager CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 
Sponsored 
Programs 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Strategic 
Communications 
Specialist 

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Accounts 
Specialist CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Activities 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Involvement 
Coordinator  CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Student Life, 
Coordinator CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 

Testing and 
Retention 
Coordinator  

CS Professional 223 NE $38,758.86 $46,122.91 $62,252.25 



36 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Assistant to the 
Director of Library 
Services 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Athletics and 
Campus Recreation 
Manager 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Career and 
Academic Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Career Services 
Counseling 
Specialist 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Center Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
College Admissions 
Recruiter CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

College Readiness 
Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Computer Specialist  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Computer 
Technology Lab 
Manager 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, 
Conference and 
Events 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Student 
Engagement, 
Diversity & Inclusion 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Student 
Life and Leadership CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, TSC 
Internship Program CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, 
Transfer Programs & 
Experiences  

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, Work 
Based Learning CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Coordinator, 
Veterans Affairs CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Donor Stewardship 
Officer CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Dual Enrollment 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Engagement Officer CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Facilities Office 
Manager CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

First Year 
Experience 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

HVAC Program 
Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 



37 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

International 
Recruitment 
Specialist 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Manager, Gadsden 
Center CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Manager, Wakulla 
Center CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Media Production 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Production Media 
Coordinator CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Program Specialist, 
HVAC Manufacturing  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Science Lab 
Manager  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Simulation & 
Information Tech 
Specialist 

CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Simulator Lab 
Coordinator  CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Student Recruiter CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 
Student Success 
Specialist CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

System Operations 
Specialist Classified Staff 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

TSC 2 Career and 
Academic Advisor CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Video/Multimedia 
Producer CS Professional 224 NE $40,308.22 $47,967.44 $64,742.34 

Athletic Trainer   CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Career Service and 
Internship 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Cashiering 
Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, 
Counseling Center CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, 
International Student 
Services  

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, 
Veterans Success 
Center 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Digital Media 
Technician CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Disability Services 
Coordinator  CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Executive 
Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Gift Processing and 
Scholarship Officer Classified Staff 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 



38 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Lead Computer 
Specialist  CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Lead Contracts and 
Grants Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Manager, Client 
Support CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Manager, Help Desk CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 
Mental Health 
Counselor CS Professional 225 E $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Network and 
Computer Systems 
Specialist  

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Professional 
Counselor CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Recruitment & 
Marketing 
Operations 
Specialist 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Student Accounts 
Coordinator CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

TSC Online Support 
Technician CS Professional  225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Technology 
Consultant CS Professional  225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Coordinator, 
Veterans Affairs CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Virtual Learning 
Commons Manager CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Workforce 
Development 
Program Coordinator 

CS Professional 225 NE $41,921.37 $49,886.57 $67,332.04 

Assessment Analyst CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Emergency 
Management and 
Safety Coordinator 

CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Emergency 
Management and 
Safety Coordinator 

CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

       

Learning Commons 
Program Coordinator CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Library Technical 
Service Supervisor CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Manager, Facilities CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Network Technician CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 
Research and 
Business Analyst  CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 



39 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Welding 
Technologies Lead 
Instructor 

CS Professional 226 NE $43,598.31 $51,881.38 $70,024.82 

Auxiliary Service 
Manager CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Budget and Cost 
Analysis Manager CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Campus Police 
Sergeant  CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Construction Service 
Manager CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Coordinator, Dental 
Clinic Office CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Head Coach  CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 
Information 
Technology Trainer CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Instructional Network 
Coordinator  CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, Auxiliary 
Service CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, 
Counseling Center CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Manager, 
Information 
Technology Event 
Support 

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program 
Coordinator, Adult 
Education  

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program 
Coordinator, for IT, 
Online & 
Professional 
Development  

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Program 
Coordinator, 
Transportation 
Logistics and 
Information 
Technology 

CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Software Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Systems Support 
Specialist Classified Staff 227 E $45,598.31 $53,956.20 $72,826.45 

Business Services 
and Corporate 
Training Manager  

CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Contracts and 
Grants Manager CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Information 
Specialist CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 

Manager, Corporate 
Solutions  CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 



40 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Project Coordinator CS Professional 228 E $47,155.46 $56,115.36 $75,739.27 
Business Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Business Operations 
Manager CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Developer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Coordinator, State 
Report CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Facilities Manager CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Finance and 
Accounting 
Administrator 

CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Help Desk CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Instructional 
Designer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Instructional 
Technologist  CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Systems 
Support CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, Student 
Financial Services CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Manager, 
Technology 
Consulting 

CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Security 
Administrator CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Senior Accountant CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Senior Research 
Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

Simulation Program 
Manager CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 

System Analyst CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Web Developer CS Professional 229 E $49,042.15 $58,359.93 $78,769.08 
Campus Police 
Lieutenant  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Coordinator, 
Advanced and 
Specialized  

CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

High Liability 
Training Coordinator  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

HVAC Curriculum 
Specialist CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Human 
Resources  CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Regional Service 
Center Manager CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 



41 
 

POSITION TITLE CLASSIFICATION PAY 
GRADE 

EXEMPT
/ NON-

EXEMPT 
MINIMUM MARKET MAXIMUM 

Manager, Student 
Life CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Student 
Success and 
Retention 

CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Manager, Teaching 
and Learning 
Academy 

CS Professional 230 E $51,003.45 $60,694.24 $81,919.33 

Assistant Director, 
Enterprise 
Applications 

CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Assistant Director IT 
Consulting CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Computer Systems 
Analyst  CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Information 
Technology Project 
Manager  

CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Application 
Development CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Data 
Warehouse and Web 
Technology 

CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Manager, Web 
Development CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Web Developer 
Manager CS Professional 231 E $53,043.67 $63,121.54 $85,195.83 

Coordinator, Special 
Projects CS Professional 232 E $55,164.99 $65,646.14 $88,604,35 

Database 
Administrator  CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Institute for Nonprofit 
Innovation and 
Excellence 
Coordinator 

CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Manager, Healthcare 
Education CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Network 
Administrator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Non-Profit Resource 
Center Coordinator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Program Manager, 
Advance 
Manufacturing 
Training Center 

CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

       

Senior Systems 
Administrator CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 

Student Financials 
Operations Officer CS Professional 235 E $62,053.31 $73,843.44 $99,667.31 



42 
 

  



43 
 

 
APPENDIX E 

Contract/Grant Position Titles 
 

Grant Management Positions 
Associate Director 
Director of CTE Outreach & Recruitment  
Executive Director 
Other Grant Positions 
Administrative Assistant 
Administrative Assistant II 
Advising Specialist 
Apprenticeship and Training Representative (ATR) Region 4 
Apprenticeship and Training Representative (ATR) Region 6 
Assessment Coordinator 
Assessment Coordinator - Scoring 
Assessment Coordinator - Supervisor 
Assistant Director of CTE Outreach & Recruitment 
Business Office Manager 
Career & Technical Education & GED Prep Specialist 
Career Development Specialist 
Career Navigator, Project Anchor 
Carpentry/Technical Educator Instructor 
Case Management Specialist 
College Success Coach 
Coordinator, Development 
Coordinator, English Language Arts Test Development  
Coordinator, Mathematics Test Development 
Coordinator, Mining 
Coordinator, Professional Development 
Coordinator, Program Logistics 
Coordinator, Science Test Development – Grades 5&8, Science Content Specialist 
Coordinator, Senior Assessment 
Coordinator, Social Studies Test Development – Civics & US History Content Specialist 
Coordinator, Statewide Academy & Senior Learning Consultant 
Coordinator, Talent Search  
Course Developer 
CTE Innovation Program Manager 
Culinary Arts Technical Educator Instructor 
Deputy Director 
Direct Inmate Service Manager 
Eagle Connections Program Coordinator 
Electrical/Technical Educator Instructor  
Employee Navigator 
English Language Arts Content Specialist Gr 8-9 Read Gr 4-5 Write 
English Language Arts Content Specialist Gr 3-5 Read Gr 8 Writing 
English Language Arts Content Specialist Gr 10 Read Gr 9-10 Writing, FSA Retake 
English Language Arts Editor 
English Language Arts Test Development Specialist 
Executive Secretary 
Human Resources Specialist II 
HVAC Technical Educator Instructor 
Information Technology Specialist 
Instructional Systems Designer 
Lead Career Navigator 
Lead Instructor 
Learning Consultant 
Learning Management Specialist 



44 
 

Masonry Technical Educator Instructor 
Mathematics Content Specialist 
Mathematics Content Specialist, Gr 6-8 
Mathematics Editor 
Mathematics Test Development Coordinator 
Mining Coordinator 
Plumbing Technical Educator Instructor 
Pre-Release Employment Navigator 
Production Editor 
Professional Development Coordinator 
Program Administrator 
Program Director, Troops 2 Teachers 
Program Lead 
Postsecondary Assessment Specialist 
Production Editor 
Program Administrator 
Program Director 
Program Lead 
Program Manager 
Program Specialist, Eagle Connections 
Program Specialist  
Program Specialist I 
Program Specialist II 
Program Specialist IV 
Project Manager 
Psychometrician  
Regional Workforce Education Coordinator – North Region 
Regional Workforce Education Coordinator – South Region 
Science Test Development Coordinator/Grades 5&8 Science Content Specialist 
Senior Assessment Coordinator 
Senior Learning Specialist 
Social Studies Editor 
Social Studies Test Development Coordinator/Civics & US History Content Specialist 
Special Education Assistant 
Staff Assistant 
Statewide Academy Coordinator Senior Learning Consultant 
Statewide Regional Coordinator 
Supervisor of Curriculum and Evaluation 
Teen Traffic Safety Program Specialist I 
Traffic Safety Fiscal Assistant 
Traffic Safety Resource Prosecutor 
Training Specialist II 
Veterans Pathways Program Coordinator 
Victim Advocate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



45 
 

APPENDIX F 
TIMESHEET REPORTING PERIODS FOR  

NON-EXEMPT CLASSIFIED STAFF, OPS AND WORK-STUDY STUDENTS 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Start Date End Date Time & 

Attendance  

Lock Out Dates 

Pay Date 

May 5, 2024 June 8, 2024 June 14, 2024 Friday, June 28, 2024 

June 9, 2024 July 6, 2024 July 12, 2024 Wednesday, July 31, 2024 

July 7, 2024 August 3, 2024 August 15, 2024 Friday, August 30, 2024 

August 4, 2024 September 7, 2024 September 16, 2024 Friday, September 30, 2024 

September 8, 2024 October 5, 2024 October 15, 2024 Thursday, October 31, 2024 

October 6, 2024 November 2, 2024 November 15, 2024 Friday, November 29, 2024 

November 3, 2024 December 7, 2024 December 12, 2024 Tuesday, December 31, 2024 

December 8, 2024 January 4, 2025 January 17, 2025 Friday, January 31, 2025 

January 5, 2025 February 1, 2025 February 10, 2025 Friday, February 28, 2025 

February 2, 2025 March 8, 2025 March 18, 2025 Monday, March 31, 2025 

March 9, 2025 April 5, 2025 April 11, 2024 Wednesday, April 30, 2025 

April 6, 2025 May 3, 2025 May 9, 2025 Friday, May 30, 2025 

May 4, 2025 June 7, 2025 June 13, 2025 Monday, June 30, 2025 



444 Appleyard Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32304-2895 

 850.2016200  www.tcc.fl.edu 

 

June 17, 2024 

M  E  M  O  R  A  N  D  U  M 
TO: Jim Murdaugh, Ph.D. 

President 
FROM: Barbara Wills, Ph.D.                                                                                                                    

Vice President for Administrative Services and Chief Business Officer 
   
SUBJECT: Revenue Sharing Agreement 

 
 
Item Description 

This item is a request for approval of the Revenue Sharing Agreement between TCC and Bob 
Ballard and/or Mary Ballard. 
 
Overview and Background 
TCC holds the assignment of invention of the oyster dome, provided March 26, 2019.  This 
Revenue Sharing Agreement establishes the financial relationship of Bob Ballard and/or Mary 
Ballard and the College, related to revenue generated by the intellectual property.  TCC 
agrees to pay Bob Ballard and/or Mary Ballard 40% of the revenue generated by the 
College’s ownership of the oyster domes. 
 
 
Funding/ Financial Implications  
Financial implications are to be determined based on future revenue.   
 
Past Actions by the Board 
There have been no past actions by the Board.  Also presented to the Board at this meeting 
is the Exclusive License Agreement.   
 
Recommended Action 
Approve the Revenue Sharing Agreement between TCC and Bob Ballard and/or Mary 
Ballard. 
 
 

 



 

REVENUE SHARING AGREEMENT 
Tallahassee Community College and Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard 

 
This Revenue Sharing Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of by 

and between The District Board of Trustees of Tallahassee Community College (“TCC”), 
having its principal place of business located at 444 Appleyard Drive, Tallahassee, Florida 
32304 and Robert Ballard and/or Mary Ballard, whose residence is located at 3189 Mulberry 
Park Blvd., Tallahassee, Florida 32311, collectively the “Parties.” 

 
WHEREAS, Robert Ballard is an individual Florida resident. 
 
WHEREAS, Mary Ballard is an individual Florida resident. 

 
WHEREAS, Robert Ballard is the inventor of the “Oyster Reef Dome,” used for creating 
an artificial oyster reef, as more fully described in Appendix A. 

 
WHEREAS, Robert Ballard was at the time of invention of the Oyster Reef Dome, an 
employee of TCC. 

 
WHEREAS, per his employment agreement with TCC, Robert Ballard transferred his rights of 
the Oyster Reef Dome intellectual property to TCC via transfer agreement, dated March 26, 
2019. 

 
WHEREAS, the Parties desire to enter into an agreement whereby Robert Ballard and/or Mary 
Ballard will share a percentage of College revenue related to the profits generated by the 
licensing of the Oyster Reef Dome, after direct and indirect costs incurred by the College in the 
development or protection of the intellectual property are recovered, in accordance with 
College Policy and according to the terms and conditions herein. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises made to the 
parties hereto, TCC and Robert Ballard and/or Mary Ballard covenant and agree as follows: 

 
SECTION 1: REVENUE SHARE 

 
1.1  The College receives profit from sales related to the licensing of the Oyster Reef 

Dome.  After recovery of all direct and indirect costs incurred by the College in the development 
or protection of the intellectual property, the College agrees to pay Robert Ballard and/or Mary 
Ballard forty percent (40%) of the revenue.  The College further agrees to provide thirty percent 
(30%) of the revenue generated to the Wakulla Environmental Institute to further support the 
research, conservation and instructional efforts of the Institute.   

 
1.2 The College shall pay the amount due to Robert and/or Mary Ballard annually on 

March 1 for the preceding calendar year. 
 
1.3 All payments shall be in the form of certified check. 

 
SECTION 2: TCC’S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 
2.1 TCC represents and warrants to Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard, with the intent and 

understanding which Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard will rely thereon in entering into this  
Agreement: 



 

 
(a) it has the legal power, right, capacity and authority to accept, execute and deliver 

this Agreement and to carry out its obligations under this Agreement; 
 
(b) the statements and information provided in the Revenue Sharing Agreement are 

true and accurate in all material respects; 
 
(c) this Agreement is binding upon, and enforceable against, TCC in accordance with 

its terms; 
 
(d) the undersigned representative of TCC is duly authorized to enter into this 

Agreement by The District Board of Tallahassee Community College. 
 
(e) it has obtained or had the opportunity to obtain the advice of its own financial, 

legal, tax, and other professional advisors with respect to this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 3: REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 
3.1 Robert Ballard and/or Mary Ballard represent and warrant to TCC with the 

intent and understanding which TCC will rely thereon in entering into this Agreement: 
 

(a) they have the legal power, right, capacity and authority to accept, execute and 
deliver this Agreement and to carry out its obligations under this Agreement; 

 
(b) the statements and information provided in the Revenue Sharing Agreement are 

true and accurate in all material respects; 
 

(c) this Agreement is binding upon, and enforceable against Robert Ballard and 
Mary Ballard in accordance with its terms; 

 
(d) Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard are duly authorized to enter into this 

Agreement; 
 

(e) they have obtained or had the opportunity to obtain the advice of their own 
financial, legal, tax, and other professional advisors with respect to this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 4: INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

 
4.1 The Parties shall be considered independent contractors and not agents or 

employees of the other Party.  A Party shall not have authority to make any statements, 
representations, or commitments of any kind, and shall not take any action which shall be 
binding on the other Party, except as expressly provided for herein or authorized by the 
Parties in writing. 
 
SECTION 5: INDEMNITY 

 
5.1 Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard will indemnify and save harmless TCC, from 

and against any and all losses, claims, damages, actions, causes of action, cost and expenses 
which TCC may sustain, incur, suffer or be put to by reason of any act or omission of Robert 
Ballard and/or Mary Ballard or by any servant, employee, affiliate, or agent of Robert 
Ballard and Mary Ballard in relation to the performance or non-performance of Robert 



 

Ballard and Mary Ballard's obligations under this Agreement or breaches of the Warranties 
and Representations of Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard under Section 2. 

 
SECTION 6: APPROPRIATION 

 
6.1 Appropriation of revenue sharing will be allocated on an annual basis on March 

1 for the preceding calendar year unless otherwise agreed upon in writing by the parties. 
 
SECTION 7: DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

 
7.1 If a dispute arises between TCC and Robert Ballard and/or Mary Ballard regarding 

any aspect of this Agreement, the individuals identified under section 10.2 will meet as 
soon as is practicable to resolve the dispute. 

 
SECTION 8: CONFIDENTIALITY 

 
8.1 Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard shall not, in any fashion, form, or manner, 

either directly or indirectly: 
 

(a) Disclose or communicate to any party information relating to TCC’s business 
(the “Confidential Information”); 

 
(b) Duplicate any Confidential Information; 

 
(c) Use any Confidential Information other than solely for the benefit of TCC; 

 
(d) Assist a third party in using any Confidential Information in any manner not solely 

for the benefit of TCC; 
 

(e) If Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard  have questions regarding the application of 
Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, related to the duty to provide public records relating to this 
Agreement, TCC’s Custodian of Public Records should be contacted at Tallahassee 
Community College, 444 Appleyard Drive, Tallahassee, Florida 32304 or 
publicrecords@tcc.fl.edu; 

 
(f) Robert Ballard an d  M ar y  B a l l a r d  acknowledge TCC cannot and will not 

provide legal advice or business advice to Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard with respect to its 
obligations pursuant to this section related to public records. Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard 
further acknowledges it will not rely on TCC or its counsel to provide such business or legal 
advice, and Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard have been advised to seek professional advice 
with regard to public records matters addressed by this Agreement. Robert Ballard and Mary 
Ballard  acknowledge their failure to comply with Florida Law and this Agreement with respect 
to public records shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and grounds for 
termination. 

 
(g) In the event Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard are exposed to any TCC or student 

non-public personal information (“NPPI”) while performing services hereunder, Robert Ballard 
and Mary Ballard agree to maintain the confidentiality of and protect such NPPI in accordance 
with the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act 
(“HIPPA”), FERPA, Florida Public Records Act, Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, and any 
other provision of Florida law which requires the protection and non-disclosure of NPPI, 



 

and all other regulations applicable to the services being performed hereunder. Robert Ballard 
and Mary Ballard shall maintain information security policies for NPPI, consistent with 
prevailing United States Industry standards. 

 
(h) Unless otherwise required by this Agreement, TCC will use its best effort to 

prevent Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard from receiving student data or NPPI which Robert 
Ballard and Mary Ballard do not need in order to satisfy the duties of the Parties under this 
Agreement. 

 
SECTION 9: GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
9.1 This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the internal 

laws of the State of Florida, and venue for all claims or other causes of action arising 
out of this Agreement is Leon County, Florida. 

 
9.2 This Agreement and any amendments to it, made in accordance with Section 

13.1, constitute the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter 
of the Agreement, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties. 

 
9.3 There will be no presumption any ambiguity in any of the terms of this 

Agreement should be interpreted in favor of either TCC or Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard. 
 

9.4 If any part of this Agreement is void or unenforceable at law, it shall be severed 
from this Agreement and the rest of the Agreement shall remain in effect and fully enforceable. 

 
9.5 All funds are in US dollars. 

 
9.6 This Agreement may be entered into by TCC and Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard 

signing a separate copy of the Agreement (including a photocopy or facsimile copy) and 
delivering it to the other by facsimile or digital transmission. 

 
9.7 This Agreement will not limit the positions TCC and/or Robert Ballard and Mary 

Ballard may take in future negotiations or court actions. 
 
SECTION 10: NOTICE 

 

10.1 Any notice or other communication which is required to be given or TCC wishes 
to give to Robert Ballard and Mary Ballard or which is required to be given or Robert Ballard 
and Mary Ballard wish to give to TCC with respect to this Agreement will be in writing. 

 
 

10.2 A notice or communication must be delivered, mailed or sent by email to the 
intended recipient at the address below: 

 
The District Board of Trustees of 
Tallahassee Community College 
Attn. Vice President of Administrative Services 
444 Appleyard Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32304 
Telephone: 850.201.8590  
Email: 



 

 

Robert Ballard and Mary 
Ballard 
3189 Mulberry Park 
Blvd. Tallahassee, 
Florida 32311 
Telephone: 
850.294.3653 
Email: 
rarechicks@gmail.com 

 

SECTION 11: TERM AND TERMINATION 
 

11.1 This Agreement takes effect on June 1, 2024. 
 
SECTION 12: AMENDMENT 

 
12.1 Any amendments to this Agreement must be in writing and executed by the 
Parties. 

 
Section 13: Entire Agreement 

 
13.1 This Agreement represents the full understanding of the Parties and shall 

supersede all previous oral or written agreements regarding the subject matter herein. 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has executed this Revenue Sharing 
Agreement, each Party by its duly authorized officer, as of the day and year set forth 
below. 

 
 
Robert Ballard 
 
/s/________________________  
 
Date:  _______________________ 
 
 

Mary Ballard 
 
/s/____________________________  
 
Date:  _______________________ 

The District Board of Trustees of Tallahassee 
Community College 
 
/s/___________________________  
 
By:    _______________________   
 
Date:  _______________________ 



444 Appleyard Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32304-2895 

 850.2016200  www.tcc.fl.edu 

 

June 17, 2024 

M  E  M  O  R  A  N  D  U  M 
TO: Jim Murdaugh, Ph.D. 

President 
FROM: Barbara Wills, Ph.D.                                                                                                                    

Vice President for Administrative Services and Chief Business Officer 
   
SUBJECT: Oyster Dome License Agreement 

 
 
Item Description 
This item is a request for approval of the Exclusive License Agreement between TCC and 
Bob Ballard and/or Mary Ballard.  This document will provide to Bob Ballard and/or Mary 
Ballard a license to develop commercial applications of the oyster reef dome. 
 
Overview and Background 
TCC holds the assignment of invention of the oyster dome, provided March 26, 2019.  This 
Exclusive License allows Bob Ballard and/or Mary Ballard to manufacture, deploy and sell the 
oyster dome. Bob Ballard and/or Mary Ballard will pay TCC 5% of the gross sales revenue for 
sales independent of the College and 15% of the gross sales revenue for sales in partnership 
with the College. 
 
Funding/ Financial Implications  
Financial implications are to be determined based on future gross sales revenue.   
 
Past Actions by the Board 
There have been no past actions by the Board.  Also presented to the Board at this meeting 
is the Revenue Sharing Agreement.   
 
Recommended Action 
Approve the Exclusive License Agreement between TCC and Bob Ballard and/or Mary 
Ballard. 
 

 



 
 
 

 

EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN TCC AND ROBERT BALLARD AND MARY BALLARD 

 

This Exclusive License Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered by and between The District 
Board of Trustees of Tallahassee Community College (the “Licensor”) and Robert Ballard and 
Mary Ballard, (the “Licensee”) as of June 1, 2024, the “Effective Date”. 

 
RECITALS 

 
WHEREAS, Licensor is the owner of the rights to patent the Oyster Reef Dome, as further 
described in Appendix A. 

 
WHEREAS, Licensee has the capability of developing commercial applications of the Oyster Reef 
Dome to which Licensor currently holds the intellectual property rights. 

 
WHEREAS, Licensor is willing to grant a license to Licensee and Licensee desires a license from 
it. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants contained in this 
Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 

 
SECTION 1: DEFINITIONS 

 
1.1 “Annual Financial Report” means a written account of Licensee’s total gross sales over the 

calendar year preceding submission of the report. The report must be provided to the Licensor 
by March 1 for the preceding calendar year. 

 
1.2 “Exclusive License” means a license to be the sole manufacturer, seller, and distributor 

of the Oyster Reef Dome and the sole right to sublicense or transfer the license. 
 

1.3 “Licensed Product” means any product or part thereof, on a country-by-country basis, 
which is covered in whole or in part by the Oyster Reef Dome intellectual/property rights, in any 
country in which such product is made, used, exported, imported, sold, or manufactured by using 
a process which is covered in whole or in part by the Oyster Reef Dome intellectual/property 
rights. 

 
1.4 “Licensed Territory” means worldwide. 

 
1.5 “Gross Sales” means the total dollar amount of sales of the  Licensed Product by 

Licensee or by any Sublicensee, b e f o r e  d ed u c t i n g  an y  co s t s  o r  ex p en s e s  r e l a t ed  
t o  production of the Oyster Reef Domes. 



Page 2 of 10 

 
 
 

 

1.6 “Oyster Reef Dome” means the intellectual property that is the concrete dome 
created for the purpose of becoming an artificial oyster reef. 

 
1.7 “Sublicense” means the agreement to grant to, or the agreement not to assert against, a 

third party any of the rights granted to Licensee under Section 2. An agreement which is described 
in this definition is a Sublicense whether or not it is called a “sublicense” and whether or not it is 
included in a stand-alone document or is part of a broader collaboration, development, or joint 
venture agreement or arrangement, but shall not include any manufacturing or distribution 
company or other third party which manufactures or distributes Licensed Product on behalf of 
Licensee. 

 
1.8 “Sublicensee” means any third party granted a Sublicense. 

 
SECTION 2: GRANT OF LICENSE RIGHTS 

 
2.1 License Product In return for the payments described in Section 5, Licensor hereby grants 

to Licensee an exclusive license to use the Oyster Reef Dome in the Licensed Territory to make, 
have made, use, sell, have sold, import, and export Licensed Products. 

 
2.2 Sublicense Rights. 

 

(a) Licensee may grant written Sublicenses to third parties. However, Licensee shall notify 
Licensor of the initiation of license negotiations with all potential Sublicensees. Any agreement 
granting a Sublicense shall state the Sublicense is subject to the terms of this Agreement. Licensee 
has the same responsibility for the activities of any Sublicensee under any Sublicense as if the 
activities were directly those of Licensee. 

 
(b) Licensor has t h e  right to receive copies of Sublicenses subject to the ability to 

redact confidential information of the Sublicensee which is not reasonably necessary for 
Licensor to confirm the compliance of the Sublicense with this Agreement (hereinafter 
“Redacted Sublicense”). Licensee shall provide Licensor with a final copy of each Redacted 
Sublicense and will include in each Annual Financial Report submitted to Licensor hereunder, 
which shall include reporting on development of Licensed Products and payments under the 
Sublicense agreements. 

 
2.3 Retained Rights. Licensor reserves to itself the right under the to develop, import, and 

use Licensed Products solely for internal not-for-profit research. 
 

SECTION 3: OBLIGATIONS OF LICENSEE 
 

3.1 Licensee agrees and warrants: 
 

(a) Licensee will prepare and provide Licensor an Annual Financial Report after the end of 
each calendar year, no later than March 1 of each year. 

 
 



Page 3 of 10 

 
 
 

 

 
 

(b) Licensee shall pay Licensor in accordance with Section 5 of this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 4: OBLIGATIONS OF LICENSOR 

 
4.1 Licensor agrees and warrants: 

 
(a) Licensor will give Licensee an Exclusive License to manufacture, deploy, and sell the 

Oyster Reef Dome and the sole right to sublicense or transfer the License with prior written 
approval of the Licensor, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or 
delayed. 

 
(b) Licensor shall split the Net Profits in accordance with a separately executed Revenue 

Sharing Agreement. 
 

SECTION 5: PAYMENTS 
 

5.1 Licensee shall pay Licensor five percent (5%) of Gross Sales Revenue of the 
Licensed Product for all sales made independent of the College .  

 
5.2 Licensee shall pay Licensor fifteen percent ( 1 5 % ) of Gross Sales Revenue of the 

Licensed Product f o r  a l l  s a l e s  i n v o l v i n g  a  r e l a t i o n s h i p  w i t h  t h e  C o l l e g e  s u c h  
a s  a  c o n t r a c t ,  g r a n t  o r  o t h e r  a g r e e m e n t  w r i t t e n  b y  t h e  C o l l e g e  o r  t o  
w h i c h  t h e  C o l l e g e  i s  a  p a r t y .  

 
5.3 With respect to Sublicenses granted by Licensee or by a Sublicensee under Section 2.3(a), 

Licensee shall pay to Licensor an amount equal to what Licensee would have been required to pay 
had Licensee sold the Licensed Products which are sold by a Sublicensee. 

 
(a) Licensee may not receive from Sublicensees anything of value in lieu of cash payments 

in consideration for any Sublicense under this Agreement without the express prior written 
approval of Licensor, which approval Licensor may not unreasonably withhold, condition, or 
delay. 

 
5.4 Except as otherwise directed, Licensee shall pay all amounts owing to Licensor under this 

Agreement in United States dollars at the following address: 



Page 4 of 10 

 
 
 

 

Attn: Vice President of Administrative Services 
Tallahassee Community College 
444 Appleyard Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32304 

 
5.5 Based on the financial statement provided by Licensee, Licensor will confirm the amount 

due to the Licensor. If no payment is due, Licensor should provide a written affirmation of this 
fact. 

 
5.6 Licensee shall be entitled to deduct from the payments otherwise due to Licensor 

hereunder the amount of any withholding taxes, value-added taxes or other taxes, levies or charges 
which may be imposed on Licensee by any government or political subdivision with respect to 
such payments which are required to be withheld. 

 
SECTION 6: WARRANTIES AND DISCLAIMERS OF LICENSEE 

 
6.1 Licensor represents its employees have assigned their entire right, title, and interest in the 

Oyster Reef Dome intellectual/property rights and it has authority to grant the rights and licenses 
set forth in this Agreement. However, nothing in this Agreement is: 

 
(a) a warranty or representation by Licensor of the validity or scope of any right included in 

the License Product. 
 

(b) a warranty or representation of anything made, used, sold or otherwise disposed of under 
the license granted in this Agreement does not infringe patents or other rights of third parties; 

 
(c) an obligation to bring or prosecute actions or suits against third parties for infringement 

of Patent Rights; to the License Product 
 

(d) an obligation to furnish services other than those specified in this Agreement. 
 

6.2 Licensor assumes no responsibilities whatsoever with respect to construction, use, sale, 
transport, installation, or other disposition by Licensee or its Sublicensees. Neither party shall be 
liable for any consequential, indirect or special damages arising out of this Agreement or any 
breach of this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 7: INFRINGEMENT AND INVALIDITY 

 
7.1 Licensee shall inform Licensor, and similarly Licensor shall inform Licensee, promptly 

in writing of any alleged infringement of this License Agreement in the Licensed Territory by a 
third party and of any available evidence of the alleged infringement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 5 of 10 

 
 
 

 

7.2 Licensee may, but is not obligated to, prosecute at its own expense any alleged 
infringement of this License Agreement, and shall have the first right to do so. Licensee will not 
prosecute or take any other enforcement-related steps with respect to any such infringements of 
this License Agreement except as is provided in Section 7.3. Licensor shall first apply any recovery 
of damages of any unreimbursed expenses and legal fees of Licensee relating to the suit and 
next toward reimbursement of Licensor for any legal fees and unreimbursed expenses born 
by Licensor. Licensee will keep any remaining balance. Licensee may not enter any 
settlement, consent judgment, or other voluntary final disposition of the suit without the prior, 
written consent of Licensor, which consent Licensor may not unreasonably withhold. Licensee 
shall indemnify Licensor against any order for costs and legal fees which may be made against 
Licensor in the proceedings. 

 
7.3 If Licensee is unsuccessful in persuading the alleged infringer to desist, has not brought 

an infringement action against the alleged infringer (unless, and only so long as, Licensee has, as 
part of its enforcement strategy, reasonable grounds supporting a delay by Licensee in bringing 
such action against a particular alleged infringer or infringers, and Licensee so notifies Licensor 
and provided Licensor’s rights against such infringer are preserved), or notifies Licensor of its 
intention not to bring suit against the alleged infringer, then, and in those events only, Licensor 
may, but is not obligated to, prosecute at its own expense such alleged infringement of this License 
Agreement. Licensor may use the name of Licensee as party plaintiff in the infringement action 
without expense to Licensee. If Licensor undertakes the enforcement of the License Agreement 
by litigation, Licensor shall apply any recovery of damages first in satisfaction of any 
unreimbursed expenses and legal fees of Licensor relating to the suit and next toward 
reimbursement of Licensee for any legal fees and unreimbursed expenses born by Licensee at 
Licensor’s request. Any remaining balance shall be distributed as Net Profits in accordance with 
the Revenue Sharing Agreement. 

 
7.4 If Licensee undertakes the enforcement or defense of this License Agreement by 

litigation, Licensor may voluntarily join the litigation, represented by its own counsel at its own 
expense. Licensee shall apply any recovery of damages first in satisfaction of any unreimbursed 
expenses and legal fees of Licensee relating to the suit and next toward reimbursement of Licensor 
for any legal fees and unreimbursed expenses. 

 
7.5 In any suit in which either party is involved to enforce or defend this License 

Agreement, the other party shall, at the request and expense of the party initiating the suit, 
cooperate in all respects and, to the extent possible, have its employees testify when requested 
and make available relevant records, papers, information, samples, and the like. 

 
SECTION 8: ASSIGNABILITY 

 
8.1 This Agreement may not be transferred or assigned by Licensee except with the prior 

written approval of Licensor, which approval may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or 
delayed.  Any attempted assignment in contravention of this Section 8.1 is void. 

 
(a)  The new assignee shall assume all responsibilities under this Agreement and agree in 

writing to Licensor to be bound by this Agreement. 
 



Page 6 of 10 

 
 
 

 

8.2 Licensor has the exclusive right to assign its rights under this Agreement to the 
Tallahassee Community College Foundation, Inc. If such assignment is made, all other material 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain the same. 

 
SECTION 9: INDEMNIFICATION 

 
9.1 Licensee and Sublicensee(s) shall, at all times during the term of this Agreement and 

thereafter, indemnify, defend and hold The District Board of Trustees of Tallahassee Community 
College, Licensor, and each of their directors, trustees, officers, employees, and agents 
harmless against all claims and liabilities, including legal expenses and reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
arising from a third party claim, arising out of the death of or injury to any person or persons or 
out of any damage to property and against any other third party claim, proceeding, demand, 
expense and liability resulting from the development, production, manufacture, sale, use, or 
lease of Licensed Products; except to the extent such claims result from the gross negligence, 
willful misconduct or breach of applicable law by any indemnitee. Licensor shall give Licensee 
prompt notice of any such claim. Notwithstanding the above, Licensor at all times reserves the 
right to retain counsel of its own to defend the interests of Licensor, The District Board of Trustees 
of Tallahassee Community College, and Licensor. Licensor shall give Licensee prompt notice of 
any such claim. 

 
SECTION 10: INSURANCE 

 
10.1 Licensee shall, throughout the term of this Agreement, obtain and maintain at its own 

cost and expense from a qualified insurance company licensed to do business in Florida with a 
Best Rating of B+ or better, standard product liability insurance naming Licensor and its officers, 
directors, trustees, employees, agents, and shareholders as additional insured parties. Such policy 
shall provide protection against all claims, demands and causes of action arising out of any defects 
or failure to perform, alleged or otherwise, of the Licensed Products or any material used in 
connection therewith or any use thereof. The amount of liability coverage shall be $1,000,000 
with $200,000 per person, $300,000 per occurrence. The Licensee must provide a Certificate of 
Liability insurance as proof of coverage, with the Licensor being named as an additional insured 
party on the insurance plan. The policy shall provide for thirty (30) days’ notice to Licensor from 
the insurer by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, in the event of any modification, 
cancellation or termination thereof. Licensee agrees to furnish Licensor a certificate of insurance 
evidencing same prior to the Effective Date and in no event shall Licensee manufacture, distribute 
or sell any Licensed Products prior to receipt by Licensor of such evidence of insurance. 

 
SECTION 11: USE OF NAMES 

 
11.1 Licensee and its Sublicensee(s) may not use the names or logos of Licensor, nor of any 

of the institution’s employees, trustees, agents, or affiliates, except for the name of the inventor of 
the Oyster Reef Dome, nor any adaptation of those names, in any promotional, advertising or 
marketing materials or any other form of publicity, or to suggest any endorsement by these entities 
or individuals, without the prior written approval of Licensor in each case, which approval the 
Licensor may not unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay. 



Page 7 of 10 

 
 
 

 

 

SECTION 12: MISCELLANEOUS 
 

12.1 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with 
the internal laws of the State of Florida. 

 
12.2 Independent Contractors. The parties are independent contractors and not joint venturers 

or partners. 
 

12.3 Integration. This Agreement constitutes the full understanding between the parties with 
reference to its subject matter, and no statements or agreements by the parties, whether oral or in 
writing, may modify the terms of this Agreement. Neither party may claim any amendment, 
modification, or release from any provisions of this Agreement, unless the mutual agreement is in 
writing and signed by both parties. 

 
12.4 Laws and Regulations. Licensee shall comply with all local, state, federal, and 

international laws and regulations which are applicable to the development, manufacture, use, and 
sale of Licensed Products. 

 
12.5 Force Majeure. Neither party is responsible for default, delay, or failure to perform, if 

such default, delay or failure to perform is due to causes beyond the party’s reasonable control, 
including, but not limited to, acts of God, wars, acts of public enemies, strikes, fires, floods, or 
other natural disasters beyond the control of the parties, provided the nonperforming party uses 
commercially reasonable efforts to avoid or remove those causes of nonperformance and continues 
performance under this Agreement with reasonable dispatch when the causes are removed. In the 
event of a default, delay or failure to perform described in this Section 12.5, any date or times by 
which either party is scheduled to perform is extended automatically for a time equal to the time 
lost by reason of the excused default, delay or failure to perform. 

 
12.6 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid, illegal or 

unenforceable, such provision shall be enforced to the maximum extent permitted by law and the 
parties’ fundamental intentions hereunder, and the remaining provisions shall not be affected or 
impaired. 

 
SECTION 13: NOTICES 

 
13.1 The parties shall provide any notice required to be given pursuant to this Agreement in 

writing to the addresses listed in this Section 13.1. Notice is effective on the day it is delivered 
personally with written receipt from an authorized signatory, on the second day after the day on 
which the notice has been delivered for next day delivery prepaid to a nationally recognized courier 
service, on the fifth business day following deposit in the United States mail if sent certified or 
registered mail, (return receipt acknowledgement is not required to certify delivery). 

 



 
 
 

 

If to Licensor: 
 
Attn: Vice President of Administrative Services Tallahassee Community College 
444 Appleyard Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32304 
 
If to Licensee: 

 
Attn: Robert G. Ballard  
3189 Mulberry Park Blvd. Tallahassee, Florida 32311 

 
Attn: Mary Ballard 
3189 Mulberry Park Blvd. 
Tallahassee, Florida 32311 
 
SECTION 14: DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

 
14.1 The Parties expressly waive any right to a trial by jury regarding any action, 

legal or equitable, arising out of this Agreement. Prior to bringing any legal or equitable 
action in any court of law, the Parties hereby irrevocably consent to mediation in Leon 
County, Florida. Said mediation shall be conducted within 120 days of a Party providing 
written notice of said Party’s claim(s) and request to mediate. The Parties shall make 
a good faith effort to agree upon a mediator. To the extent the Parties are unable to 
agree, the mediator shall be chosen from a list of certified mediators provided by the 
Florida Bar. 

 
14.2 Venue. The state and federal courts located in Leon County, Florida, shall 

have exclusive jurisdiction to adjudicate any dispute arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement. Each party hereby consents to the jurisdiction of such courts and waives any 
right it may otherwise have to challenge the appropriateness of such forums, whether on 
the basis of the doctrine of forum non conveniens or otherwise. Each party also hereby 
waives any right to jury trial in connection with any action or litigation in any way arising 
out of or related to this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 15: CONTRACT FORMATION AND AUTHORITY 

 
15.1 Construction. The titles of the sections of this Agreement are for 

convenience of reference only and are not to be considered in construing this Agreement. 
Unless the context of this Agreement clearly requires otherwise: (a) references to the 
plural include the singular, the singular the plural, and the part the whole, (b) references 
to one gender include all genders, (c) “or” has the inclusive meaning frequently identified 
with the phrase “and/or,” (d) “including” has the inclusive meaning frequently identified 
with the phrase “including but not limited to” or “including without limitation,” and 
(e) references to “hereunder,” “herein” or “hereof” relate to this Agreement as a whole. 
Any reference in this Agreement to any statute, rule, regulation or agreement, including 
this Agreement, shall be deemed to include such statute, rule, regulation or agreement as 
it may be modified, varied, amended or supplemented from time to time. 

 
15.2 Entire Agreement. This Agreement embodies the entire agreement and 

understanding between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter of this 



 
 
 

 

Agreement and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements and understandings 
other than this Agreement relating to the subject matter hereof. 

 
15.3 Amendment and Waiver. This Agreement may be amended only by a 

written agreement executed by the parties hereto. No provision of this Agreement may be 
waived except by a written document executed by the party entitled to the benefits of the 
provision.  No waiver 
of a provision will be deemed to be or will constitute a waiver of any other provision 
of this Agreement. A waiver will be effective only in the specific instance and for the 
purpose for which it was given and will not constitute a continuing waiver. 

 
15.4 Counterparts. This Agreement may be in any number of counterparts, each of 

which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one instrument. 
 

15.5 The submission of this Agreement is not an offer, and this document is 
effective and binding only upon the execution by duly authorized representatives of both 
Licensee and Licensor. Copies of this Agreement which have not been executed and 
delivered by both Licensor and Licensee do not evidence an agreement between the 
parties. 

 
15.6 Licensor and Licensee hereby warrant and represent the persons signing this 

Agreement have authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the party for whom 
they have signed. 

 
SECTION 16: TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

 
16.1 This Agreement shall be terminated by mutual consent of both parties in 

writing, or by material breach of this Agreement, as described in Section 17.1 (a), with 
30 days’ notice and time to cure the breach. 

 
(a) Material breach of this Agreement shall be defined as falsification of records; 

falsification of reports; failure to distribute Net Profits in accordance with the Revenue 
Sharing Agreement; failure to provide Licensor with Oyster Reef Domes in accordance 
with Section 3.1(c) of this Agreement, failure to maintain liability insurance in 
compliance with Section 10 of this Agreement; improper use of Licensor’s name or 
logos or names of Licensor’s employees, trustees, agents, or affiliates in violation of 
Section 11 of this Agreement; any violation of a federal, state, or local law, rule, or 
permitting requirement; any violation of EPA rules or regulations; any violation of 
DEP rules or regulations; any violation of federal or state fish and wildlife rules or 
regulations; or any violation of Department of Labor and OSHA rules or regulations. 
 

16.2 This license agreement will expire on May 31, 2027, unless 
extended by the mutual agreement of both parties.   

  



 
 
 

 

 

The parties have duly executed this Agreement on the dates indicated below.  

 

 

 

  

The District Board of Trustees of Tallahassee 
Community College 
 
/s/___________________________  
 
By:    _______________________   
 
Date:  _______________________ 

Robert Ballard 
 
/s/________________________  
 
Date:  _______________________ 

Mary Ballard 
 
/s/____________________________  
 
Date:  _______________________ 



2024 – 2025 Schedule of Business Meetings and Workshops 

*August 6, 2024 
2:30 Business Meeting and 

Workshop 
Herb F. Morgan Room 

Administration Building 

September 16, 2024 2:30 Business Meeting and 
Workshop  

Herb F. Morgan Room 
Administration Building 

October 21, 2024 
2:30 Business Meeting and 

Workshop 
  

Herb F. Morgan Room 
Administration Building 

November 18, 2024 2:30 Business Meeting and 
Workshop 

Florida Public Safety 
Institute 

December – No Meeting  
  

 

**January 21, 2025 
2:30 Business Meeting and 

Workshop 
  

Herb F. Morgan Room 
Administration Building 

February 17, 2025 2:30 Business Meeting and 
Workshop  

Ghazvini Center for 
Healthcare Education 

March 17, 2025 2:30 Business Meeting and 
Workshop  

 
Center for Innovation 

April 21, 2025 2:30 Business Meeting and 
Workshop  

Herb F. Morgan Room 
Administration Building 

May 19, 2025 2:30 Business Meeting and 
Workshop  

Wakulla Environmental 
Institute 

June 16, 2025 2:30 Business Meeting and 
Workshop  

Herb F. Morgan Room 
Administration Building 

July – No Meeting 
 
 
  

 

 

*August 6, 2024, Tuesday 

**January 21, 2025, Tuesday 

 

 


